# Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery for the Medically Compromised Patient

A Guide to Management and High-Quality Care

Daniel J. Meara Rajesh Gutta *Editors* 



Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery for the Medically Compromised Patient Daniel J. Meara • Rajesh Gutta Editors

# Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery for the Medically Compromised Patient

A Guide to Management and High-Quality Care



*Editors* Daniel J. Meara Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery Christiana Care Health System Wilmington, DE USA

Rajesh Gutta Consultant Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeon Private Practice Midland, TX USA

#### ISBN 978-3-030-82597-3 ISBN 978-3-030-82598-0 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-82598-0

#### © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

### Foreword

As an educator in Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery for the past 30 years, I have had the opportunity to treat many patients and help train the next generation. The academic environment gives you a unique perspective on so many aspects of our field. The medically compromised population of patients is certainly unique and presents many challenges for the oral and maxillofacial surgeon but also provides so many teachable moments in a residency training program and the community of interest. These opportunities allow the clinicians to broaden their education by thoroughly preparing to manage these patients in an office-based setting.

During residency and in their professional careers, I've gotten to know the authors of this text. It is not surprising and certainly within their character that they have chosen to compose a textbook on this topic. Their qualifications make them distinctively qualified to write this text. Dr. Meara completed a residency in internal medicine before deciding to pursue a career in oral and maxillofacial surgery. Dr. Gutta completed a Master of Science degree while in residency. I had the opportunity to work with them during their residency. Both of them are extremely compassionate and caring individuals. They are well-read and have spent many years preparing and presenting together on this topic at local and national scientific meetings. Together, they bring a unique perspective to the importance of preparedness in managing the medically compromised patient in the office setting.

Through advancements in medicine and pharmacology, patients are living longer with chronic illnesses. Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons, through their deliberate and dedicated training, are entrusted with the assessment and management of these patients. A critical component in the management of any patient and especially in the medically compromised patient is risk assessment. The focus of this book is the identification and appropriate management of patients who are at high risk during office-based procedures. The authors have assembled a body of knowledge, through review of the literature and their experience in patient care and education, to provide evidence-based guidelines for the management of most common medical condition during office-based surgery. It is designed in such a way to give the reader in-depth knowledge and quick access to common questions in the management of these patients.

Due to the focus of this text, this book will most likely become required reading for all residents during their training. It will also serve as a reference

for many clinicians performing office-based procedures. Due to its subject matter, I know you will find this text as informative as the authors have intended and one that you will keep going back to as you prepare to manage these patients that our profession has been entrusted with.

Birmingham, AL, USA

Patrick J. Louis

## Acknowledgements

Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery is an awesome profession and it is truly an honor to care for patients and educate residents as an academic oral and maxillofacial surgeon. Extreme thanks to my mentors: Drs. Patrick Louis, Peter Waite, Bruce Horswell, and Eddie Granite. Special thanks to my Dad, Dr. John W. Meara, Jr., an OMF surgeon, for being the ultimate role-model, and Dr. BJ Costello for encouraging my pursuit of OMF surgery while I was an internal medicine resident at UPMC. Thanks to my colleague, friend and academic partner, Dr. Raj Gutta, for his teamwork, patience, and enthusiasm. Lastly, thanks to my family, especially my wife Dr. Regina Meara for her sacrifice, support, and encouragement throughout this journey.

-Daniel J. Meara

I am deeply indebted to Drs. Patrick J. Louis and Peter D. Waite for training me as an oral and maxillofacial surgeon and their continued mentorship. Special thanks to the OMS residents, colleagues, and patients for providing the impetus towards this publication. My sincere gratitude to Dr. Dan Meara for all the years of academic partnership. My heartfelt appreciation to Dr. Asvin Vasanthan for his friendship and support.

-Rajesh Gutta

# Contents

| 1  | Introduction  |
|----|---|
| 2  | Management of the Cardiac Patient5Rajesh Gutta5   |
| 3  | Patients with Respiratory Disease: High Yield Conceptsfor Optimal Clinical Care.17Habib Asmaro and Daniel J. Meara    |
| 4  | Liver Diseases  |
| 5  | Oral and Maxillofacial Surgical Managementfor the Renal Compromised PatientBlair H. Racker and Srinivasa Rama Chandra |
| 6  | <b>The Immunocompromised Patient</b> 49Cory M. Resnick  |
| 7  | Metabolic Disorders in the Oral and MaxillofacialSurgical Patient55Barry C. Boyd                                      |
| 8  | Psychiatric and Behavioral Disorders  |
| 9  | Practice Considerations for Patients with SubstanceUse Disorder87Soroush Samimi and Deepak G. Krishnan                |
| 10 | <b>Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery and Hematologic Diseases</b> 99<br>Karen Zemplenyi and Jasjit K. Dillon             |
| 11 | Preoperative Evaluation of Patients with NeurologicalDisordersChad W. Dammling and Kathlyn K. Powell                  |
| 12 | Management Dilemmas   |



Introduction

Daniel J. Meara and Rajesh Gutta

#### 1.1 Patient Safety and Safe Care

The World Health Organization (WHO) defines patient safety as "the absence of preventable harm to a patient during the process of health care and reduction of risk of unnecessary harm associated with health care to an acceptable minimum" [1]. Generally, the complexity of health care systems makes humans more prone towards mistakes which lead to patient harm. According to the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ), patient safety refers to the freedom from accidental or preventable injuries produced by medical care [2]. The agency further emphasizes that practices or interventions must be implemented to reduce preventable adverse events, and this improves patient safety.

Cardiac complications are the leading cause of death among patients undergoing elective noncardiac surgery [3]. As the baby boomers age, the number of noncardiac surgical procedures is expected to increase. If the patient with complex

D. J. Meara (🖂)

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Christiana Care Health System, Wilmington, DE, USA

Consultant Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeon, Private Practice, Midland, TX, USA medical history undergoes general anesthesia or procedural sedation, the anesthesia provider is responsible for preoperative medical assessment and coordinating care to optimize the patient before surgery [4]. For the vast majority of these patients, perioperative risk is attributed to cardiac morbidity and mortality.

In an attempt to provide optimal surgical care, the concept of medical clearance came into existence. It is not uncommon to see the patient's physician stating, "patient is cleared for dental extraction under mild sedation or general anesthesia." What does that mean? Is the risk shared by the physician? Or is the surgeon immune from a complication? There is no universally accepted definition. But the term "medical clearance" is loosely used in clinical practice and has led to a significant use of perioperative testing (Table 1.1). There is a great degree of assumption that a series of laboratory tests prior to any operative procedure would enhance safety for surgical patients and reduce liability for adverse events. In fact, recent studies have indicated adverse outcomes in patients who underwent medical consultation prior to major noncardiac surgeries [5].

#### 1.2 Goal of Medical Clearance

The aim of preoperative medical clearance should be obtained to identify patients with potentially life-threatening cardiac disease that requires preop-

Department of Physical Therapy, University of Delaware, Newark, DE, USA e-mail: dmeara@christianacare.org

R. Gutta

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

D. J. Meara, R. Gutta (eds.), Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery for the Medically Compromised Patient, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-82598-0\_1

Renal function tests Electrolytes Liver function tests 12-lead EKG Chest radiography Urine analysis Pregnancy tests Bleeding and coagulation tests Blood glucose tests Blood counts Echocardiography Cardiac stress testing Pulmonary function tests Computed tomography or magnetic resonance imaging Radionucleotide testing Coronary angiography

erative assessment and treatment by a cardiologist, to identify the most appropriate testing and avoid unnecessary testing, and to implement medical and interventional cardiovascular treatment strategies as indicated [6]. As an alternative to routine preoperative testing, a wise practitioner would be able to judiciously interview the patient and do a risk assessment based on the patient's functional capacity than mere lab values indicating the presence or absence of a disease state.

According to the American College of Cardiology (ACC) and the American Heart Association (AHA) task force, "the purpose of preoperative evaluation is not to give medical clearance, but rather to; perform an evaluation of the patient's current medical status, make recommendations concerning the evaluation, management, and risk of cardiac problems over the entire perioperative period and to provide a clinical risk profile that the patient, primary physician, anesthesiologist, and surgeon can use in making treatment decisions" [7].

#### 1.3 **Preoperative Testing and Its** Usefulness

It now has been approximately 25 years since the ACC/AHA first published multispecialty Guidelines on Preoperative Evaluation for

ime of publicanded that testing should be reserved for those patients in whom the results would impact care. Testing a lowrisk population not only increases costs unnecessarily but may increase morbidity and causes harm by delaying a noncardiac operation. In fact, 77% of US physicians say the frequency with which doctors order unnecessary medical tests and procedures is a serious problem [8]. The burden to the healthcare system due to such unnecessary testing is approximately \$200 billion annually [9]. Other than to discover the previously unknown condition, results of preoperative testing will rarely trigger a change in medical therapies to reduce risk [10, 11]. However, if the risk is deemed less than 1% and even if the patient is shown to be at elevated risk with poor exercise tolerance, it is rare that preoperative tests will change management. In addition, current therapeutic approaches to mitigate the risk of noncardiac surgery are limited. In fact, abnormal lab tests that resulted in a change in management have only ranged from 0.1 to 2.6% of time [12]. Despite evidence demonstrating that routine preoperative testing before elective, low-risk ambulatory surgery is not indicated, more than 60% of all patients underwent at least one laboratory test during their preoperative evaluation [13]. Clinicians should thus use the existing guidelines to identify those patients who require additional testing due to poor or unknown exercise tolerance and thus reduce the probability of a major cardiovascular event. Such a strategy will result in many fewer tests ordered and more cost-effective tests [14].

#### Seeking Medical Clearance 1.4

Rather than anecdotal evidence, Perioperative management of the patient should be based on the best available scientific evidence, individual patient's risk stratification, and cost-effectiveness. Improvements in preoperative risk assessment,

Table 1.1 Commonly ordered preoperative tests

| Noncardiac Surgery. At     | the t |
|----------------------------|-------|
| tion, the guidelines recor | nmei  |

anesthetic care, surgical technique, and postoperative surveillance have resulted in a significant decrease in postoperative mortality [15].

However, patients with unstable coronary syndromes, decompensated heart failure, major arrhythmias, and severe valvular disease should be evaluated and treated for their conditions before surgery can be considered. Often, it is argued that additional testing is being done to avoid unnecessary medicolegal hassles in the event of an unanticipated complication. In addition, regulations, economic incentives, entrenched practice culture, and medicolegal issues make it difficult to change such habits. However, there is clearly a paradigm shift, and focus should be on appropriate medical interview of the patient and determining their functional status rather than burdening the already strained health care system.

In summation, the questions to be asked for every patient are as follows: (1) Would ordering preoperative tests improve outcomes? (2) Would additional testing improve quality of life or patient satisfaction? (3) Would the testing change patient management or resource utilization? If the answer to the above questions is a no, there is no indication of preoperative testing.

#### References

- https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ patient-safety. Accessed 10 May 2020.
- 2. https://psnet.ahrq.gov/home. Accessed 10 May 2020.
- Mangano DT, Goldman L. Preoperative assessment of patients with known or suspected coronary disease. N Engl J Med. 1995;333(26):1750–6.
- Apfelbaum JL, Connis RT, Nickinovich DG, et al. Practice advisory for preanesthesia evaluation: an updated report by the American Society of

Anesthesiologists task force on preanesthesia evaluation. Anesthesiology. 2012;116:522–38.

- Wijeysundera DN, Austin PC, Beattie WS, Hux JE, Laupacis A. Outcomes and processes of care related to preoperative medical consultation. Arch Intern Med. 2010;170(15):1365–74.
- Priebe HJ. Preoperative cardiac management of the patient for non-cardiac surgery: an individualized and evidence-based approach. Br J Anaesthesia. 2011;107(1):83–96.
- Eagle KA, Berger PB, Calkins H, et al. ACC/AHA guideline update for perioperative cardiovascular evaluation for noncardiac surgery—executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology/ American Heart Association task force on practice guidelines (Committee to update the 1996 guidelines on perioperative cardiovascular evaluation for noncardiac surgery). J Am Coll Cardiol. 2002;39(3):542–53.
- https://www.choosingwisely.org/getting-started/ resource-library/research-report/. Accessed May 2020.
- Institute of Medicine, Committee on the Learning Health Care System in America. In: Smith M, Saunders R, Stuckhardt L, McGinnis JM, eds. Best care at lower cost: the path to continuously learning health care in America. Washington, DC: National Academies Press (US); 2013.
- Roizen MF. More preoperative assessment by physicians and less by laboratory tests. N Engl J Med. 2000;342:204–5.
- Schein OD, Katz J, Bass EB, et al. The value of routine preoperative medical testing before cataract surgery. Study of medical testing for cataract surgery. N Engl J Med. 2000;342:168–75.
- Smetana GW, Macpherson DS. The case against routine preoperative laboratory testing. Med Clin North Am. 2003;87:7–40.
- Benarroch-Gampel J, Sheffield KM, Duncan CB. Preoperative laboratory testing in patients undergoing elective, low-risk ambulatory surgery. Ann Surg. 2012;256(3):518–28.
- Sigmund AE, Stevens ER, Blitz JD, Ladapo JA. Use of preoperative testing and physicians' response to professional society guidance. JAMA Intern Med. 2015;175:1352–9.
- Finks JF, Osborne NH, Birkmeyer JD. Trends in hospital volume and operative mortality for high-risk surgery. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:2128–37.



2

# Management of the Cardiac Patient

Rajesh Gutta

Cardiovascular disease represents about 30% of global mortality [1]. A thorough history and physical exam of the cardiac patient should involve appropriate questioning of symptoms and obvious signs of undiagnosed cardiac disease. The physical exam must also include auscultation of the heart for any murmurs, blood pressure in both arms when indicated, and carotid/jugular distention with bruits. In addition, examination of extremities for edema and hepatomegaly would indicate underlying cardiac disease. This chapter will discuss only the most common cardiac issues encountered in daily practice listed under the following subtitles:

- 1. Hypertension
- 2. Ischemic heart disease
- 3. Cardiac arrythmias, pacemakers, and anticoagulation
- 4. Valvular heart disease
- 5. Congenital heart disease
- 6. Anticoagulation
- 7. Perioperative cardiac risk assessment

#### R. Gutta (🖂)

Consultant Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeon, Private Practice, Midland, TX, USA

#### 2.1 Hypertension

Hypertension is known to affect over a billion people worldwide with far-reaching consequences of heart disease and stroke in poorly controlled patients [2]. Due to its circadian pattern, blood pressure (BP) can be variable. For morning appointments, the reading can be high and be a normal pattern. It also increases with age and with anxiety. Primary hypertension is defined as a condition without identifiable causative factors. Secondary hypertension, on the other hand, has an identifiable cause. Endocrine and vascular conditions are the predominant causative factors for secondary hypertension. Others include alcoholism and obstructive sleep apnea [3].

Many patients with hypertension remain undiagnosed and poorly controlled in nearly half of them on treatment [4]. Untreated hypertension is one of the most important preventable causes of morbidity and mortality, since it is a major risk factor for stroke, myocardial infarction, heart failure, chronic kidney disease, cognitive decline, and premature death. It is one of the leading causes of death with more than seven million fatalities [5]. According to the Joint National Committee (JNC 8), hypertension is defined as a blood pressure reading >140/90 in otherwise healthy individuals. The committee further defines various stages of hypertension [6] (Table 2.1).

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

D. J. Meara, R. Gutta (eds.), Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery for the Medically Compromised Patient, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-82598-0\_2

| Definition         | Blood pressure measurement   |  |  |  |
|--------------------|------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Normal             | SBP <120 mmHg and DBP        |  |  |  |
|                    | <80 mmHg                     |  |  |  |
| Prehypertension    | SBP 120–139 mmHg or DBP      |  |  |  |
|                    | 80–89 mmHg                   |  |  |  |
| Stage I            | SBP 140–159 mmHg or DBP      |  |  |  |
| hypertension       | 90–99 mmHg                   |  |  |  |
| Stage II           | SBP ≥160 mmHg or DBP         |  |  |  |
| hypertension       | ≥100 mmHg                    |  |  |  |
| Hypertensive       | DBP > 120 mmHg without       |  |  |  |
| urgency            | end-organ damage             |  |  |  |
| Hypertensive       | DBP > 120 mmHg with          |  |  |  |
| emergency          | end-organ damage             |  |  |  |
| SBP systolic blood | pressure DBP diastolic blood |  |  |  |

 Table 2.1
 Hypertension categories [6]

SBP systolic blood pressure, DBP diastolic blood pressure

Proper technique for obtaining accurate blood pressure measurements mandates that a patient be seated quietly for at least 5 min in a chair, feet on the floor and arms supported at heart level. An appropriate-sized cuff, a cuff bladder that encircles at least 80% of the arm, should be used to ensure accuracy, and at least two measurements should be taken during the visit [7]. Oral procedures are inherently associated with elevated levels of anxiety and a potential for increased blood pressure. Such readings should be interpreted with caution since patient's with elevated blood pressure tend to normalize upon administration of anxiolytics [8]. Several antihypertensive medications are available and may have interactions with common drugs used in oral surgical procedures (Table 2.2).

The induction of anesthesia, extubation, surgical pain, hypoxia, hypothermia, and volume overload are the events that could lead to blood pressure elevations and tachycardia [9]. In addition, the use of local anesthesia with epinephrine may potentiate hypertensive state. However, some patients may experience hypotension, cardiac arrythmias, angina pectoris, and myocardial infarction [10]. Injection of local anesthetics with greater concentration of epinephrine can increase blood pressure [11]. However it is open to debate whether such elevations have clinical significance. In addition, maximum dosage of epinephrine for patients with cardiovascular disease has been reported, but these dosage recom-

| Table 2.2 | Drug interactions | of various | antihypertensive |
|-----------|-------------------|------------|------------------|
| agents    |                   |            |                  |

| Drug group     | Drug interactions                  |  |  |
|----------------|------------------------------------|--|--|
| Beta-blockers  | NSAIDs decrease their effect,      |  |  |
|                | decrease the metabolism of amide   |  |  |
|                | anesthetics                        |  |  |
| ACE inhibitors | NSAIDs decrease their effect, risk |  |  |
|                | of angioedema                      |  |  |
| Diuretics      | NSAIDs decrease their effect;      |  |  |
|                | erythromycin and fluconazole       |  |  |
|                | levels are elevated                |  |  |
| Angiotensin II | NSAIDs decrease their effect, may  |  |  |
| receptor       | interfere with fluconazole,        |  |  |
| blockers       | indomethacin, and cimetidine       |  |  |
| Calcium        | Increased sedation with            |  |  |
| channel        | benzodiazepines, altered drug      |  |  |
| blockers       | levels with cimetidine and         |  |  |
|                | erythromycin                       |  |  |
| Alpha blockers | NSAIDs decrease their effect       |  |  |
|                |                                    |  |  |

*NSAID* nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, *ACE* angiotensin-converting enzyme

mendations are based on poorly designed scientific studies and extrapolated data, and the recommendations should be weighed against the likelihood of significant endogenous catecholamine release from inadequate local anesthesia.

Hypertensive emergencies (i.e., severe elevations in BP [>180/110 mmHg] complicated by evidence of impending or progressive end-organ damage) require immediate BP reduction to prevent or limit end-organ damage. Blood pressure should be reduced by 10-15% (maximum of 20%) in a controlled fashion within the first hour with a continued decrease towards 160/100 mmHg over the next 2–6 h as tolerated by the patient. There was no benefit to deferring long-term treatment of patients with hypertension with diastolic blood pressures between 110 and 130 mmHg and no previous cardiac conditions [12]. Strategies may include having the patient take their usual daily medications, if not already done, as well as anxiety and stress reduction breathing and/or mindfulness exercises. If intravenous (IV) sedation is part of the treatment plan, then often the IV medications will result in blood pressure reduction, but ketamine should be avoided in these cases due to its propensity to increase blood pressure.

#### 2.1.1 Ischemic Heart Disease

Cardiovascular disease remains a major cause of morbidity and mortality, particularly ischemic heart disease (IHD), a common cardiac condition [13]. Angina and myocardial infarction are known diseases as a result of IHD.

#### 2.2 Angina Pectoris

Angina pectoris is classically described as a substernal pressure or squeezing sensation due to increased oxygen demand on the myocardium. The pain can also radiate to the neck and arms and usually is relieved at rest. Sublingual nitroglycerin (NTG) quickly resolves those symptoms, and then it is safe to proceed with the procedure. Coronary atherosclerosis is the common cause for angina. Angina in the dental office is most often a result of anxiety and fear resulting in tachycardia and angina. These patients are usually on nitrates and are prone to the risk of hypotension. If the symptoms persist despite rest and treatment with nitrates, a concern for myocardial infarction should be suspected.

#### 2.3 Myocardial Infarction

Myocardial infarction is a condition due to ischemic death of the myocardium which is often not relieved with nitrates. In addition, patients complain of chest pain, nausea, pallor, and diaphoresis. MI usually results from a ruptured atherosclerotic plaque which then obstructs the coronary vessels leading to obstruction and ischemia. This is a medical emergency, and appropriate emergency activation should commence for timely thrombolysis. Differences between MI and angina are listed in Table 2.3.

#### 2.4 Perioperative Myocardial Infarction (PMI)

Acute coronary syndrome occurs when an unstable plaque ruptures leading to acute coronary thrombosis, ischemia, and infarction.

| Table 2.3  | Differences | between | angina | and | myocardial |
|------------|-------------|---------|--------|-----|------------|
| infarction |             |         |        |     |            |

|                                | Myocardial infarction                    | Angina                    |
|--------------------------------|--|---------------------------|
| Degree of ischemia             | Complete                                 | Partial                   |
| Myocardial<br>injury           | Yes                                      | No                        |
| Symptoms<br>relief with<br>NTG | No                                       | Yes                       |
| Duration of pain               | >30 min                                  | <30 m                     |
| EKG changes                    | ST-elevation,<br>pathological<br>Q-waves | ST-segment<br>alterations |

NTG nitroglycerin, EKG electrocardiogram

Physiological and emotional stresses are known to predispose patients to PMI. Tachycardia and hypertension which are common in the perioperative period may lead to rupture of plaques. Anxiety and stress response to surgery leads to a surge in catecholamines that leads to increased ionotropic and chronotropic effects on the heart. This causes coronary oxygen supply-demand imbalance which can also lead to PMI. Perioperative tachycardia is the most common cause of oxygen supply-demand imbalance. Stress-induced coronary vasoconstriction can also impair coronary perfusion leading to PMI. Heart failure is another common condition in patients with coronary artery disease. This condition can be aggravated by ischemia and volume overload, leading to cardiac decompensation and subsequent PMI. Contrary to popular belief, these patients are in fact better served with anxiolytic techniques such as nitrous oxide or sedation protocols safely [14].

During the 1980s, the rule prevailed to wait 6 months after a myocardial infarction before embarking on noncardiac surgery [15]. This recommendation was based on risk of cardiac events for general surgical procedures under general anesthesia [16]. Studies have shown that the cardiac risk after a previous infarction is less related to the age of the infarction than to the functional status of the ventricles [17]. In that context, a small infarction without residual angina in the context of a good functional status allows essential noncardiac surgery as soon as 6 weeks after the ischemic episode [18]. Current practice guidelines consider the period within 6 weeks of infarction as a time of high risk for a perioperative cardiac event, because it is the mean healing time of the infarct-related lesion [19]. The period from 6 weeks to 3 months is considered as intermediate risk for cardiac complication. In patients with ischemic event-related complications such as arrhythmias, ventricular dysfunction, or continued medical therapy, this risk period is extended beyond 3 months after the ischemic event. In uncomplicated cases, there is no reason for delaying surgery more than 3 months after an ischemic attack.

Heart failure is an outcome of IHD and is associated with significant morbidity and mortality. Signs and symptoms include shortness of breath, rales, extremity edema, elevated jugular pulse, and fatigue. Heart failure is a major independent predictor of adverse perioperative outcome in noncardiac surgery. It carries a greater perioperative risk than ischemic heart disease. In the Framingham study, the overall mortality at 2 years was 25%. The overall prevalence in the general population is 1-2% [20]. This patient population must be expected to be taking multiple, long-term medications, including angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors, angiotensin II receptor blockers, b-blockers, aldosterone antagonists, and diuretics, all with associated side effects (mostly electrolyte disturbances, renal insufficiency, and intraoperative therapy-resistant hypotension). The most important consideration when categorizing heart failure is whether left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) is preserved or reduced (less than 50%). A reduced LVEF in systolic heart failure is a powerful predictor of mortality. As many as 40-50% of patients with heart failure have diastolic heart failure with preserved left ventricular function [21, 22]. The New York Heart Association classification system is the simplest and most widely used method to gauge symptom severity [23].

#### 2.5 Local Anesthesia in Cardiac Patients

When properly injected, vasopressors in local anesthesia can cause clinically insignificant arrythmias, and several systematic reviews have

shown that the use of low concentration vasopressors in local anesthesia is safe for cardiac patients [24]. Despite the lack of absolute scientific evidence, various authors and guidelines recommend limiting the quantity or advise against the use of local anesthetics with vasopressors in these patients. However, there recommendations ignore the fundamental role that vasoconstrictors prolong the effects of local anesthetics. A patient who experiences pain and anxiety due to lack of appropriate local anesthesia can release endogenous catecholamines that could increase up to 10 times the base level and may reach significantly concentrations than the very low concentration of epinephrine used in local anesthesia [25]. The most frequent complications in cardiac patients after local anesthesia with a vasoconstrictor agent were identified on EKG as arrythmias. Most of these arrhythmias were clinically insignificant. The use of  $\leq 4$  carpules of lidocaine with epinephrine 1:100000 as a local anesthetic seems to be relatively safe for cardiovascular compromised patients [24].

#### 2.6 Cardiac Arrythmias/ Implantable Electronic Cardiac Devices

Cardiac arrythmias occur when there is an abnormality in impulse generation or conduction or both. Benign arrythmias sometimes occur in patients without cardiac disease and rarely pose a problem. Many episodes are asymptomatic, and extra beats are very common in normal people. However, tachyarrhythmias are often associated with a diminished cardiac output leading to symptoms like angina, dyspnea, palpitations, or syncope. These patients present with implanted electronic cardiac devices to manage arrythmias. Approximately 250,000 implantable cardiovascular electronic devices are placed each year in the United States [26]. Patient with implantable cardiac devices should provide the details of implantation date, device manufacturer, mode of the implant, model number, and serial number. Cardiac arrythmias are most commonly seen in surgical procedures under local anesthesia with or without vasoconstrictors [27]. Patients with

preexisting rhythm disorders or heart failure are more prone to such arrythmias [28]. Insufficient local anesthesia and lighter plane of general anesthesia are the most common intraoperative factors leading to cardiac arrythmias. Effective pain and anxiety control are important in such patients.

#### 2.6.1 Automated Implantable Cardioverter Defibrillators (AICD) and Pacemakers

AICD have been widely used in patients with a higher risk of sudden cardiac death due to ventricular fibrillation and tachyarrhythmias. These devices deliver shock immediately upon sensing such arrythmia providing defibrillation and cardioversion [29]. Symptomatic bradycardia is often managed by a pacemaker. Various types of pacemakers are available and implanted by the individual needs of the patients. Pacemakers have cardiac leads and the pulse generators. The leads may be single or dual lead depending on whether the atria or ventricles are paced. They can also be dual lead where both the chambers are stimulated. In addition, there are also biventricular pacing devices. In patients with implanted cardiac devices, caution should be exercised in the use of anesthetic adjunctive agents such as anticholinergics, beta-blockers, local anesthetics, and vasopressor agents [30]. Malfunction of pacemakers may lead to symptomatic bradycardias or tachycardias, although upper rate-limiting programming is done in recent devices to limit such tachyarrhythmias. Antiarrhythmic drugs may be considered to covert such rhythms [31].

Electromagnetic interference with these cardiac devices is a concern when cautery devices or lasers are used in these patients. The grounding pad of the cautery device should be placed as far away as possible from the pacemaker/ICD. In addition, use of bipolar cautery is recommended over monopolar cautery. To reduce the risk of interference, an external magnet placement may allow for asynchronous cardiac pacing. This depends on the type of pacemaker, and the manufacturing company should be contacted for guidance [32]. However, this approach is seldom employed nowadays.

Review of the EKG or consultation with the cardiology team can determine whether the patient is device dependent; information of the procedure, patient positioning, and anticipated sources of intraoperative electromagnetic interference should be discussed. Specific recommendations from a cardiologist regarding the cardiac device should be carefully documented [33]. Battery function of these devices is another concern. Usually, the lithium-ion batteries in the devices last over 10 years. Patients should be asked about the year of placement and if there has been any replacement of the devices for a changed battery.

#### 2.7 Valvular Heart Disease

According to the American Heart Association, approximately five million people are diagnosed with valvular heart disease in the United States each year. Valvular heart disease is a common condition which can either be stenosis or regurgitation. Most commonly, the aortic and mitral valves are involved resulting in a heart murmur. It is not uncommon to detect murmurs during physical exam which have not been detected in the past. While most murmurs are benign and asymptomatic, a high-grade murmur warrants further evaluation by a cardiologist. Aortic valve stenosis is an independent risk factor for cardiac morbidity and mortality. Prosthetic heart valves require long-term anticoagulation depending whether they are mechanical or biological. The risk of thromboembolism is significantly higher in patients with mechanical prosthesis, particularly the mitral valve due to relatively low flow compared to aortic valve. These patients are anticoagulated, and any interruption of anticoagulation can predispose them to thrombosis. If there is appropriate indication to discontinue anticoagulants prior to extensive maxillofacial surgery, such a decision should be made in consultation with the patient's cardiologist or primary care provider. Valvular heart disease poses a risk for developing bacterial endocarditis and exacerbat-

| Type of condition         | Low risk  | Moderate risk  | High risk   |
|---------------------------|---|--|---|
| Conduction                |   | Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome   |   |
| defects                   |   | Long QT syndrome   |   |
|                           |   | Pacemaker dependence   |   |
| Structural lesions        | Repaired ASD or VSD                                 | Simple unrepaired lesions, such as atrial or ventricular septal defect                             | Unrepaired complex cardiac lesions  |
|                           | Mild regurgitation or<br>stenosis of a single valve | Complex cardiac defects with full<br>repair<br>Single ventricle with Glenn or<br>Fontan palliation | Systemic arterial to<br>pulmonary arterial shunts<br>Severe valvular disease  |
| Pulmonary<br>hypertension |   | New York Heart Association<br>functional class 1<br>Normal cardiac index                           | Pulmonary artery pressure<br>equal to or higher than<br>systemic<br>Decreased cardiac index<br>Severe heart failure |
| Miscellaneous             |   | Heart or lung transplant   | Ventricular assist devices<br>William's syndrome<br>Hypertrophic obstructive<br>cardiomyopathy                      |

 Table 2.4
 Cardiac risk stratification of patient with congenital heart disease [35]

ing a preexisting congestive heart failure. According to the recent ACC/AHA guidelines, endocarditis prophylaxis before invasive oral procedures is recommended in patients with valvular heart disease [34].

#### 2.7.1 Recommendations for Endocarditis Prophylaxis [34]

- Prosthetic cardiac valves, including transcatheterimplanted prostheses and homografts
- 2. Prosthetic material used for cardiac valve repair, such as annuloplasty rings and chords
- 3. Previous infective endocarditis (IE)
- 4. Unrepaired cyanotic congenital heart disease or repaired congenital heart disease, with residual shunts or valvular regurgitation at the site of, or adjacent to the site of, a prosthetic patch or prosthetic device
- 5. Cardiac transplant with valve regurgitation attributed to a structurally abnormal valve

#### 2.8 Congenital Heart Disease

Congenital heart disease represents a common developmental anomaly. Atrial septal defect (ASD), ventricular septal defect (VSD), patent ductus arteriosus (PDA), congenital pulmonary stenosis, and aortic stenosis are some of the common conditions. A majority of these are repaired early in life upon detection, although some may go undiagnosed until later in life and some into adulthood. Saettele et al. developed a risk stratification chart (Table 2.4) of patients with congenital heart disease undergoing major surgery. The risk of conduction defects increases with the use of certain drugs (Table 2.5). However, currently no data exists on outpatient anesthesia for these patients. Until such evidence is available, these patients should undergo preoperative evaluation by their cardiologist, and their recommendations should guide the anesthesia plan. In addition, according to the current AHA guidelines, patients with unrepaired congenital heart diseases require endocarditis prophylaxis.

#### 2.9 Anticoagulation

Various antiplatelet or anticoagulant drugs are available to reduce the risk of thrombus formation (Table 2.6). Cardiac conditions such as IHD, valvular heart disease, and cardiac arrythmias are indications for anticoagulant therapy. Surgical procedures of the oral cavity have an increased risk of bleeding. In the past interruption of anticoagulation therapy was commonly done to reduce the risk of oral bleeding. However, this

| Class of drugs      | Drug name                          |
|---------------------|------------------------------------|
| Class Ia            | Quinidine, disopyramide,           |
| antiarrhythmics     | procainamide                       |
| Class Ic            | Flecainide                         |
| antiarrhythmics     |                                    |
| Class III           | Sotalol, amiodarone                |
| antiarrhythmics     |                                    |
| Antipsychotics      | Droperidol, haloperidol,           |
|                     | phenothiazine, thioridazine,       |
|                     | quetiapine, risperidone, zotepine  |
| Serotonin           | Fluoxetine, paroxetine, sertraline |
| reuptake inhibitors |                                    |
| Macrolide           | Erythromycin, azithromycin,        |
| antibiotics         | clarithromycin                     |
| 5-HT1 agonists      | Zolmitriptan, naratriptan          |
| Antimalarial        | Halofantrine                       |
| agents              |                                    |
| Antihistamines      | Terfenadine                        |
| Prokinetic agents   | Cisapride                          |
|                     |                                    |

**Table 2.5** Drugs that affect cardiac repolarization and prolong the QT interval, with documented cases of torsades de pointes

inherently increased the risk of ischemic stroke or myocardial infarction.

Atrial fibrillation is the one of the most common cardiac arrhythmic conditions that may require anticoagulation. Several risk factors were identified in these patients to reduce the risk of thromboembolism (Table 2.7). A score of greater than 2 requires managing these patients with anticoagulant therapy [37]. In addition, those with bioprosthetic valves and valve repair are considered increased risk and should be anticoagulated regardless of score.

The risk of perioperative stent thrombosis in cardiac patients is increased by noncardiac surgical procedure, when surgery is performed early after stent implantation and if dual antiplatelet therapy is discontinued [38]. Dual platelet therapy is known to cause more bleeding than single drug. Despite this, interruption of antiplatelet therapy is not indicated for routine oral surgical procedures patients [39]. In who are anticoagulated with warfarin, oral surgical procedures can be safely performed with therapeutic levels of anticoagulation up to INR 4.0 [40]. However, the type of surgery, including the number of extractions, and the technique, such as staged extractions or quadrant procedures, are

**Table 2.6** Various anticoagulant agents and their mechanism of action

| Drug name    | Mechanism of action  |
|--------------|--|
| Aspirin      | Inhibition of platelet aggregation                                   |
| Clopidogrel  | Inhibition of platelet aggregation                                   |
| Coumadin     | Inhibits vitamin K-dependent<br>coagulation factors (II, VII, IX, X, |
|              | protein C, and protein S)  |
| Prasugrel    | Inhibition of platelet aggregation                                   |
| Ticagrelor   | Inhibition of platelet aggregation                                   |
| Apixaban     | Selective coagulation factor Xa inhibitor                            |
| Dabigatran   | Reversible direct thrombin inhibitor                                 |
| Rivaroxaban  | Selective coagulation factor Xa inhibitor                            |
| Edoxaban     | Selective coagulation factor Xa inhibitor                            |
| Betrixaban   | Selective coagulation factor Xa inhibitor                            |
| Vorapaxar    | Inhibition of platelet aggregation                                   |
| Dipyridamole | Decreases platelet aggregation                                       |
| Cilostazol   | Phosphodiesterase III inhibitor and                                  |
|              | reduces platelet aggregation   |

critical to perioperative success. A meta-analysis study involving aspirin (ASA) and a control group showed longer bleeding time in the aspirin group. However, this increase is not shown to be statistically significant compared to the control group. Hence disruption of antiplatelets therapy was not indicated [41]. Several studies have overwhelmingly concluded against the interruption of antiplatelet therapies prior to oral and maxillofacial surgery although some authors have recommended the use of local hemostatic agents [42, 43]. Further, evidence suggests an approximately 5% stroke risk with cessation of anticoagulation medications in patients on such medications for atrial fibrillation [44].

In order to obtain local hemostasis, it is advisable to take into account all the hemostatic agents known. The local hemostatic measures include the use of hemostatic gauze with regenerated oxidized cellulose, gelfoam consisting of animal origin gelatin, topical thrombin, fibrin sealants, bone wax, sutures, electrocautery, and the use of tranexamic acid. In addition, recently, the US Food and Drug Administration approved idarucizumab, a monoclonal antibody fragment, for the treatment of patients taking dabigatran when

| Abbreviation | Risk factors  | Points |
|--------------|---|--------|
| С            | Congestive heart failure/left ventricular dysfunction | 1      |
| Н            | Hypertension  | 1      |
| A2           | Age >75 years   | 1      |
| D            | Diabetes mellitus                                     | 1      |
| S2           | h/o CVA/TIA/thromboembolism                           | 2      |
| V            | Vascular disease (MI, PVD)                            | 1      |
| А            | Age 65–74 years                                       | 1      |
| Sc           | Gender; female  | 1      |

Table 2.7 Risk factors development of stroke in patient with atrial fibrillation: the CHA2DS2-VASc score [36]

reversal of the anticoagulant effects of dabigatran is needed for emergency surgery/urgent procedures or in life-threatening or uncontrolled bleeding.

#### 2.10 Perioperative Cardiac Risk Assessment and Testing

The aims of cardiac risk stratification are to:

- 1. Identify potentially life-threatening cardiac conditions
- Consider appropriate preoperative testing in high-risk patients
- 3. Implement optimal perioperative management strategies to reduce the risk of cardiac morbidity and mortality

The risk of perioperative cardiac complications is the summation of the individual patient's risk and cardiac stress related to the surgical procedure. The first step in cardiac risk stratification is to identify patients at risk for perioperative cardiac events. Historically, several indices have been described towards risk assessment in a surgical patient [45-47]. Recent studies have indicated the Goldman index may actually overestimate risk for today's ambulatory surgical patient [48]. However, these indices are outdated due to significant advances in surgical and medical management of patients with cardiac disease. In addition, these indices were used to assess the cardiac risk in patients undergoing major noncardiac surgeries and do not provide optimal data to assess the risk in outpatient oral and maxillofacial surgery. Major noncardiac surgery patients who undergo general anesthesia may experience the risk of significant hemodynamic changes, renal dysfunction, pulmonary failure, and hypermetabolic states. However, such conditions are extremely rarely encountered in the oral surgical patient. Within the oral and maxillofacial surgical procedures, majority of the procedures are considered low risk for cardiac mortality and morbidity. Perhaps, the head and neck reconstructive procedures are considered as intermediate risk. Although not evaluated, patients with severe obstructive sleep apnea (pulmonary hypertension, uncontrolled HTN, diabetes, and renal failure) undergoing a combination of maxillomandibular advancement and soft tissue airway surgery could be classified as intermediate risk.

The American College of Surgeons National Surgical Quality Improvement Program (NSQIP) risk calculator (https://riskcalculator.facs.org/ RiskCalculator/PatientInfo.jsp) is a more comprehensive online tool and procedure specific [49]. Another simple yet valuable risk assessment tool is the myocardial infarction or cardiac arrest (MICA) calculator (https://www.mdcalc.com/ gupta-perioperative-risk-myocardial-infarctioncardiac-arrest-mica) [50]. Recent studies have shown the MICA calculator outperformed several indicators. Preoperative functional status is another predictor of perioperative outcome. Studies in the past have shown that low exercise tolerance is associated with poor perioperative outcome [51, 52]. The Duke Activity Status Index (DASI) is based on a questionnaire and grades exercise ability related to physical activity such as:

- Can take care of self, such as eat, dress, or use the toilet (1 MET)
- Can walk up a flight of steps or a hill or walk on level ground at 3–4 mph (4 METs)
- Can do heavy work around the house, such as scrubbing floors or lifting or moving heavy furniture, or climb two flights of stairs (between 4 and 10 METs)
- Can participate in strenuous sports such as swimming, singles tennis, football, basketball, and skiing (>10 METs)

One metabolic equivalent of task (MET) is defined as 3.5 mL of oxygen consumed per kilogram body mass per minute. A cardiac patient with a functional capacity of more than 4 METs is considered low risk. However, the inability to climb a flight of stairs (4 METs) is significant because it is associated with cardiac events during major noncardiac surgery. At this time, it is unknown if this data can be extrapolated to oral surgical procedures considered as low risk. A recent study however concluded that subjectively assessed preoperative functional capacity did not accurately identify patients with poor cardiopulmonary status or predict postoperative morbidity or mortality in major noncardiac surgery [53]. A surgical classification system that identifies risk based on blood loss can be a valuable tool in risk stratification (Table 2.8).

Despite evidence that routine preoperative testing before elective, low-risk ambulatory surgery is not indicated, studies have shown that more than 60% of all patients underwent at least one laboratory test during their preoperative evaluation [55]. A systematic review of the current literature found that the incidence of abnormal test results that changed perioperative management ranged from less than 0.1% (CBC) to 2.6% (renal function tests) [56]. Inappropriate and unnecessary preoperative testing can lead to significant financial burden on the patient but may also lead to morbidity and mortality as a result of the testing [57]. According to the ACC/AHA perioperative guidelines, if the patient has had a cardiovascular evaluation in the previous 2 years and has not experienced new or worsening symp-

 Table 2.8
 Surgical classification system [54]

| Category 1 | Minimal risk to patients independent  |
|------------|---------------------------------------|
|            | of anesthesia                         |
|            | Minimally invasive procedures with    |
|            | little or no blood loss               |
|            | Operation done in an office setting   |
| Category 2 | Minimal to moderately invasive        |
|            | procedures                            |
|            | Blood loss <500 mL                    |
|            | Mild risk to patients independent of  |
|            | anesthesia                            |
| Category 3 | Moderately to significantly invasive  |
|            | procedure                             |
|            | Blood loss 500-1000 mL                |
|            | Moderate risk to patients independent |
|            | of anesthesia                         |
| Category 4 | Highly invasive procedure             |
|            | Blood loss >1500 mL                   |
|            | Major risk to patients independent of |
|            | anesthesia                            |
|            |                                       |

toms, further testing is usually unnecessary. If there has been no diagnostic workup, or if new or worsening cardiopulmonary symptoms are present, then additional testing may be indicated. Also, asymptomatic, functionally active patients with previous successful coronary revascularization within the last 6 years are in a low-risk category and should not be investigated further for a noncardiac operation [58].

In summary, perioperative cardiac management of the patient should be based on the best available scientific evidence, individual patient's risk stratification, and cost-effectiveness. The focus should be on appropriate medical interview of the patient and determining their functional status, rather than burdening the already strained health care systems with unnecessary testing. Discussion with primary care providers or other consultants should focus less on preoperative "clearance" and more on determining if the patient is optimized. In addition, conditions like stress, anxiety, and fear of oral surgical procedures can cause endogenous release of catecholamines, particularly norepinephrine, which in turn can precipitate autonomic responses leading to conditions like hypertension and arrhythmias. Hence, control of anxiety and pain plays a major role in reducing complications related to cardiovascular disease.

#### References

- 1. World Health Organization. Global status report on noncommunicable disease. Geneva: WHO; 2014.
- Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS, et al; American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. Heart disease and stroke statistics—2015 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2015;131(4):e29–e322.
- Holm SW, Cunningham LL Jr, Bensadoun E, Madsen MJ. Hypertension: classification, pathophysiology, and management during outpatient sedation and local anesthesia. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2006;64(1):111–2.
- Colhoun HM, Dong W, Poulter NR. Blood pressure screening, management and control in England 1994. J Hypertens. 1998;16:747–53.
- Danaei G, Finucane MM, Lin JK, et al. Global burden of metabolic risk factors of chronic diseases collaborating group (blood pressure). Lancet. 2011;377(9765):568–77.
- James PA, Oparil S, Carter BL, et al. 2014 evidencebased guideline for the management of high blood pressure in adults: report from the panel members appointed to the Eighth Joint National Committee (JNC 8). JAMA. 2014;311(5):507–20.
- Southerland JH, Gill DG, Gangula PR, Halpern LR, et al. Dental management in patients with hypertension: challenges and solutions. Clin Cosmet Investig Dent. 2016;8:111–20.
- Lu DP, Lu GP. Hypnosis and pharmacological sedation for medically compromised patients. Compend Contin Educ Dent. 1996;17:32–40.
- Varon J, Marik PE. Perioperative hypertension management. Vasc Health Risk Manag. 2008;4(3):615–27.
- Bader JD, Bonito AJ, Shugars DA. Cardiovascular effects of epinephrine on hypertensive dental patients. Rockville: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; 2002. (Evidence Report/Technology Assessment Number 48. (Prepared by Research Triangle Institute under Contract No. 290-97-0011.) AHRQ Publication 02-E006.
- Abu-Mostafa N, Aldawssary A, Assari A, et al. A prospective randomized clinical trial compared the effect of various types of local anesthetics cartridges on hypertensive patients during dental extraction. J Clin Exp Dent. 2015;7(1):e84–8.
- 12. Fleisher LA, Beckman JA, Brown KA, et al.; ACC/ AHA Task Force Members. ACC/AHA 2007 guidelines on perioperative cardiovascular evaluation and care for noncardiac surgery: executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology/ American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (writing committee to revise the 2002 guidelines on perioperative cardiovascular evaluation for noncardiac surgery): developed in collaboration with the American Society of Echocardiography, American Society of Nuclear Cardiology, Heart Rhythm Society, Society of Cardiovascular Anesthesiologists, Society for Cardiovascular

Angiography and Interventions, Society for Vascular Medicine and Biology, and Society for Vascular Surgery. Circulation. 2007;116:1971–199.

- Number of deaths for leading causes of death. National Center for Health Statistics. United States; 2015.
- Mangano DT. Perioperative cardiac morbidity. Anesthesiology. 1990;72:153–84.
- Rao TL, Jacobs KH, El-Etr AA. Reinfarction following anesthesia in patients with myocardial infarction. Anesthesiology. 1983;59:499–505.
- Margaix Munoz M, Jimenez Soriano Y, Poveda Roda R, et al. Cardiovascular diseases in dental practice. Practical considerations. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal. 2008;13:E296–302.
- Ryan TJ, Antman EM, Brooks NH. 1999 update: ACC/ AHA guidelines for the management of patients with acute myocardial infarction: executive summary and recommendations. Circulation. 1999;100:1016–30.
- Tuman KJ. Perioperative cardiovascular risk: assessment and management. Anesth Analg. 2001;92:S106–12.
- VanBelle E, Lablanche JM, Bauters C. Coronary angioscopic findings in the infarcted-related vessel within 1 month of acute myocardial infarction. Natural history and the effect of thrombolysis. Circulation. 1998;97:26–33.
- Hammill BG, Curtis LH, Bennett-Guerrero E, et al. Impact of heart failure on patients undergoing major noncardiac surgery. Anesthesiology. 2008;108:559–67.
- Bhatia RS, Tu JV, Lee DS, et al. Outcome of heart failure with preserved ejection fraction in a populationbased study. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(3):260–9.
- 22. Lee DS, Gona P, Vasan RS, et al. Relation of disease pathogenesis and risk factors to heart failure with preserved or reduced ejection fraction: insights from the Framingham heart study of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. Circulation. 2009;119(24):3070–7.
- Dolgin M, Committee NYHAC. In: Nomenclature and criteria for diagnosis of diseases of the heart and great vessels. 9. Dolgin M, editor. Boston: Little, Brown; 1994.
- 24. Godzieba A, Smektała T, Jędrzejewski M, et al. Clinical assessment of the safe use local anaesthesia with vasoconstrictor agents in cardiovascular compromised patients: a systematic review. Med Sci Monit. 2014;20:393–8.
- Meyer FU. Haemodynamic changes under emotional stress following a minor surgical procedure under local anaesthesia. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1987;16:688–94.
- 26. Healy JS, Merchant R, Simpson C, et al. Society position statement: Canadian Cardiovascular Society/ Canadian Anesthesiologists' Society/Canadian Heart Rhythm Society joint position statement on the management of patients with implanted pacemakers, defibrillators, and neurostimulating devices. Can J Cardiol. 2012;28:141–51.

- 27. Campbell RL, Langston WG, Ross GA. A comparison of cardiac rate-pressure product and pressure-rate quotient with Holter monitoring in patients with hypertension and cardiovascular disease: a follow-up report. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 1997;84:125–8.
- Blinder D, Shemesh J, Taicher S. Electrocardiographic changes in cardiac patients undergoing dental extractions under local anaesthesia. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1996;54:162–5.
- Cappato R, Smith WM, Hood MA, et al. Subcutaneous chronic implantable defibrillation systems in humans. J Interv Card Electrophysiol. 2012;34(3):325–32.
- Stone ME, Salter B, Fischer A. Perioperative management of patients with cardiac implantable electronic devices. Br J Anaesth. 2011;107 Suppl 1:i16–26.
- Cismaru G, Gusetu G, Muresan L, et al. Recovery of ventriculo-atrial conduction after adrenaline in patients implanted with pacemakers. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2015;38(7):857–63.
- 32. American society of anesthesiologist task force on perioperative management of patients with cardiac rhythm management devices. Practice advisory for the perioperative management of patients with cardiac implantable electronic devices: pacemakers and implantable cardioverter-defibrillators. An updated report by the American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force on perioperative management of patients with cardiac implantable electronic devices. Anesthesiology. 2005;103:186–198.
- 33. Crossley GH, Poole JE, Rozner MA, et al. The Heart Rhythm Society (HRS)/American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) expert consensus statement on the perioperative management of patients with implantable defibrillators, pacemakers and arrhythmia monitors: facilities and patient management. Heart Rhythm. 2011;8:1114–5.
- 34. Nishimura RA, Otto CM, Bonow RO, et al. 2017 AHA/ACC focused update of the 2014 AHA/ACC guideline for the management of patients with valvular heart disease: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association task force on clinical practice guidelines. Circulation. 2017;135:e1159–95.
- Saettele AK, Christensen JL, Chilson KL, Murray DJ. Children with heart disease: risk stratification for non-cardiac surgery. J Clin Anesth. 2016;35:479–84.
- Olesen JB, Lip GY, Hansen ML, Hansen PR, Tolstrup JS. Validation of risk stratification schemes for predicting stroke and thromboembolism in patients with atrial fibrillation: nationwide cohort study. BMJ. 2011;342:124.
- 37. Camm AJ, Kirchhof P, Lip GY, et al. Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation: the task force for the management of atrial fibrillation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC), European Heart Rhythm Association, European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery. Eur Heart J. 2010;31(19):2369–429.

- Brilakis ES, Banerjee S, Berger PB. Perioperative management of patients with coronary stents. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2007;49:2145–50.
- 39. Lu SY, Tsai CY, Lin LH, Lu SN. Dental extraction without stopping single or dual antiplatelet therapy: results of a retrospective cohort study. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2016;45:1293–8.
- Salam S, Yusuf H, Milosevic A. Bleeding after dental extractions in patients taking warfarin. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2007;45:463–6.
- Zhao B, Wang P, Dong Y, Zhu Y, Zhao K. Should aspirin be stopped before tooth extraction? A metaanalysis. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol. 2015;119:522–30.
- Bajkin BV, Urosevic IM, Stankov KM, Petrovic BB, Bajkin IA. Dental extractions and risk of bleeding in patients taking single and dual antiplatelet treatment. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2015;53:39–43.
- 43. Dézsi BB, Koritsánszky L, Braunitzer G, Hangyási DB, Dézsi CA. Prasugrel versus clopidogrel: a comparative examination of local bleeding after dental extraction in patients receiving dual antiplatelet therapy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2015;73(10):1894–900.
- 44. Broderick JP, Bonomo JB, Kissela BM, et al. Withdrawal of antithrombotic agents and its impact on ischemic stroke occurrence. Stroke. 2011;42:2509–14.
- Goldman L, Caldera DL, Nussbaum SR, et al. Multifactorial index of cardiac risk in noncardiac surgical procedures. N Engl J Med. 1977;297:845–50.
- 46. Detsky AS, Abrams HB, Forbath N, Scott JG, Hilliard JR. Cardiac assessment for patients undergoing noncardiac surgery. A multifactorial clinical risk index. Arch Intern Med. 1986;146:2131–4.
- 47. Lee TH, Marcantonio ER, Mangione CM, et al. Derivation and prospective validation of a simple index for prediction of cardiac risk of major noncardiac surgery. Circulation. 1999;100(10):1043.
- Mingus ML. Patients with cardiac disease for ambulatory surgery. Anesth Clinics North Am. 1997;15:171–88.
- 49. Bilimoria KY, Liu Y, Paruch JL, et al. Development and evaluation of the universal ACS NSQIP surgical risk calculator: a decision aid and informed consent tool for patients and surgeons. J Am Coll Surg. 2013;217(5):833–42. e1–3. Epub 2013 Sep 18.
- Gupta PK, Gupta H, Sundaram A, et al. Development and validation of a risk calculator for prediction of cardiac risk after surgery. Circulation. 2011;124:381–7.
- Older P, Hall A, Hader R. Cardiopulmonary exercise testing as a screening test for peri-operative management of major surgery in the elderly. Chest. 1999;116:355–62.
- Crawford RS, Cambria RP, Abularrage CJ, et al. Preoperative functional status predicts peri-operative outcomes after infrainguinal bypass surgery. J Vasc Surg. 2010;51:351–9.
- Wijeysundera DN, Pearse RM, Shulman MA, et al. Assessment of functional capacity before major noncardiac surgery: an international, prospective cohort study. Lancet. 2018;391(10140):2631.

- Abramowicz S, Roser SM. Medical management of patients undergoing dentoalveolar surgery. Oral Maxillofac Surg Clin. 27(3):345–52.
- Benarroch-Gampel J, Sheffield KM, Duncan CB. Preoperative laboratory testing in patients undergoing elective, low-risk ambulatory surgery. Ann Surg. 2012;256(3):518–28.
- Smetana GW, Macpherson DS. The case against routine preoperative laboratory testing. Med Clin North Am. 2003;87:7–40.
- Priebe HJ. Preoperative cardiac management of the patient for non-cardiac surgery: an individualized and evidence-based approach. Br J Anaesthesia. 2011;107(1):83–96.
- Eagle KA, Rihal CS, Mickel MC, et al. Cardiac risk of non-cardiac surgery: influence of coronary disease and type of surgery in 3,368 operations. Circulation. 1997;96:1882–7.



3

# Patients with Respiratory Disease: High Yield Concepts for Optimal Clinical Care

Habib Asmaro and Daniel J. Meara

#### 3.1 Introduction

Obstructive lung disease is a respiratory illness that is characterized by airway obstruction. It includes asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). COPD has several subtypes that include emphysema, chronic bronchitis, and chronic obstructive asthma. In this chapter we will review basic definitions, pathophysiology, and anesthetic considerations for the common obstructive lung diseases.

#### 3.2 Asthma

Asthma is one of the most common chronic airway diseases worldwide [1]. It is characterized by chronic inflammation resulting in reversible airflow obstruction with recurrent episodes of wheezing, breathlessness, chest tightness, and cough that are brought on by specified triggers

H. Asmaro

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Medical University of South Carolina, Charleston, SC, USA

D. J. Meara (🖂)

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Christiana Care Health System, Wilmington, DE, USA

Department of Physical Therapy, University of Delaware, Newark, DE, USA e-mail: dmeara@christianacare.org and relieved by broncho-dilating medications. Some of these triggers include exercise, cold air, and exposure to aeroallergens such as dust mites, molds, and pollen.

According to the CDC, the prevalence of asthma in the United States is approximately 7.9% with incidence, and severity of asthma continues to increase [2]. The reasons for continued increase in asthma incidence, despite decrease in number of smokers and secondhand smoke exposure, remain unknown. The leading theory is "hygiene hypothesis" that suggests children's immune system, in developed countries, is understimulated [3]. COPD prevalence was 6.0% (among smokers) and 2.2% (among nonsmokers) and varies considerably by state with highest clusters along the Ohio lower Mississippi Rivers [4]. Costs attributable to having COPD were \$32.1 billion and with a projected increase to \$49.0 billion by 2020. Respiratory events accounted for 28% of claims due to anesthesiarelated brain damage and death [5]. Closed claims data from OMSNIC indicates respiratory distress as the most frequent cause for transfer of an OMFS patient to the emergency department.

The most common technique in detecting airflow obstruction includes peak expiratory flow rate (PEFR) and spirometry measurements [6]. In PEFR, a handheld flow meter is used to measure peak flow. If peak flow is less than 80% of predicted value, then the patient should be further evaluated with spirometry. Pre and post

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

D. J. Meara, R. Gutta (eds.), Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery for the Medically Compromised Patient, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-82598-0\_3

bronchodilator spirometry involves measurement of maximal inhalation to total lung capacity followed by maximal exhalation. This provides the forced vital capacity (FVC) which is the total volume of air exhaled, the forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV<sub>1</sub>), and the ratio of FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC. When the ratio is reduced below 0.7, then airflow obstruction is present. The reversibility of the obstruction is assessed by administration of quick-acting bronchodilator such as albuterol. The characteristic physiologic feature of COPD is partial reversibility, or irreversibility, of the airway obstruction with bronchodilator administration.

The Expert Panel Report 3 of the National Asthma Education and prevention Program characterizes asthma severity as intermittent, persistent mild, persistent moderate, and persistent severe (Table 3.1). There are multiple systems for staging of COPD. There is the GOLD system that combines patient's individual symptoms and exacerbation history and the BODE index which is calculated based on the BMI,  $FEV_1$ , dyspnea, and exercise capacity. The COPD Foundation system incorporates spirometry, symptoms, oxygenation, emphysema, presence of bronchitis, and comorbidities placing the patient into 5 spirometric grades (Table 3.2).

As with any patient, the first step in assessing patient with history of obstructive lung disease includes a thorough history and physical. Some of the key information to emphasize during preoperative assessment includes the following:

- Patient's perception of the severity of the asthma
- Frequency of use of short-acting inhaled beta-2 agonist
- Current asthma medication regimen
- Triggering factors
- History and frequency of hospitalizations and emergency department visits pertaining to asthma exacerbations
- · History of intubation due to severity of attacks
- Recent use of oral glucocorticoids or antibiotics
- Current smoking status
- Recent hospitalization due to COPD exacerbation
- Baseline functional status and need for supplemental oxygen
- Dyspnea at rest or with minimal exertion
- Recent illness, fevers
- Recent increase in sputum production

It is also important to identify certain risk factors that are associated with relapse of an asthmatic patient. Some of these risks factors include having made 3 or more visits to an emergency department within the past 6 months or difficulty performing work or activities as a result of physical health in the 4 weeks prior. Based on the

|  |  |   | Persistent  |  |
|--|--|---|---|--|
| Component  | Intermittent   | Persistent mild   | moderate  | Persistent severe  |
| Symptoms frequency                                 | $\leq 1-2$ days/week   | >2 days/week (not daily)  | Daily   | Throughout the day   |
| Sleep interruption                                 | $\leq 1-2$ events/month  | 3–4 events/month  | Multiple weekly<br>(not nightly)  | Frequently (7/<br>week)  |
| Short-acting $\beta_2$<br>agonist use<br>frequency | ≤2 days/week   | >2 days/week (not daily<br>and no more than once<br>on any day) | Daily   | Several times/<br>day  |
| Interruption of<br>daily activities of<br>life     | None   | Minor interferences   | Some<br>interferences   | Limited<br>activities  |
| Lung function                                      | FEV <sub>1</sub> normal between<br>exacerbation (FEV <sub>1</sub> > 80%<br>and FEV <sub>1</sub> /FVC normal) | FEV <sub>1</sub> > 80% and FEV <sub>1</sub> /<br>FVC normal)    | 60% < FEV <sub>1</sub> <<br>80%<br>FEV <sub>1</sub> /FVC<br>reduced by 5% | $\begin{array}{l} FEV_1 < 60\% \\ FEV_1/FVC \\ reduced by \\ >5\% \end{array}$ |

 Table 3.1
 Classification of asthma severity [7]

information, the level of asthma control can be classified as well-controlled, not well-controlled, or very poorly controlled (Table 3.3). If the asthma is not well-controlled or exhibiting acute symptoms, such as wheezing, then the planned procedure should be delayed, and the patient should be referred to his or her primary care provider for further optimization.

The risk of perioperative pulmonary complications is low for a well-controlled asthmatic patient that is not steroid-dependent. Preoperative pulmonary function testing is recommended for patients with moderate to severe asthma. Pulmonary function tests with normal finding should not substitute clinical judgment, as pulmonary function may change. Patient may present with normal PFTs on that particular day which may not reflect the same pulmonary status on the day of the plan procedure. Preoperative laboratory blood testing should be obtained for asthmatic patients on high-dose beta-2 androgenic agonists (4mg QID) as it can result in hypokalemia, hyperglycemia, and hypomagnese-

| Tak | ole 3 | 3.2 | Assessment | of ( | COPD | severity | [8] | 1 |
|-----|-------|-----|------------|------|------|----------|-----|---|
|-----|-------|-----|------------|------|------|----------|-----|---|

| Spirometry   |  |
|--------------|--|
| grades (SG)  | Component  |
| SG0          | Normal spirometry; does not rule out<br>emphysema, chronic bronchitis, |
|              | asthma, or risk of exacerbation or                                     |
|              | developing COPD  |
| SG1 (Mild)   | Post bronchodilator FEV <sub>1</sub> /FVC ratio                        |
|              | $<0.7$ ; FEV <sub>1</sub> $\ge 60\%$ predicted                         |
| SG2          | Post bronchodilator FEV <sub>1</sub> /FVC ratio                        |
| (Moderate)   | $<0.7; 30\% \le \text{FEV}_1 < 60\%$ predicted                         |
| SG3 (Severe) | Post bronchodilator FEV <sub>1</sub> /FVC ratio                        |
|              | <0.7; FEV <sub>1</sub> < 30% predicted                                 |
| SGU          | $FEV_1/FVC$ ratio $\geq 0.7$ ; $FEV_1 < 80\%$                          |
| (Undefined)  | predicted. Consistent with restriction,                                |
|              | muscle weakness, and other   |
|              | pathologies  |

#### Table 3.3 Assessing asthma control [7]

mia. Chest x-rays are not routinely indicated for asthmatic patients; however it is recommended for patients reporting dyspnea, cough, and fever or noted to have wheezing or crackles on chest auscultation.

#### 3.3 COPD

The Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) defines COPD as "common, preventable, and treatable disease that is characterized by persistent respiratory symptoms and airflow limitation that is due to airway and/or alveolar abnormalities usually caused by significant exposure to noxious particles or gases. The chronic airflow limitation that characterizes COPD is caused by a mixture of small airways disease (e.g., obstructive bronchiolitis) and parenchymal destruction (emphysema), the relative contributions of which vary from person to person. Chronic inflammation causes structural changes, small airways narrowing, and destruction of lung parenchyma. A loss of small airways may contribute to airflow limitation and mucociliary dysfunction, a characteristic feature of the disease" [9]. Patients with COPD demonstrate three common symptoms that included dyspnea, chronic cough, and sputum production.

In patients with COPD, preoperative management is no different than asthmatic patient. In regard to maintenance medications, patient should be instructed to continue their usual regiment up to, and including, the day of surgery. This includes inhaled beta-agonists (albuterol, formoterol, salmeterol), glucocorticoids (fluticasone and triamcinolone), anticholinergic (ipratropium, tiotropium) medications, as well as leukotriene inhibitors (montelukast). The excep-

| Component                                    | Well-controlled                                       | Not well-controlled                                    | Very poorly controlled                                |
|--|---|--|---|
| Symptom frequency                            | ≤2 days/week  | >2 days/week (not daily)                               | Throughout the day                                    |
| Sleep interruption                           | $\leq$ 1–2 events/month                               | 1-3 events/week  | ≥4 events /week                                       |
| Short-acting $\beta_2$ agonist use frequency | ≤2 days/week  | >2 days/week   | Several times per day                                 |
| Lung function                                | FEV <sub>1</sub> > 80% of predicted/<br>personal best | FEV <sub>1</sub> 60–80% of predicted/<br>personal best | FEV <sub>1</sub> < 60% of predicted/<br>personal best |

tion is theophylline. As a competitive nonselective phosphodiesterase inhibitor, theophylline has a very narrow therapeutic window. Toxic levels could accumulate as its metabolism is affected by many common perioperative medications. This could result in serious arrhythmias and neurotoxicity. It is recommended to hold the medication the evening before surgery.

#### 3.4 Tobacco

Despite awareness of the dangers of tobacco uses, recent studies suggest that almost 20% of the US population still smokes tobacco. Active cigarette smokers are at an increased risk for postoperative pulmonary complications. Thus, it is important to provide smoke cessation counseling during the preoperative evaluation. It is recommended that the patient refrain from smoking 8 weeks prior to surgery. The reason is because of the increased airway secretions after smoke cessation that could result in airway irritation. Airway irritation could be minimized with an oral pack and frequent suctioning of oral secretions with open airway sedation. Furthermore, supraglottic airway (i.e., LMA) can be considered over ET given the increased airway irritation associated with ET intubation.

It should be noted, however, that patients that have quit smoking less than 8 weeks are at increased risk of postoperative complications. One systematic review demonstrated there was no difference in postoperative pulmonary complications between active smokers and recent cessation (less than 8 weeks) [10]. With the lack of evidence of harm with short duration of smoke cessation, it is recommended that all patients anticipating elective procedures to quit smoking as soon as permitted, with 8 weeks of cessation as optimal time.

#### 3.5 Vaping

Vaping, albeit a new phenomenon, is associated with a multistate outbreak of lung injury. Termed EVALI (e-cigarette, or vaping, product useassociated lung injury) is considered a diagnosis of exclusion. The pathophysiology remains unclear, but vitamin E acetate seems to be implicated by lung fluid samples (CDC 2020). Also, THC-containing products play a role in this lung injury, and nicotine-containing products have not been excluded yet. There are no specific tests or markers for its diagnosis. Patients exhibit nonspecific respiratory and gastrointestinal symptoms. Symptoms include cough, chest pain, shortness of breath, abdominal pain, nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea. Fevers, chills, and weight loss were noted in 85% of patients with EVALI. Most exhibit respiratory symptoms first, but GI symptoms can precede respiratory ones. Patients may also have unremarkable auscultation findings despite severe lung injury [11]. Providers should review social history and ask about the use, type of vaping products, and review of system to screen for early symptoms of EVALI. Patients presenting with concerning symptoms should be directed to follow up with their health care provider.

#### 3.6 Respiratory Infections

Acute viral upper respiratory infections (URI) are the most common illness in the general population and are typically caused by rhinovirus and are mostly benign and self-limited [12]. Patients present with a variety of symptoms such as sneezing, nasal congestion and discharge, dry cough, low-grade fever, sore throat, malaise, sinusitis, and/or bronchitis. Upper respiratory infections cause an increased upper airway and bronchial hyperreactivity due to increased vagal tone and decreased function of inhibitory M2 muscarinic receptors on the parasympathetic nerve endings. As a result, the bronchoconstriction reflex and airway hyperresponsiveness are potentiated and predispose to coughing, stridor, development of laryngospasm, and bronchospasms. The airway hyperactivity may last for 2-6 weeks after an URI.

The risk of pulmonary complications in the setting of a viral upper respiratory tract infection is poorly studied. Most of literature pertaining to the subject is focused on pediatric population. A 1996 retrospective study demonstrated no increase in the incidence of intraoperative bronchospasms in patients with well-controlled asthma setting of a recent URI. For wellcontrolled asthmatic patients presenting with acute upper respiratory tract infection, it is recommended to postpone elective surgical procedures until 2 weeks for urgent cases and 8 weeks for elective nonurgent, after the symptoms subside. In patients with a history of COPD, it is recommended to postpone elective surgery and setting of COPD exacerbation or in setting of URI. The duration of postponement should be based on individual basis due to variability in time from exacerbation to return to baseline functional status, especially for patients with medical comorbidities. Patient presenting with dyspnea, cough, productive sputum production, and associated fevers should be referred for further medical management, especially if there is suspicion of influenza or coronavirus infection.

#### 3.7 Premedication

Premedication for patients with reactive airway disease is recommended to reduce the risk of pulmonary complications. This includes administering of short-acting beta-2 agonists such as multidose albuterol inhaler, 2–4 puffs, or nebulized 2.5 mg of albuterol 20–30 min prior to planned procedure. For patients that can tolerate resultant tachycardia (~36 beats per min increase) [13], administering anticholinergic agents such as 0.2 mg of glycopyrrolate or 0.4 mg of atropine helps to dry out secretions as well as decrease airway vagal responsiveness.

#### 3.8 Intraoperative Management

Intraoperative anesthetic regimen should be tailored to each individual patient. Propofol is an excellent induction anesthetic for the hemodynamically stable asthmatic patient and is known to attenuate bronchospastic response to airway irritation. However, there have been documented cases of bronchospasms occurring with propofol administration. This is possibly being due to an allergic reaction to sodium metabisulfite used as a preservative in some of the preparations. The authors recommend using propofol with alcohol or calcium edetate as a preservative instead. Ketamine is another agent that could be considered as a part of the anesthetic regiment. Ketamine is known to have sympathomimetic bronchodilatory properties. However ketamine is also known to increase airway secretions, and an anticholinergic agent is recommended when needed.

Opiates are often included as a part of anesthetic regiment, as it supplements anesthetic requirements as well as suppresses airway reflexes such as coughing. Most opiates release some amount of histamines that hypothetically could cause bronchospasms. Synthetic opiates such as fentanyl, remifentanil, sufentanil, and hydromorphone release minute amount of histamines and have been safely used an asthmatic patients during induction, maintenance, as well as in recovery. In contrast, morphine and meperidine are associated with significant histamine release. For example, a randomized study, in 1982, looked at the plasma histamine level in patients receiving morphine compared to those receiving fentanyl. Patients in the morphine group had an average of 750% peek increase in plasma histamine with resultant decrease in medial articular pressure and systemic vascular resistance, whereas the fentanyl group had no change in their plasma histamine and no decrease in arterial or pressure or systemic vascular resistance [14].

In patients with COPD, it is recommended to avoid deep sedation due to susceptibility to hypoventilation resulting in  $CO_2$  retention which causes hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction leading to worsening ventilation/perfusion mismatch. Supplemental oxygen should be given to maintain oxygen saturation as close as possible to preoperative baseline. Further administration of oxygen to improve saturation will not improve tissue oxygenation but rather increase the risk of  $CO_2$  retention due to blunting of the hypoxemic respiratory drive noted in COPD patients given the difference in physiologic response to hypercarbia seen in COP compared to non-COPD patients.

Beta-blockers are routinely used for management of hypertension and tachycardia during anesthesia. However, in patients with reactive airway disease, beta-blockers increased airway reactivity, bronchial obstruction, and attenuation of the inhaled or oral beta-receptor agonists. Even topical nonselective beta-blockers for glaucoma treatment have been associated with asthma exacerbations. A 2014 systematic review and meta-analysis demonstrated that both beta-1 selective and nonselective beta-blockers reduced FEV<sub>1</sub> and bronchodilator response to inhaled beta-2 agonists with greater attenuation in the latter group [15]. If required, the lowest possible dose of beta-1 selective agents, such as esmolol and metoprolol, can be administered. This is because at higher dosages the selectivity of these agents diminishes.

#### 3.9 Conclusion

Respiratory disease is a risk factor for perioperative complications. Thus, preoperative optimization of a patient's pulmonary status and proper anesthetic treatment planning is essential to the safe provision of surgical care.

#### References

- 1. Eder W, Ege MJ, von Mutius E. The asthma epidemic. N Engl J Med. 2006;355:2226–35.
- CDC.gov. CDC—Asthma. [online]. 2019. https:// www.cdc.gov/asthma/default.htm. Accessed 26 Sept 2019.
- The American Academy of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology. Increasing rates of allergies and asthmalAAAAI. [online]. 2019. https://www.aaaai. org/conditions-and-treatments/library/allergy-library/

prevalence-of-allergies-and-asthma. Accessed 28 Sept 2019.

- CDC—Data and Statistics—Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD). [online]. https://www. cdc.gov/copd/data.html. Accessed 26 Sept 2019.
- Cheney FW, Posner KL, Lee LA, Caplan RA, Domino KB. Trends in anesthesia-related death and brain damage: a closed claims analysis. Anesthesiology. 2006;105(6):1081–6.
- Miller MR, Hankinson J, Brusasco V, Burgos F, Casaburi R, Coates A, Crapo R, Enright P, van der Grinten CP, Gustafsson P, Jensen R, Johnson DC, MacIntyre N, McKay R, Navajas D, Pedersen OF, Pellegrino R, Viegi G, Wanger J, ATS/ERS Task Force
- National Heart, Blood, and Lung Institute expert panel report 3 (EPR 3): guidelines for the diagnosis and management of asthma. NIH Publication no. 08-4051, 2007.
- Rennard S, Thomashow B, Crapo J, et al. Introducing the COPD Foundation guide for diagnosis and management of COPD, recommendations of the COPD Foundation. COPD. 2013;10(3):378–89. https://doi. org/10.3109/15412555.2013.801309.
- Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD). Global strategy for the diagnosis, management and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: 2019 report. www.goldcopd.org. Accessed 10 Sept 2019.
- Myers K, Hajek P, Hinds C, McRobbie H. Stopping smoking shortly before surgery and postoperative complications: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Intern Med. 2011;171:983.
- 11. Siegel DA, Jatlaoui TC, Koumans EH, et al. Update: interim guidance for health care providers evaluating and caring for patients with suspected e-cigarette, or vaping, product use associated lung injury—United States, October 2019. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2019;68:919–27.
- Monto AS. Epidemiology of viral respiratory infections. Am J Med. 2002;112(Suppl 6A):4S.
- Preiss D, Berguson P. Dose-response studies on glycopyrrolate and atropine in conscious cardiac patients. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 1983;16:523–7. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2125.1983.tb02210.x.
- Rosow CE, Moss J, Philbin DM, Savarese JJ. Histamine release during morphine and fentanyl anesthesia. Anesthesiology. 1982;56:93.
- Morales DR, Jackson C, Lipworth BJ, et al. Adverse respiratory effect of acute β-blocker exposure in asthma: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Chest. 2014;145:779.



**Liver Diseases** 

#### Shachika Khanna

Oral and maxillofacial surgeons and dentists are often consulted by medical colleagues to evaluate patients with liver disease who complain of pain associated with failing dentition. Some of these patients may present with end-stage liver disease, and poor dentition could put these patients at risk for an acute odontogenic infection. The patient's physician may provide you with a MELD score, Child-Pugh score, and liver enzymes. What do these numbers mean? Why are they important? What else must you know prior planning your surgery? What measures can you take as an oral and maxillofacial surgeon on the multidisciplinary team to achieve the most optimal result for your patient?

#### 4.1 Assessment of Liver Function

For the oral and maxillofacial surgeon, history taking is a very important part of identifying liver disease or risk factors for liver disease in an otherwise healthy-appearing patient. It is important to understand that the term "liver function tests" (Table 4.1) does not measure a recognized function of the liver. Instead, they assess liver injury.

It is important to obtain patient history sensitively to warrant patient safety and the need for referring the patient for further investigation [2]. Details about alcohol consumption including amount, frequency, strength of alcoholic beverage, and abstinence must be addressed. It is also important to review the patient's daily medication list including herbal medications or excessive Tylenol consumption that can result in drug-induced hepatitis; family history of Wilson's disease or hemochromatosis is equally important [2, 3].

An accurate measure of the synthetic functioning of the liver can be derived from tests such a serum albumin, serum bilirubin, and prothrombin time which is standardized to the international normalized ratio (INR) [4]. However, these numbers are usually maintained until late in the disease process resulting in significant decline of liver function.

Albumin is the most important plasma protein produced by the liver in terms of absolute quantity. Given its longer half-life of 22 days, a patient with an acute liver condition such as hepatitis may not appreciate a drop in serum albumin levels which would be expected in a patient with decompensated liver cirrhosis [4].

Serum enzyme tests include aspartate aminotransferase (AST), alanine aminotransferase (ALT), alkaline phosphatase (ALP), and gammaglutamyl transpeptidase (GGT). An increase in ALT is more specific for liver damage compared

S. Khanna (🖂)

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Thomas Jefferson University Hospital, Philadelphia, PA, USA e-mail: shachika.khanna@jefferson.edu

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

D. J. Meara, R. Gutta (eds.), Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery for the Medically Compromised Patient, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-82598-0\_4

| Parameter                           | Origin  | Associated disease   |
|-------------------------------------|---|--|
| Aspartate<br>aminotransferase (AST) | Liver, skeletal muscle, cardiac<br>muscle, red blood cells, brain,<br>pancreas, lungs | Hepatocellular injury of any cause, myopathies,<br>myocardial infarct, hemolysis, tumors of the liver                      |
| Alanine<br>aminotransferase (ALT)   | Liver, kidneys, skeletal muscle   | Hepatocellular injury of any cause, tumors of the liver, myopathies  |
| Alkaline phosphatase                | Liver, bone, placenta, kidneys, intestines  | Cholestatic liver disease; inflammation;<br>sarcoidosis; pregnancy; lymphoma; bone, kidney,<br>and intestinal diseases     |
| γ-Glutamyl transferase              | Biliary epithelial cells, kidneys, pancreas, prostate                                 | Liver duct injury, biliary or pancreatic disease,<br>myocardial infarct, renal diseases, chronic lung<br>disease, diabetes |
| Conjugated bilirubin                | Hemolysis, insufficient excretion from the liver                                      | Severe liver injury from any cause, Rotor syndrome, Dubin-Johnson syndrome   |
| Unconjugated bilirubin              | Hemolysis   | Hemolysis, Gilbert syndrome, Crigler-Najjar syndrome   |
| Albumin                             | Produced in hepatocytes   | Low in nephrotic syndrome, malnutrition, protein-losing enteropathy  |
| Prothrombin time                    | Clotting factors produced in hepatocytes  | Prolonged in liver disease, vitamin K deficiency, fat malabsorption, pancreatic insufficiency                              |

Table 4.1 Liver function tests ([1] modified)

to AST due to its comparatively higher concentration in the liver compared to other sites such as the heart, kidney, and skeletal muscles. Elevation of serum aminotransferases is noted in all forms of liver injury, and an elevation of liver enzymes up to 300 U/L is usually nondiagnostic [3]. Notable increases in aminotransferase levels (>1000 U/L) include viral hepatitis A or E, ischemic or autoimmune hepatitis, drug-induced liver injury, and acute obstruction of the biliary tract [3]. Normal values of liver enzymes are listed as follows: alkaline phosphatase is 35-130 iu/L, aspartate aminotransferase is 5-40 iu/L, alanine aminotransferase is 5-35 iu/L, gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase is 10-48 iu/L, albumin is 35–50 g/L, prothrombin time is 12–16 s, and total bilirubin is 5-17 µmol/L. [4] Bilirubin is predominantly unconjugated and insoluble in water and hence undetectable urine. in Hyperbilirubinemia is noted in cholestatic and hepatocellular liver disease [4].

#### 4.2 Acute Liver Failure

By definition, acute liver failure is defined as liver dysfunction, coagulopathy, encephalopathy, and jaundice all ensuing within 26 weeks (6 months) of onset of symptoms in patients with no preexisting liver diseases. The acuity of liver failure is based on the time interval from jaundice to encephalopathy and can range from 7 days to 12 weeks. The most common causes include viral hepatitis and drug-induced hepatitis. The highest chance of survival arises from identification and treatment of the underlying etiology. While viral hepatitis accounts for the most frequent cause of liver failure in developing countries, druginduced acute liver failure from acetaminophen and paracetamol accounts for the highest number of cases in the USA and United Kingdom (45-60% [2, 3]. The presence of acute-onset encephalopathy and coagulopathy may preclude any oral surgical treatment. Drug-induced liver injury and acute liver failure can also result from antibiotics such as amoxicillin-clavulanic acid, isoniazid, nitrofurantoin, aminoglycosides, and fluoroquinolones in the Western countries. In addition, herbal medications can also result in liver injury in Asian countries in addition to antibiotics and antituberculosis drugs.

#### 4.3 Liver Cirrhosis

Liver cirrhosis is a diffuse process that results in alteration of the normal liver architecture where the regenerating hepatocytes are surrounded by

|                                 | Points <sup>a</sup> |         |        |
|---------------------------------|---------------------|---------|--------|
| Clinical and lab criteria       | 1                   | 2       | 3      |
| Encephalopathy                  | None                | Mild    | Severe |
| Ascites                         | None                | Mild    | Severe |
| Bilirubin (mg/dL)               | <2                  | 2-3     | >3     |
| Albumin (g/dL)                  | >3.5                | 2.8-3.5 | <2.8   |
| International normalized ration | <1.7                | 1.7–2.3 | >2.3   |

**Table 4.2** Child-Pugh scoring for severity of liver disease [5]

Class A = 5-6 points (mild liver disease)

Class B = 7-9 points (moderate liver disease)

Class C = 10-15 (end-stage liver disease)

<sup>a</sup>Child-Pugh score is obtained by adding the points for each parameter

fibrous bands [2, 4]. The causes of cirrhosis include alcoholic cirrhosis, nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), and viral hepatitis-induced cirrhosis from hepatitis B and C. Cryptogenic cirrhosis is a diagnosis of exclusion where no additional causes of cirrhosis can be determined. The gold standard for the diagnosis of cirrhosis is a liver biopsy although imaging can be helpful as well [4]. The severity and the progression of liver disease can be assessed by the Child-Pugh score/ class (Table 4.2). In this classification, points are scored for increasing abnormality. The more severe the disease, the higher the score. The score is determined by presence of jaundice, ascites, encephalopathy, serum albumin concentration, and nutrition (or prothrombin time which can be used instead of nutrition. The 1-year survival rate ranges from 84% in patients with child grade A disease and subsequently drops to 42% in patients with a grade C disease [2]. The Model for Endstage Liver Disease (MELD) score is used to accurately determine the priority for liver transplantation in recipients with cirrhotic livers. Serum creatinine, prothrombin time (INR), and serum bilirubin are used to calculate the MELD score [6]. The predictability of the score is considered high, and it is believed to have successfully lowered the mortality rate amongst the patients waiting to receive a liver transplant, nationally. Clinically cirrhosis can be described as compensated or decompensated. Decompensated cirrhosis will include other clinical signs such as jaundice, ascites, hepatic encephalopathy, and/or bleeding varices with ascites often being the first sign [2, 4]. Patients with compensated cirrhosis

will have none of the above [4]. Once cirrhosis has set it, it is not reversible, but measures can be taken to prevent worsening of the condition. Abstinence from alcohol, maintenance of a regular diet and ideal weight, attempts to prevent hemorrhage from varices, and prompt diagnosis of hepatocellular carcinoma and encephalopathy would be the goals to prevent progression of cirrhosis. If the cause of cirrhosis can be identified, then diagnosis and treatment of the specific trigger is key. Antiviral treatment for hepatitis B and C, steroids and immunosuppressive medications for autoimmune hepatitis, strict alcohol abstinence in alcoholic cirrhosis, and weight loss in NASH cirrhosis are recommended to halt further progression of disease [4].

Cirrhotic patients are at a high risk of adverse outcomes including mortality from surgical procedures. Low serum albumin levels, prolonged PT, and presence of an infection are associated with a worse outcome during surgery [4].

#### 4.4 Hepatic Encephalopathy

Hepatic encephalopathy is the term that is used to describe the complex neuropsychiatric changes during liver disease caused by lack of functioning hepatocytes. It is the hallmark of active liver failure and has an unfavorable impact on the patient's quality of life and survival. It includes a myriad of mental and motor disorders that range from subtle changes in a patient's personality to profound changes in cognition and consciousness resulting in coma.

#### 4.5 Portal Hypertension

The superior mesenteric vein and the splenic vein together form the portal vein. The normal pressure in the portal vein is 7 mmHg [2]. An increase in the pressure of the portal vein is referred to as portal hypertension [2]. The pathognomonic feature of portal hypertension is splenomegaly. Absence of an enlarged spleen clinically, on exam or imaging, makes the diagnosis of portal hypertension questionable [4]. Portal hypertension results in the formation of varices and contributes towards the development of ascites [2]. Cirrhosis is the most common cause of portal hypertension, and hematemesis is the most common presentation [4]. Melena may also be seen from bleeding varices [2, 4]. The patient is at an increased risk from bleeding from the varices when the pressure in the portal vein rises above 12 mmHg [2]. Bleeding varices will result in anemia and worsen recovery of the hepatocytes [4]. The treatment of bleeding varices can be complex. Transfusion of blood products and subsequently platelets and FFP must be undertaken (due to dilution of the transfused blood). A transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt (TIPS) is a side-to-side portal systemic shunt that has significant value in lowering portal pressures and in control of hemorrhage from portal hypertension with a success rate of over 90% [4].

#### 4.6 Ascites

Ascites is defined as the presence of free fluid in the peritoneum. The most common cause of ascites is cirrhosis. It can also be seen in conditions unrelated to the liver such as peritoneal malignancies, infections, and cardiac failure [4]. In cirrhotic patients, the onset of ascites signifies the transition to a decompensated states, and in almost half the patients (48%), it is the first incident that marks their evolution to decompensated cirrhosis [2, 4]. Splanchnic and peripheral vasodilation that occur as a sequela of portal hypertension causes ascites [4]. Ascites is usually responsive to diuretics with a natural progression to a point where the ascites eventually become resistant to diuretic therapy, subsequently resulting in hyponatremia and hepatorenal syndrome. While ascites itself is not life-threatening, it does result in a loss of quality of life and could result in spontaneous bacterial peritonitis, which could be fatal. Diuretics are considered the first-line therapy in ascites. Patients who are refractory to diuretic therapy should undergo repeated paracenteses. Fluid restriction must be considered in hyponatremia. Additionally, prophylactic antibiotic therapy should be considered in high-risk patients [4]. These may be immunocompromised patients or patients with additional comorbidities, and the risk may be best determined via detailed review of the patient's medical history. When deemed appropriate, the recommended antibiotic prophylaxis in the patient at risk for SBP is 2 g of amoxicillin and 500 mg of metronidazole 1 h prior to the procedure per the protocol of Firriolo [6].

#### 4.7 Hepatorenal Syndrome

Hepatorenal syndrome (HRS) is characterized by the presence of renal failure in patients with advanced liver disease and with otherwise no known renal pathology [2, 4]. The kidneys are histologically and structurally normal. HRS represents a functional abnormality in the kidneys that is a result of an extreme vascular compromise associated with the severe liver disease [4]. Once the liver is transplanted, the kidney function has been known to return to normal. The diagnosis is based on an elevated serum creatinine >1.5 mg/day in the absence of additional causes of renal failure that shows no improvement following plasma volume expansion and diuretic withdrawal. Prevention of HRS and prophylactic use of diuretics with early correction of electrolyte abnormalities is vital. Care must be taken to avoid nephrotoxic medications and to lower the risk of HRS.

#### 4.8 Viral Hepatitis

Viral hepatitis can be acute or chronic (Table 4.3) [4]. This disease entity can range from a mildly symptomatic, self-limiting infection to chronic hepatitis and liver failure or liver cirrhosis [2]. Hepatitis A virus (HAV) is the most common cause of acute viral hepatitis across the world. It is an infectious, acute self-limiting disease transmitted via the fecal-oral route [2]. Hepatitis E virus (HEV) is also transmitted via the fecal-oral route self-limiting disease. However, the immunity to HEV is not lifelong as in the case of HAV [2].

Enteric RNA viruses resulting in hepatitis A and E do not cause chronic hepatitis [4, 7]. Chronic viral hepatitis lasts longer than 6 months and is characterized by hepatocellular necrosis and inflammation which might be accompanied by fibrosis. Causes include hepatitis B, hepatitis B-dependent hepatitis D, and hepatitis C (1). Hepatitis B virus (HBV) is a DNA virus [2]. Chronic hepatitis B is characterized by continued serum presence of hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) and hepatitis B virus envelope protein. The patients with the disease can be broadly divided into those in whom the viral load is high (hepatitis B virus DNA levels exceed 10 [8]-10 [9] IU/mL) and those with a low (undetectable) viral load who have clinically mild chronic hepatitis B with low infectivity and are essential inactive carriers. The spread of hepatitis B occurs in the same fashion as that of other blood-borne diseases such as via sexual activity, contaminated needles from drug use, and occupation exposure to blood and/or contaminated instruments [2, 4]. HBsAg is detectable in patients 2–10 weeks after exposure to the hepatitis B virus. In acute cases, this antigen is undetectable after 4-6 months. The presence of the HBsAg for longer than 6 months is indicative of chronic hepatitis B infection. The symptoms also vary vastly in both situations. In the latter category, symptoms are usually absent with an occasional patient that may complain of chronic fatigue or fullness in upper right quadrant. Patients with a high viral load may present with jaundice and decompensated cirrhosis with ascites, edema, bruising, portal hypertension, hepatic encephalopathy, and cutaneous manifestations such as vasculitis [3].

The goal of treatment in patients with chronic hepatitis B is to prevent delayed complications of liver disease such as cirrhosis, liver failure, and hepatic cellular carcinoma which would increase survival rates in patients with the disease. Amongst the seven drugs approved for treatment of chronic hepatitis B, five are known nucleoside analogs which impede the replication of hepatitis B virus and are known to be more potent than interferon-alpha. The hepatitis B patient in the oral surgery office may present with a medication list which could include one or more of the following-entecavir, tenofovir, lamivudine, telbivudine, and adefovir. While treatment is available, there may be several missed opportunities due to financial and cultural barriers. Hepatitis D virus (HDV), also referred to as the delta virus, requires the HBsAg for survival and is only seen in persons with HBV infection. Hepatitis C virus is the most common cause for liver transplantation worldwide. It is a blood-borne infection and is transmitted most commonly via infected needles. A major risk factor is a history of blood transfusion prior to the screening for HCV infections. There is no vaccine to prevent HCV infection, and the focus is currently on identification and treatment of individuals who are infected to curb the further spread of the disease. However, since around 2013, curative medications including Sofosbuvir (Sovaldi) and Ledipasvir-Sofosbuvir (Harvoni) have revolutionized treatment, longterm outcomes, and disease transmission.

#### 4.9 Jaundice

The final product of heme catabolism is bilirubin, and up to 85% of bilirubin is derived from hemoglobin. Bilirubin is water insoluble and is transported in blood bound to albumin. This is referred to as unconjugated bilirubin. When bilirubin is attached to two glucoronate groups in the liver, it is referred to as conjugated bilirubin. This is eventually converted into stercobilin and is responsible for giving feces its natural color. Yellow discoloration of the sclera, mucous mem-

|               | Hepatitis A          | Hepatitis B          | Hepatitis C            | Hepatitis D          | Hepatitis E            | Hepatitis G   |
|---------------|----------------------|----------------------|------------------------|----------------------|------------------------|---------------|
| Type of virus | RNA                  | DNA                  | RNA                    | RNA                  | RNA                    | RNA           |
|               | Picornaviridae       | Hepandaviridae       | Flaviviridae           | Deltaviridae         | Caliciviridae          | Flaviviridae  |
| Transmission  | Fecal-oral           | Parenteral           | Parenteral             | Parenteral           | Fecal-oral             | Parenteral    |
| Symptoms      | Fever, malaise,      | Severe liver damage  | Severe liver damage    | Severe liver damage  | High risk in pregnant  | Chronic liver |
|               | headache, jaundice   | (chronic disease)    | (more chronic disease) | (high mortality)     | women (high mortality) | disease       |
| Incubation    | 2–7 weeks            | 1–6 months           | 2–26 weeks             | 2-12 weeks           | 6–8 weeks              | 2-3 weeks     |
| period        |                      |                      |                        |                      |                        |               |
| Carrier state | No                   | Yes                  | Yes                    | Yes                  | No                     | No            |
| Passive       | Hyperimmune globulin | Hyperimmune globulin | None                   | Hyperimmune globulin | None                   | None          |
| immunity      |                      |                      |                        |                      |                        |               |
| Active        | Hepatitis A vaccine  | Hepatitis B vaccine  | None                   | Hepatitis B vaccine  | None                   | None          |
| immunity      |                      |                      |                        |                      |                        |               |
|               |                      |                      |                        |                      |                        |               |

Table 4.3 Viral hepatitis

branes, and skin due to the presence of excessive circulating bilirubin is referred to as jaundice. The level of circulating bilirubin when higher than 30  $\mu$ mol/L is referred to as hyperbilirubinemia and for jaundice to be visibly detected is higher than 50  $\mu$ mol/L. [2] Icterus is the term used to describe yellowing of the sclera which is the pathognomonic feature of jaundice. Jaundice is classified in to prehepatic, hepatic, and cholestatic.

Prehepatic jaundice arises due to an excessive amount of bilirubin prior to its entry into the liver as seen in increased hemolysis during sickle cell disease or thalassemia major. Hepatic jaundice results from an abnormality in the liver itself resulting in reduction of the liver's capacity of excreting the conjugated bilirubin. As a result, there is an excess of circulating conjugated bilirubin, and it is also excreted in the urine. Cholestatic jaundice is the result of failure of bilirubin from reaching the duodenum due to an obstruction of bile flow at any level such as gallstones or a space-occupying neoplasm. The presence of bile in the urine accounts for its dark appearance, and absence of bile in the intestine causes fat malabsorption resulting in steatorrhea. This can also result in the deficiency of fat-soluble vitamins A, D, E, and K which require bile salts for their absorption. Typical symptoms accompanying or preceding jaundice associated with viral hepatitis include nausea, anorexia, and an aversion to smoking (in smokers). Clinical history and timing regarding onset of jaundice is important in diagnosing the underlying cause as are lab tests. Coagulopathy may result due to malabsorption of fat-soluble vitamin K.

#### 4.10 Hematologic Consequences in Liver Disease

The liver is responsible for the production of both procoagulant and anticoagulant factors. The clotting factors—II, labile factor V, VII, IX, X, contact factors XI and XII, fibrin-stabilizing factor XIII, and fibrinogen—are synthesized by the liver. Additionally, anticoagulant factors including anti-thrombin III and proteins C and S are also produced by the liver and subsequently lowered in liver disease as well [3, 10].

From a surgical perspective, the effect of liver disease on the hematological status of the patient must be studied thoroughly. The prothrombin time is the time required for plasma to clot after exposure to tissue factor and phospholipid [4]. The abnormality in PT or INR in liver disease is not always the best indicator of the risk of bleeding. Spontaneous bleeding from mucosal surfaces, frequent bruising, and prolonged bleeding after minimal trauma such as shaving or from a venipuncture are valuable techniques in assessing bleeding in a patient with liver disease. There is a high likelihood of anemia in patient with decompensated liver disease. This often results from gastrointestinal bleeding secondary to esophageal varices or bleeding ulcers from gastritis, epistaxis, and oral bleeding such as gingival bleeding.

The risk of hemorrhage is more accurately measured by the qualitative and quantitative platelet defects. The decrease in platelets arises from splenic sequestration due to hypersplenism. Thrombocytopenia secondary to increased splenic sequestration often results in a platelet count of  $60-90 \times 10^3$ /mm<sup>3</sup>. This has minimal effect on any necessary surgical intervention. However, a platelet count lower than 50,000/ mm<sup>3</sup> may need to be supplemented depending on the extent of surgical intervention. The qualitative effect on platelets arises from a combination of factors including decreased plasma thrombopoietin which is mainly produced by the liver and reduced availability of arachidonic acid in a chronic liver patient.

Management of the decompensated liver patient to undergo necessary oral surgical procedures such as drainage of an acute oral abscess or extraction of non-restorable infected teeth is usually done after thorough evaluation of the trends of the various lab results and in conjunction with the hepatology team. In most instances, the oral and maxillofacial surgeon should be aware that restoration of existing coagulopathies in chronic liver disease patients to normal is not the goal of treatment.
To optimize a patient for surgery, fresh frozen plasma is ideal for restoring clotting factors. Intravenous vitamin K may also be administered in a usual dose of 10 mg vitamin K for 3 days to correct the elevated PT. Even in cases of direct hepatocellular disease, there is a definite improvement in the PT albeit by a few seconds with intravenous vitamin K administration. Transfusion of platelets was considered appropriate if the number was below 50,000/mm<sup>3</sup> [4]. However, several institutions feel comfortable transfusing platelets at a count of 40,000/mm<sup>3</sup> to rationalize the need of a blood transfusion and due to more recent data available [11].

# 4.11 Management of Patients with Chronic Liver Disease Undergoing Oral Surgical Procedures

The number of patients requiring a liver transplant has increased significantly over the past 15 years. Subsequently, the number of patients requiring extractions and other oral surgical procedures has increased as well [11]. An oral and maxillofacial surgical evaluation forms the basis of prevention of any potential oral foci of infection both in the pre- and post-transplant immunocompromised patient. The oral and maxillofacial surgeon should have a thorough understanding of the patient's lab values as mentioned earlier including the PT, PTT, INR, and platelet count [8, 10]. Further, the surgeon should also be well aware that the final results of the aforementioned studies may not correlate with the clinical scenario in the cirrhotic patient. Chronic anemia from bleeding varices, reduced production of clotting factors by the liver, malnutrition resulting in decreased absorption of vitamin K, thrombocytopenia from splenomegaly, and a host of additional factors all contribute to the altered hemostasis [11]. The oral and maxillofacial surgeon has several local hemostatic measures at his/her disposal. Absorbable hemostatic agents such as gelatin sponge, oxidized regenerated cellulose, microfibrillar collagen, collagen plugs, and topical thrombin are some of the options available. Tranexamic acid or aminocaproic acid rinses are employed to aid in hemostasis as well [9, 11]. Additionally, primary closure of the surgical site, application of cautery and/or bone wax, and local infiltration of vasoconstrictors may be used. The oral and maxillofacial surgeon should place equal importance on the timing of the platelet transfusion as well. Consideration should be given to early sequestration or destruction of platelets soon after they are administered in the patient with chronic liver disease. Hence administration of platelets in the immediate preoperative period or intraoperatively will be most effective at providing the largest volume of circulating platelets that will be available for hemostasis. Advances in medical management have proven that DDAVP has the potential to be a safe and effective alternative to platelet transfusions in cirrhotic patients with underlying coagulopathy in achieving adequate hemostasis [10]. Importantly, quadrant oral surgery should be considered to limit blood loss, and two forms of quadrant surgery exist: the first option is to perform surgery in each quadrant of the mouth and then perform hemostatic techniques and suturing before moving to the next quadrant, as this limits the slow bloody ooze that can result in very underestimated and significant blood loss, when an entire arch or mouth of procedures are completed before wound hemostasis and closure. The second option is to perform only one quadrant of surgery at each visit to limit the surgical insult and wound size. Lastly, procedures that include more than a quadrant of oral surgery likely require observation for an extended period of time, including overnight in a hospital setting, to allow for frequent postoperative checks. Failure to properly consider postoperative monitoring can potentially result in significant adverse events.

The oral and maxillofacial surgeon must realize that it is safe to administer up to 2000 mg of acetaminophen in the chronic liver patient [6]. Also these patients may be prescribed statins in spite of their cirrhosis diagnosis. The medications that are recommended to be avoided in patients with decompensated cirrhosis include aspirin, NSAIDs, and antibiotics such as aminoglycosides. Additionally, while insulin is considered acceptable for use in diabetic patients with decompensated cirrhosis, oral hypoglycemic agents are only preferred in cases of compensated cirrhosis.

A multi-disciplinary team approach is advocated and encouraged to best serve the chronic liver patient requiring oral surgical intervention.

#### References

- Kasarala G, Tillmann HL. Standard liver tests. Clin Liver Dis. 2016;8:13–8.
- Sargent S. Liver diseases: an essential guide for nurses and health care professionals. West Sussex: Wiley; 2009.
- Feldman M. Lawrence Friedman and Lawrence Brandt Sleisenger and Fordtran's. Gastrointestinal and liver disease pathophysiology/diagnosis/management, vol. 2. 10th ed. Boston: Saunders; 2015.
- Dooley JS, Lok A, Burroughs AK, Heathcote J. Sherlock's diseases of the liver and biliary system. 12th ed. West Sussex: Wiley; 2011.

- Child CG, Turcotte JG. Surgery and portal hypertension. In: Child CG, editor. The liver and portal hypertension. Philadelphia: Saunders; 1964. p. 50–64.
- Perdigão JPV, de Almeida PC, Rocha TDS, Mota MRL, Soares ECS, Alves APNN, Sousa FB. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012;70(3):e177–84.
- Burt AD, Ferrell LD, Hubscher SG. MacSween's pathology of the liver E-book. 7th ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2018. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.asp x?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=1697163&site=ehostlive&scope=site. Accessed 8 Sept 2019.
- Miloro M, Basi D, Halpern L, Kang D. Patient assessment. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2017;75(8):e12–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joms.2017.04.026.
- Fillmore WJ, Leavitt BD, Arce K. Dental extraction in the thrombocytopenic patient is safe and complications are easily managed. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013;71(10):1647–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. joms.2013.05.011.
- Stanca CM, Montazem AH, Lawal A, Zhang JX, Schiano TD. Intranasal desmopressin versus blood transfusion in cirrhotic patients with coagulopathy undergoing dental extraction: a randomized controlled trial. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2010;68(1):138–43.
- Cocero N, Bezzi M, Martini S, Carossa S. Oral surgical treatment of patients with chronic liver disease: assessments of bleeding and its relationship with thrombocytopenia and blood coagulation parameters. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2016;75(1):28–34.

# Oral and Maxillofacial Surgical Management for the Renal Compromised Patient

Blair H. Racker and Srinivasa Rama Chandra

# 5.1 Introduction

Kidney disease is an increasing health problem worldwide and is associated with a number of clinical challenges. In this chapter, we review the most recent strategies and guidelines for the perioperative surgical management of patients with kidney disease. The kidneys serve several important functions including the regulation of fluid volume, the filtration of waste products and toxins, the synthesis and release of hormones, and the metabolism of drugs. Some of the complications of kidney disfunction include anemia, abnormal bleeding, bone disease, cardiac disease, electrolyte and fluid imbalance, and drug intolerance, all which can cause lifethreatening complications in a surgical setting. Due to the effects the kidneys have on multiple organ systems, understanding the surgical risks and proper management of a renally compromised patient is crucial for oral and maxillofacial procedures.

S. R. Chandra (🖂)

# 5.2 Definition

Kidney disease can be caused by acute or chronic pathologic conditions. Acute kidney injury (AKI) is often encountered in the setting of toxin ingestion or overdose, urinary tract obstruction, trauma, bacterial infection, and dehydration. If recognized, this typically presents within an onset of hours or days and requires immediate medical intervention. A straightforward and widely accepted method has been established to quantify the severity and outcome of patients presenting with AKI, known as the RIFLE classification (Table 5.1). This is based on serum creatinine (SCr) and urinary output (UO) determinants and considers three severity classes of AKI (risk, injury, and failure), according to the variations in SCr and/or UO, and two outcome classes (loss of kidney function and end-stage kidney disease). The patient should be classified using the criteria (SCr and/or UO) which leads to the worst classification (maximum RIFLE), for instance, if a patient was in the risk class according to the UO but in the injury class according to SCr variation, then the worst criteria (SCr) should be used for classifying the severity of AKI in this patient [1]. The RIFLE classification has been widely accepted in determining the incidence of AKI and its stepwise prognostic accuracy of mortality.

Chronic kidney disease (CKD) manifests as a long-term, progressive decline in kidney function

Check for updates

B. H. Racker

University of Nebraska Medical Center, Fred and Pamela Buffett Cancer Center, Omaha, NE, USA

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Oregon Health and Science University, Portland, OR, USA e-mail: chandrsr@ohsu.edu

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

D. J. Meara, R. Gutta (eds.), Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery for the Medically Compromised Patient, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-82598-0\_5

|                |  | Glomerular filtration |                              |
|----------------|--|-----------------------|------------------------------|
| RIFLE class    | Glomerular filtration rate                 | rate (GFR)            | Urine output (UO)            |
| Risk           | 1.5X increase in serum creatinine          | GFR reduction         | <0.5 mL/kg/h × 6 h           |
|                |  | >25%                  |                              |
| Injury         | 2X increase in serum creatinine            | GFR reduction         | $<0.5$ mL/kg/h $\times$ 12 h |
|                |  | >50%                  |                              |
| Failure        | 3X increase in serum creatinine;           | GFR reduction         | <0.3 mL/kg/h × 24 h or       |
|                | OR   | >75%                  | anuria × 12 h                |
|                | if baseline SCr ≥353.6 µmol/L (≥4 mg/dL) ↑ |                       |                              |
|                | SCr >44.2 µmol/L (>0.5 mg/dL)              |                       |                              |
| Loss of kidney | Complete loss of kidney function >1 month  |                       |                              |
| function       |  |                       |                              |
| End-stage      | Complete loss of kidney function >3 months |                       |                              |
| kidney disease |  |                       |                              |
|                | SCr, serum creatinine                      |                       |                              |
|                |  |                       |                              |

Table 5.1 Risk, injury, failure, loss of kidney function, and end-stage kidney disease (RIFLE) classification

Adapted from José António Lopes, Sofia Jorge, The RIFLE and AKIN classifications for acute kidney injury: a critical and comprehensive review, Clinical Kidney Journal, 2013;6(1):8–14. https://doi.org/10.1093/ckj/sfs160

and is often caused by hypertension and diabetes. Patients with CKD often remain asymptomatic for years and are more likely to present for surgical care in an outpatient setting than those with acute disease. The following chapter will address the proper assessment and current knowledge on the surgical management for the chronically renally compromised patient.

Chronic kidney disease is defined as abnormalities of kidney structure or function, present for 3 months or longer, with implications for health. Patients with CKD can be classified for risk assessment depending on their level of kidney function (glomerular filtration rate or GFR) and albuminuria. The presence of severe albuminuria is an indicator that increases the likelihood of further progression of CKD to kidney failure or end-stage renal disease (ESRD) (see Table 5.2). The definition of CKD includes all individuals with indicators of kidney damage (i.e., albuminuria, hematuria, electrolyte abnormalities due to tubular disorders, renal histological abnormalities, structural abnormalities detected by imaging, or a history of a kidney transplantation) or those with a GFR of less than 60 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> on at least two occasions 90 days apart [2].

The National Kidney Foundation developed a five-staged classification system based on GFR and albumin: creatine ratios (see Table 5.3). Stage 1 is characterized by a normal or mildly elevated

GFR with some evidence of kidney damage as mentioned above. Stage 2 is identified by a slight decrease in GFR. Even in this stage, the patient often remains asymptomatic despite a 10–40% loss of kidney function. Stage 3 is characterized by a moderately decreased GFR (30–59 mL/min) and a loss of 50% or more of renal function. Stage 4 is evidenced by a significant decline in GFR (15–29 mL/min), and stage 5 is identified by a GFR of less than 15 mL/min. At this stage the patient is in end-stage kidney failure with less than 15% of kidney function remaining, ultimately requiring renal transplant or chronic dialysis.

As a patient progresses through the stages of CKD, the loss of nephron function prevents the removal of nitrogenous compounds and other toxins from the blood. The kidneys lose their ability to perform endocrine and excretory function, thus causing a downward spiral of events and ultimately leading to the clinical syndrome of *uremia*.

# 5.3 Epidemiology and Etiology

Over 37 million Americans have CKD today. However, most of them are unaware and undiagnosed due to the lack of symptoms in the early stages. The overall prevalence of CKD (stages 1–5) in the United States adult general population 
 Table 5.2
 Classification of renal failure based on GFR and ACR class rubric

| CLASS<br>GFR(   | Glomeru               | DN OF RENAL FAILURE BA   | SED ON GFR AND ACR CLASS RUBRIC |    | ALBUMINURIA<br>CATEGORIES IN CKD | ACR(MG/G) - compared to young adult                     |
|-----------------|-----------------------|--|---------------------------------|----|----------------------------------|---|
| Catego          | orv                   | GFR ml/min/1.73 m2 R   | lange                           |    | ALBUMINURIA                      |   |
| G1<br>G2<br>G3a | ≥90<br>60-89<br>45-59 | Normal or high<br>Mildly decreased*                            | erreased                        |    | ACR SEVERITY A1-2-3              | A1 <30mg/g (Normal to mild)<br>A2 30-300mg/g (Moderate) |
| G3b<br>G4<br>G5 | 30-44<br>15-29<br><15 | Moderately to severely<br>Severely decreased<br>Kidney failure | / decreased                     |    |                                  | A3>300mg / g (Severe)                                   |
|                 |                       |  |                                 |    |                                  | (ACR>2220mg/g-nephrotic syndrome)                       |
| RISK            | ASSES                 | SMENT WITH GFR & A   | ACR ACR CATEGORIES              |    |                                  | ·   |
| GFR             |                       |  | A1                              | A  | 2                                | A3  |
| G1              |                       |  |                                 | +  |                                  | ++  |
| G2              |                       |  |                                 | +  |                                  | ++  |
| G3a             |                       |  | +                               | ++ | F                                | +++   |
| G3b             |                       |  | ++                              | ++ | ++                               | +++   |
| G4              |                       |  | +++                             | ++ | •+                               | +++   |
| G5              |                       |  | +++                             | ++ | ++                               | +++   |

CKD CAUSED BY SYSTEMIC, AUTOIMMUNE KIDNEY DISEASES HAVE TO BE EVALUATED FOR CAUSE IDENTIFICATION

Table information adapted from https://renal.org/information-resources/the-uk-eckd-guide/ckd-stages/

 Table 5.3
 Staging of chronic kidney disease

As per the National Kidney Foundation, patients presenting with chronic kidney disease are staged based on the estimated GFR (creatinine clearance) as calculated by the Modification of Diet in Renal Disease formula

- Stage 1—Normal GFR (90 mL/min or greater)
- Stage 2—Mildly reduced GFR (60 mL/min to 90 mL/min)
- Stage 3—Moderately reduced GFR (30 mL/min to 59 mL/min)
- Stage 4—Severely reduced GFR (15 mL/min to 29 mL/min)
- Stage 5—ESRD (GFR < 15 mL/min or patient is on dialysis)

is approximately 14.8%, with CKD stage 3 (6.4%) being the most prevalent [2]. Overall, CKD prevalence has remained relatively stable during the last two decades. The majority of patients with ESRD is Caucasian (59.8%), and the remainder is African American (33.2%), Asian (3.6%), or Native American (1.6%). The

incidence of ESRD among black individuals, however, is 3.7 times higher than it is among the white population. Similarly, the incidence among Native Americans is 1.8 times greater than it is among whites. Men are 1.2 times more likely than women to develop ESRD, though women are 1.7 times more likely to delay initiation of dialysis [3, 4].

CKD can result from primary renal disorders, for example, IgA nephropathy, focal segmental glomerulosclerosis, membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis, and polycystic kidney disease to common systemic disorders that can lead to renal damage. The four most common causes of ESRD are diabetes mellitus (44%), hypertension (28%), chronic glomerulonephritis (16%), and polycystic kidney disease (4.5%) [5]. Additional causes listed in order of decreasing incidence include neoplasm, obstructive nephropathies, and acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) nephropathy [5].

## 5.4 Pathophysiology

The kidneys filter about 180 L/day through the function of approximately two million nephrons. Progressive damage to the functioning nephrons is the underlying pathological process in renal failure [5]. When the function of the nephrons deteriorates, dysfunction can occur in acid-base homeostasis, electrolyte regulation, fluid balance, hormone production and secretion, and waste elimination. Collectively these abnormalities result in metabolic disturbances and ultimately lead to conditions such as anemia, hypothyroidism, hypertension, metabolic acidemia, and hyperkalemia. It is important to note that chronic kidney disease results in the irreversible loss of nephrons. As a result, few nephrons bear the functional burden of maintaining homeostasis, leading to an increase in glomerular filtration pressure and hyperfiltration. This compensatory hyperfiltration predisposes the kidneys to fibrosis and scarring known as glomerular sclerosis. As a result, the rate of nephron destruction and loss increases, thus speeding the progression to uremia, the complex syndrome that occurs due to renal failure. The pathogenesis of uremia derives in part from a combination of the toxic effects of retained products normally excreted by the kidneys (i.e., nitrogen-containing products of protein metabolism), normal products such as hormones now present in increased amounts, and the loss of normal products of the kidney such as erythropoietin [6].

The kidneys have a significant functional reserve—up to 50% of nephrons can be damaged without any acute signs or symptoms of impairment. When the GFR is further reduced, leaving only about 20% of initial renal capacity, elevated blood levels of waste products normally excreted by the kidneys are sequestered, and *azotemia* is observed. Nevertheless, patients may be largely asymptomatic because a new steady state is achieved in which the blood levels of these products are not high enough to cause symptomatic toxicity. However, even at this apparently stable level of renal function, hyperfiltration-accelerated evolution to end-stage chronic kidney disease is in progress. In addition, because patients with

this level of GFR have little functional reserve, they can acutely become uremic with the acute stress of surgery, infection, obstruction, dehydration, or the use of nephrotoxic drugs.

# 5.5 Complications and Clinical Manifestations

## 5.5.1 Sodium Balance and Volume Status

Patients with CKD typically have some degree of fluid retention, reflecting the loss of proper salt and water excretion by the kidneys. A moderate degree of sodium and water retention may occur without clinical signs of extracellular fluid excess. However, continuous consumption of sodium-containing foods leads to further fluid retention and contributes to heart failure, hypertension, pitting edema, and overall weight gain. Renally compromised patients tend to have a greater sensitivity to sudden extrarenal sodium and water losses due to the impaired conservations mechanisms. Providers must be cautious for excess vomiting, diarrhea, increased sweating, or dehydration-all which can occur in a surgical setting. This extracellular depletion can ensue rapidly, leading to tachycardia, hypotension, nausea, vascular collapse, and AKI.

## 5.5.2 Potassium Balance

Hyperkalemia is a potentially life-threatening complication of CKD, especially in the later stages (e.g., GFR <15 mL/min). Early in CKD, as the GFR falls, aldosterone-mediated K<sup>+</sup> transport in the distal tubule increases in a compensatory fashion to maintain normal potassium levels [7]. However, treatment with K<sup>+</sup>-sparing diuretics, ACE inhibitors, or  $\beta$ -blockers—drugs that may impair aldosterone-mediated K<sup>+</sup> transport—can precipitate dangerous hyperkalemia in a patient with CKD [8]. Patients with CKD are also at greater risk of hyperkalemia in the event of increased loads of K<sup>+</sup> commonly seen in a surgical setting. This includes endogenous sources such as hemolysis, infection, and trauma or exogenous sources such as blood transfusions and potassium-containing medications.

#### 5.5.3 Acid-Base Balance

The diminished capacity of the renal tubular cells to regulate acid-base homeostasis results in metabolic acidosis. As kidney failure progresses, there is decreased secretion of hydrogen ions and impaired excretion of ammonium, thus leading to the buildup of phosphate and lactic acid. If not regulated with daily bicarbonate supplementation, the resulting anion gap metabolic acidosis eventually leads to hyperventilation, lethargy, anorexia, muscle weakness, and congestive heart failure. ESRD patients are highly susceptible to metabolic acidosis in the event of ketoacidosis, lactic acidosis, toxic ingestion, or bicarbonate loss such as acute diarrhea. As kidney failure progresses, there is decreased secretion of hydrogen ions, impaired excretion of ammonium, and eventually a toxic buildup of phosphate and additional lactic acid. The resulting anion gap metabolic acidosis eventually leads to hyperventilation, lethargy, anorexia, muscle weakness, and congestive heart failure [5].

## 5.5.4 Vitamin and Bone Abnormalities

Several disorders of phosphate, calcium, and bone metabolism are observed in CKD. Key factors in the pathogenesis of these disorders include a diminished absorption of calcium from the gut, an overproduction of parathyroid hormone, disordered vitamin D metabolism, and a retention of phosphorus [9]. All these factors contribute to enhanced bone resorption. Hyperphosphatemia contributes to the development of hypocalcemia and thus serves as an additional trigger for secondary hyperparathyroidism, elevating blood PTH levels. The elevated blood PTH further depletes bone calcium and contributes to *osteomalacia* of CKD. These patients can present with



**Figs. 5.1 and 5.2** Panogramic radiograph of a lytic left mandibular angle region and clinical picture of the same left posterior buccal area demonstrating a 56 year old female with elevated PTH in secondary parathyroidism, due to renal compromise and a differential of pathology report can be of central giant cell granuloma or "Browns Tumor"

lytic bone lesions and giant cell granulomas known as a brown tumor (see Figs. 5.1 and 5.2).

# 5.5.5 Cardiovascular and Pulmonary Abnormalities

Heart failure and pulmonary edema can develop in the context of volume and salt overload (see Table 5.4). Hypertension is a common finding in CKD and is often due to fluid and sodium imbalance. However, overproduction of renin due to decreased renal perfusion in the failing kidneys is also one of the main causes for uninhibited feedback resulting in severe hypertension. An increased incidence of cardiovascular disease is observed in patients with CKD and remains the leading cause of mortality in this population [10]. Cardiovascular risk factors in CKD patients include hypertension, hyperlipidemia, glucose intolerance, increased cardiac output, and valvular calcification. As a result, an increased incidence of myocardial infarction, stroke, and peripheral vascular disease is observed in CKD [10].

| Symptoms  | Signs  | Pathophysiology   |
|---|--|---|
| Fatigue, malaise, confusion,<br>coma, chest pain, shortness of<br>breath                  | Anemia, pallor, low hematocrit,<br>cardiorespiratory disease, and<br>crackles with pitting edema,<br>mental clouding, headache   | Anemia is due to reduced erythropoiesis.<br>Kidneys are the source of erythropoietin<br>(EPO). Individuals with renal failure may need<br>supplementation with EPO<br>Increased fluid retention due to low GFR and<br>albuminuria causes <b>pulmonary edema</b> with<br>the ventilation-perfusion mismatch<br>Cerebral encephalopathy and uremic<br>pericarditis can lead to confusion, weakness,<br>and chest pain   |
| Bodyweight changes  | Weight loss<br>Weight gain   | The kidney regulates hydrogen ion secretion.<br>Metabolic acidosis can cause protein-energy<br>malnutrition(PEM), leading to weight loss<br>Sodium and fluid retention causes hydrostatic<br>pressure changes leading to pitting edema.<br>Low albumin can further reduce oncotic<br>pressure, leading to significant extravascular<br>fluid retention-independent areas like the<br>extremities and abdomen  |
| Bleeding and bruising   | Skin bruising and increased<br>duration of bleeding<br>Gastrointestinal bleeding   | Platelet dysfunction is secondary to nitrogen and uremia  |
| Electrolyte and metabolite imba   | lance  |   |
| Sodium, potassium, hydrogen,<br>calcium, phosphate, and<br>nitrogen are the most critical | Critical potassium imbalance<br>induced cardiac arrhythmias<br><b>Renal osteodystrophy</b><br>Calcium and phosphate<br>excretion<br>Secondary and tertiary<br>hyperparathyroidism<br>Metabolic acidosis (H+) | Hyperkalemia—Failure of renal potassium<br>excretion can lead to life-threatening<br>arrhythmias<br>Failure of phosphate excretion due to renal<br>failure causes hyperphosphatemia<br>Hyperphosphatemia inhibits adequate<br>calcitriol causing low vitamin D3. Advanced<br>CKD and failure causes lack of 1-alpha-<br>hydroxylase leading to reduced conversion of<br>calcifediol (25-hydroxyvitamin D)   |
| Hyperparathyroidism   |  |   |
| Hyperparathyroidism—<br>secondary and tertiary  | Osteopenia, osteoporosis,<br>pathological fractures including<br>vertebral compression fractures;<br>ectopic calcifications  | The kidney produces 1-alpha- hydroxylase<br>leading to reduced conversion of calcifediol<br>(25-hydroxyvitamin D) to calcitriol. Calcitriol<br>(1,25-dihydroxy vitamin D) increases the<br>uptake of calcium by the intestine<br>Low calcium causes parathyroid gland<br>compensatory hyperplasia with parathormone<br>(PTH), leading to pathological fractures due to<br>bone turnover<br>Long-term parathyroid hyperplasia leads to<br>tertiary hyperparathyroidism |

Table 5.4 Signs and symptoms based on various stages of chronic kidney disease

Table adapted from McMasters Pathophysiology Review http://www.pathophys.org/ckd/

# 5.5.6 Hematologic Abnormalities

Patients with CKD have marked abnormalities in red blood cell count, white blood cell function, and clotting parameters. The normochromic and normocytic anemia is due primarily to the decreased production of erythropoietin, resulting in decreased erythropoiesis. Symptoms of anemia are typically associated with a GFR of less than 50 mL/min (stage 3) or when serum creatinine is greater than 2 mg/mL. Additional causes of anemia include the bone marrow suppressive effects of uremic toxins, bone marrow fibrosis leading to increased serum PTH, and dialysis-associated hemolysis and blood loss [11].

Patients with CKD display abnormal hemostasis manifested as increased bruising, decreased clotting, and an increased incidence of spontaneous GI and cerebrovascular hemorrhage. Laboratory abnormalities include prolonged bleeding time, decreased platelet factor III, abnormal platelet aggregation and adhesiveness, and impaired prothrombin consumption.

## 5.5.7 Immunologic Suppression

Uremia is associated with an increased susceptibility to infections, likely due to leukocyte suppression by uremic toxins. This further leads to impaired chemotaxis and overall immunological response. Acidosis, hyperglycemia, malnutrition, and hyperosmolality are also believed to contribute to immunosuppression in CKD [12]. The invasiveness of dialysis and the use of immunosuppressive drugs in renal transplant patients further contribute to an increased incidence of infections.

#### 5.5.8 Neuromuscular Abnormalities

Neurologic symptoms and signs of uremia range from insomnia, impaired mental concentration, memory loss, errors in judgment, and neuromuscular irritability manifested as muscle cramps, fasciculations, asterixis, myoclonus, stupor, seizures, and even coma in severe cases of end-stage uremia.

# 5.6 Surgical Management and Considerations

## 5.6.1 Identification and Risk Assessment

The National Kidney Foundation's guidelines suggest screening for CKD in all patients that present with high-risk comorbidities such as

**Table 5.5** Typical preoperative diagnostic testing in patients with CKD

| Hemostasis<br>and anemia           | Complete blood count, bleeding<br>time, prothrombin time, partial<br>thromboplastin time, international<br>normalization ratio |
|------------------------------------|--|
| Electrolytes<br>and<br>chemistries | Basic metabolic panel: sodium,<br>potassium, chloride, blood urea<br>nitrogen, creatinine, calcium,<br>bicarbonate levels      |
| Volume status                      | Physical exam, chest x-ray, sodium levels  |

hypertension, diabetes, obesity, peripheral edema, smoking history, or a family history of kidney disease. Medical referrals should be made for proper workup and diagnosis, especially if the patient requires a surgical procedure. This simple step in coordinating care not only allows the patient to recognize their disease and receive treatment but also prevents the complications that can arise from surgery with an undiagnosed kidney disorder.

Nephroprotection is imperative for the handling of patients with CKD in the perioperative setting to prevent complications and to avoid the progression of CKD. This requires the identification of CKD patients through risk assessment and preoperative laboratory studies. Evaluation includes measurement of blood pressure; urinalysis for screening of proteinuria, hematuria, and casts; as well as serum analysis for the measurement of GFR, blood urea nitrogen (BUN), creatinine clearance, and electrolytes (see Table 5.5). Once a general assessment and the level of kidney function has been identified, the surgeon can develop a treatment plan accordingly or defer surgery until renal health has been optimized.

#### 5.6.2 Antibiotics

Generally, patients in stages 1–3 of kidney failure do not require prophylactic antibiotics. Many physicians recommend that patients with CKD stages 4–5 receive prophylactic antibiotics for surgical procedures. For patients requiring surgery that have recently undergone synthetic vascular grafts for dialysis access, antibiotic prophylaxis using standard AHA guidelines for endocarditis prevention is recommended for the first several months [13]. The purpose of this is to avoid bacterial seeding of the grafts before epithelialization occurs. Patients who have undergone kidney transplantation may require special surgical prophylaxis and precautions due to longterm immunosuppressant therapy. This includes the need for corticosteroids or antibiotic prophylaxis.

# 5.6.3 Bleeding

Uremia can cause platelet dysfunction, which can result in increased perioperative bleeding.

Bleeding time is the most sensitive indicator of the extent of platelet dysfunction, although test results are subject to some operator variation [14]. While bleeding times of greater than 10–15 min have been associated with a high risk of hemorrhage, the exact correlation of elevated bleeding times and surgical risk has not been clearly established [15]. Standard options for correcting an elevated bleeding time include desmopressin, conjugated estrogens, cryoprecipitate, and platelet transfusion (Table 5.6) [16–21]. Blood transfusions should try and be avoided if possible, due to immunologic sensitization, which would complicate any need for kidney transplantation in the future.

Antiplatelet agents, including aspirin and dipyridamole, should not be given within 72 h before surgery in patients with end-stage renal disease or uremic chronic kidney disease. In

**Table 5.6** Options for correcting elevated bleeding times in patients with renal failure

| Intensive dialysis                                   |
|--|
| Desmopressin (DDAVP), 0.3 mcg per kg IV 1 h before   |
| surgery [16]   |
| Cryoprecipitate, 10 units over 30 min IV; effects    |
| should be apparent in 1 h [17]                       |
| Conjugated estrogens, 0.6 mg per kg per day IV or    |
| orally for 5 days; some effect should be apparent in |
| 6 h, but peak effect occurs in 5–7 days [18–20]      |
| Transfusion of packed red blood cells to raise the   |
| hematocrit to at least 30 percent, which increases   |
| platelet interaction with vessel walls [21]          |

addition, some agents that have only minor platelet effects in patients without uremia can have exaggerated effects in patients with ESRD and may theoretically increase the risk of intraoperative bleeding. These drugs include diphenhydramine. NSAIDs, chlordiazepoxide, and cimetidine. Careful consideration must be taken into account involving treatment of dialysisdependent patients. A small amount of heparin is used during hemodialysis, with a residual anticoagulant effect lasting as long as 2.5-3 h. Therefore, it is prudent to wait at least 12 h after the last hemodialysis with heparin before any invasive surgical procedure is performed [21]. Lastly, as with any surgical procedure, local hemostatic measures such as topical thrombin, absorbable gelatin, microfibrillar sponge, and epinephrine should be readily available.

#### 5.6.4 Blood Pressure

Particular attention should be given to the maintenance of hemodynamic stability, including an adequate blood pressure and preservation of intravascular volume. Preoperative and intraoperative hypertension is very common in patients with chronic kidney disease. Contributing factors include anxiety, a catecholamine response related to the stress of surgery, and baseline hypertension caused by kidney failure. In general, patients who have kidney disease and hypertension should continue antihypertensive drug therapy throughout the surgical period. For more extensive procesurgical dures requiring extended time. discontinuation of diuretics should be considered. Unless diuretics are being used for volume management (e.g., congestive heart failure or nephrotic syndrome), they should be discontinued 2-3 days before surgery. Discontinuation of diuretics until after surgery will help avoid possible volume depletion and intraoperative hypotension, which may worsen renal function in the acute setting. Hypoglycemia may also cause hypertension as a result of catecholamine release for mobilization of glycogen stores. This most commonly occurs in patients with diabetes mellitus who are given NPO orders for a prolonged

period before surgery. Inadvertent hypoglycemia can be avoided with perioperative glucose monitoring and the continuous administration of a low-dose dextrose infusion.

Careful cardiac perioperative considerations should be used for patient undergoing dialysis. For example, an extremity with an AV shunt should not be used for obtaining blood pressure measurements, drawing blood, or administering IV fluids and medications. An inflated blood pressure cuff can potentially collapse or damage the shunt, and IV access can potentiate the development of a thrombus or infection of grafts. In general, use of the AV shunt should be left to the discretion of the patient's nephrologist.

#### 5.6.5 Soft Tissue and Bone Considerations

Surgical treatment of a renally compromised patient can present many challenges in soft and hard tissue management. Prior to extraction of teeth, placement of endosseous implants, exogenous bone grafting, or soft tissue augmentation, the following aspects should be carefully considered: Studies have shown that patients on dialysis have poorer periodontal conditions than healthy patients. CKD patients have a higher plaque index and higher dental calculus formation than controls [22]. In addition, many hemodialysis patients present with xerostomia. Dry mouth is caused by many factors such as reduced salivary flow, minor salivary gland parenchymal fibrosis and atrophy, fluid intake restriction (to maintain a correct fluid volume balance), old age, mouth breathing, and the use of xerostomia-causing drugs [23]. Histological evidence shows that 84% of CKD patients have bone disorders [24]. Bone metabolism is regulated by several factors including parathormone (PTH), fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23), and dihydroxycholecalciferol (1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D). Complications from CKD, including hyperphosphatemia, hypocalcemia, hyperparathyroidism, and vitamin D deficiency, may interrupt the balance of these factors, impacting bone structural integrity and resulting in CKDmineral and bone disorder [25]. All of the compromises above have been shown to effect the success and predictably of oral and maxillofacial surgical outcomes in CKD patients.

#### 5.6.6 Drug Considerations

Inappropriate dosing in patients with CKD can cause toxicity or ineffective drug therapy. Chronic kidney disease can affect glomerular blood flow and filtration, tubular secretion, reabsorption, and renal bioactivation and metabolism. Drug absorption, bioavailability, protein binding, distribution volume, and metabolism also can be altered in these patients. Surgeons should pay careful attention when considering drug therapies with active or toxic metabolites that can accumulate and contribute to exaggerated pharmacologic effects or adverse drug reactions in patients with CKD. Dosages of drugs cleared renally should be adjusted according to creatinine clearance or GFR and should be calculated accordingly (see Table 5.7).

#### 5.6.6.1 Antimicrobials

Many antimicrobial agents are eliminated renally and require dosing adjustments in patients with CKD; however, most of the commonly used agents used in an oral and maxillofacial surgical setting do not require adjustments. Excessive serum levels of injectable penicillin G in patients with kidney disease have been associated with neuromuscular toxicity, myoclonus, seizures, or coma [26]. Failure to adjust the dosing of Imipenem/cilastatin in patients with CKD can cause severe seizures [27]. Meropenum has been shown to have a better tolerance for patients with advanced disease [28]. Tetracyclines, with the exception of doxycycline, worsen renal impairment by inhibiting protein synthesis and have been associated with worsening kidney injury in a surgical setting [29]. Nitrofurantoin has a toxic metabolite that can accumulate in patients with chronic kidney disease, causing peripheral neuritis [30]. Aminoglycosides should be avoided in patients with chronic kidney disease when possible. If used, initial doses should be based on an accurate GFR estimate. Renal function and drug

| Dosage adjustment (% of usual dosage) based on GFR (mL/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> ) |                          |                            |              |             |  |  |  |
|--|--------------------------|----------------------------|--------------|-------------|--|--|--|
| Drug   | Usual dosage             | >50                        | 10-50        | <10         |  |  |  |
| Ace inhibitors   |                          |                            |              |             |  |  |  |
| Captopril 25 mg q8h  |                          | 100%                       | 50-75%       | 25-50%      |  |  |  |
| Enalapril  | 5-10 mg q12h             | 100%                       | 75%          | 50%         |  |  |  |
| Lisinopril   | 5-10 mg q12h             | 100%                       | 50-75%       | 25-50%      |  |  |  |
| Analgesics   |                          |                            |              | ·           |  |  |  |
| Acetaminophen  | 325-650 q4h              | 100%                       | q6h          | q8h         |  |  |  |
| Aspirin  | 650 mg q6h               | 100%                       | 50%          | Avoid       |  |  |  |
| Codeine  | 30-60 mg q4-6h           | 100%                       | 75%          | Avoid       |  |  |  |
| Fentanyl   | (per indication)         | 100%                       | 75%          | 50%         |  |  |  |
| Hydromorphone  | 2-4 mg q4-6h             | 50-100%                    | 50%          | 25%         |  |  |  |
| Hydrocodone  | 2.5–10 mg q4–6h          | 100%                       | 75–100% q8h  | 50% q8h     |  |  |  |
| Ibuprofen  | 400-800 mg q8h           | 100%                       | Avoid        | Avoid       |  |  |  |
| Ketorolac  | 30-60 mg q6h             | 50%                        | Avoid        | Avoid       |  |  |  |
| Ketamine   | (per indication)         | 100%                       | 100%         | 100%        |  |  |  |
| Meperidine   | 50 mg q4h                | 100%                       | 75%          | Avoid       |  |  |  |
| Morphine   | (per indication)         | 100%                       | 50-75%       | Avoid       |  |  |  |
| Oxycodone  | 2.5-10 mg q4-6h          | 100%                       | 75–100% q8h  | 50% q8h     |  |  |  |
| Tramadol   | 50-100 mg q6h            | 100%                       | 50% q6–12h   | Avoid       |  |  |  |
| Beta-blockers  | 1                        |                            | 1            |             |  |  |  |
| Acebutolol   | 400–600 mg daily         | 100%                       | 50%          | 30-50%      |  |  |  |
| Atenolol   | 5–100 mg daily           | 100%                       | 50%          | 25%         |  |  |  |
| Atenolol 40–80 mg daily  |                          | 100%                       | 50%          | 25%         |  |  |  |
| Diuretics  |                          |                            |              |             |  |  |  |
| Amiloride  | 5 mg daily               | 100%                       | 50%          | Avoid       |  |  |  |
| Bumetanide   | No adjustment            | -                          | -            | -           |  |  |  |
| Furosemide   | No adjustment            | -                          | -            | -           |  |  |  |
| Metolazone   | No adjustment            | -                          | -            | -           |  |  |  |
| Spironolactone   | 50–100 mg daily          | q6-12h                     | q12–24 h     | Avoid       |  |  |  |
| Thiazides  | 25–50 mg daily           | 100%                       | 100%         | Avoid       |  |  |  |
| Torsemide  | No adjustment            | -                          | -            | -           |  |  |  |
| Antifungals  |                          |                            |              |             |  |  |  |
| Fluconazole  | 200–400 mg q24h          | 100%                       | 50%          | 50%         |  |  |  |
| Ketoconazole   | No adjustment            | -                          | -            | -           |  |  |  |
| Miconazole   | No adjustment            | -                          | -            | -           |  |  |  |
| Antivirals   | 1                        |                            |              |             |  |  |  |
| Acyclovir  | 200-800 mg q4-12h        | 100%                       | 100%         | 200 mg q12h |  |  |  |
| Valacyclovir   | 500-1000 mg q8-12h       | 100%                       | 100%         | 500 mg q24h |  |  |  |
| Dosage adjustment (% of usual  | dosage) based on GFR (mI | /min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> ) |              | ·           |  |  |  |
| Drug   | Usual dosage             | >50                        | 10-50        | <10         |  |  |  |
| Carbapenems  |                          |                            |              | ·           |  |  |  |
| Ertapenem  | 1 g q24h                 | 100%                       | 100%         | 50%         |  |  |  |
| Imipenem   | 0.25–1 g q12h            | 100%                       | 50%          | 25%         |  |  |  |
| Meropenem  | 1–2 g q8h                | 100%                       | 50% q12h     | 50% q24h    |  |  |  |
| Cephalosporins   |                          |                            |              |             |  |  |  |
| Cefaclor   | 250-500 mg q8h           | 100%                       | 50-100%      | 50%         |  |  |  |
| Cefadroxil   | 0.5–1 g q12h             | 100%                       | q12–24 h     | q36h        |  |  |  |
| Cefazolin  | 0.25–2 g q6h             | q8h                        | q12h         | 50 q24–48 h |  |  |  |
| Cefepime 0.25–2 g q8–12h   |                          | 100%                       | 50-100% q24h | 25-50% q24  |  |  |  |

**Table 5.7** Medication dosing requirements in patients with chronic kidney disease

| Cefixime                       | 200 mg q24h              | 100%               | 75%          | 50%             |
|--------------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------|--------------|-----------------|
| Cefotaxime                     | 1–2 g q6–12h             | q6h                | q6-12h       | q24h or 50%     |
| Cefoxitin                      | 1–2 g q6–8h              | q6-8h              | q8–12h       | q24–48 h        |
| Ceftriaxone                    | No adjustment            | -                  | -            | -               |
| Cephalexin                     | 250-500 mg q6-8h         | q8h                | q8–12h       | q12–24 h        |
| Macrolides                     |                          |                    |              |                 |
| Azithromycin                   | No adjustment            | -                  | -            | -               |
| Clarithromycin                 | 250-500 mg q12h          | 100%               | 50-100%      | 50%             |
| Erythromycin                   | No adjustment            | -                  | -            | -               |
| Penicillins                    |                          |                    |              |                 |
| Amoxicillin                    | 250–500 mg q8h           | 100%               | q8-12h       | q24h            |
| Ampicillin                     | 0.25–2 g q6h             | 100%               | q6-12h       | q12–24 h        |
| Ampicillin/sulbactam 1-2 g q6h | 100%                     | q12h               | q24h         |                 |
| Dicloxacillin                  | No adjustment            | -                  | -            | -               |
| Nafcillin                      | No adjustment            | -                  | -            | -               |
| Penicillin G                   | 0.5-four million U q4-6h | 100%               | 75%          | 20-50%          |
| Penicillin VK                  | No adjustment            | -                  | -            | -               |
| Piperacillin                   | 3–4 g q6h                | q6h                | q6-12h       | q12h            |
| Piperacillin/tazobactam        | 3.37–4.5 g q6–8h         | 100%               | 2.25 g q6–8h | 2.25 g q8h      |
| Quinolones                     |                          |                    |              |                 |
| Ciprofloxacin                  | xacin 500–750 mg q12h    |                    | 50-75%       | 50%             |
| Levofloxacin                   | 250-750 mg q24h          | 100%               | q24–48 h     | 250–500 mg q48h |
| Moxifloxacin No adjustment     |                          | -                  | -            | -               |
| Sulfas                         |                          |                    |              |                 |
| Sulfamethoxazole               | 1 g q8–12h               | q12h               | q18h         | q24h            |
| Trimethoprim                   | 100 mg q12h              | 100%               | q12–18 h     | q24h            |
| Tetracyclines                  |                          |                    |              |                 |
| Doxycycline                    | No adjustment            | -                  | -            | -               |
| Tetracycline                   | 250–500 mg q6–12h        | q8–12h             | q12–24 h     | q24h            |
| Dosage adjustment (% of usual  | dosage) based on GFR (ml | $L/min/1.73 m^2$ ) |              |                 |
| Drug                           | Usual dosage             | >50                | 10-50        | <10             |
| Other antimicrobials           |                          |                    |              |                 |
| Chloramphenicol                | No adjustment            | -                  | -            | -               |
| Clindamycin                    | No adjustment            | -                  | -            | -               |
| Linezolid                      | No adjustment            | -                  | -            | -               |
| Nitrofuratoin                  | 500-1000 mg q6h          | 100%               | Avoid        | Avoid           |
| Other common agents            |                          |                    |              |                 |
| Esomeprazole                   | No adjustment            | -                  | -            | -               |
| Famotidine                     | 20-40 mg nightly         | 50%                | 25%          | 10%             |
| Gabapentin                     | 300–900 mg TID           | 600 mg q12h        | 600 q24h     | 300q24h         |
| Lansoprazole                   | No adjustment            | -                  | -            | -               |
| Metoclopramide                 | 10–15 mg TID             | 100%               | 75%          | 50%             |
| Omeprazole                     | No adjustment            | -                  | -            | -               |
| Ranitidine 150–300 mg nightly  |                          | 75%                | 50%          | 25%             |

#### Table 5.7 (continued)

Munar MY, Singh H. Drug dosing adjustments in patients with chronic kidney disease. Am Fam Physician. 2007;75(10):1487-96

Gelot S, Nakhla E. Opioid Dosing in Renal and Hepatic Impairment. US Pharm. 2014;39(8):34-38

concentrations should be monitored and dosages adjusted accordingly.

#### 5.6.6.2 Analgesics

Patients with ESRD are more likely to experience adverse effects from opioid use. Metabolites of meperidine, morphine, tramadol, and codeine can accumulate in patients with chronic kidney disease, causing central nervous system and respiratory adverse effects [31]. In general these agents are not recommended or used on a caseby-case-basis with caution in patients with stage 4 or 5 disease. A 50-75% dose reduction for morphine and codeine is recommended in patients with a creatinine clearance less than 50 mL/min. Extended-release tramadol should also be avoided in patients with chronic kidney disease. The dosing interval of tramadol (regular release) may need to be increased to every 12 h in patients with a creatinine clearance less than 30 mL/min [32]. Acetaminophen can generally be used safely in patients with renal impairment.

#### 5.6.6.3 NSAIDS

Adverse renal effects of NSAIDs can be detrimental in renally compromised patients. The risk of acute renal failure is three times higher in NSAID users than in non-NSAID users [33]. Other adverse effects of NSAIDs include decreased potassium excretion leading to hyperkalemia and decreased sodium excretion which can exacerbate peripheral edema and hypertension. NSAIDs can blunt antihypertensive treatment, especially if beta-blockers, ACE inhibitors, or ARBs are used [34]. Although selective cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) inhibitors may cause slightly fewer adverse gastrointestinal effects, adverse renal effects are similar to traditional NSAIDs [34].

Short-term use of NSAIDs is generally safe in patients who are well hydrated with good renal function and who do not have heart failure, diabetes, or hypertension. Long-term use and high daily dosages of COX-2 inhibitors and other NSAIDs should be avoided if possible. Patients at high risk of NSAID-induced kidney disease should receive serum creatinine measurements every 2–4 weeks for several weeks after initiation of therapy because renal insufficiency may occur early in the course of therapy [35].

## 5.6.6.4 Anesthetic Agents

The direct effects of anesthetics on renal function are minor compared with the medications described above. Local anesthetics including lidocaine, articaine, mepivacaine, and prilocaine are generally safe to use within standard dosing guidelines. However, metabolic acidosis in patients with CKD or ESRD may decrease the effectiveness of some local anesthetics.36 Inhalational anesthetics such as halothane, isoflurane, sevoflurane, and desflurane all cause a decrease in renal vascular resistance. Of special concern, the metabolite of sevoflurane (compound A), has shown to cause acute kidney injury in laboratory animals. This can be avoided by assuring a continuous fresh gas flow rate to prevent its accumulation in the anesthesia breathing circuit. No clinical study has detected kidney injury in humans as a consequence of sevoflurane anesthesia; however a fresh gas flow of at least 2 L/min with sevoflurane is recommended to minimize the risk of this theoretical problem [36]. Intravenous opioids and propofol exhibit minor, if any, effects on the kidney when used alone. Ketamine minimally affects kidney function and may serve a role to preserve kidney function during hemorrhagic hypovolemia. Regardless of the anesthesia used, proper consultation and medical clearance should be ensured prior to surgery.

#### 5.6.6.5 Other Medications

Treatment planning and diagnosis in oral and maxillofacial pathology and trauma often requires the use of imaging with radiocontrast agents. Unfortunately, radiocontrast dye can adversely affect kidney function, especially in the setting of preexisting renal dysfunction. Radiocontrast agents are probably the most common cause of AKI in the acute care setting. In addition to intravenous hydration, pretreatment with *N*-acetylcysteine (600 mg orally every 12 h in four doses beginning prior to contrast administration) has been shown to decrease the risk of radiocontrast agent-induced AKI in patients with

preexisting renal dysfunction [37]. Even though there in no standardization or long-term outcome reviews of this protocols, each institution implements a protocol with prehydration and contrast dose optimization being the key.

# 5.6.7 Considerations of Patients with Kidney Transplantation

The medical advancements of renal transplantation in the twentieth century have dramatically improved the quality of life of thousands of patients who suffered from chronic end-stage kidney disease. As the life expectancy and total population of renal transplant patients increase, the need of such patients who will seek long-term oral and surgical rehabilitation is becoming more common. Using the guidelines previously discussed, an oral and maxillofacial surgeon plays an important role in the preparation of renal transplantation and also in the continuation of long-term oral rehabilitation. The following considerations will be discussed to aid in the prevention of complications in treatment of these high-risk patients.

Prior to transplantation, the patient's oral health must be optimized and free from any source of possible infection.

In preparation to receive the transplant, the patient is given chronic immunosuppressive medications in an effort to prevent posttransplantation organ rejection. The basis of most immunosuppressive regimens is prednisolone, which is a corticosteroid. Prednisolone suppresses the immune system, but it is usually insufficient by itself to prevent the rejection of the kidney transplant. For this reason, prednisolone is commonly administered in with other nonsteroid immunosuppressive medicines. The most common pharmaceutical regimen currently is a combination of tacrolimus, mycophenolate, and prednisolone. Other regimens include cyclosporine, sirolimus, or azathioprine [38]. While this helps reduce odds of rejection, the ability of the body to cope with systemic infections is also reduced. For this reason, teeth with poor prognosis, which could become sources of bacteremia if left in place, are extracted [39]. Considering the patient's state of immunosuppression in combination with chronic corticosteroid use, antibiotic prophylaxis in addition to a stress dose of steroids should be considered prior to having any invasive oral surgical procedure. Throughout the international bibliography, there are no clear guidelines as to if and when prophylactic antibiotic therapy should be given to transplant patients who are about to undergo oral surgery procedures, in order to prevent transient bacteremia. Through a research questionnaire that was given to a large number of physicians who work in transplant centers in the United States, most physicians stated that they recommend the use of prophylactic antibiotic therapy to all the patients that have been subjected to transplantation prior to any invasive oral procedure. The majority of these physicians adhere to the AHA's standard regimen to prevent endocarditis as a suggested prophylactic therapy [40].

A large number of transplant patients also suffer from hypertension, diabetes, or cardiovascular diseases, so it is essential for them to receive anticoagulant/antiplatelet treatment. If the transplant patient is administered coumarin anticoagulants, a recent INR should be required before surgery. If the INR is above 2.5, there should be a consultation with the nephrologist for dosing adjustments. In the case that the patient receives antiplatelet treatment with aspirin or clopidogrel, minor surgical procedures can typically be done without medication adjustments [41]. For moderate to major surgical procedures, the patient's physician may recommend stopping all antiplatelet medication. If this is suggested, they should be held 5-7 days before and after the scheduled surgery, always in consultation with the treating doctor who administers the medication [41, 42].

The first 6 months following transplantation is a very critical period that requires careful consideration before any surgical procedure should take place. During this period of time, transplant patients receive the highest dosage of immunosuppressive medicines because they are at a higher risk of rejecting the transplant, in addition to developing serious complications. For this reason, only emergency procedures should be considered and only after the treating nephrologist has been informed [43].

Six months to 1 year following transplantation, it is generally considered safe to perform most oral surgical procedures. This includes all minor surgical procedures, extractions, bone grafting, and even implant placement. A recent study reviewing bone grafting and implant placement in posttransplant patients receiving chronic immunosuppressant medications showed no difference in implant stability and bone loss in comparison to healthy people [44]. The study also demonstrated that corticosteroid therapy had no influence on the effect of dental implant treatment, either at the bone level or soft tissues. Cyclosporin, however, tends to commonly cause diffuse gingival enlargement; therefore implant placement and bone grafting would be delayed unless this medication was discontinued. In general, patients with organ transplants can safely and effectively undergo dental implant treatment. The condition is to adhere to appropriate procedures, and postoperative checkups, and the considerations listed in this chapter.

An additional consideration of transplant/ immunosuppressed patients is strict surveillance for oral lesions and malignancies. Many complications and malignancies that are connected with immunosuppressive pharmaceutical therapy are manifested in the mouth. Infections such as candidiasis and secondary recurrent oral herpes tend to appear more often [45]. Malignancies can occur decades earlier in immunosuppressed patients than in the rest of the general population. After kidney transplantation, transplant recipients have been shown to have high susceptibility to developing epithelial dysplasia and squamous cell carcinoma of the lip, as well as viruses that are related to tumors, such as Kaposi's sarcoma and non-Hodgkin lymphoma [46].

In summary, identification and risk stratification is crucial for the perioperative management of patients with kidney disease. To improve clinical outcomes, nonemergent procedures should be postponed, renal function optimized, nephrotoxic drugs avoided, and further kidney injury must be avoided.

#### References

- Lopes JA, Jorge S. The RIFLE and AKIN classifications for acute kidney injury: a critical and comprehensive review. Clin Kidney J. 2013;6(1):8–14. https://doi.org/10.1093/ckj/sfs160.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Chronic Kidney Disease Fact Sheet, 2017. National Chronic Kidney Disease Fact Sheet, 2017 (PDF, 1.32 MB). Accessed 25 Aug 2019.
- Race, ethnicity, and kidney disease. NIDDK website. 2017. www.niddk.nih.gov. Accessed 13 July 2019.
- 4. United States Renal Data System. 2018 USRDS annual data report: epidemiology of kidney disease in the United States. Bethesda: National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases; 2018.
- Landry DW, Bazari H. Approach to the patient with renal disease. In: Goldman L, editor. Goldman-Cecil medicine. Philadelphia: Saunders/Elsevier; 2016. p. 728–36.
- Zemaitis MR, Foris LA, Chandra S, et al. Uremia. [Updated 2019 Jul 5]. In: Stat Pearls [Internet]. Treasure Island: Stat Pearls Publishing; 2019. https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK441859/.
- Kiefer MM, et al. Primary care of the patient with chronic kidney disease. Med Clin North Am. 2015;99(5):935–52.
- Noone D, et al. Chronic kidney disease: a new look at pathogenetic mechanisms and treatment options. Pediatr Nephrol. 2014;29(5):779–92.
- Perna AF, et al. ADAM17, a new player in the pathogenesis of chronic kidney disease-mineral and bone disorder. J Ren Nutr. 2017;27(6):453–7.
- Sternlicht H, et al. The kidney in hypertension. Med Clin North Am. 2017;101(1):207–17.
- Vassalotti JA et al; National Kidney Foundation Kidney Disease Outcomes Quality Initiative. Practical approach to detection and management of chronic kidney disease for the primary care clinician. Am J Med. 2016;129(2):153–62.
- Goldblum SE, Reed WP. Host defenses and immunologic alterations associated with chronic hemodialysis. Ann Intern Med. 1980;93:597–613.
- Sowell SB. Dental care for patients with renal failure and renal transplants. J Am Dent Assoc. 1982;104:171–7.
- Steiner RW, Coggins C, Carvalho AC. Bleeding time in uremia: a useful test to assess clinical bleeding. Am J Hematol. 1979;7:107–17.
- Paganini EP. Hematologic abnormalities. In: Daugirdas JT, Ing TS, editors. Handbook of dialysis. 2nd ed. Boston: Little, Brown; 1994. p. 445–68.
- Chen KS, Huang CC, Leu ML, Deng P, Lo SK. Hemostatic and fibrinolytic response to desmopressin in uremic patients. Blood Purif. 1997;15:84–91.
- Davenport R. Cryoprecipitate for uremic bleeding. Clin Pharm. 1991;10:429.

- Vigano G, et al. Dose-effect and pharmacokinetics of estrogens given to correct bleeding time in uremia. Kidney Int. 1988;34:853–8.
- Livio M, et al. Conjugated estrogens for the management of bleeding associated with renal failure. N Engl J Med. 1986;315:731–5.
- Liu YK, Kosfeld RE, Marcum SG. Treatment of uremic bleeding with conjugated estrogen. Lancet. 1984;2(8408):887–90.
- Meersch M, et al. Patient with chronic renal failure undergoing surgery. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2016;29(3):413–20.
- Martins C, Siqueira WL, Oliveira E, et al. Dental calculus formation in children and adolescents undergoing hemodialysis. Pediatr Nephrol. 2012;27(10):1961–6.
- Xie T, Yang Z, Dai G, et al. Evaluation of the oral health status in Chinese hemodialysis patients. Hemodial Int. 2014;18(3):668–73.
- 24. Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) CKD-MBD Work Group. KDIGO clinical practice guideline for the diagnosis, evaluation, prevention, and treatment of chronic kidney disease-mineral and bone disorder. Kidney Int Suppl. 2009;113:S1–S130.
- Wu Q, Lai X, Zhu Z, et al. Evidence for chronic kidney disease-mineral and bone disorder associated with metabolic pathway changes. Medicine (Baltimore). 2015;94(32):e1273.
- Marks MI, Hirshfeld S. Neurotoxicity of penicillin. N Engl J Med. 1968;279:1002–3.
- Gibson TP, Demetriades JL, Bland JA. Imipenem/ cilastatin: pharmacokinetic profile in renal insufficiency. Am J Med. 1985;78:54–61.
- 28. Chimata M, Nagase M, Suzuki Y, Shimomura M, Kakuta S. Pharmacokinetics of meropenem in patients with various degrees of renal function, including patients with end-stage renal disease. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1993;37:229–33.
- Miller CS, McGarity GJ. Tetracycline-induced renal failure after dental treatment. J Am Dent Assoc. 2009;140(1):56–60.
- Drayer DE. Pharmacologically active drug metabolites: therapeutic and toxic activities, plasma and urine data in man, accumulation in renal failure. Clin Pharmacokinet. 1976;1:426.
- Davies G, Kingswood C, Street M. Pharmacokinetics of opioids in renal dysfunction. Clin Pharmacokinet. 1996;31:410–22.
- 32. Murphy EJ. Acute pain management pharmacology for the patient with concurrent renal or hepatic disease. Anesth Intensive Care. 2005;33:311–22.

- Huerta C, Castellsague J, Varas-Lorenzo C, Garcia Rodriguez LA. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and risk of ARF in the general population. Am J Kidney Dis. 2005;45:531–9.
- Johnson AG, Nguyen TV, Day RO. Do nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs affect blood pressure? A meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med. 1994;121:289–300.
- Gambaro G, Perazella MA. Adverse renal effects of anti-inflammatory agents: evaluation of selective and nonselective cyclooxygenase inhibitors. J Intern Med. 2003;253:643–52.
- 36. Kidney physiology & anesthesia. In: Butterworth IV JF, Mackey DC, Wasnick JD. eds. Morgan & Mikhail's clinical anesthesiology, 6th ed. New York: McGraw-Hill. pp. 234–243.
- Yee J, Parasuraman R, Narins RG. Selective review of key perioperative renal-electrolyte disturbances in chronic renal failure patients. Chest. 1999;155(5 suppl):1498–57S.
- Goldman KE. Dental management of patients with bone marrow and solid organ transplantation. Dent Clin North Am. 2006;50:659–76.
- Guggenheimer J, Eghtesad B, Stock DJ. Dental management of the organ transplant patient. Oral Surg Oral Med. 2003;95:383–9.
- Guggenheimer J, Mayher D, Eghtesad B. A survey of dental care protocols among US organ transplant centers. Clin Transpl. 2005;19:15–8.
- 41. Wahl MJ. Myths of dental surgery in patients receiving anticoagulant therapy. J Am Dent Assoc. 2000;131:77–81.
- 42. Cardona-Tortajada F, Sainz-Gomez E, et al. Dental extractions in patients on antiplatelet therapy. A study conducted by the Oral Health Department of the Navarre Health Service. Med Oral Pathol. 2009;14:e588–92.
- 43. Dental management of the organ transplant patient. 2009; NIH Publication No. 10-6270/Department of Health and Human Services National Institutes of Health.
- Radzewski R, Osmola K. Osseointegration of dental implants in organ transplantation patients undergoing chronic immunosuppressive therapy. Implant Dent. 2019;28(5):447–54.
- Mozaffari PM, Amirchaghmaghi M, Mortazavi H. Oral manifestations of renal patients before and after transplantation: a review of literature. DJH. 2009;1:1–6.
- Rama I, Grinyo JM. Malignancy after renal transplantation: the role of immunosuppression. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2010;6:511–9.

Harvard School of Dental Medicine and Harvard

Boston Children's Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

e-mail: Cory.resnick@childrens.harvard.edu

# The Immunocompromised Patient

Cory M. Resnick

## 6.1 Introduction

The availability and predictability of organ transplantation, biologic medications for rheumatoid diseases, and other treatments affecting the immune response have burgeoned in recent decades. For example, over 28,000 solid organ transplant operations were performed annually from 2009 to 2013 in the United States [1], and the average life expectancy of transplant recipients now exceeds 10 years [2]. As such, the need to provide outpatient surgical treatment to immunocompromised patients has increased.

Patients may be immunocompromised from a disease, such as human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) or cancer, or from medications, such as immunosuppressive therapy after organ transplantation or for management of autoimmune disease. Moreover, immunomodulation occurs in every patient, including those with normally functioning immune systems, around the time of an insult or operation [3].

Immunodeficiencies are broadly categorized as congenital or acquired. Congenital (primary) immunodeficiencies are typically identified in children and include disorders that impair one or more components of the natural immune response. These include defects of the phagocytic (e.g., hyperimmunoglobulinemia and cell glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase deficiency), complement protein abnormalities (e.g., C1 esterase inhibitor deficiency), T-lymphocyte abnormalities (e.g., 22q11.2 deletion syndrome), T-cell and B-cell combined immunodeficiencies (e.g., severe combined immunodeficiency), and antibody defects (e.g., X-linked agammaglobulinemia) [4]. Acquired (secondary) immunodeficiencies occur due to impaired function of one or more organ systems. Examples include diabetes mellitus (endocrine), hepatic insufficiency (gastrointestinal system), HIV, cytomegalovirus, Epstein-Barr virus (infectious), alcoholism and malnutrition (nutritional), nephrotic system and renal insufficiency (renal), rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus (rheumatologic), and iatrogenic causes (e.g., medication treatment) [3].

The following patient populations may require special consideration for outpatient surgical treatment.

# 6.2 Rheumatologic Disease

More than 40 million Americans suffer from rheumatologic diseases, and over eight million of them are considered disabled [5]. Over 100 rheumatologic diseases that affect bones, joints, and

Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

C. M. Resnick (🖂)



<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

D. J. Meara, R. Gutta (eds.), Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery for the Medically Compromised Patient, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-82598-0\_6

muscles have been identified. Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is the most common of these in adults, and juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) is the most common chronic rheumatologic disease of children. Systemic lupus erythematous, scleroderma, Sjögren syndrome, gout, ankylosing spondylitis, lyme disease, and giant cell arteritis are other common rheumatologic diagnoses.

RA is an autoimmune disease of unknown etiology. It can affect any joint, but most typically involves the hands, feet, and knees. RA occurs more commonly in females than males and is typically diagnosed between the ages of 35 and 50 years. The disease leads to microvascular endothelial cell activation and injury, primarily affecting the synovial joint lining. This causes slowly progressive joint destruction, pain, and immobility. JIA, which is a distinct entity different from RA, is an autoimmune arthritis that occurs in children under age 16 years and has similar destructive impact. The temporomandibular joints are frequently involved in both RA and JIA [6].

Patients with rheumatologic diseases may be managed with antirheumatic medications. Medication therapy is generally divided in to two types: (1) drugs that decrease joint pain and swelling but have little or no effect on the disease course or joint damage and (2) drugs intended to decrease disease activity and joint damage. The most common class of drugs employed for pain and swelling are nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs). Corticosteroids are also used when acute control of inflammation is necessary.

Disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs (DMARDs) are a class of medications intended to alter the course of the arthritic disease and decrease joint damage. The most common of these is the antimetabolite methotrexate, which inhibits the enzyme dihydrofolic reductase, thereby blocking the activation of folic acid. Others include hydroxychloroquine, sulfasalazine, leflunomide, and azathioprine. DMARDs are typically initiated early in the arthritis course in order to prevent future joint destruction.

Biologic medications are drugs that target a specific molecular mediator in the inflammatory cascade. Examples include adalimumab (Humira), etanercept (Enbrel), infliximab (Remicade), abatacept (Orencia), anakinra (Kineret), certolizumab (Cimzia), golimumab (Simponi), and rituximab (Rituxan). Biologic medications have been shown to slow the progression of RA even when all other treatments have failed [7].

Some special considerations are necessary when planning surgical care for patients with rheumatologic diseases:

- Potential for excessive bleeding in light of NSAID treatment. Combination treatment with NSAIDs and corticosteroids can further increase this risk.
- Corticosteroid treatment may be associated with adrenal suppression, and stress dose steroids may be indicated.
- Immunosuppressive drugs can cause bone marrow suppression, resulting in anemia, agranulocytosis, and thrombocytopenia; a current complete blood count should be obtained prior to surgical treatment.
- Many patients with RA will have prosthetic joint replacements. While prophylactic antibiotics are generally not recommended before invasive procedures, a conversation with the orthopedic surgeon regarding specific indications for antibiotic coverage may be prudent.
- Patients taking immunosuppressive drugs, particularly biologic medications, are at increased risk for postoperative surgical site infections. Recommendations for perioperative medication alteration, however, are variable and primarily based on expert opinion rather than scientific evidence. The British Society of Rheumatology recommends holding biologic medications for 2-4 weeks before an operation, and not restarting until here is good wound healing without infection. The French Society for Rheumatology recommends holding biologic medications for 5 half-lives prior to an operation, resulting in a different amount of time for each drug. The American College of Rheumatology recommends holding these medications for 1 week prior and 1 week after an operation [8]. Based on a systematic review of available literature

| Medication                                | Holding recommendation prior to an operation |
|---|--|
| TNF-alpha inhibitor                       | 1 dose                                       |
| Tocilizumab (IL-6<br>receptor antagonist) | 1 dose                                       |
| Anakinra (IL-1<br>antagonist)             | 1 week                                       |
| Abatacept (CTL4Ig<br>blocker)             | 1 month                                      |
| Rituximab (CD20<br>antibody)              | 3–6 months                                   |

**Table 6.1** Recommendations for holding of biologic medications prior to an operation

by Polachek, Caspi, and Elkayam in 2012 [8], in combination with the biologic properties of each medication, specific recommendations for holding of medications prior to an operation were developed and are shown in Table 6.1. These authors recommend restarting medications after surgery "in the absence of infection and when wound healing is satisfactory" [8].

#### 6.3 Organ Transplantation

Since the first successful human organ transplant procedure was performed by Joseph E. Murray in 1954, solid organ transplant has saved an improved the lives of countless patients. More than 10,000 renal transplantations, the most common solid organ transplant, are now performed annually in the United States, and more than 75,000 occur each year worldwide [9]. As the 5-year survival rates after renal, heart, and liver transplantation are now above 90% [9], 75% [10] and 70% [11], respectively, clinicians can expect to see increasing numbers of transplant patients seeking outpatient surgical care. Prior transplantation increases the risk for mortality after nontransplant-related surgery [12].

Despite the life-saving effects of organ transplantation, the associated transfer of foreign antigens requires the lifelong use of immunosuppressive medications. Medications that depress the natural immune system nonspecifically block T- and B-cell activity and innate immunity effector cells. This significantly increases the patient's risk for infection. Moreover, due to the suppressive effects of these medications, typical signs and symptoms of infection that would be seen in an immunocompetent patient may be subtle or absent [13].

Shortly after transplantation, nosocomial and opportunistic infections, such as methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus* and aspergillus, are most common. From 1 to 6 months after transplantation, when immunosuppression is most profound, the risk for opportunistic infections such as invasive fungal infections is high, and reactivation of latent infections such as cyto-megalovirus is common. After 6 months post-transplant, pathogens are more likely to lead to typical community-acquired infections, though they may have a more profound effect in patients with transplants than they would in otherwise healthy individuals [13].

When planning an outpatient procedure in a patient with prior solid organ transplantation, the surgeon must consider:

- Appropriate timing for the procedure to avoid the highest period shortly after transplantation.
- Potential for infection. While there are no universal guidelines for prophylaxis against infection when performing an operation unrelated to the transplanted organ in patients with a history of a transplant, the increased risk for infection at the surgical site as well as the potential for bacterial seeding of the transplanted organ must be considered. A conversation about antibiotic prophylaxis with the transplant team is critical prior to any elective procedure.
- Potential side effects of the immunosuppressive agents. The major classes of immunosuppressive drugs used in this population include corticosteroids, calcineurin inhibitors, nucleoside inhibitors, and antibodies. Each has specific additional side effects that require consideration. Corticosteroids such as prednisone, for example, have a side effect profile that includes hyperglycemia, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, osteoporosis, and avascular

necrosis. Calcineurin inhibitors such as cyclosporin and tacrolimus can cause renal injury, thereby affecting anesthetic and analgesic medication clearance. Nucleoside inhibitors including azathioprine and mycophenolate mofetil may cause myelosuppression, leukopenia, and anemia. Other common immunosuppressive medications such as mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) inhibitors including sirolimus and everolimus are associated with cytopenia and hyperlipidemia.

 The health and function of the transplanted organ and other related systems prior to engaging in elective surgical care. Renal function, for example, will have a significant effect on clearance of anesthetic and analgesic medications. Depending on organ function, medications may require dosing alteration, and/or an inpatient setting may be more appropriate for elective surgery.

## 6.4 HIV

The retrovirus later named the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) was first identified in 1983 as the causative agent for the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS). Since that time, more than 70 million people have been infected with HIV, and more than 30 million have died from AIDS [13, 14]. Survival and quality of life for patients living with HIV has dramatically increased since the introduction of antiretroviral drugs. As such, many patients with HIV will seek outpatient surgical care [15]. Perioperative considerations include both the effects of the HIV infection itself and of medications used to treat the HIV.

In untreated patients with HIV infection and in those in whom treatment is ineffective, the number of T helper lymphocytes (CD4+ cells) continually declines, thereby impairing the natural immune response to infection. When the CD4+ count drops below 200 cells/µL, the infected patient is considered to have AIDS and is increasingly susceptible to opportunistic infections including pneumocystis pneumonia, toxoplasmosis, histoplasmosis, cytomegalovirus, and others. When CD4+ levels drop below threshold levels, patients may be treated with chemoprophylaxis (i.e., antibiotics, vaccination) to reduce the risk for opportunistic infections.

The 4 most commonly used medication classes in treatment of HIV include (1) nucleoside and nucleotide reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NRTI and NtRTI), (2) non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTI), (3) protease inhibitors, and (4) fusion inhibitors. These medications are typically provided in combination, utilizing a therapeutic philosophy termed highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART). Upon introduction of HAART, there is typically an acute increase in CD4+ counts, and, in some patients, this is associated with a clinical deterioration termed immune recovery syndrome [3]. The clinician should be cognizant of this phenomenon and avoid elective surgical treatment around this time.

When considering outpatient surgical management of a patient with HIV, the clinician should:

- Obtain a serum CD4+ count and viral load. In patients with severe immunosuppression, neutropenia (white blood cell count <500/µL) may increase the risk for postoperative infection, and thrombocytopenia can lead to excessive bleeding. Patients that are seropositive for HIV but with CD4+ counts above 350 cells/µL and low or undetectable viral loads, however, can generally be managed without alteration to standard surgical techniques and without additional prophylaxis against postoperative infection.</li>
- Obtain a complete list of antiretroviral medications and understand their potential impact on anesthetic management, wound healing, and infection. There are several dose-related phenomena associated with HAART that may affect outpatient surgical treatment. One is mitochondrial toxicity which can produce lactic acidemia and lipodystrophy, with the latter leading to the potential for airway compromise due to excessive fat deposits in the pharynx [16]. Additionally, HAART may be associated with insulin resistance,

hepatotoxicity, nephrotoxicity, myelosuppression, and/or anemia.

- Consider the potential for medication interactions between anesthetic and prescribed medications and the patient's home regimen.
- Avoid elective procedures shortly after initiation of HAART.
- Use standard precautions for sterility and prevention of needle stick injury for all patients.

## 6.5 Cancer

Cancer and its treatment may have a profound effect on general health and the response to anesthesia and surgery. When managing a patient with cancer, discussion with the primary care provider and/or oncologist is critical. The surgeon must investigate:

- Current and prior chemotherapeutic agents that the patient has been exposed to. Some agents are associated with known side effects such as pulmonary, cardiac, and/or hepatorenal toxicity.
- The best timing for surgical treatment, for instance, to avoid a leukopenic nadir during chemotherapy treatment.
- Potential need for modification of anesthetic and analgesic medication doses if renal and/or hepatic clearance are impaired.
- The appropriateness of outpatient management must be considered in the context of the patient's general health.

## 6.6 Congenital (Primary) Immunodeficiencies

Primary immunodeficiencies are a series of disorders affecting components of the immune system and are categorized based on the affected cell line. They are broadly separated into disorders of the innate and adaptive immune systems.

Diseases of the innate immune system are less common than those of the adaptive system. These include phagocytic disorders (e.g., chronic granulomatous disease and leukocyte adhesion deficiency), complement deficiencies, and disorders of cellular signaling. Diseases of the innate immune system are often recognized in childhood due to frequent infections from common pathogens or unusually severe infections.

Disorders of the adaptive immune system affect B cells, T cells, or both. Antibody deficiencies (B-cell disorders) are the most common of the primary immunodeficiencies. These usually become evident around 5-7 months of age when maternal IgG decreases. Affected children tend to have recurrent infections from encapsulated organisms. The most common antibody disorders are X-linked agammaglobulinemia, which is the most severe of these diseases and results in a deficiency in all major classes of antibodies; common variable immunodeficiency, which often has a later onset (18 months of age or older) and variable presentation with IgG and IgA most commonly deficient; and IgA deficiency, which is the most common and also least impactful of the antibody deficiencies.

T-cell disorders increase susceptibility to infections by intracellular pathogens such as cytomegalovirus, Candida, and Pneumocystis jiroveci [4]. As antibody production is supported by T helper cells, some degree of B-cell dysfunction is common in patients with T-cell disorders. Severe combined immunodeficiency syndromes (SCID) is a group of genetic diseases characterized by a complete lack of T-cell function. Some also affect B cells and NK cells. SCID is typically fatal within the first few years of life without bone marrow or stem cell transplantation. 22q11.2 deletion syndrome, sometimes called DiGeorge syndrome or velocardiofacial syndrome, is a developmental syndrome affecting the third and fourth pharyngeal arches and resulting in characteristic facial and cardiac anomalies. In addition, patients with 22q11.2 deletion syndrome have a variable T-cell deficiency, possibly due to a hypoplastic thymus. This improves spontaneously during growth, typically normalizing by age 2 years. Wiskott-Aldrich Syndrome is an X-linked disorder characterized by the triad of eczema, thrombocytopenia, and recurrent infections. T-cell counts are normal at birth but decrease over the first decade of life, and IgM levels are decreased. IVIG therapy is often used to prevent recurrent bacterial infections, but bone marrow transplantation is the only cure. *Ataxia-telangiectasia* is an autosomal recessive disorder caused by a mutation in the ATM gene, affecting protein stability and DNA repair.

Patients with ataxia-telangiectasia have gross motor dysfunction (ataxia) that presents around the age of 2 years. Later, they have oculocutaneous telangiectasia and a progressive immunodeficiency affecting both T cells and B cells which becomes apparent after the age of 3 years. Recurrent respiratory infections and chronic lung disease are common and can be treated with IVIG. T- and B-cell malignancies are common, and these patients have increased susceptibility to ionizing radiation.

In management of a child or adult with a primary immunodeficiency:

- The nature of the deficiency and susceptibility to infection must be considered.
- Ascetic technique is critical.
- Prophylactic coverage with broad spectrum antibiotics may be indicated.
- Appropriateness for outpatient versus inpatient care must be evaluated.

#### 6.7 Summary

Many patients presenting for outpatient surgical care are immunocompromised, due either to a disease or from medical treatment. Some will appear healthy, and a thorough history will be necessary to uncover the nature of their immunodeficiency. Close collaboration with primary care and specialty physicians to fully understand the state of their immune system and plan for appropriate management is critical.

#### References

 Wong CJ, Pagalilauan G. Primary care of the solid organ transplant recipient. Med Clin North Am. 2015;99(5):1075–103.

- Lodhi SA, Lamb KE, Meier-Kriesche HU. Solid organ allograft survival improvement in the United States: the long-term does not mirror the dramatic short-term success. Am J Transplant. 2011;11(6):1226–35.
- Littlewood KE. The immunocompromised adult patient and surgery. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol. 2008;22(3):585–609.
- Castro BA. The immunocompromised pediatric patient and surgery. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol. 2008;22(3):611–26.
- Verbrugge LM, Juarez L. Profile of arthritis disability. Public Health Rep. 2001;116(Suppl 1):157.
- Resnick CM, Dang R, Henderson LA, Zander DA, Daniels KM, Nigrovic PA, et al. Frequency and morbidity of temporomandibular joint involvement in adult patients with a history of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2017;75(6):1191–200.
- Singh JA, Saag KG, Bridges SL Jr, Akl EA, Bannuru RR, Sullivan MC, et al. 2015 American College of Rheumatology guideline for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2016;68(1):1–26.
- Polachek A, Caspi D, Elkayam O. The perioperative use of biologic agents in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Autoimmun Rev. 2012;12(2):164–8.
- Shrestha B, Haylor J, Raftery A. Historical perspectives in kidney transplantation: an updated review. Prog Transplant. 2015;25(1):64–76.
- Toyoda Y, Guy TS, Kashem A. Present status and future perspectives of heart transplantation. Circ J. 2013;77(5):1097–110.
- Valentine E, Gregorits M, Gutsche JT, Al-Ghofaily L, Augoustides JG. Clinical update in liver transplantation. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2013;27(4):809–15.
- Lederer A-K, Haffa D, Martini V, Huber R, Makowiec F, Fichtner-Feigl S, et al. Surgical outcomes of renal transplant recipients after abdominal surgery not connected with transplantation. A retrospective casecontrol study. Int J Surg. 2019;61:53–9.
- Little JW, Falace D, Miller C, Rhodus NL. Dental management of the medically compromised patient-E-book. Elsevier Health Sciences; 2017.
- 14. Benson CA, Brooks JT, Holmes KK, Kaplan JE, Masur H, Pau A. Guidelines for prevention and treatment opportunistic infections in HIV-infected adults and adolescents; recommendations from CDC, the National Institutes of Health, and the HIV Medicine Association/Infectious Diseases Society of America. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2009;58(RR-4):1–207; quiz CE1–4.
- Hariri S, McKenna MT. Epidemiology of human immunodeficiency virus in the United States. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2007;20(3):478–88, table of contents.
- Milinkovic A, Martinez E. Current perspectives on HIV-associated lipodystrophy syndrome. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2005;56(1):6–9.

# Metabolic Disorders in the Oral and Maxillofacial Surgical Patient

Barry C. Boyd

# 7.1 Pituitary Gland Disorders

Many endocrine functions are modulated by the hypothalamic interaction with and regulatory function of anterior pituitary gland function. The hypothalamus produces the releasing hormones thyrotropin-releasing hormone (TRH), corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH), and gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH). It is also the site of prolactin inhibitory factor production. Secretion of the hypothalamic-releasing hormones stimulates production of trophic hormones by the anterior pituitary gland with feedback from target glands. The hormones produced by the anterior pituitary include thyroidstimulating hormone (TSH), adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH), growth hormone (GH), luteinizing hormone (LH), follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), and prolactin. Prolactin release is stimulated postpartum by oxytocin release and infant suckling. The release of hypothalamic prolactin inhibitory factor serves to downregulate the release of prolactin to prevent excesses as well as to curtail breast milk production when nursing has ceased. The posterior pituitary gland

has direct neural regulation by the hypothalamus and is the site of production of oxytocin and vasopressin.

# 7.1.1 Anterior Pituitary Hyperfunction

Disorders of anterior pituitary hyperfunction are often expressed as a result of excessive secretion of the trophic hormones. These disorders of hyperfunction are often the result of adenomas, microadenomas, or hyperplasia. Excessive growth hormone (GH) production often results from acidophil adenoma development with manifestations including gigantism when overproduction of GH occurs in childhood. Acromegaly results from GH overproduction in adulthood with clinical features consisting of coarsening facies, thickened lips, and enlargement of the hands and feet. Impaired glucose tolerance may occur as well as increased risk of developing type 2 diabetes mellitus in those afflicted with acromegaly [1].

Hypercorticism results from overproduction of ACTH due to several potential mechanisms including hypothalamic overproduction of CRH, basophil pituitary adenomas, pituitary microadenomas, or by ectopic ACTH production. In the Cushing disease, ACTH produced in excess by the pituitary leads to excessive production of cortisol by the adrenal cortex. Excessive prolactin production or hyperprolactinemia typically

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery and Hospital Dentistry, Christiana Care Health System, Wilmington, DE, USA e-mail: Barry.C.Boyd@ChristianaCare.org



<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

D. J. Meara, R. Gutta (eds.), Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery for the Medically Compromised Patient, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-82598-0\_7

B. C. Boyd (🖂)

<sup>55</sup> 

B.C.Boyd

results from pituitary adenomas, microadenomas, or hyperplasia. One clinical manifestation that may be seen in affected females is the amenorrhea—galactorrhea syndrome with manifestations including inducible or spontaneous galactorrhea and secondary amenorrhea [1].

# 7.1.2 Anterior Pituitary Hypofunction

Disorders of pituitary hypofunction are numerous. They may occur as isolated hormonal deficiencies which rarely present. More commonly, global hypofunction may result in producing panhypopituitarism with multiple clinical features. These clinical features are imposed by deficiency of the pituitary hormones resulting in conditions which include hypothyroidism, adrenal insufficiency, hypogonadism, growth failure, or dwarfism. In addition, deficient production of posterior pituitary hormones vasopressin and oxytocin occurs. The causes of panhypopituitarism include the following [1]:

- Tumor compression—primary, metastasis, neighboring tumor
- · Iatrogenic: surgical removal; irradiation
- Infarction
- Sarcoidosis
- Empty sella syndrome-etiology unknown

Consultation with specialists in endocrinology is necessary from the onset of this disorder which may result in critical illness in the case of deficiencies in thyroid hormone, ACTH, and vasopressin. Careful replacement therapy is essential throughout life to prevent acute decompensation and to ameliorate lifelong disease manifestations. In patients affected by trauma, severe illness, or in the surgical perioperative phase, stress dosing with corticosteroids should receive high priority.

## 7.1.3 Posterior Pituitary Disorders

Disorders of the posterior pituitary gland may occur, resulting in derangement in production of oxytocin and vasopressin. Oxytocin is released during active labor resulting in stimulation of uterine contraction and initiation of lactation postpartum. Vasopressin (ADH) plays a major role in regulation of serum osmolarity and blood pressure. Etiologies of ADH deficiency include tumors, irradiation, vascular compromise, trauma, and surgical alteration [1]. Neurogenic or central diabetes insipidus may occur with clinical features of massive polyuria (dilute urine) and serum hyperosmolarity. Critical care management of the underlying cause as well as aggressive targeted fluid and electrolyte management is essential. In addition, administration of vasopressin in the form of DDAVP is critical in the management of these patients to correct hypovolemia and hypernatremia.

Disorders with excessive ADH production may result from brain trauma, stroke, and certain drugs. Pulmonary diseases such as tuberculosis and pneumonia may also result in ADH excess. Malignant diseases may be a source of ectopic ADH production including carcinoma of the pancreas or oat cell carcinoma of the lung [1]. Excessive ADH production results in clinical manifestation of the syndrome of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone (SIADH) with features including oliguria (concentrated urine), hyponatremia, and serum hypoosmolarity. These patients must be managed in the critical care setting with targeted fluid and electrolyte management to treat fluid retention and hyponatremia.

# 7.2 Adrenal Gland Disorders

Anatomically the adrenal glands are located at the superior pole of the kidneys. Histologically the glands are composed of an outer cortex and an inner medulla. The adrenal cortex is further subdivided into three zones. The outermost zone of the adrenal cortex is the zona glomerulosa. The zona glomerulosa is the primary site of production of the mineralocorticoid aldosterone. Within the intermediate zone, the zona fasciculata, production of the glucocorticoid, cortisol, occurs. The innermost zone is the zona reticularis which is the site of production of the androgens and estrogens.

The adrenal glands part of the are hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis which functions in a feedback loop, by which adrenal glandular secretion is normally regulated. Adrenal hypofunction can be of a primary form in which the etiology is dysfunction or destruction of the gland. Secondary forms occur in which HPA dysfunction occurs with diminished ACTH stimulation of the adrenal glands. Secondary adrenal hypofunction may also result from exogenous steroid administration, leading to HPA suppression [1].

## 7.2.1 Adrenal Insufficiency

Addison's disease is the clinical manifestation of primary adrenal insufficiency which may include:

- Hyperpigmentation of exposed skin, skin creases, and oral mucosa
- Glucocorticoid deficiency—hypoglycemia, anorexia, nausea, weight loss, lethargy, confusion, stress intolerance
- Mineralocorticoid (aldosterone) deficiency hyponatremia, hyperkalemia, hypovolemia, hypotension, dysrhythmias, stress intolerance

Sources of primary adrenal insufficiency are myriad. This includes autoimmune destruction, infarction, and hemorrhage. Infiltrative processes such as primary tumors, metastatic tumors, or amyloidosis may lead to adrenal insufficiency. Surgical removal also commonly results in adrenal insufficiency. Infectious etiologies of primary adrenal insufficiency include tuberculosis or fungal disease [2].

Perioperative prevention of an acute adrenal crisis is of utmost priority. Physiologic stresses including acute trauma, general anesthesia, major surgery, and critical illness including severe odontogenic infections are common precipitating events. Exogenous steroids are administered for a constellation of diseases and can have lasting negative effects upon the HPA axis. Prevention is predicated upon clinicians having complete familiarity with the patient's medical history, including knowledge of past and present steroid administration. Preventive strategies include dosing regimens that employ alternate day therapy, which generally have less of an effect upon the HPA axis. Steroid-sparing therapies and those which use the lowest doses for the minimum duration also serve to ameliorate impairment of the HPA axis. Recovery of the HPA axis may take at least 1 year after withdrawal of exogenous steroids. Patients at risk should be referred for endocrinology consultation where history and physical and laboratory studies including basal a.m. cortisol levels and ACTH stimulation testing will reveal if the patient is at risk. Low basal cortisol and ACTH stimulated cortisol levels indicate adrenal insufficiency [2]. Those who rule in require lifelong glucocorticoid and mineralocorticoid replacement therapy as well as perioperative stress dose protocols.

Stress dosing may take the following forms:

Mild (fever, minor illness)—40–60 mg hydrocortisone

**Moderate** (influenza, minor surgery, mild to moderate infection)—100 mg hydrocortisone tapering to maintenance dose

**Severe** (general anesthesia, trauma, major infection, major surgery)—300 mg/day in 3 divided doses tapering to maintenance dose

Recognition and treatment of an acute adrenal crisis is of utmost importance as this constitutes a critical, life-threatening condition best managed in the critical care setting. The clinical features of acute adrenal crisis [2] are found in Table 7.1.

Critical care management of an acute adrenal crisis includes judicious fluid administration, strict cardiac and hemodynamic monitoring, as well as monitoring of urine output and electrolytes. Administration of the glucocorticoid, cortisol, 100 mg IV over 5–10 min followed by 300 mg over 24 h should take place. In addition the mineralocorticoid fludrocortisone 0.05–0.2 mg is required.

 Table 7.1
 Clinical features of acute adrenal crisis

- Mental status changes
- · Abdominal pain, vomiting
- Electrolyte abnormalities—hyponatremia, hyperkalemia
- Cardiovascular decompensation—hypotension, dysrhythmias

# 7.2.2 Adrenal Cortical Hyperfunction

The most common manifestation of adrenal gland hyperfunction occurs in the Cushing syndrome. The syndrome may occur in the setting of excessive adrenal gland stimulation by ACTH, HPA axis derangement, or autonomous adrenal cortical hyperfunction.

When a pituitary adenoma is responsible for excessive ACTH secretion and resulting adrenal cortical hyperfunction, the disorder is termed the Cushing disease. Non-pituitary sources of ACTH analogues may also produce the Cushing syndrome. Malignant neoplasms of the lung as well as carcinoid and neoplasms of the thymus gland may be sites of ACTH analogue production [2]. The ACTH-independent causes of the Cushing syndrome include adrenal adenomas, adrenal carcinomas, and prolonged exogenous steroid administration [2]. The clinical features of the Cushing syndrome are listed in Table 7.2.

Patients presenting with clinical features consistent with the Cushing syndrome or Cushing disease should have prompt endocrinology evaluation. Diagnosis includes careful medical history, physical examination, and laboratory studies which reveal elevated levels of cortisol and ACTH levels in addition to elevated concentrations of metabolites in urine. The endocrinology workup may also include dexamethasone and cosyntropin (ACTH) suppression tests [2].

Treatment of adrenal cortical hyperfunction may take several forms. Surgical treatments may

 Table 7.2
 Clinical features of the Cushing syndrome

- Central obesity—"moon facies," "buffalo hump"
- · Hypertension
- Abdominal striae, poor wound healing, easy bruising
- Muscle weakness/wasting
- Androgen excess—acne, oligomenorrhea, hirsutism
- Psychologic symptoms
- Edema
- Impaired glucose tolerance
- Growth retardation in children
- Osteoporosis

include adrenalectomy or adrenal adenoma resection for cases of adrenal adenoma. In cases of pituitary adenoma, selective adenoma resection is indicated. In those cases due to ectopic production of ACTH or ACTH analogues, treatment of the tumor source with surgery and medical management is indicated. Medical management with inhibitors of ACTH and/or cortisol secretion may also be indicated in refractory or inoperable cases. Adrenal carcinoma is treated with multiple modalities [2].

Management of patients with adrenal cortical hyperfunction presents complex perioperative and postoperative challenges. In cases due to chronic, exogenous steroid administration, perioperative adrenal insufficiency is a major risk, and specialty consultation should be considered in addition to stress dosing prophylaxis. These patients must also have optimization of blood pressure and may also require management of hyperglycemia. Increased fracture risk and the potential for impaired wound healing are additional clinical concerns.

Hyperaldosteronism results in excessive mineralocorticoid secretion. In primary hyperaldosteronism either adrenal adenoma or bilateral adrenal hyperplasia may be the source of excessive aldosterone production. In the primary form, renin activity is suppressed by a feedback mechanism. In secondary hyperaldosteronism, renin oversecretion induces excessive aldosterone secretion [2]. Clinical features of hyperaldosteronism are the result of sodium and water retention leading to elevated intravascular volume and hypertension. Hypokalemia is also seen, and if severe, dysrhythmias, proximal muscle weakness, paresthesias, tetany, and nephropathy may occur. Concomitantly increased renal excretion of hydrogen ions may lead to metabolic alkalosis. Treatment of primary causes of hyperaldosteronism are site specific and include surgical excision where adenomas are involved, or for cases due to hyperplasia, medical treatment with the aldosterone antagonist, spironolactone, is indicated [2].

Congenital adrenal hyperplasia results from relative cortisol deficiency, due to an enzymatic deficiency. This leads reflexively to elevated pituitary ACTH production and overstimulation of 
 Table 7.3 Clinical features of congenital adrenal hyperplasia

| • | Androgen excess                      |
|---|--------------------------------------|
|   | – Females                            |
|   | Infants—ambiguous genitalia          |
|   | Prepubertal females-virilization     |
|   | - Males                              |
|   | Infants-macrogenitosomia             |
|   | Prepubertal males-precocious puberty |
| • | Cortisol deficiency-mild             |

 Table 7.4
 Clinical features of pheochromocytoma

- Severe hypertension—paroxysmal in 50% may be induced by exercise, urination, abdominal palpation
- Tachycardia
- Headache, sweating, palpitations, anxiety, tremors, weight loss
- Hyperglycemia, hypermetabolism, postural hypotension in hypertensive patient
- Elevated urinary metabolites, free catecholamines, vanillylmandelic acid, and metanephrine levels

the adrenal cortex. The result is elevated production of sex steroids, primarily androgens, which forms the basis of the clinical manifestations [2] detailed in Table 7.3.

Treatment of congenital adrenal hyperplasia includes replacement therapy via glucocorticoid and mineralocorticoid administration. Administration of anti-androgen agents in preand postpubertal females may be necessary. Structural and functional genital reconstructive surgery of affected infants is often required [2]. Due to the cortisol deficiency, perioperative adrenal insufficiency may be a risk, and specialty consultation should be considered in addition to stress dosing prophylaxis regimens.

# 7.2.3 Adrenal Medullary Hyperfunction

Although it is rarely encountered, pheochromocytoma is the prime manifestation of adrenal medullary hyperfunction (see Table 7.4). The majority of pheochromocytomas are due to a single tumor of adrenal chromaffin cells with excessive production of epinephrine, norepinephrine, and dopamine. These tumors may also occur in extra-adrenal sites at the periphery of major arteries including the abdominal aorta and iliac arteries and are known as paragangliomas. In addition to solitary manifestations, pheochromocytomas may occur as a feature of multiple endocrine neoplasia type II or in association with neurofibromatosis type 1 [2].

Prompt treatment of patients diagnosed with pheochromocytoma is compulsory to prevent the severe, possibly life-threatening sequelae of this condition. Medical management of the physiologic derangements in the critical care setting with alpha-adrenergic blocking agents must be initiated to provide hemodynamic stabilization prior to surgical management. Surgical management includes adrenal exploration and exploration of extra-adrenal sites with surgical excision of tumors. In cases of inoperable tumors, medical management remains the mainstay of treatment and may include measures aimed at reduction of tumor size and function in addition to the adrenergic blocking agents.

Treatment of the primary sources and effects of the pheochromocytoma takes precedence over all oral surgical procedures. Once medical stability and definitive management of the primary source of the adrenal medullary hyperfunction has occurred, specialty evaluation, management, and optimization in the perioperative and postoperative phases is imperative.

#### 7.2.4 Thyroid Disease

#### 7.2.4.1 Hyperthyroidism

There are several disorders associated with hyperthyroidism. The more common ones will be discussed here. Two most common disorders associated with thyroid hyperfunction are those associated with diffuse toxic goiter and those with toxic multinodular goiter. Hyperthyroidism may also be a transient, initial feature of thyroiditis which transitions into hypothyroidism. See Table 7.5 for common clinical features of hyperthyroidism [3].

Grave's disease is the clinical presentation of diffuse toxic goiter, which occurs as a result of

| Table 7.5 | Common | clinical | features | of hypert | hyroidism |
|-----------|--------|----------|----------|-----------|-----------|
|-----------|--------|----------|----------|-----------|-----------|

- Metabolic—increased metabolic rate, weight loss, heat intolerance
- Cardiovascular—tachycardia, arrhythmias, widened pulse pressure, angina
- Respiratory—tachypnea, increased O<sub>2</sub> consumption
- GI—diarrhea
- Musculoskeletal—weakness
- Neurologic—anxiety, tremulousness
- Skin/hair—warm and moist; thinning of hair

Table 7.6 Clinical features of Grave's disease

- Goiter—diffuse toxic
- Ophthalmopathy—exophthalmos, conjunctivitis, scleritis
- Elevated serum T4, markedly elevated T3, (elevated T3 rU)
- Decreased TSH
- No TSH response to TRH stimulation

production of thyroid-stimulating antibodies which induce excessive production of thyroid hormones T3 and T4 by the thyroid gland. See Table 7.6 for clinical features of Grave's disease.

Treatment of Grave's disease is primarily medical with surgery reserved for cases refractory to medical therapy. Significant, symptomatic glandular enlargement and severe cases of exophthalmos are additional surgical indications. Adrenergic blocking agents are often required to manage hemodynamic manifestations of Grave's disease as well as symptoms resulting from thyroid hyperfunction. Use of the antithyroid medications methimazole and propylthiouracil is often successful in disease modulation. In cases with suboptimal response or with patients intolerant of antithyroid side effects, I-131 radioisotope ablation treatment may be necessary with close monitoring and expectant management of post-ablation hypofunction.

The toxic multinodular goiter often develops in patients with long-standing, nontoxic multinodular goiter and results from prolonged stimulation by TSH leading to autonomous hyperfunction of one or more nodules. Treatment of the patient with toxic multinodular goiter is commonly with antithyroid agents or with I-131 radioisotope ablation for refractory cases [3]. Thyrotoxicosis or thyroid storm represents the acute, severe presentation of hyperthyroidism. This emergent condition has a mortality rate ranging from 50 to 75% if not addressed promptly and effectively [3]. Patients with untreated or undertreated hyperthyroidism are at greatest risk for thyrotoxicosis (see Table 7.7: Clinical features of thyrotoxicosis). In addition it may be precipitated by various causes including trauma, surgery, childbirth, or concurrent serious illness. For treatment principles see Table 7.8.

In patients with thyrotoxicosis, emergent critical care management and stabilization take precedence over all other treatments as these patients may be hemodynamically unstable and may require ventilatory support. Treatment includes specialty consultation, fluid resuscitation, prompt initiation of adrenergic blocking agents and antipyretics, and administration of sodium iodide intravenously. Close monitoring and support of the airway, hemodynamic parameters, ECG, fluid balance, and thyroid function is provided in the ICU.

General treatment principles for the patient with treated hyperthyroidism include obtaining a thorough medical history with close attention to the review of systems and careful physical examination. The clinician must carefully note complaints or clinical findings suggestive of suboptimal management. Prior to performing elective procedures, it is important to confirm that thyroid management has been optimized to minimize risk in the perioperative and postoperative phases. Specialty consultation, thyroid function studies, and ECG should be considered.

Table 7.7 Clinical features of thyrotoxicosis

- Hyperpyrexia
- Tachycardia/arrhythmia
- Cardiovascular collapse
- Declining mental
- status—agitation  $\rightarrow$  stupor  $\rightarrow$  coma

 Table 7.8
 Treatment of thyrotoxicosis

- Circulatory support—IV fluids
- Iodide administration—IV sodium iodide 1–2 mg/24 h or oral potassium iodide
- Beta-blockers
- Antipyretics

#### 7.2.4.2 Hypothyroidism

Conditions associated with hypothyroidism may be classified as primary, due to an intraglandular disorder, or secondary due to an alteration in TSH production. The common types of primary hypothyroidism include chronic thyroiditis, iodine deficiency, or iatrogenic cases precipitated by surgical removal or I-131 radioisotope ablation. Forms of thyroiditis include silent or mild presentation, subacute, and chronic thyroiditis. Autoimmune thyroiditis is the chronic form which is often termed Hashimoto's thyroiditis (see Table 7.9: Clinical features of autoimmune thyroiditis) [3]. The most common cause of secondary hypothyroidism is hypopituitarism [3].

Patients with hypothyroidism require lifelong thyroid replacement therapy and titration to a euthyroid state via clinical and laboratory monitoring. Clinical features of hypothyroidism are listed in Table 7.10.

The acute, severe presentation of hypothyroidism is myxedema coma, which when left untreated is associated with a mortality rate of 50–75% [3]. Myxedema coma (Table 7.11) of gradual onset may result from untreated, severe, or undertreated hypothyroidism. Acute onset of this emergent condition may be precipitated by severe infections or by extreme, prolonged exposure to cold temperatures [3].

In patients with myxedema coma, emergent critical care management and stabilization must receive top priority due to potential hemodynamic instability and altered consciousness. These patients may require ventilatory support. Treatment includes specialty consultation; fluid resuscitation; prompt initiation of corticosteroids, especially in the patient with hypopituitarism; and administration of L-thyroxine.

 Table 7.9
 Clinical features of autoimmune thyroiditis

- Thyroid enlargement—autoimmune damage, lymphocytic infiltration, fibrosis decrease thyroid hormone production
- · Pain/tenderness
- May be hyperthyroid or euthyroid initially with progression to chronic hypothyroidism

#### Table 7.10 Clinical features of hypothyroidism

- · Thickened, puffy facial features, non-pitting edema
- Myxedema—deposition of mucopolysacchariderich material in tissues
- Weight gain
- Dry skin, coarse hair
- Weakness, lethargy, mood disturbances
- Hoarseness
- Delayed return phase of deep tendon reflexes
- Constipation
- Menstrual irregularities
- Cold intolerance, possible hypothermia
- Hypoventilation, possible pleural effusion
- Bradycardia, decreased C.O., possible pericardial effusion
- Lab findings—decreased T<sub>3</sub>, T<sub>4</sub>, T<sub>3</sub>rU, increased TSH, decreased radioactive iodine uptake

 Table 7.11
 Clinical features of myxedema coma

- Coma
- Hypotension
- Hypoventilation
- Hypothermia
- · Hypoglycemia

**Table 7.12** Classification and salient features of hyperparathyroidism

| ٠ | Primary—autonomous hypersecretion of              |
|---|---|
|   | parathyroid hormone (PTH)                         |
|   | – Etiology  |
|   | Parathyroid adenoma—single lesion in              |
|   | 80–90%  |
|   | MEN I; MEN II                                     |
|   | Parathyroid hyperplasia—10-20%                    |
| • | Secondary-reactive hypersecretion of parathyroid  |
|   | hormone in response to hypocalcemia               |
|   | – Etiology  |
|   | Chronic renal disease (renal                      |
|   | osteodystrophy)—common                            |
|   | Calcium malabsorption (rickets;                   |
|   | osteomalacia)—rare                                |
| • | Tertiary-autonomous oversecretion of parathyroid  |
|   | hormone by parathyroids (hyperplasia) which       |
|   | persists despite normalization of serum [Ca2+] or |
|   | renal transplantation                             |
|   | – Etiology  |
|   | End-stage renal disease with secondary            |
|   | hyperparathyroidism                               |
|   |   |

General treatment principles for the patient with treated hypothyroidism include completion of a thorough medical history with detailed review of systems and careful physical examination. Close attention should be given to complaints or clinical findings suggestive of suboptimal management. Prior to performance of elective procedures, it is important to confirm that treatment has been optimized and that the patient has attained a euthyroid state, to minimize risk in the perioperative and postoperative phases. Specialty consultation, thyroid function studies, and ECG should be considered.

# 7.3 Parathyroid Disease

Clinicians must be familiar with disease states in which hyperparathyroidism (Table 7.12) and hypoparathyroidism exist due to the alteration in calcium and phosphorous metabolism [4]. These conditions have far-reaching effects upon skeletal biology, neurologic function, and cardiac function.

#### 7.3.1 Hyperparathyroidism

The key features of primary hyperparathyroidism [4] (Table 7.13) result from elevated parathyroid hormone (PTH) which leads to hypercalcemia and hypophosphatemia. The elevated PTH levels stimulate increased, active vitamin D production (1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub>) leading to increased renal tubular calcium reabsorption and decreased renal tubular reabsorption of phosphate and bicarbonate. Gastrointestinal uptake of calcium is also increased. In addition osteoclast activity increases leading to mobilization of calcium from bone [4].

Prompt diagnosis and medical treatment of hypercalcemia is crucial and, due to potential cardiovascular and neurologic impairment, must take place under strictly monitored conditions [4].

- Mild to moderate—serum [Ca<sup>2+</sup>] 11–13 mg/ dL
  - Hydration—increased fluid intake
  - Oral phosphate supplementation
  - Estrogen—postmenopausal females
- Severe—serum [Ca<sup>2+</sup>]>13 mg/dL

 Table
 7.13
 Clinical
 features
 of
 primary

 hyperparathyroidism

#### Skeletal

- Osteitis fibrosa cystica—focal regions of demineralization
- Brown tumors—lesions consisting of osteoclasts, osteoblasts, giant cells, fibrous tissue
- Loss of lamina dura
- Subperiosteal resorption of distal phalanges, clavicles
- Renal
  - Hypercalciuria—renal calculi
  - Nephrocalcinosis—calcium deposits in parenchyma may lead to renal failure
- Cardiovascular
- Hypertension
- Bradycardia
- EKG changes—shortened QT interval
- Gastrointestinal
- Increased incidence of peptic ulcer disease and pancreatitis
- Abdominal pain, anorexia, nausea, vomiting, constipation
- Neurologic/psychiatric
  - Mental status changes—lethargy; drowsiness; stupor; coma
  - Neuromuscular disorders—weakness; fatigue; proximal myopathy; hypotonia
- Mood disorders—depression
- IV saline hydration, diuresis
- Bisphosphonates—bind bone hydroxyapatite
- Plicamycin-inhibits osteoclastic activity
- Calcitonin-inhibits osteoclastic activity

The treatment of primary hyperparathyroidism is often surgical and consists of parathyroid exploration and removal of a single adenoma or subtotal parathyroidectomy for hyperplasia. Expectant management of the resulting hypocalcemia that may occur postoperatively is required.

#### 7.3.2 Hypoparathyroidism

The key features of hypoparathyroidism evolve due to PTH deficiency which leads to hypocalcemia (Table 7.14) and hyperphosphatemia [4]. One of the more common etiologies of hypoparathyroidism is iatrogenic, resulting from surgical removal of all four parathyroid glands in the treat**Table 7.14** Clinical features of hypocalcemia and hypoparathyroidism

- Neurologic
- Anxiety
- Paresthesias—circumoral, fingertips
- Seizures—tonic-clonic
- Elevated intracranial pressure, papilledema
- Muscle fatigue, weakness
- Chvostek's sign—contraction of muscles of facial expression by tapping over facial nerve course on the face
- Trousseau's sign—carpal spasm (flexion at MCP joints, extension of IP joints, adduction of thumb/fingers) elicited by inflation of BP cuff to > systolic BP for 3 min
- Tetany Mild—moderate carpopedal spasm, cramping, twitching
  - Severe-laryngeal stridor
- Gastrointestinal—intestinal malabsorption
- Cardiovascular—prolonged QT interval; heart block: CHF
- Ectodermal changes—brittle nails, dystrophic skin, enamel defects
- Dystrophic calcifications
  - Basal ganglia Parkinsonian symptoms
- Lens cataracts

ment of parathyroid disease. It may also result from total thyroidectomy without parathyroid preservation. Impairment of PTH secretion may occur in the setting of magnesium deficiency. The DiGeorge syndrome is a congenital cause of hypoparathyroidism due to agenesis of the parathyroid glands and thymus. Hypoparathyroidism is also a feature of an autoimmune disorder termed MEDAC, consisting of multiple endocrine deficiency, autoimmune endocrine destruction, and mucocutaneous candidiasis. In this disorder, the functions of the parathyroid glands and the adrenal glands are destroyed [4].

Timely diagnosis and treatment of hypocalcemia is also crucial given the potentially severe cardiovascular and neurologic impairment that may occur. Careful correction of hypocalcemia must occur under strictly monitored conditions with IV administration of calcium-containing solutions.

Given the multiple systemic manifestations associated with parathyroid disorders, the clinician must perform a thorough history and physical appraisal with close attention to the often subtle findings on the review of systems, maxillofacial, cardiac, neurological, and musculoskeletal, exams. Those with mild to moderate physical complaints and clinical findings consistent with hypercalcemia or hypocalcemia should have non-emergent procedures postponed and referred for evaluation by a specialist in endocrinology. Those with findings consistent with severe hypercalcemia or hypocalcemia should have emergent medical evaluation and treatment.

#### 7.4 Diabetes Mellitus

Diabetes mellitus is a heterogeneous primary carbohydrate metabolic disorder with hyperglycemia as a key feature. The disease involves deficient insulin production that may be absolute or relative. Relative insulin deficiency is often accompanied by insulin resistance. There are several classic signs and symptoms often described leading to the diagnosis. These include polydipsia, polyuria, and polyphagia, in addition to blurred vision and the occurrence of opportunistic infections.

Classification of diabetes is divided based upon the pathophysiology and nature of the insulin derangement. Type 1 diabetes mellitus (type 1 DM) is marked by total or near total absence of insulin production due to autoimmune destruction of pancreatic beta cells. Symptoms and signs at onset tend to be significant and often occur prior to age 20. These patients are at extreme risk for the acute complication ketoacidosis, which may be evident at initial disease presentation but more commonly occurs due to severe inflammatory disease, infections, glycemic control aberration, or noncompliance. Type 2 diabetes mellitus (type 2 DM) commonly occurs due to progressive loss of insulin secretion often accompanied by peripheral insulin resistance. Type 2 DM tends to occur beyond the second decade, in those who are overweight, and affected individuals tend to be less prone to ketoacidosis occurrence [5]. A subtype of type 2 DM known as maturity onset diabetes of youth (MODY) may occur earlier in life. A third glucose metabolic disorder, prediabetes, may occur, but the degree of hyperglycemia falls below the range for the diagnosis of diabetes. These individuals are at increased risk for subsequent development of diabetes and cardiovascular disease [6].

Diagnosis of diabetes is made on the basis of the presenting symptoms and signs of hyperglycemia. This may include hyperglycemic crisis. Abnormalities in fasting plasma glucose  $(FPG) \ge 126 \text{ mg/dL}$ , oral glucose tolerance testing (OGTT) with 75 g anhydrous oral glu- $\cos e \ge 200 \text{ mg/dL}$ , glycosylated hemoglobin assay (hemoglobin A1C)  $\geq$  6.5%, and random plasma glucose (RPG)  $\geq$  200 mg/dL are required to make the diagnosis. Prediabetes is diagnosed when the patient has values including FPG 100-125 mg/dL, OGTT 140-199 mg/dL, and hemoglobin A1C in the range 5.7-6.4% [6]. These patients must have comprehensive medical evaluation as well as risk assessment and frequent monitoring for acute and chronic complications of the disease. Patients and family members must be engaged in self-monitoring and disease management from medication, diet, and lifestyle perspectives. Lifetime glycemic control is imperative and reflective of the delicate balance among overall systemic health, physical activity, diet intake, and pharmacotherapy.

Common therapeutic goals include optimization of glycemic control resulting in hemoglobin AIC of <7%, preprandial plasma glucose 80-130 mg/dL, and maximum postprandial blood glucose of <180 mg/dL, which may vary based upon individual factors [6]. Treatment of type 1 DM requires dedicated glucose selfmonitoring and consistent insulin administration which is commonly in the form of multiple daily injections of long-acting, basal insulin with rapid-acting prandial insulin to reduce hypoglycemia risk. Some patients require more intensive therapy in the form of implanted glucose monitors and continuous infusion pump insulin delivery. Additionally, dietary regulation, regular physical activity, and monitoring for hypoglycemia are essential.

Treatment of type 2 DM is through a multifactorial approach with emphasis on lifestyle changes, including regular exercise and behavioral interventions with a goal of attainment and maintenance of >5% weight loss. Weight loss medications may also be utilized to achieve this goal in selected cases.

In addition to management of lifestyle factors, the treatment of type 2 DM places high priority upon glycemic control, as well as the prevention, recognition, and treatment of acute and chronic disease complications. Attention to diet and exercise promotes weight loss as well as amelioration of hyperglycemia through enhanced peripheral sensitivity to insulin, glucose utilization, and regulation of lipid metabolism. When indicated, lipid-lowering agents may be effective in reducing risks of ASCVD, cerebrovascular disease, and peripheral vascular disease. In addition blood pressure management is an essential component of therapy [5, 6].

Pharmacotherapeutic regimens for treatment of type 2 DM include metformin as the initial agent. Insulin may be indicated under the following conditions [6]:

- Ongoing weight loss
- Plasma glucose ≥ 300 mg/dL
- Symptoms of hyperglycemia
- Hemoglobin AIC > 10%

Other agents may be indicated based upon the presence of comorbidities including atherosclerotic coronary vascular disease (ASCVD), heart failure (HF), and chronic kidney disease (CKD) as follows [6]:

#### Patients with type 2 DM and ASCVD

Sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors or glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) receptor agonists

Patients with ASCVD with high risk of HF or HF

# SGLT2 inhibitors

# Patients with type 2 DM and CKD

SGLT2 inhibitor or GLP-1 receptor agonist

The primary effect of the orally administered agent metformin is in the reduction of hepatic glucose production by inhibition of gluconeogenesis. Additionally, enhancement of glucose uptake and utilization occurs via reduction of peripheral insulin resistance and decreasing intestinal glucose uptake. It also exerts desirable effects on lipid metabolism by lowering lipogenesis and fatty acid production, lowering substrate availability for gluconeogenesis. Metformin is contraindicated in patients at risk for developing lactic acidosis as well as those with renal insufficiency [7]

The major mechanism of action of the orally administered sulfonylureas is through stimulation of insulin secretion by pancreatic beta cells and increased cellular sensitivity to insulin. This includes the long-acting agents, chlorpropamide, glyburide, and tolbutamide, and the short-acting agents, gliclazide, glimepiride, and glipizide. The short-acting sulfonylureas are recommended to reduce the incidence of hypoglycemia. Sulfonylureas may be indicated as adjunctive agents in patients failing to meet treatment goals with metformin alone, when metformin is contraindicated, those with severe hypoglycemia, and in the treatment of MODY [8].

The subcutaneously administered GLP-1 agonists bind to GLP-1 receptors on pancreatic beta cells and stimulate glucose-induced insulin release. Weight loss has also been attributed to the GLP-1 agonists through slowing of gastric emptying, reduction of post meal glucagon release, and reduced food intake. The GLP-1 agonists include the short-acting agents exenatide (twice daily) and lixisenatide (once daily before any meal), and the long-acting agents include liraglutide (once daily) and once weekly administered agents dulaglutide, exenatide, and semaglutide [9].

The SGLT2 inhibitors reduce the reabsorption of glucose in the proximal tubule of the nephron thus enhancing excretion of glucose and functionally achieving osmotic diuresis. These orally administered agents include canagliflozin, dapagliflozin, empagliflozin, and ertugliflozin [10].

The most common acute complications of diabetes mellitus are hypoglycemia, diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA), and non-ketotic hyperosmolar syndrome [5]. It is critical for the surgeon to perform a thorough history and physical assessment and to work in concert with the patient and physician for perioperative glycemic management. Consultation with the endocrinology provider is critical in perioperative management of the type I DM patient or the complex type 2 DM patient.

Surgical patients having ambulatory procedures with local anesthesia alone should have optimized glycemic control and should be instructed to take medications and consume usual meals at the usual times including a breakfast on the procedure day. The postoperative glycemic regimen may require dosage adjustment based upon the potential for impaired oral intake postoperatively with strict home monitoring of plasma glucose.

For those having sedation or general anesthesia, preoperative fasting is required necessitating dosage modifications in the glycemic control regimen. All fasting patients must have appropriate perioperative fluid resuscitation. For type 1 DM patients with implanted monitors/insulin pumps, the device will require program changes which should be made in close consultation with the endocrinologist. It is equally important to manage these patients carefully postoperatively due to the potential for reduced caloric intake. The nature and duration of the impairment must be communicated carefully so that appropriate monitoring and infusion rates may be titrated. For those on multiple daily injections, the basal or long-acting insulin dose should not be altered. The dosages of short-acting insulin must be reduced following frequent measurements of plasma glucose, and a sliding scale may be necessary until the patient's oral intake has normalized. Patients with labile disease may require perioperative hospital admission with plasma glucose monitoring every 2 h and insulin infusion until oral intake is resumed. At discharge strict monitoring and insulin dosage titration must be arranged.

Patients with type 2 DM who require preoperative fasting should hold short-acting oral agents on the morning of the procedure. Those on metformin should place it on hold for 24 h, and patient hydration is essential, as a means to limit the potential for lactic acidosis, especially in patients at risk for renal impairment. Metformin should also be withheld if imaging with iodinated contrast agents is planned [7].

Patients on intermediate-acting and shortacting insulin should take 50% of the morning dosage of the intermediate-acting insulin and place the short-acting agent on hold. The surgeon must obtain a fasting plasma glucose preoperatively and in the immediate postoperative phase. The patient's subsequent insulin doses must then be titrated with caution based upon the anticipated nature and duration of the impaired oral intake. A range of 50-75% of the intermediateacting insulin dosage may be required until the next day or until oral intake has normalized. A sliding scale regular insulin regimen may be required until the oral intake has returned to baseline. Oral agents should be resumed with careful postoperative inpatient or outpatient glycemic monitoring.

# 7.4.1 Acute Complications of Diabetes

Hypoglycemia can occur with either type 1 or type 2 DM and commonly results from an imbalance between medication effect and oral intake. In addition, unanticipated increases in physical activity or exercise regimen intensity may precipitate hypoglycemia. Signs and symptoms include anxiety, irritability, tremors, palpitation, tachycardia, and diaphoresis. If profound, hypoglycemia may induce mental status decline including lethargy, stupor, and coma. In very severe states, seizures may occur. Prevention of hypoglycemia includes close attention to medication dosage, diet, and activity and close glycemic monitoring [5].

Prompt recognition and management of hypoglycemia is imperative. For mild to moderate hypoglycemia in patients who have the capacity for oral intake, an oral source of glucose is appropriate. In severe hypoglycemia, an IV is necessary for fluid resuscitation with addition of an ampule of 50 mg of IV dextrose and must be administered through a large bore IV catheter slowly once intravenous position has been verified. Alternatively glucagon may be administered. Table 7.15 Clinical features of diabetic ketoacidosis

- Hyperglycemia
- Dehydration from osmotic diuresis
- Ketosis
- Metabolic acidosis
- HyperkalemiaAltered consciousness
- Respiratory insufficiency

Diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA) results from insulin deficiency with alteration in carbohydrate, protein, and lipid metabolism leading to a catabolic state. In addition metabolic, electrolyte, and acid-base disorders occur [5] (see Table 7.15). This complication occurs with type 1 DM most commonly, but may occur in patients with type 2 DM under rare conditions. Precipitating factors include gradually worsening glycemic control and physiologic stresses including infections, trauma, and ethanol intoxication among others. Patients in DKA often require critical care admission for ventilatory support, fluid resuscitation, hyperglycemia management, and correction of the metabolic and electrolyte disorders.

Critical care management of the DKA patient includes vascular access, frequent plasma glucose readings, arterial blood gas analysis, administration of insulin via infusion, and respiratory support. Fluid repletion and monitoring of urine output are also essential components, in addition to ECG monitoring due to the potential for hyperkalemia-associated dysrhythmia. Bicarbonate administration may be necessary if acidosis persists despite correction of the hyperglycemia, hyperkalemia, and ketosis. Concurrent management of the precipitating cause is imperative.

Non-ketotic hyperosmolar syndrome is a less common diabetic acute complication which is typically associated with type 2 DM. Precipitating factors are similar to those in DKA. The key clinical features of non-ketotic hyperosmolar syndrome [5] are delineated in Table 7.16.

The principles of critical care management of non-ketotic hyperosmolar syndrome are similar to those of DKA management.  
 Table 7.16
 Clinical features of non-ketotic hyperosmolar syndrome

- Hyperglycemia—profound
- Severe dehydration
- · Elevated serum osmolarity
- Declining consciousness ranging from lethargy, delirium, to coma
- Possible seizures
- Metabolic acidosis—lactic acid
- Hyperkalemia

| Table 7.17 | Chronic | complications | of diabetes | s mellitus |
|------------|---------|---------------|-------------|------------|
|------------|---------|---------------|-------------|------------|

- Microvascular complications
  - Retinopathy
  - Nephropathy—chronic kidney disease
  - Neuropathy
    - Peripheral—sensory and motor
    - Autonomic
      - Postural hypotension
      - Gastroparesis and delayed gastric emptying
         Urinary retention
  - Mononeuropathy—cranial nerve, proximal motor nerve
  - · Poor wound healing

Macrovascular complications

- Atherosclerotic coronary vascular disease
- · Greater MI risk than nondiabetic population
  - May have atypical presentation with anginal equivalents—nausea, acute dyspnea
- · Cerebrovascular disease and stroke risk
- Peripheral arterial disease and insufficiency

Immunologic complications

- · Impaired neutrophil function
  - Increased susceptibility to bacterial infection to Gram negative and Gram positive
- Impaired lymphocyte function
  - Increased susceptibility to fungal organisms, Candida sp., Aspergillus sp., Mucorales
- Poor wound healing

# 7.4.2 Chronic Complications of Diabetes Mellitus

Chronic complications of diabetes mellitus are protean and often involve multiple systems [5] (see Table 7.17). Complications tend to present at earlier ages in type 1 diabetics. Diabetes is frequently implicated in chronic kidney disease, atherosclerotic coronary vascular disease, MI, stroke, and peripheral arterial disease [5, 6].

#### 7.4.3 Obstructive Sleep Apnea

Obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) is a disorder in which obstructive apnea, hypopnea, or respiratory effort-related arousals, lead to a multitude of signs and symptoms resulting from sleep disruption. The symptoms include excessive daytime sleepiness, fatigue, and difficulty concentrating which may place the affected individual at risk of injury in the home, workplace, and during operation of a motor vehicle [11]. Multiple signs of disturbed sleep occur often first noticed by family members and/or significant others, foremost among them is snoring as well as sleep disruption or intermittent arousal. In addition restlessness, grunting, and resuscitative snorting are often reported [12]. The overall prevalence of OSA in the United States is rising, with afflicted males typically outnumbering females two to threefold [12]. While primarily a disorder seen in adults as a result of primary upper airway collapse, children may be affected with derangement in ventilatory control as the primary basis [13]. The typical OSA patient suffers reduced or absent airflow with intermittent disturbance of oxygenation and ventilation during obstructive events. See Table 7.18 for Diagnostic Criteria for Obstructive Sleep Apnea. Additionally, anatomical abnormalities of the upper airway, derangements in the arousal threshold, altered upper airway muscle function, and destabilization of respiratory control systems produce the associated disturbances [11, 12]. Risk factors for Obstructive Sleep Apnea are listed in Table 7.19.

 Table 7.18
 Diagnostic
 criteria
 for
 obstructive
 sleep

 apnea
 [11]

 </td

| ≥5 obstructive events/hour +                                |  |  |  |  |
|---|--|--|--|--|
| <ul> <li>Non-restful sleep, fatigue, or insomnia</li> </ul> |  |  |  |  |
| symptoms  |  |  |  |  |
| Awakened by gasping/choking/breath holding                  |  |  |  |  |
| Observed consistent snoring, pauses, or both                |  |  |  |  |
| <ul> <li>Hypertension, mood disorder, cognitive</li> </ul>  |  |  |  |  |
| dysfunction, CAD, CVA, CHF, atrial                          |  |  |  |  |
| fibrillation, or Type 2 DM.                                 |  |  |  |  |
| Or  |  |  |  |  |
| >15 obstructive events/b regardless of other                |  |  |  |  |

| 2 | ≥15 obstructive events/h regardless | ot | other |
|---|-------------------------------------|----|-------|
| S | symptoms or comorbidities           |    |       |
| Table 7.19         Risk factors for obstructive sleep apnea         [12]  | Table 7.21         Sequelae of obstructive   |
|---|--|
| <ul> <li>Obesity         <ul> <li>Prevalence increases with increasing BMI, neck circumference, increased waist/hip ratio</li> <li>Increased risk for obesity hypoventilation</li> </ul> </li> </ul>  | Cardiovascular – moderate, ser<br>OSA     Hypertension, pulmonary h<br>CHF, CAD, dysrhythmias  |
| <ul> <li>Gender         <ul> <li>Gender</li> <li>2-3× more common in ♂</li> <li>Increased frequency in menopausal/<br/>postmenopausal ♀</li> </ul> </li> <li>Age         <ul> <li>Bravalance increases from young adulthood to</li> </ul> </li> </ul>                                 | <ul> <li>Cerebrovascular disease</li> <li>Cognitive deficits</li> <li>Fatigue, inattention, poor co<br/>diminished alertness</li> <li>Depression</li> <li>Disability</li> </ul>  |
| <ul> <li>Anatomical craniofacial and upper airway<br/>abnormalities</li> <li>Maxillary/mandibular hypoplasia, wide<br/>craniofacial base</li> <li>Tonsillar/adenoid hypertrophy</li> <li>Others         <ul> <li>Nasal congestion, history of snoring, smoking</li> </ul> </li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Endocrine</li> <li>Metabolic syndrome</li> <li>Independent association with<br/>triglycerides, inflammatory<br/>long-term complications</li> <li>Type 2 diabetes</li> <li>Independent association bet<br/>insulin resistance, and type</li> <li>Patients with severe OSA has<br/>developing DM</li> </ul> |
| Table 7.20       Medical comorbidities of obstructive sleep         apnea [12]  | <ul> <li>GI/hepatic</li> <li>OSA associated with 2–3×1<br/>related nonalcoholic fatty li</li> </ul>  |
| <ul><li>Congestive heart failure</li><li>Chronic kidney disease</li></ul>   | <ul> <li>Perioperative, anesthesia risks</li> <li>Obstruction, hypoxia, hyper</li> </ul>   |

- Asthma, COPD, idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
- Pregnancy
- Strokes, TIAs
- Acromegaly
- Hypothyroidism

Prompt diagnosis and effective evidencebased therapy for OSA is crucial, as is the identification and management of the serious comorbidities (Table 7.20) which often occur [12].

OSA is associated with metabolic syndrome, and thus, patients are at significant risk for medical complications as a result of upper airway obstruction [11, 12]. See Table 7.21: Sequelae of obstructive sleep apnea [12].

Sedation with an unprotected airway should be approached with extreme caution or completely avoided given the advanced risk for sedative-induced obstruction, the anatomically difficult airways, and altered respiratory physiology that many of these patients present with. Management of the awake OSA patient with local anesthesia should be approached with the patient in a position of comfort, avoiding the supine or semi-supine positions whenever possiive sleep apnea

- vere, or untreated
- ypertension
- oncentration,
- th increased glucose, mediators, and
- ween OSA severity, 2 DM
- ave 30% higher risk al population
- risk for hypoxiaver disease
- rcarbia, respiratory failure
- Acute coronary syndromes
- ICU transfers
- Mortality
  - Severe, untreated OSA is associated with 2-3× increased risk of all-cause mortality
  - For mild untreated OSA there is no difference in mortality risk compared to those without OSA

ble. One helpful survey tool to use when evaluating a patent with suspected OSA is the validated STOP-BANG Survey [14] (Table 7.22). Patients ruling in on the basis of positive responses on the review of systems or on the basis of results of the STOP-BANG survey should have formal sleep testing obtained by a provider with expertise in sleep medicine.

Perioperative management of individuals at risk for OSA or with known OSA should be proactive and include thorough medical history, optimization of all comorbid conditions, and a well-planned difficult airway protocol implemented for intubation. In the postoperative phase, expectant management of airway obstruction should be implemented with airway adjuncts and the use of properly titrated CPAP devices.

 Table 7.22
 STOP-BANG survey

| 1. | Snoring: Do you snore loudly (loud enough to be |
|----|---|
|    | heard through closed doors)?                    |
|    | Yes No  |

- Tired: Do you often feel tired, fatigued, or sleepy during daytime? Yes No
- Observed: Has anyone observed you stop breathing during your sleep? Yes No
- Blood Pressure: Do you have or are you being treated for high blood pressure? Yes No
- 5. *B*MI: BMI more than 35 kg m<sup>-2</sup>? Yes No
- 6. Age: Age over 50 years old? Yes No
- Neck circumference: Neck circumference >40 cm? Yes No
- 8. Gender: Male?

Yes No

High risk = "yes" to  $\geq 3$  questionsLow risk = "yes" to <3

# 7.5 Summary

Endocrine functions are essential to optimal health, and any dysfunction has significant patient implications. Prior to oral and maxillofacial surgery, any disorders must be understood and addressed, especially when anesthesia is part of the treatment plan. Failure to properly plan can be catastrophic, ranging from wound infections to significant patient morbidity and mortality.

#### References

- Herman-Bonert V. Hypothalamic-pituitary axis. In: Carpenter C, Griggs R, Loscalzo J, editors. Cecil essentials of medicine. Philadelphia: WB Saunders; 2001.
- Friedman T. The adrenal gland. In: Carpenter C, Griggs R, Loscalzo J, editors. Cecil essentials of medicine. Philadelphia: WB Saunders; 2001.
- Herman-Bonert V, Friedman T. The thyroid gland. In: Carpenter C, Griggs R, Loscalzo J, editors. Cecil

essentials of medicine. Philadelphia: WB Saunders; 2001.

- Finkelstein J. The parathyroid glands, hypercalcemia, and hypocalcemia. In: Carpenter C, Griggs R, Loscalzo J, editors. Cecil essentials of medicine. Philadelphia: WB Saunders; 2001.
- Barnett P, Braunstein G. Diabetes mellitus. In: Carpenter C, Griggs R, Loscalzo J, editors. Cecil essentials of medicine. Philadelphia: WB Saunders; 2001.
- American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes—2019 abridged for primary care providers. https://www.clinicaldiabetesjournals.org. Accessed 7 Aug 2019.
- Wexler D. Metformin in the treatment of adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus. https://www.uptodate.com/ contents/metformin-in-the-treatment-of-adults-withtype-2-diabetes. Accessed 22 Aug 2019.
- Wexler D. Sulfonylureas and meglitinides in the treatment of type 3 diabetes mellitus. https://www.uptodate. com/contents/sulfonylureas-and-meglitinides-in-thtreatment-of-type2-diabetes-mellitus. Accessed 22 Aug 2019.
- Dungan K, DeSantis A. Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists for the treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus. https://www.uptodate.com//contents/ glucagon-like-peptide-1-receptor-agonists-for-thetreatment-of-type-2-diabetes-mellitus. Accessed 22 Aug 2019.
- DeSantis A. Sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitors for the treatment of hyperglycemia in type 2 diabetes mellitus. https://www.uptodate.com//contents/ sodium-glucose-co-transporter-2-inhibitors-for-thetreatment-of-hyperglycemia-in-type-2-diabetesmellitus. Accessed 22 Aug 2019.
- Judd B., Sateia M, Harding S, et al. Classification of sleep disorders. https://www.uptodate.com/contents/ classification-of-sleep-disorders. Accessed 16 Mar 2018.
- Strohl K, Collop N, Finlay G. Overview of obstructive sleep apnea in adults. https://www.uptodate.com/contents/overview-of-obstructive-sleep-apnea-in-adults. Accessed 23 Mar 2018.
- 13. Brouilette R, Chervin R, Hoppin A. Congenital central hypoventilation syndrome and other causes of sleep-related hypoventilation in children. https:// www.uptodate.com/contents/congenital-centralhypoventilation-syndrome-and-other-causes-ofsleep-related-hypoventilation-in-children. Accessed 23 Mar 2018.
- Chung F, Yegneswaran B, Liao P, et al. STOP questionnaire: a tool to screen patients for obstructive sleep apnea. Anesthesiology. 2008;108:812–21.

# 8

# Psychiatric and Behavioral Disorders

# Ahmad Eltejaye and Etern S. Park

In this chapter, we will discuss the most common mental disorders that patients can present with; however the reader should be aware that there are numerous other mental disorders that exist. Some of these disorders overlap in etiology, presentation, and treatment with others, while others may be rare and can extend a unique challenge in management for the oral and maxillofacial surgeon. Although not all mental disorders can be discussed in this chapter, it is important to be aware of the different categories and disorders that exist. The American Psychiatric Association (APA) has compiled an updated list of these mental disorders in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-V) to help aid in diagnosis and treatment of these disorders. Table 8.1 consists of a summarized list of mental health disorders taken from DSM-V.

# 8.1 Anxiety

Anxiety is characterized by a state of worry and fear in anticipation of a future event. Anxiety is a normal response that a person can have which can be beneficial at times as it keeps a person aware and prepared for possible dangers. When these responses become

Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery Residency, Christiana Care Health Systems, Wilmington, DE, USA e-mail: ahmad.eltejaye@christianacare.org; etern.s.park@christianacare.org

| Table 8.1         Mental disorders  |
|---|
| Neurodevelopmental disorders  |
| Intellectual disabilities   |
| Communication disorders   |
| Autism spectrum disorder  |
| Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder  |
| Specific learning disorder  |
| Motor disorder (i.e., Tourette's)   |
| Other neurodevelopmental disorders  |
| Schizophrenia spectrum and other psychotic disorders                                  |
| Personality disorder  |
| Delusional disorder   |
| Schizophrenia   |
| Bipolar and related disorders   |
| Bipolar I disorders   |
| Bipolar II disorder   |
| Depressive disorders  |
| Disruptive mood dysregulation disorder  |
| Persistent depressive disorder  |
| Substance/medication-induced depressive<br>disorder                                   |
| Anxiety disorders   |
| Separation anxiety disorder   |
| Selective mutism  |
| • Specific phobia (i.e., blood-injection-injury, fear of injections and transfusions) |
| Social anxiety disorder   |
| Panic disorder  |
| Agoraphobia   |
| Generalized anxiety disorder  |
| Obsessive-compulsive and related disorders  |
| Obsessive-compulsive disorder   |
| Body dysmorphic disorder  |
| Hoarding disorder   |

<sup>(</sup>continued)

Check for updates

A. Eltejaye · E. S. Park (⊠)

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

D. J. Meara, R. Gutta (eds.), Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery for the Medically Compromised Patient, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-82598-0\_8

| (continued)   |
|---|
| Trauma- and stressor-related disorders  |
| Post-traumatic stress disorder  |
| Acute stress disorder   |
| Adjustment disorders  |
| Dissociative disorders  |
| Dissociative identity disorder  |
| Dissociative amnesia  |
| Depersonalization/derealization disorder  |
| Somatic symptom and related disorders   |
| Somatic symptom disorder  |
| Illness anxiety disorder  |
| Feeding and eating disorders  |
| Bulimia nervosa   |
| Binge eating disorder   |
| Anorexia nervosa  |
| Elimination disorders   |
| Enuresis  |
| Encopresis  |
| Sleep-wake disorders  |
| Insomnia disorder   |
| Narcolepsy  |
| Breathing-related disorders   |
| Parasomnias   |
| Sexual dysfunctions   |
| Erectile disorder   |
| Gender dysmorphia   |
| Gender dysphoria  |
| Disruptive, impulse control, and conduct disorders  |
| Oppositional defiant disorder   |
| • Kleptomania   |
| Substance-related and addictive disorders   |
| Alcohol-use disorder  |
| Carreine-related disorders  |
| Cannabis-related disorders  |
| Hallucinogen-related disorders  |
| Innalation-related disorders  |
| Opioid-related disorders  |
| Sumulant-related disorders     Tobagoo related disorders  |
| TODACCO-TETALEU UISOFGETS   |
| Delirium  |
| Personality disorders   |
| Cluster A perconality disorders (paranoid   |
| <ul> <li>Cluster A personality disorders (paranoid<br/>personality disorders, schizoid personality</li> </ul> |
| disorders)  |
| Cluster B personality disorders (antisocial   |
| personality disorder, borderline personality  |
| disorder)   |
| Cluster C personality disorder (avoidant  |

| Cluster C personality disorder (avoidant    |
|---|
| personality disorder, dependent personality |
| disorder)                                   |

| lable       | <b>6.1</b> (continued)   |
|-------------|--|
| Paraj       | philic disorders   |
| ٠           | Voyeuristic disorder   |
| ٠           | Exhibitionist disorder   |
| ٠           | Pedophilic disorder  |
| Med<br>adve | ication-induced movement disorders and other rse effects of medication |
| •           | Tardive dyskinesia   |
| •           | Tardive dystonia   |
| •           | Medication-induced postural tremor                                     |

Table 9.1 (continued)

excessive and inappropriate to the situation at hand, or if the person cannot control their response, or their anxiety affects their day-to-day lives, it becomes an anxiety disorder. The two main subsets of anxiety disorders are panic disorder and phobias. Panic disorder is characterized by multiple panic attacks which consist of symptoms such as palpitations, nausea, difficulty breathing, and chest pains. They can occur at any time thus causing those afflicted to seclude themselves to their homes neglecting their normal lives and health. Phobias are another form of anxiety disorder where there is excessive unjustified fear towards an object or situation. Phobias differ from one another by the type of object or situation that triggers the anxious state; an example is claustrophobia which is the fear of confined spaces. Overall, according to the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH), anxiety disorders are estimated in 19.1% of the US adult population, with a greater prevalence for females (23.4%) than men (14.3%). Common treatments for anxiety disorders include selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) such as sertraline or beta-blockers such as propranolol. SSRIs are further discussed later in the chapter.

Oral and maxillofacial surgeons commonly treat patients with dental-related anxiety. Dental anxiety refers to the increased fear of dental procedures. Generally, this fear doesn't reach the threshold of the clinical diagnosis of a phobia; however in some patients it does, and when they do it is generally referred to as dentophobia or dental phobia. Since most of the research around dental anxiety and phobia is based on selfreported anxiety and does not contain other factors to diagnose a phobia [1], we will proceed in this chapter by using the term dental anxiety.

\_ . .

Dental anxiety is the irrational fear of a dentalrelated object or situation which can arise from simply walking into a dental office, encountering the dentist, visualizing a syringe, or simply thinking about going to the dentist. Recent studies have shown that dental anxiety among patients ranges from 10 to 20% [2-4]. The etiology of dental phobia can occur from past traumatic experiences in a dental setting [5] most commonly occurring early during childhood [1]. Other causes of dental anxiety can result from observation of family members either going through a traumatic experience or relaying a traumatic experience with a dentist. There is also some evidence that suggests dental fear has a genetic basis in some patients with a 30% heritability trait [6].

Dental fear is part of a cycle resulting in delayed dental visits which lead to dental problems that lead to symptomatically driven treatment which feeds back into the dental fear [7]. Patients with dental anxiety are less likely to visit the dentist resulting in higher incidences of decayed and missing teeth [7-9]. Due to the fear and anxiety these patients exhibit on clinical presentation, they are most likely to be referred for treatment under sedation secondary to the need for behavioral management. The higher the level of fear of the dentist, the more likely the patient will avoid visiting the dentist [7] and the higher the incidence of missed or canceled dental appointments [10]. These missed appointments can deny other patients from receiving the care they need as well as having a financial impact on a practice where in some specialty practices, an estimated 443 h of lost clinic time per year occurs due to missed appointments [11].

Dental anxiety can range from minimal anxiety such as an elevated heart rate to full-blown anxiety attacks preventing a provider to initiate or complete treatment. Thus, it is important to properly assess a patient to determine if they are suitable candidates for office-based procedures.

The clinical approach to behaviorally manage a dentally anxious patient is to start conservatively and escalate to more complex and medically invasive approaches as necessary. Multiple approaches that are tailored specifically to a unique patient's needs may be necessary.

As previously discussed, dental anxiety patients can be referred to an oral and maxillofacial surgeon's office from a general or specialist's office either due to the need for behavioral management, procedure complexity, or both. These patients may also come to an oral surgeon's office due to word of mouth advertising or through internet advertising and review sites. Regardless of method in which what brought the patient into the office, the initial contact is likely by phone or in-person conversation with front office personnel. Thus, it is important to have a well-trained receptionist who is able to interact with patients in a friendly manner and keep them at ease as they are usually the first impression a patient has of an office. There has been some evidence for the success of using a questionnaire about anxiety in a dental office which helps keep the patient involved and aware that the provider knows of their anxiety [12]. A questionnaire that assess a patient's anxiety levels can be used by the front office receptionist at the time of scheduling the patient's appointment or incorporated in the initial consult visit. For anxious patients, it is recommended to have the first appointment scheduled as a consult, which allows the patient to be comfortable and open about their concerns. Knowing that there will not be any treatment can decrease dental anxiety significantly, allowing the provider to build rapport and a comfortable level with the patient which can help decrease anxiety levels. Good communication skills by way of using layman's terms to explain diagnoses and treatment to the patient is essential in building a strong provider to patient relationship. Avoiding the use of possible triggers such as "needle" and "shot" may also help keep the patient calm. Lastly, acknowledging the patient's anxiety and discussing it with the patient is also important in understanding the basis of the anxiety so that treatment can be modified to help address those fears.

When examining a referred patient with dental anxiety, it is important to be thorough with the examination to confirm the diagnosis sent by the referring provider. Misdiagnosis of a condition, or the site of the condition, can occur by providers examining an anxious patient due to the stress under which they perform the examination under [13]. Once an understanding of the basis of the patient's fear is known, other approaches can be taken as well. The major cause of dental anxiety is receiving a dental injection [14]. Acknowledging this fear and discussing methods that can be taken to help ease the anxiety and pain that may be associated with a dental injection is necessary. The use of a topical agent prior to anesthetic administration can have positive psychological impacts by reducing dental anxiety [15] although research has shown that it is not effective in reducing pain on injection [16]. Contrary to popular belief, using a smaller gauge needle does not result in less pain [17], and smaller gauge needles should be avoided due to increased risk of fracture [18], specifically in an anxious patient due to the risk of sudden movements that can cause needle fractures [19]. Warming the cartridge of anesthetic helps in bringing the anesthetic temperature closer to normal body temperature and, when done just prior to injection, can also help with decreasing pain on delivery [20-22]. Evidence has also shown that anesthetics are partly painful due to their acidity [23]; thus those anesthetics that are closer to physiologic pH(7.4)such as carbocaine 3% without epinephrine (pH 4.5-6.8) or 4% prilocaine plain (pH 6.0-7.0) compared to 2% lidocaine 1:100K epi which has a pH range of 2.9-4.4 (see Table 8.2) may be ideal to use in an anxious patient. Since carbocaine and prilocaine have short-acting effects, thus it can be used as the initial anesthetic then supplemented with longer-acting anesthetics. In some patients, the thought of getting extra shots however can be traumatic, so an option for those patients rather than the two-step method described above is the use of a buffered anesthetic solution. Sodium bicarbonate can be added

Table 8.2 Anesthetics and their associated pH

| Anesthetic                  | pН      |
|-----------------------------|---------|
| 2% Lidocaine 1:100K epi     | 2.9-4.4 |
| 4% Articaine 1:100K epi     | 3.62    |
| 4% Articaine 1:100K epi     | 3.68    |
| 0.5% Bupivacaine 1:200K epi | 3.3–5.5 |
| 3% Carbocaine plain         | 4.5-6.8 |
| 4% Prilocaine plain         | 6–7     |

to local anesthetics to decrease the acidity and thus decrease the pain of an injection [24]. Other anesthetic delivery options include the use of a computer-controlled anesthetic delivery which has shown to cause less injection pain [25, 26]. Refer to Table 8.3 for a comprehensive list of different methods of decreasing anxiety and pain from a dental injection.

**Table 8.3** A list of methods to decrease dental related anxiety

| Areas to<br>improve dental<br>injection-          |   |   |
|---|---|---|
| related anxiety                                   | Recommendation  | Drawbacks   |
| Topical   | Addition of<br>topical anesthetic<br>agent can help<br>decrease anxiety   | <ul> <li>May not be<br/>effective in<br/>reducing pain</li> <li>Can cause<br/>skin irritation,<br/>stinging, bad<br/>taste</li> </ul> |
| Anesthetic<br>temperature                         | Increasing the<br>temperature of<br>the anesthetic just<br>prior to delivery<br>helps decrease<br>pain of injection   | Time<br>consuming   |
| Anesthetic<br>pH                                  | Use of a higher<br>pH (closer to<br>physiologic pH)<br>anesthetic, such<br>as prilocaine or<br>carbocaine,<br>decreases pain of<br>injection                      | <ul> <li>Short acting</li> <li>Usually<br/>requires<br/>additional use<br/>of longer<br/>acting<br/>anesthetics</li> </ul>            |
| Sodium<br>bicarbonate                             | Addition can<br>increase pH<br>closer to<br>physiologic pH,<br>less pain on<br>injection  | <ul> <li>Time<br/>consuming</li> <li>Costly,<br/>especially if<br/>commercial<br/>brand product<br/>is purchased</li> </ul>           |
| Delivery<br>method                                | Slow delivery of<br>anesthetic results<br>in slower tissue<br>expansion and<br>gives time for the<br>anesthetic to<br>work, decreasing<br>the pain of<br>delivery | <ul> <li>Time<br/>consuming</li> <li>Patient's<br/>anxiety may<br/>worsen due to<br/>extended<br/>length of<br/>injection</li> </ul>  |
| Computer-<br>controlled<br>anesthetic<br>delivery | Delivery of<br>anesthetic slowly<br>to decrease pain  | <ul><li>Expensive</li><li>Bulky</li></ul>   |

Pharmacological intervention is another method for the clinical management of dental anxiety patients. Multiple approaches are available pharmacologically either by oral anxiolytics, inhalation sedation, or conscious intravenous (IV) sedation. General anesthesia can usually be avoided in dental anxiety patients as over 90% of patients with dental anxiety had successful completion of their dental work under IV midazolam sedation [27]. Midazolam has been shown to be effective in reducing anxiety for third molar extractions whether used alone or with another sedative drug [28]. A combination of nitrous oxide inhalation sedation and IV midazolam has shown to be more effective than midazolam alone [29]. In addition to better sedation when incorporating nitrous oxide with IV midazolam, nitrous oxide addition has shown to decrease the amount of midazolam required, decrease recovery time, and result in better oxygen saturation levels [30]. The use of nitrous oxide can help reduce the anxiety with obtaining IV access for conscious sedation. Nasal midazolam can also help with reducing anxiety; however due to minimal volumes used and nasal toxicity, supplemental sedation is likely indicated to start a procedure [31]. In patients who need multiple visits for treatment, there is evidence that repetitive anesthesia can help improve patient behavior in subsequent visits [32].

Proper assessment of dental anxiety patients is necessary to determine the method of behavioral management needed. In most patients, office-based procedures can be completed successfully with a mixture of the previously discussed methods. However, in a small portion of patients, general anesthesia in a hospital setting is required due to their behavioral presentation. Whether a patient is treated in the office with conscious sedation or in a hospital setting for general anesthesia should depend on the patient's level of behavioral noncompliance, office staff's comfort in treating the patient, office clinic time consideration required to treat the patient, and the negative effect that the patient's actions may have on other patients present in the office.

#### 8.2 Depression

Depression is a mood disorder that is characterized by prolonged feelings of sadness, irritability, and loss of interest affecting day-to-day activities. According to the NIMH, 17.3 million or 7.1% of the US population of adults over the age of 18 had at least one major depressive episode in 2017, while the prevalence of depression in women is 1.7-fold greater than that in men [33]. Signs of depression include irritability, loss of interest in activities, fatigue, restlessness, and suicidal thoughts among a sequela of symptoms. Depression is usually multifactorial based on genetic makeup, environmental factors, and psychological factors. Individuals who have family members with depression, traumatized individuals, and those with debilitating diseases are susceptible to depression. Treatment of depression can be done with pharmacotherapy of psychotherapy, each of which can be successful on their own; however combination therapy has shown higher rates of success. Medications most commonly used in treating depression include SSRIs, serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs), tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs), and monoamine oxidase inhibitors (MAOIs). Further, recent studies have demonstrated the benefits of ketamine on depression, and thus, patient's undergoing office IV sedation may benefit from ketamine as part of the armamentarium, assuming no contraindications exist.

SSRIs are the drug of choice in the treatment of depression; they are generally associated with a few side effects when dosed correctly. Certain SSRIs such as fluoxetine and sertraline are believed to inhibit cytochrome P450 [34]; thus the use of these medications effects the clearance of medications that undergo hepatic metabolism. Medications such as benzodiazepines, commonly used in sedation, should be carefully used in these patient's due to their dependency on hepatic clearance. However, holding of SSRIs and other antidepression medications should be avoided due to the risks of developing withdrawal symptoms. Discontinuation syndrome occurs when a patient abruptly discontinues their antidepressive medications which leads to withdrawal symptoms of nausea, difficulty falling asleep, lethargy, headaches, anxiety, depressed moods, abdominal pain, and diarrhea.

On the opposite end of the spectrum, an increase in serotonin can lead to serotonin syndrome which is a group of potentially life-threatening symptoms that can occur when there are increased serotonin levels in the blood. Symptoms include tachycardia, agitation, confusion, nausea, diarrhea, and hyperthermia. Hyperthermia in these patients may lead to renal failure, metabolic acidosis, rhabdomyolysis, seizures, and even death. Increased intake of SSRIs, SNRIs, MAOIs, and TCAs can place a patient at risk of developing serotonin syndrome. In addition to the therapeutics used to treat depressive disorders, many of the medications used in the oral and maxillofacial surgery office with relation to perioperative drug therapies have also been associated with serotonin syndrome. Opioids such as fentanyl and meperidine have been associated with serotonin syndrome and should be avoided or used cautiously in patients being treated for depressive disorders. Tramadol, commonly given postoperatively for pain control, has also been associated with serotonin syndrome. Postoperative administration of an antiemetic such as ondansetron or metoclopramide also increases development of serotonin syndrome [35]. Given these risks, it is important to obtain a proper medical history along with a current medication list and their dosages prior to determining if a patient is an ideal candidate for in office sedation. An updated medication list is essential in determining what medications to avoid and what medications can be used to safely sedate the patient and avoid perioperative complications. An important note with regard to these medications is that as an oral and maxillofacial surgeon you should not solely decide what medications to hold or adjust; thus inter-professional communication and co-management with the primary care physician is important prior to proceeding with treatment in these patients.

Prior to the advent of SSRIs, TCAs were commonly used to treated depression. TCAs (e.g., amitriptyline) like SSRIs inhibit reuptake or serotonin, as well as norepinephrine. However, they also have many side effects, unlike SSRIs, due to their effects on the cholinergic and histaminergic systems that can include dysrhythmias, urinary retention, postural hypotension, and blurred vision. Careful intraoperative anesthetic management is indicated in these patients due to increased norepinephrine availability which can lead to abnormally high responses to the administration of an indirect vasopressor such as ephedrine. In these patients who need intraoperative treatment of low blood pressure readings, the use of a direct acting pressor such as phenylephrine is indicated. These exaggerated responses can also be seen in sympathetic stimulators such as ketamine and epinephrine which should also be avoided in these patients.

Overall, depression is associated with poor oral health [36] and is associated with a higher prevalence of caries and missing teeth [37]. Comorbidity with anxiety is common; thus some patients may exhibit anxiety symptoms. Depending on the patient's presentation in the office, some patients may need specific interventions for behavioral control as previously described for anxious patients, while others may not need significant behavioral management.

# 8.3 Bipolar Disorder

Bipolar disorder, also known as manic depression, is a chronic illness consisting of unusual changes in mood, irritability, concentration, energy, and a person's ability to function or perform basic dayto-day tasks. Mood swings can consist of a manic phase, which can last weeks or months, in which a person can experience high levels of energy and euphoria. Patients in the manic phase may display hyperactive characteristics such as talking fast, easily irritable, disconnected thoughts, difficulty falling asleep, impulsivity, and abnormal social behaviors. These patients may also experience a depressive phase in which individuals experience sadness, hopelessness, loss of interest, excess sleep, and fatigue, and at times these patients can inflict self-harm on themselves. According to the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH), approximately 2.8% of adults, or six million adults, in the United States had bipolar disorder in the last year, with an estimated 4.4% of US adults experiencing bipolar disorder at some time in their lives. According to the NIMH, approximately 83% of individuals with bipolar disorder experience significant impairment, which is the highest percentage among other mood disorders. To understand the qualitative measurement of impairment in bipolar disorder patients, refer to Fig. 8.1 for the Sheehan Disability Scale where a score of seven and above in any category is considered significant impairment [38].

The exact cause of bipolar disorder is not known; however it is thought to occur due to factors relating to the environment, genetics, and altered brain chemistry. Treatment of bipolar disorder can consist of different modalities, most commonly either though medication, psychotherapy, or a combination of both. For the oral and maxillofacial surgeon, understanding the medications used to treated bipolar disorder as well as their adverse effects is important for delivering safe care in the office. Individuals with bipolar disorder are often treated with multiple medications which mainly include mood stabilizers with the addition of antianxiety, antidepressants, and antipsychotic medications. The most common mood stabilizers used in bipolar disorder patients are valproate and lithium. Lithium is used for both acute treatment of mania and chronic treatment to avoid future manic episodes. There is no need to stop lithium treatment when surgery is done under local anesthetic only. For patients undergoing sedation in the office, it is important to understand the effects and interactions it has when used with anesthetic agents. Close attention to the anesthetic requirements in patients on lithium therapy is necessary due to the sensitivity to anesthetics in this population. Lithium prolongs the duration of neuromuscular blockade when using succinylcholine and decreases the amount of anesthetic required to anesthetize a patient due to the blockage of epinephrine, norepinephrine, and dopamine release. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory medications can also increase lithium levels in the blood, increasing toxicity risk. ACE inhibitors can reduce excre-



Fig. 8.1 Sheehan Disability Scale

tion of lithium through the kidneys, increasing toxicity risk as well as renal failure especially in individuals with long-term lithium use [39]. Due to lithium's effects on renal excretion and resultant hemodynamic changes, discontinuing lithium preoperatively is recommended approximately 3 days prior to surgery with no concern for withdrawal symptoms [40]. Sodium depletion in individuals on lithium therapy is at risk for lithium toxicity, as lithium transport out of the cell is dependent on the sodium-potassium pump. Preoperative lab work and subsequent perioperative treatment with IV fluids with sodium may be indicated in some of these patients. Postoperatively, lithium should be restarted within 1 week to avoid relapse of a manic episode; however this should be done after the patient's lab work displays hemodynamic stability and normal potassium and sodium ranges.

# 8.4 Psychotic Disorders

Individuals with psychotic disorders lose touch with reality and can exhibit long or short durations of symptoms such as hallucinations and delusions. These symptoms are also common in other disorders, thus a full workup is usually done prior to diagnosis. The most common psychotic disorder is schizophrenia, a chronic lifelong disorder where people are unable to interpret reality, hear voices, and have an unusual way of thinking, speaking difficulties, and movement disorders. Schizophrenia is thought to have genetic contribution as well as environmental factors and brain chemistry. Treatment is usually done pharmacologically with antipsychotics.

Whether a patient with schizophrenia is suitable for office-based procedures depends on the extent of the procedure and behavioral presentation of the patient. Medication compliance is important due to behavioral risks postoperatively that may compromise surgical sites. Antipsychotics used in the treatment of schizophrenia include chlorpromazine and haloperidol which can have side effects such as dystonia, tardive dyskinesia, and Parkinson'slike symptoms. Atypical antipsychotics such as clozapine and risperidone do not have the same side effects as typical antipsychotics but may cause other side effects such as weight gain, gynecomastia, and postural hypotension. Patients treated with atypical antipsychotics are susceptible to developing intraoperative hypotension during anesthesia; thus blood pressure monitoring and treatment as necessary is important. It is not recommended to discontinue schizophrenia treatment preoperatively due to withdrawal symptoms which can lead to perioperative psychotic episodes.

# 8.5 Post-traumatic Stress Disorder

Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) is a condition caused by experiencing or witnessing a physically or psychologically traumatic event. In people who suffer a traumatic event, fear is a normal response yet most people eventually recover. Patients with PTSD however have not recovered from the fear and anxiousness of the traumainducing event. Reexperiencing symptoms from the initial traumatic event is common in PTSD patients and one of the criteria for diagnosis. These reexperiencing symptoms can be debilitating, affecting normal day-to-day activities. Other symptoms, which are usually brought on by a trigger, include behavioral changes, mood swings, chills, headaches, and panic attacks. Symptoms of PTSD can last months or years, and some who are afflicted may never recover. The prevalence of PTSD in a person's lifetime is approximately 8.3% [41]. PTSD can occur from traumatic events such as death, violence, and sexual abuse. PTSD is more commonly seen in those who are repeatedly exposed traumatic situations like sexual abuse victims and military personnel. Approximately 30% of Vietnam veterans, 11% of Afghanistan veterans, and 15% of Iraq war veterans suffer from PTSD (Getty Images Iraw War picture) [42-44]. High-risk factors for PTSD include females [45], low education status [46], and family history of mental health disorders [47]. PTSD is diagnosed in patients when they display the following four symptoms for a minimum of 1 month: commonly experience traumatic nightmares and flashbacks also known as reexperiencing symptoms, negative changes in mood, symptoms of avoidance, and changes in arousal or reactivity [48].

Treatment for PTSD can be done via cognitive behavioral therapies or pharmacological intervention. Behavioral therapy can include desensitization to the traumatic event by excessive exposure to the triggers of their PTSD, helping the patient understand in an objective manner their trauma and how to process it, and eye movement desensitization [49]. Pharmacological treatments include fluoxetine, paroxetine, phenelzine, risperidone, and sertraline; however their efficacy was minimal compared to a placebo [50].

Some dental fears resulting from painful dental treatment may reach levels of a post-traumatic stress disorder diagnosis [5]. PTSD patients have a higher incidence of reported chronic pain in the periodontium [51], poorer oral hygiene, a decrease in dentition, and more temporomandibular disorders than the normal population [52]. When examining a patient with PTSD for nonspecific dental pain with no apparent odontogenic etiology, one should consider tooth clenching as a cause of symptoms [53] as myofascial pain has been seen in 48% of those with PTSD [52].

Oral and maxillofacial surgeons may frequently see patients for surgical interventions to treat obstructive sleep apnea (OSA); some of these patients may suffer from PTSD as evidence points to a high incidence of OSA in PTSD patients [54] as seen in a recent meta-analysis where 76% of veterans with PTSD had OSA [55]. A high incidence of PTSD has also been found in those with maxillofacial trauma [56].

Treatment of PTSD patients in the office may require similar interventions as those with anxiety disorders as anxiety is often a comorbid condition in PTSD; however there are other modalities. Studies in behavioral health have shown positive effects of trauma-informed tailored care. Trauma-informed care (TIC) is a way of tailoring treatment of a patient that takes past traumatic experiences and triggers into account. Evidence has shown the effectivity of TIC in various healthcare fields, which can also be applied in an oral and maxillofacial surgery practice. TIC is a team-based approach which can be applied by all members of an oral surgery staff. The main factors of a trauma-informed approach for treatment is to realize the impact of trauma exposure on a patient and how this exposure can impact the patient, apply that knowledge into practice, and prevent retraumatization of the patient. Examples of TIC in an office, depending on a patient's trigger, can be achieved by decreasing sound levels in a practice when seeing a patient who is triggered by loud noises. This can be achieved by lowering or shutting off the music in an office, closing the door in a procedure room to reduce noise, giving the patient noise cancelling headphones, speaking in softer tones, and other actions of the same nature. Ultimately, TIC is determined by the patient triggers which can be known through observations or questioning, although some patients may not feel comfortable discussing their trauma history as that in itself may be a trigger. The main goal of TIC is to do no harm and avoid retraumatization of the patient.

For those patients with PTSD requiring general anesthesia, there is an increased risk of emergence delirium [57]. Careful care should be taken prior to waking the patient, restraints are an option along with proper awareness among the staff to be prepared. Use of propofol as an induction agent decreases the occurrence of emergence delirium, while using ketamine alone or etomidate can increase the risk of EDL [49].

#### 8.6 Gender Dysphoria

Gender dysphoria is defined as a condition in which a person does not identify with their biological or assigned sex at birth; rather they identify with the opposite sex. Individuals with gender dysphoria usually identify as transgender. Approximately 0.5% of the US population identifies as transgender, roughly 1.5 million people in total. As there has been an increase in tolerance and acceptability of transgender people over the last couple of decades, the frequency in the treatment of transgender individuals will likely increase over time. Having proper understanding of transgender terminology and how to address transgender patients is important for the provider to learn; however that is not the focus of discussion in this book; rather we will focus on considerations for office-based procedures under sedation in this population.

Transitions from the assigned birth sex to the opposite sex can occur through nonmedical intervention such as change in dress, mannerism, and accessories to a medical transition which can include gender confirming surgery or hormone therapy. For the purpose of this book, we will focus on hormone replacement therapy and its effect on delivering office-based anesthesia care. For those transitioning from being a man to a transgender woman by using hormone replacement therapy, exogenous estrogen is used along with testosterone-blocking therapies to develop female characteristics such as the development of breast tissue and reducing body hair. Oppositely, women transitioning into being transgender men take exogenous estrogen to help build masculine features such as muscle growth and increased body hair volume. Estrogen use increases risk of venous thromboembolism, with a higher incidence in orally administered estrogen [58], and can lead to postoperative vomiting [59]. It is recommended to discontinue estrogen therapy 2-4 weeks prior to surgery due to the clotting risks [60]. However, discontinuation of such therapy can lead to mood changes and depression, and if prolonged it can lead to reversal of physiological and physical feminization characteristics. In female to male transgender therapy with testosterone, there is usually an increase in triglyceride levels; however there is no apparent increased risk in cardiovascular complications with these patients [58].

With regard to pregnancy testing, transgender men may still have fully functioning female reproductive organs, which means that they are capable of becoming pregnant. Thus, it is recommended that questioning of all biologically born females with regard to their pregnancy status be completed, and if indicated pregnancy tests should be done if the patient is unsure of their status. It is important to take into consideration that when a transgender man discontinues their hormone therapy prior to a procedure, their likelihood of becoming pregnant with intercourse increases, and thus they should be made aware. As with most adjustments and changes in medication regimens, consulting and co-management with the patient's primary care physician and specialist(s) is recommended.

# 8.7 Eating Disorders

Eating disorders are a group of mental health disorders which involve extreme behaviors and thoughts regarding weight and food.

Those who have anorexia nervosa view themselves as overweight, even if they are underweight. They go through extreme measures to lose weight by excessive exercising, food restriction, and use of laxatives or vomiting to expel food after they have eaten. Out of all mental health disorders, anorexia nervosa has the highest rate of mortality either by suicide or through complications related to starvation. Starvation in these patients leads to nutritional deficiencies, anemia, brittle nails, lanugo, infertility, lethargy, dehydration, xerostomia, and brain and multi-organ damage. Bulimia nervosa is a mental health disorder where individuals affected with the condition go through episodic periods of eating large amounts of food followed by compensatory periods to counteract against their binge eating. Compensatory actions can be by vomiting, taking laxatives, overexercising, and fasting. Individuals with bulimia nervosa can be either normal in weight, underweight, or overweight. Clinical significance of bulimia nervosa is having chronically inflamed oral soft tissue, including the throat, parotid hypertrophy, worn tooth enamel, GERD, dehydration, and electrolyte imbalances. Similar to bulimia nervosa, binge eating disorder consists of episodes of excessive eating. However, unlike bulimia nervosa, individuals affected by binge eating disorder do not have compensatory periods to counteract their binge eating. Those affected tend to eat even when they are not hungry, eat their food fast, and have guilt about their eating.

Consults and history and physicals along with blood work may be necessary prior to office-based procedures in eating disorder patients to ensure safe outcomes of anesthesia and postoperative healing. Concerns for anemia and electrolyte imbalances are significant with surgery in this population; thus recent lab work is necessary prior to treatment. Proper counseling may also be indicated as evidence has shown that third molar extractions can cause an increased risk in exacerbation and relapse in eating disorder patients [61]. In individuals with active symptoms from their eating disorder, delay of surgery is recommended when possible [62]. If surgery is indicated, it is not recommended to perform the procedure in an office-based setting of a symptomatic patient with an eating disorder. In those patients, hospital-based surgery is recommended for fluid management along with access to medical specialists and resources [62].

#### 8.8 Summary

Mental health disorders are expanding in number due to our growing understanding of different mental health conditions and their intricacies. Awareness of the most common types of mental health disorders is imperative for the oral and maxillofacial surgeon due to the likelihood of encountering patients that have been referred because of their behavioral condition and complexity of their disorder. Understanding the clinical presentations and etiologies of these major disorders allows proper assessment and determination of the course of care. Decisions are made on whether office-based procedures are suitable or if a patient needs care at a hospital based on these assessments. Those who are candidates for officebased procedures can benefit from tailored care based on their mental health disorder allowing for the surgeon to achieve successful completion of treatment. Table 8.4 summarizes the major mental health disorders discussed in this chapter and their considerations for treatment in the oral and maxillofacial surgery office.

|            | Common  |   |   |  |
|------------|---|---|---|--|
| Condition  | medications used  | Effects of medications  | Anesthesia considerations   | General considerations   |
| Anxiety    | <ul> <li>SSRIs</li> <li>NRIs</li> <li>Beta-blockers</li> <li>Benzodiaz-<br/>epines</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Inhibition of<br/>cytochrome P450<br/>enzymes (SSRIs)</li> <li>Increase of<br/>serotonin levels<br/>(SSRIs, SNRIs)</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>Careful use of<br/>medications that are<br/>hepatically cleared<br/>(i.e., midazolam)</li> <li>Avoid/cautiously use<br/>serotonin-increasing<br/>medications (e.g.,<br/>fentanyl, tramadol)</li> </ul>   | <ul> <li>Continue anxiety<br/>medications in the<br/>perioperative period<br/>avoiding discontinu-<br/>ation syndrome</li> <li>Be aware of<br/>serotonin syndrome<br/>risks and signs</li> </ul> |
| Depression | <ul> <li>SSRIs</li> <li>SNRIs</li> <li>TCAs</li> <li>MAOIs</li> </ul>                         | <ul> <li>Inhibition of<br/>cytochrome P450<br/>enzymes (SSRIs)</li> <li>Increase of<br/>serotonin levels<br/>(SSRIs, SNRIs,<br/>TCAs, and MAOIs)</li> <li>Increase of<br/>norepinephrine<br/>levels</li> <li>SNRIs, TCAs</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Careful use of<br/>medications that are<br/>hepatically cleared<br/>(i.e., midazolam)</li> <li>Avoid/cautiously use<br/>serotonin-increasing<br/>medications (e.g.,<br/>fentanyl, tramadol)</li> <li>With SNRIs, and TCAs<br/>avoid indirect<br/>vasopressors; use direct<br/>vasopressors instead</li> <li>Avoid ketamine and<br/>other sympathetic<br/>stimulators in patients<br/>treated w/SNRIs and<br/>TCAs</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Continue anxiety<br/>medications in the<br/>perioperative period<br/>avoiding discontinu-<br/>ation syndrome</li> <li>Be aware of<br/>serotonin syndrome<br/>risks and signs</li> </ul> |

**Table 8.4** Summary of mental health disorders and their anesthetic and general considerations for treatment in the oral and maxillofacial surgery office

| Condition           | Common<br>medications used   | Effects of medications  | Anesthesia considerations  | General considerations  |
|---------------------|--|---|--|---|
| Bipolar<br>disorder | <ul> <li>Mood<br/>stabilizers<br/>(e.g., lithium,<br/>valproate)</li> <li>Antianxiety<br/>medications<br/>(see above)</li> <li>Antidepres-<br/>sion<br/>medications<br/>(see above)</li> </ul> | Lithium prolongs<br>duration of<br>neuromuscular<br>blockage from<br>succinylcholine  | <ul> <li>Consider discontinu-<br/>ing lithium 3 days<br/>preoperatively</li> <li>Use perioperative<br/>fluids with sodium 2/2<br/>depletion from lithium<br/>treatment</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>Consult with PCP/<br/>Psych provider prior<br/>to stopping lithium</li> <li>Restart lithium<br/>within 1 week of<br/>surgery to avoid<br/>relapse</li> <li>No need to stop<br/>lithium treatment for<br/>local anesthetic<br/>procedures</li> <li>Awareness of<br/>medications that<br/>decrease lithium<br/>excretion (i.e., ACEI)</li> </ul> |
| Schizophre-<br>nia  | <ul> <li>Typical<br/>antipsychot-<br/>ics (e.g.,<br/>chlorproma-<br/>zine,<br/>haloperidol)</li> <li>Atypical<br/>antipsychot-<br/>ics (e.g.,<br/>clozapine,<br/>risperidone)</li> </ul>       | <ul> <li>Typical antipsy-<br/>chotics: dystonia,<br/>tardive dyskinesia,<br/>Parkinson's-like<br/>symptoms</li> <li>Atypical antipsy-<br/>chotics: weight<br/>gain, postural<br/>hypotension,<br/>gynecomastia</li> </ul> | Close monitoring and<br>treatment of<br>intraoperative blood<br>pressure—atypical<br>antipsychotics can<br>result in intraoperative<br>hypotension   | <ul> <li>Consult with PCP/<br/>Psych provider for<br/>optimization</li> <li>Avoid discontinuing<br/>antipsychotic<br/>medications to avoid<br/>withdrawal<br/>symptoms and<br/>perioperative<br/>psychotic episodes</li> </ul>  |
| PTSD                | <ul> <li>SSRI</li> <li>Atypical<br/>antipsychot-<br/>ics</li> </ul>  | SSRI and atypical<br>antipsychotic side<br>effects  | <ul> <li>Increased risk of<br/>emergence delirium,<br/>specifically with<br/>ketamine and<br/>etomidate when used<br/>alone</li> <li>Propofol induction<br/>decreases emergence<br/>delirium risk</li> <li>SSRI and atypical<br/>antipsychotic<br/>considerations</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Consult with PCP/<br/>Psych provider for<br/>optimization</li> <li>Implement trauma<br/>informed care (TIC)<br/>in all applicable<br/>perioperative settings</li> <li>SSRI and atypical<br/>antipsychotic<br/>considerations</li> </ul>  |
| Gender<br>dysphoria | • Hormone<br>therapy (e.g.,<br>estrogen,<br>testosterone)  | <ul> <li>Estrogen: develope-<br/>ment of breast<br/>tissue, reduced<br/>body hair</li> <li>Testosterone:<br/>muscle growth,<br/>increased facial hair</li> </ul>  | Pregnancy question-<br>ing and testing if<br>indicated on all<br>transgender men due<br>to possibility of<br>functioning female<br>organs  | <ul> <li>Increased thrombo-<br/>embolism risk with<br/>estrogen therapy</li> <li>No increased<br/>cardiovascular risks<br/>with testosterone use</li> </ul>   |
| Eating<br>disorders | • N/A  | • N/A   | <ul> <li>Organ damage:<br/>concern for hepatic<br/>and kidney clearance<br/>of anesthetic<br/>meditations</li> <li>Inflamed oropharynx<br/>in bulimia nervosa—<br/>possible airway<br/>concern</li> <li>GERD in bulimia<br/>nervosa—aspiration<br/>risk</li> </ul>           | <ul> <li>Consult with PCP/<br/>Psych provider for<br/>optimization</li> <li>Delay surgery if<br/>possible for medical<br/>optimization, or<br/>consider hospital-<br/>based surgery</li> <li>Electrolyte<br/>imbalances can be<br/>exacerbated<br/>postoperatively</li> </ul>   |

Table 8.4 (continued)

# References

- Seligman LD, Hovey JD, Chacon K, Ollendick TH. Dental anxiety: an understudied problem in youth. Clin Psychol Rev. 2017;55:25–40.
- Chanpong B, Haas DA, Locker D. Need and demand for sedation or general anesthesia in dentistry: a national survey of the Canadian population. Anesth Prog. 2005;52(1):3–11.
- Humphris G, Crawford JR, Hill K, Gilbert A, Freeman R. UK population norms for the modified dental anxiety scale with percentile calculator: adult dental health survey 2009 results. BMC Oral Health. 2013;13(1):29.
- White AM, Giblin L, Boyd LD. The prevalence of dental anxiety in dental practice settings. J Dent Hyg. 2017;91(1):30–4.
- De Jongh A, Fransen J, Oosterink-Wubbe F, Aartman I. Psychological trauma exposure and trauma symptoms among individuals with high and low levels of dental anxiety. Eur J Oral Sci. 2006;114(4):286–92.
- Randall CL, Shaffer JR, McNeil DW, Crout RJ, Weyant RJ, Marazita ML. Toward a genetic understanding of dental fear: evidence of heritability. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol. 2017;45(1):66–73.
- Armfield JM, Stewart JF, Spencer AJ. The vicious cycle of dental fear: exploring the interplay between oral health, service utilization and dental fear. BMC Oral Health. 2007;7(1):1.
- Schuller AA, Willumsen T, Holst D. Are there differences in oral health and oral health behavior between individuals with high and low dental fear? Community Dent Oral Epidemiol. 2003;31(2):116–21.
- Sohn W, Ismail AI. Regular dental visits and dental anxiety in an adult dentate population. J Am Dent Assoc. 2005;136(1):58–66.
- Locker D. Psychosocial consequences of dental fear and anxiety. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol. 2003;31:144–51.
- TanDon S, Duhan R, ShaRMa M, VaSuDeVa S. Between the cup and the lip: missed dental appointments. J Clin Diagn Res. 2016;10(5):ZC122.
- Dailey YM, Humphris GM, Lennon MA. Reducing patients' state anxiety in general dental practice: a randomized controlled trial. J Dent Res. 2002;81:319–22.
- Eli I. Dental anxiety: a cause for possible misdiagnosis of tooth vitality. Int Endod J. 1993;26:251–3.
- Wardle J. Fear of dentistry. Br J Med Psychol. 1982;55:119–26.
- 15. Lee HS. Recent advances in topical anesthesia. J Dent Anesth Pain Med. 2016;16(4):237–44.
- 16. de Freiras GC, Pozzobon RT, Blaya DS, Moreira CH. Efficacy of benzocaine 20% topical anesthetic compared to placebo prior to administration of local anesthesia in the oral cavity: a randomized controlled trial. Anesth Prog. 2015;62(2):46–50.
- McPherson JS, Dixon SA, Townsend R, Vandewalle KS. Effect of needle design on pain from dental local anesthetic injections. Anesth Prog. 2015;62(1):2–7.

- Pogrel MA. Broken local anesthetic needles: a case series of 16 patients, with recommendations. J Am Dent Assoc. 2009;140(12):1517–22.
- Acham S, Truschnegg A, Rugani P, Kirnbauer B, Reinbacher KE, Zemann W, et al. Needle fracture as a complication of dental local anesthesia: recommendations for prevention and a comprehensive treatment algorithm based on literature from the past four decades. Clin Oral Investig. 2019;23(3):1109–19.
- 20. Aravena PC, Barrientos C, Troncoso C, Coronado C, Sotelo-Hitschfeld P. Effect of warming anesthetic on pain perception during dental injection: a splitmouth randomized clinical trial. Local Reg Anesth. 2018;11:9.
- Gümüş H, Aydinbelge M. Evaluation of effect of warm local anesthetics on pain perception during dental injections in children: a split-mouth randomized clinical trial. Clin Oral Investig. 2020;24(7):2315–9.
- 22. Hogan ME, Perampaladas K, Machado M, Einarson TR, Taddio A. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the effect of warming local anesthetics on injection pain. Ann Emerg Med. 2011;58(1):86–98.
- Wahl MJ, Schmitt MM, Overton DA, Gordon MK. Injection pain of bupivacaine with epinephrine vs. prilocaine plain. J Am Dent Assoc. 2002;133(12):1652–6.
- 24. Guo J, Yin K, Roges R, Enciso R. Efficacy of sodium bicarbonate buffered versus non-buffered lidocaine with epinephrine in inferior alveolar nerve block: a meta-analysis. J Dent Anesth Pain Med. 2018;18(3):129–42.
- Campanella V, Libonati A, Nardi R, Angotti V, Gallusi G, Montemurro E, et al. Single tooth anesthesia versus conventional anesthesia: a cross-over study. Clin Oral Investig. 2018;22(9):3205–13.
- Kwak EJ, Pang NS, Cho JH, Jung BY, Kim KD, Park W. Computer-controlled local anesthetic delivery for painless anesthesia: a literature review. J Dent Anesth Pain Med. 2016;16(2):81–8.
- Collado V, Faulks D, Nicolas E, Hennequin M. Conscious sedation procedures using intravenous midazolam for dental care in patients with different cognitive profiles: a prospective study of effectiveness and safety. PLoS One. 2013;8(8):e71240.
- Chen Q, Wang L, Ge L, Gao Y, Wang H. The anxiolytic effect of midazolam in third molar extraction: a systematic review. PLoS One. 2015;10(4):e0121410.
- Averley PA, Girdler NM, Bond S, Steen N, Steele J. A randomised controlled trial of paediatric conscious sedation for dental treatment using intravenous midazolam combined with inhaled nitrous oxide or nitrous oxide/sevoflurane. Anaesthesia. 2004;59(9): 844–52.
- Venchard GR, Thomson PJ, Boys R. Improved sedation for oral surgery by combining nitrous oxide and intravenous midazolam: a randomized, controlled trial. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2006;35:522–7.
- Schrier L, Zuiker R, Merkus FW, Klaassen ES, Guan Z, Tuk B, et al. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of a new highly concentrated intranasal mid-

azolam formulation for conscious sedation. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2017;83(4):721–31.

- 32. Collado V, Hennequin M, Faulks D, Mazille MN, Nicolas E, Koscielny S, Onody P. Modification of behavior with 50% nitrous oxide/oxygen conscious sedation over repeated visits for dental treatment a 3-year prospective study. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 2006;26(5):474–81.
- Albert PR. Why is depression more prevalent in women? J Psychiatry Neurosci. 2015;40(4): 219.
- Nemeroff CB, DeVane CL, Pollock BG. Newer antidepressants and the cytochrome P450 system. Am J Psychiatr. 1996;153(3):311–20.
- Smischney NJ, Pollard EM, Nookala AU, Olatoye OO. Serotonin syndrome in the perioperative setting. Am J Case Rep. 2018;19:833.
- 36. O'Neil A, Berk M, Venugopal K, Kim SW, Williams LJ, Jacka FN. The association between poor dental health and depression: findings from a large-scale, population-based study (the NHANES study). Gen Hosp Psychiatry. 2014;36(3):266–70.
- Kisely S, Sawyer E, Siskind D, Lalloo R. The oral health of people with anxiety and depressive disorders–a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. 2016;200:119–32.
- Kessler RC, Chiu WT, Demler O, Walters EE. Prevalence, severity, and comorbidity of 12-month DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2005;62(6): 617–27.
- Masiran R, Aziz MFA. Hypertensive bipolar: chronic lithium toxicity in patients taking ACE inhibitor. BMJ Case Rep. 2017;2017:bcr2017220631.
- 40. Attri JP, Bala N, Chatrath V. Psychiatric patient and anaesthesia. Indian J Anaesth. 2012;56(1):8.
- 41. Kilpatrick DG, Resnick HS, Milanak ME, Miller MW, Keyes KM, Friedman MJ. National estimates of exposure to traumatic events and PTSD prevalence using DSM-IV and DSM-5 criteria. J Trauma Stress. 2013;26(5):537–47.
- 42. Knowles KA, Sripada RK, Defever M, Rauch SA. Comorbid mood and anxiety disorders and severity of posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms in treatment-seeking veterans. Psychol Trauma. 2019;11(4):451–8.
- Müller J, Ganeshamoorthy S, Myers J. Risk factors associated with posttraumatic stress disorder in US veterans: a cohort study. PLoS One. 2017;12(7):e0181647.
- Richardson LK, Frueh BC, Acierno R. Prevalence estimates of combat-related post-traumatic stress disorder: critical review. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 2010;44(1):4–19.
- Olff M. Sex and gender differences in post-traumatic stress disorder: an update. Eur J Psychotraumatol. 2017;8(sup4):1351204.

- 46. Nissen LR, Karstoft KI, Vedtofte MS, Nielsen AB, Osler M, Mortensen EL, et al. Cognitive ability and risk of post-traumatic stress disorder after military deployment: an observational cohort study. BJPsych Open. 2017;3(6):274–80.
- 47. Sartor CE, Grant JD, Lynskey MT, McCutcheon VV, Waldron M, Statham DJ, et al. Common heritable contributions to low-risk trauma, high-risk trauma, posttraumatic stress disorder, and major depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2012;69(3):293–9.
- Lancaster CL, Teeters JB, Gros DF, Back SE. Posttraumatic stress disorder: overview of evidence-based assessment and treatment. J Clin Med. 2016;5(11):105.
- 49. Friedlander AH, Rosenbluth SC, Lee UK, Chang TI, Guze BH, Zeidler MR. The importance of recognizing an association between obstructive sleep apnea and post-traumatic stress disorder. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2018;76(11):2251–3.
- Cipriani A, Williams T, Nikolakopoulou A, Salanti G, Chaimani A, Ipser J, et al. Comparative efficacy and acceptability of pharmacological treatments for posttraumatic stress disorder in adults: a network metaanalysis. Psychol Med. 2018;48(12):1975–84.
- De Oliveira Solis AC, Araújo ÁC, Corchs F, Bernik M, Duran ÉP, Silva C, Lotufo-Neto F. Impact of post-traumatic stress disorder on oral health. J Affect Disord. 2017;219:126–32.
- Muhvić-Urek M, Uhač I, Vukšić-Mihaljević Ž, Leović D, Blečić N, Kovač Z. Oral health status in war veterans with post-traumatic stress disorder. J Oral Rehabil. 2007;34(1):1–8.
- Wright EF, Thompson RL, Paunovich ED. Posttraumatic stress disorder: considerations for dentistry. Quintessence Int. 2004;35(3):206–10.
- Gupta MA, Simpson FC. Obstructive sleep apnea and psychiatric disorders: a systematic review. J Clin Sleep Med. 2015;11(02):165–75.
- 55. Zhang Y, Weed JG, Ren R, Tang X, Zhang W. Prevalence of obstructive sleep apnea in patients with posttraumatic stress disorder and its impact on adherence to continuous positive airway pressure therapy: a meta-analysis. Sleep Med. 2017;36: 125–32.
- 56. Nayak SS, Kamath AT, Gupta K, Roy A, Roy S, Chatterjee A. Posttraumatic stress disorder among patients with oral and maxillofacial trauma in a South Indian population. Spec Care Dentist. 2019;39(4):399–405.
- Umholtz M, Cilnyk J, Wang CK, Porhomayon J, Pourafkari L, Nader ND. Postanesthesia emergence in patients with post-traumatic stress disorder. J Clin Anesth. 2016;34:3–10.
- Seal LJ. A review of the physical and metabolic effects of cross-sex hormonal therapy in the treatment of gender dysphoria. Ann Clin Biochem. 2016;53(1): 10–20.

- Tollinche LE, Walters CB, Radix A, Long M, Galante L, Goldstein ZG, et al. The perioperative care of the transgender patient. Anesth Analg. 2018;127(2): 359.
- 60. Berli JU, Knudson G, Fraser L, Tangpricha V, Ettner R, Ettner FM, et al. What surgeons need to know about gender confirmation surgery when providing care for transgender individuals: a review. JAMA Surg. 2017;152(4):394–400.
- Maine M, Goldberg MH. The role of third molar surgery in the exacerbation of eating disorders. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2001;59(11):1297–300.
- Blitz M, Rosen DS. Eating disorders and the oral and maxillofacial surgeon. Oral Maxillofac Surg Clin. 2010;22(4):511–7.



# 9

# Practice Considerations for Patients with Substance Use Disorder

# Soroush Samimi and Deepak G. Krishnan

# 9.1 Introduction

Substance abuse is known as a chronic brain disorder which disrupts the normal pathways of rewards, withdrawal, memory, and motivations. The misuse and abuse of substances such as opioids, alcohol, cocaine, and prescription drugs (Table 9.1) have led to a national crisis in the United States and can result in serious medical consequences. Since 2013, the incidence of druguse-related deaths has surpassed motor vehicle collisions as the number one cause of accidental death in the United States [1]. Despite efforts in education in prevention, the statistical misuse of drugs has escalated, with over 20 million American substance abusers [2]. Over 67,000 Americans died from drug overdoses in 2018, with an upward trend in synthetic narcotics, cocaine, and psychostimulants [3, 4]. The purpose of this chapter is to offer practice considerations for oral and maxillofacial surgeons (OMS) caring for patients with substance use disorder (Fig. 9.1). These considerations include preoperative assessment, perioperative management, and

S. Samimi

Montefiore Medical Center, Bronx, NY, USA

D. G. Krishnan (⊠) University of Cincinnati Medical Center, Cincinnati, OH, USA

Cincinnati Children's Hospital and Medical Center, Cincinnati, OH, USA e-mail: Deepak.krishnan@uc.edu

| Classification | Common drugs                         |
|----------------|--------------------------------------|
| Cannabinoids   | Marijuana, hashish                   |
| CNS            | Cocaine, amphetamines                |
| stimulants     |                                      |
| CNS            | Alcohol, benzodiazepines             |
| depressants    |                                      |
| Opioids        | Heroin, morphine, opium              |
| Hallucinogens  | Lysergic acid diethylamide,          |
|                | phencyclidine, mescaline, psilocybin |
| Volatile       | Varnish, paint thinner, petroleum    |
| Solvents       |                                      |

#### Table 9.1 Commonly abused drugs

postoperative care of such patients. While the pathophysiology of each substance is beyond the scope of this chapter, clinical assessments, preoperative optimization, and the challenges of treating patients with substance abuse issues will be discussed.

# 9.2 General Considerations

A critical first step in patient management is obtaining a detailed and accurate medical and psychosocial history to formulate a successful plan. Being aware of the drug history of a patient allows safe management, tailored to their needs. Understanding a patient's drug history and predicting their response to office-based anesthetics, for instance, can help determine the most suitable environment for treatment and the optimal anesthetic plan [6]. An overall assessment should be

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

D. J. Meara, R. Gutta (eds.), Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery for the Medically Compromised Patient, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-82598-0\_9

|  | DSM-4<br>Abuseª |           | DSM-4<br>Dependence⁵ |          | DSM-5<br>Substance Use<br>Disorders <sup>c</sup> |            |
|--|-----------------|-----------|----------------------|----------|--|------------|
| Hazardous use                                  | Х               | 1         | _                    |          | Х  | )          |
| Social/interpersonal problems related to use   |                 | ≥1        | -                    |          | Х  |            |
| Neglected major roles to use                   | X               | criterion | -                    |          | Х  |            |
| Legal problems                                 | Х               | ]]        | -                    |          | -  |            |
|  |                 |           |                      |          |  |            |
| withdrawald                                    | -               |           | Х                    | 1        | Х  |            |
| Tolerance                                      | -               |           | Х                    |          | Х  | <u>≥</u> 2 |
| Used larger amounts/longer                     | -               |           | Х                    |          | Х  | criteria   |
| Repeated attempts to quit/control use          | -               |           | Х                    | } ≥3     | Х  |            |
| Much time spent using                          | _               |           | Х                    | criteria | Х  |            |
| Physical/psychological problems related to use | -               | 1         | Х                    |          | Х  |            |
| Activities given up to use                     | _               |           | Х                    | J        | Х  |            |
|  |                 |           |                      |          |  |            |
| Craving  | _               |           | _                    |          | Х  | )          |

Fig. 9.1 DSM-4 and DSM-5 criteria for substance use disorders. <sup>a</sup>One or more abuse criteria within a 12-month period and no dependence diagnosis: applicable to all substances except nicotine, for which DSM-4 abuse criteria were not given. <sup>b</sup>Three or more dependence criteria within

rendered and may include, but should not be limited to, the patient's general health, current medications, allergies, preexisting conditions, and previous anesthesia history [7]. It is also important to take note of the patterns of use in regard to the substance use, such as known triggers for substance use, duration of use, length of abstinence (if applicable), and most recent use [8].

Implications and considerations of specific substances vary based on their pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic effects, but providers should be cognizant of the patient's increased risk of the following [8]:

- Aspiration
- Compromised airway
- Encephalopathy
- Generalized edema
- · Hyperalgesia
- Hemodynamic instability
- Hepatomegaly
- Lymphadenopathy
- Subcutaneous abscess
- Venous thrombosis
- Withdrawal tendencies

Medical professionals should remain mindful that not all patients fully declare their entire med-

a 12-month period. <sup>c</sup>Two or more substance use disorder criteria within a 12-month period. <sup>d</sup>Withdrawal not included for cannabis, inhalant, and hallucinogen disorders in DSM-IV. Cannabis withdrawal added in DSM-5 [5]

ical history. Therefore, it is imperative to understand the commonly used recreational drugs, the pathophysiology of their acute and chronic use, and their implication on the planned procedure in order to maintain safe sedation practice while achieving adequate patient response. Of note, procedures performed with local anesthesia only still require a thorough understanding of the patient, to limit untoward outcomes.

# 9.3 Cannabinoids: Marijuana

# 9.3.1 Introduction

As more societies move towards decriminalization and legalization of recreational and medicinal use of marijuana, healthcare professionals are likely to find disclosures of such use in patients more commonplace while obtaining a social history. By 2018, more than a third of young adults (ages 18–25) and an estimated 13.3% of adults ages 26 and older reported marijuana use in the past year. Moreover, approximately 4.4 million people aged 12 or older reported a marijuana use disorder in the past year. Marijuana, also referred to as pot, hash, grass, weed, and bud, can be smoked as a cigarette (a joint), using a water pipe, and using a hollow cigar (a blunt), vaporized, or consumed orally [9]. The primary component of marijuana is tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) which can range between 1 and 65% with hashish oil having the highest amount of THC. Users report a feeling of euphoria and relaxation. When taken in conjunction with alcohol or benzodiazepines, this feeling is accentuated, and when combined with amphetamines or cocaine, a synergistic stimulatory effect can be expected.

#### 9.3.2 Preoperative Assessment

Due to anxiety associated with surgical and dental practices, clinicians are likely to encounter patients who present acutely intoxicated with marijuana during the consultation or surgical appointment. The common presentations are tachycardia, conjunctival injection, and anxiety [10]. The medical questionnaire allows a chance to obtain relevant history regarding use. Obtaining information regarding the amount of daily use, route of administration, and combined use with any other substances will help formulate a safe treatment plan. As a result, the clinician should educate patients on effects of drug use when combined with procedural anesthetics and increased risk of complications.

Marijuana typically tends to accentuate a preexisting emotion. Therefore, if a patient used marijuana to help with preoperative anxiety, the result might be to the contrary, and the practitioner will likely find a highly anxious and somewhat euphoric individual.

# 9.3.3 Perioperative Management

The ingestion of low to moderate doses of cannabis results in activation of the sympathetic system resulting in tachycardia and increased cardiac output. Acute coronary syndromes are reported in some users with a 25% mortality. High doses result in inhibition of sympathetic activity, presenting as possible hypotension and bradycardia. Cross-tolerance to other drugs such as alcohol, opioids, benzodiazepines, and phenothiazines has been observed. However, during anesthesia, it can create a stacking effect on inhalational agents leading to profound myocardial depression. Further, it also increases the effects of opioids leading to respiratory depression [2]. A study by Flisberg et al. [11] suggested an interaction between cannabis and propofol. Cannabis users needed a significantly higher dose of propofol prior to laryngeal mask insertion, suggesting difficulty in sedation of chronic marijuana users. Anecdotal evidence would suggest that most OMS will concur with their experiences that marijuana users typically will need higher doses of propofol to be sedated comfortably.

Marijuana smoke can cause upper airway irritability, impairment on airway epithelial function, and damage to bronchial tissue. Marijuana also causes increased alveolar permeability and may lead to negative pressure pulmonary edema. Patients are predisposed to bronchospasm, chronic cough, bronchitis, and emphysema [2]. Furthermore, case reports presented patients who suffered from respiratory distress due to isolated uvulitis during general anesthesia. The complication was attributed to heavy marijuana use due to the history of last use within 6-12 h prior to the onset of symptoms [12]. Subsequently, some have recommended for prophylaxis administration of dexamethasone prior to general anesthesia [2].

While life-threatening arrhythmias have not been reported in literature, an increase in supraventricular and ventricular ectopic activity as well as reversible ST segment and T wave abnormalities can be observed [2]. In a patient with a recent history of use, drugs increasing the heart rate such as ketamine, pancuronium, atropine, and epinephrine should be avoided. Patients who consume higher doses of marijuana may have inhibition of sympathetic activity leading to bradycardia and hypotension. Furthermore, adverse autonomic reactions and psychiatric effects may interfere with postoperative recovery. To avoid these effects, anesthesia should be avoided in any patient with cannabis use within the past 72 h [13].

Chronic marijuana smokers are known to present with severe nausea and vomiting which is now characterized as cannabinoid hyperemesis syndrome. These patients have delayed gastric emptying and may present with a prodromal phase of excessive salivation, nausea, and prolonged vomiting.

#### 9.3.3.1 Postoperative Challenges

While postoperative dysphoria, nausea, and vomiting or others have not been identified as a significant complication in marijuana users, those that have habitually used IV drugs such as heroin or synthetic narcotics may have issues with hyperalgesia, and postoperative pain control may be a challenge in these subgroups. Further, marijuana especially as an orally administered form may be considered as adjuvant therapy for postoperative pain control following surgery. More evidence is becoming available to support this in the scientific literature recently.

# 9.4 Stimulants

#### 9.4.1 Cocaine

#### 9.4.1.1 Introduction

Among polysubstance abuse, addiction to cocaine is one of the most common. Approximately 30% of the drug-related emergency department admissions in the United States are attributed to cocaine. There is no classical socioeconomic, ethnic, or cultural profile when attempting to identify a cocaine user. With five million Americans being regular offenders and 6000 trying the drug for the first time every day, identifying a cocaine abuser is a significant clinical challenge. Concomitant substance abuse of multiple drugs and cocaine is frequently noted, with ethanol being the most commonly observed. During the clinical evaluation, chronic users may present with septal or soft palate perforation. Rarely, cocaine users present with delirium, which is manifested by diaphoresis and agitation and may lead to respiratory or cardiac arrest.

#### Preoperative Assessment

Given the high probability of complications associated with cocaine abusers, priority should be given to care under local anesthesia. However, should sedation be required, the surgeon should be prepared for management. Increased levels of catecholamines can cause significant cardiovascular effects in a non-dose-dependent manner. Therefore, even small recreational dose amounts can cause myocardial ischemia due to infarction, vasospasm, thrombus, or direct cardiotoxicity. These patients present with a 24-fold risk to develop myocardial infarction (MI). Some studies have reported a 25% of all MIs below the age of 45 years are related to cocaine use. Other cardiac risks include arrhythmias, cardiomegaly, and hypertension. Cocaine users may have hypoxemia and interstitial alveolitis similar to acute respiratory distress syndrome. Patients also may present with bronchospasm, hyperthermia, and agitation. A thorough physical examination at the preoperative stage should detect any cardiovascular abnormalities, which may prompt further investigation of the patient's status. Of note, a 2006 JOMS article by Granite et al. suggests that a patient may undergo necessary surgical and anesthetic care, after an 8-h period of discontinuing of cocaine, if the individual is hemodynamically stable [14].

#### **Perioperative Management**

In the setting of general anesthesia, patients may experience severe hypertension due to increased cardiac output, which could furthermore be exacerbated by stimulation during insertion of laryngeal blade at the time of intubation or simply by injections of local anesthetics or the surgery. While it is imperative to treat this hypertension prior to proceeding, that might be challenging. Propranolol is contraindicated in acute intoxication due to potential for unopposed alphaadrenergic stimulation. Esmolol, labetalol, and hydralazine have been recommended to manage hypertension and tachycardia, commonly seen in this subcategory of patients.

Should general anesthesia be required, it has been postulated that the metabolism of succinylcholine is reduced possibly due to competing metabolism by plasma cholinesterase. Ketamine should be used with caution due to potentiation of cardiac effects of cocaine by increasing catecholamines. Potent volatile anesthetics may produce cardiac arrhythmias and increase vascular resistance in the intoxicated patient. In addition, administration of succinylcholine may lead to prolonged neuromuscular blockade. Cocainerelated physiological derangements may be mitigated with the use of dexmedetomidine, clonidine, or peripheral alpha-1 antagonists, intravenous hydration, and sedation with benzodiazepines.

In the case that myocardial ischemia is suspected during the procedure, the surgeon should begin initial medical therapy and, once stable, triage the patient for appropriate care. The American Heart Association has revised their guidelines on emergency management of cardiovascular care in cocaine-related myocardial ischemia. The firstline agents should be aspirin, nitroglycerin, and benzodiazepines, and propranolol should be avoided. Due to the high susceptibility of cardiovascular complications, the surgeon should monitor for early signs of arrhythmias, angina, and infarction.

#### 9.4.1.2 Postoperative Challenges

Postoperative monitoring of cocaine patients is imperative to avoid cardiac complications. Intractable postoperative nausea, vomiting, and challenges in postoperative pain control are practical challenges for this group of patients. Counselling about avoidance of cocaine 24–48 h following anesthesia and surgery is prudent.

#### 9.5 Methamphetamines

#### 9.5.1 Introduction

Also known as meth, crystal, and glass, methamphetamine is a synthetic derivative amphetamine, a schedule II drug with high potential for abuse due to its psychostimulant properties [15]. Methamphetamine increases alertness, concentration, and energy and, in high doses, can induce euphoria and enhance self-esteem. Amphetamines are generally used to treat attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder in children and adults, narcolepsy, exogenous obesity, hyperphagia, psychotherapeutic indications such as depression, and Parkinson's disease [15]. The drug is a crystalline powder that can be dissolved in water or alcohol for ingestion via intranasal, inhalational, intravenous, or oral routes. The systemic effects result in activation of the sympathetic system leading to increased release and decreased reuptake of catecholamines. Therefore, increased heart rate and blood pressures can be expected [16].

#### 9.5.2 Preoperative Assessment

Due to high suspicion for intravenous use, and needle sharing, further investigation may be necessary for cardiac, hepatic, hematologic, and immunologic status of patients. Methamphetamines can cause left ventricular hypertrophy and decreased cardiac compliance, presenting as diastolic dysfunction and even heart failure [17]. Therefore, abnormal findings should be addressed with a primary care physician or specialist prior to proceeding with elective surgery.

#### 9.5.3 Perioperative Management

The main challenge of treating patients with a history of methamphetamine use is related to heart rate control and maintenance of blood pressure in light of compromised cardiovascular function. Meth users may present with refractory hypotension leading to hemodynamic instability. Chronic amphetamine exposure and stimulation of the adrenergic and peripheral nerve terminals causes a depletion of catecholamine receptor storage. This depletion, especially norepinephrine, blunts the physiologic and sympathetic response to hypotension. Direct-acting vasopressors like epinephrine or phenylephrine are generally used to treat hypotension. Furthermore, in patients who ingest by smoking the agent, increased risk for intraoperative bronchospasm is similar to that of a heavy tobacco smoker. The management of the airway is further compromised by common presentation of loose and grossly carious dentition and abscesses. Altered drug metabolism and protein binding secondary to hypoalbuminemia and malnutrition can affect the dose of anesthetics administered.

#### 9.5.4 Postoperative Challenges

Postoperative laryngospasms and bronchospasms as well as cardiac complications such us heart failure can occur in these patients. When heavy abuse is suspected, a lower threshold for postoperative admission and in-patient care may be prudent. Postoperative intraoral wound healing is a concern for the obvious reasons as well. These patients often require a high dose of postsurgical prescription pain medications which should be planned pre-operatively with the patient's addiction and pain specialist.

# 9.6 Depressants

#### 9.6.1 Alcohol

#### 9.6.1.1 Introduction

#### **Preoperative Assessment**

Alcohol abuse is generally associated with resistance to the actions of central nervous system depressants. An accurate history of amount and length of consumption is important to determine the need for further workup. If considering performing procedures under general anesthesia, it is necessary to take into consideration hepatic dysfunction, hypoalbuminemia, cardiac failure, and arrhythmias. Chronic alcoholics exhibit myopathy, mostly noted in proximal muscles, and also alcohol-induced cardiomyopathy with reduced ejection fraction presenting similarly to dilated cardiomyopathy. When an alcoholic patient presents with cirrhosis or muscle weakness, an echocardiography is advised before surgery to best evaluate.

#### Perioperative Management

The effects of alcohol on the gastrointestinal organs are generally related to effects on muscle tone, acid production, and mucosal integrity. Alcoholism may lead to electrolyte abnormalities, hypovolemia, and hypoglycemia. Longterm use can manifest as gastritis, increased gastric volume and acidity, gastric ulcers, gastroesophageal reflux disease, and Mallory-Weiss tears. Alcohol also impairs gastric motility and digestion, housing food in the stomach for prolonged periods. When assigning NPO status, this should be considered. Furthermore, chronic heavy alcohol users are prone to alcoholic liver disease such as hepatitis, fatty liver disease, and cirrhosis. Cirrhotic patients have significant impairment in hemodynamic profile and protein synthesis, such as coagulation factors and albumin. In order to prevent drug toxicity during anesthesia, the standard protocol is modified to half the dose of midazolam increments and double the time between doses [18]. This allows a greater understanding of the effect of each dose, enabling a balance between adequacy of anesthesia and margin of safety. Additional time for recovery should be expected due to impaired metabolism and elimination of sedative.

Alcohol also hinders the natural immune function as well as autonomic functions such as cough and gag reflex. Impairment of these functions can increase risk of aspiration and aspiration pneumonia. Mucociliary function is also blunted which can have a synergistic effect if tobacco is also used.

#### **Postoperative Challenges**

Expect a prolonged recovery from anesthesia. Alcoholics with impaired hepatic function may have prolonged postsurgical bleeding issues. Especially following surgery in the mouth and aerodigestive tract, postoperative malnutrition is not uncommon in these patients. Their already impaired immune system affects normal wound healing deleteriously and predisposes them to infections. Further, the clinician should have a plan regarding the potential for withdrawal, especially if the patient is admitted to the hospital for postsurgical nursing care.

# 9.6.2 Opioids

# 9.6.2.1 Introduction

While opioid use can be an effective analgesic therapy when indicated, its euphoric effects are what draws many people to abuse them. Unfortunately, this paves way to rapid tolerance, physical dependence, and a psychological addiction [2]. Opioid overdoses have accounted for more deaths than cocaine and heroin [19]. These patients present with slow and slurred speech, slow gait, constricted pupils, and droopy eyelids. Patient often have reduced appetite and constipation.

According to the National Institute on Drug Abuse, between 21 and 29% of patients that were prescribed opioids for chronic pain misuse them, with 8–12% developing an opioid disorder [20]. With the upward trend of opioid misuse, it is crucial for medical providers to recognize the presenting symptoms, possible drug-to-drug interactions, and overall considerations during and after treatment.

#### **Preoperative Assessment**

A history of drug abuse should provoke further medical questions. For example, history of intravenous drug use should prompt an evaluation of cardiovascular, pulmonary, neurologic, and infectious complications such as endocarditis, abscesses, osteomyelitis, hepatitis, and HIV infection. Heroin users present with dry, itching skin and skin infections.

Workup may include toxicology screen, CBC, liver function tests and renal panel. Preoperative

consenting may be a challenge especially if the patient tends to be intoxicated at the time of signing it.

#### **Perioperative Management**

Anesthetic management of chronic opioid abusers presents with multiple challenges. Vascular access may be challenging. Furthermore, underlying sepsis, coagulopathy, and hemodynamic instability may complicate general anesthesia course. Concomitant malnutrition, liver disease, and altered intravascular fluid volume may require dose adjustment of anesthetic agents [2, 21]. Yet, patients may become hypersensitive to surgical stimuli and require higher doses of anesthetics due to tolerance alone or development of opiate hyperalgesia/hyperesthesia [22]. As each patient will present with unique needs, dosage should be guided by monitoring of vital signs. Also, judicious use of local anesthesia and ketamine may reduce the overall opioid consumption [23].

In patients who may be in the process of detoxification or in recovery, the use of methadone or buprenorphine should be continued. It is recommended that patients continue these agents in the perioperative period. Methadone leads to a decrease in MAC of inhalational general anesthetics. In addition, the risk of torsades de pointes is also reported with methadone. Discontinuation of either agent should be at the discretion of the addiction and pain specialists. Opioid antagonists or agonist-antagonists must be avoided in these patients as it can precipitate acute withdrawal symptoms [2].

#### 9.6.3 Postoperative Management

Inappropriate management of patients on buprenorphine may lead to severe cravings and subsequent relapse. Patients may experience exaggerated postoperative pain secondary to decreased production of endogenous opioids. The subjectivity of pain and conflict between patient's rights and safety pose an ethical dilemma. Coordination with the patient's pain specialist is of most importance during the preoperative and postoperative phases to establish an appropriate plan. A preoperative pain contract that outlines your responsibility and that of the patient may be beneficial to minimize postoperative negotiations and unnecessary skirmishes regarding prescriptions. Discharge following recovery may be a challenge if the clinician suspects that the escort is also intoxicated.

# 9.7 Other Drugs

Some patient encounters may also represent drug abuse with MDMA, phencyclidine (PCP), and gamma-hydroxybutyric acid (GHB). Similar to other drug users, these patients also present with psychiatric disturbances, including panic, anxiety, depression, paranoia, muscle tensions, nausea, and blurred vision. Clinical assessment of these patients might reveal hemodynamic instability, tremors, sweating, fainting, chills, and hallucination. Ecstasy users may pose a risk to develop serotonin syndrome and malignant hyperthermia. They consume abnormal quantities of water due to increased antidiuretic hormone production which in turn may lead to hyponatremia and other electrolyte abnormalities. Conduction defects such as long QT interval and torsades de pointes are common. Drug-induced hepatic failure is also common with about 20% of all cases below the age of 20 years.

Patients who abuse GHB may present with tremors, seizures, vomiting, liver failure, and comatose. Fatal respiratory depression is a risk in such patients, and they are prone to lifethreatening withdrawals. Physostigmine is reported as a potential agent to reverse toxicity from GHB, although such reports are sparse.

At low to moderate doses, PCP users have increased respiratory rate, pronounced rise in blood pressure and pulse rate, shallow breathing, flushing and profuse sweating, generalized numbness of the extremities, and loss of muscular coordination. In higher doses, drooling, dizziness, loss of balance, seizures, and coma have been reported. Some patients mimic schizophrenia (delusions, hallucinations, paranoia, disordered thinking, a sensation of distance from one's environment, and catatonia), and speech is often sparse and garbled.

Abusers of organic solvents may have arrhythmias, nausea and vomiting, bronchial irritation, pulmonary hypertension, and edema with airway resistance. The risk of methemoglobinemia is also reported in these patients.

# 9.8 Summary

Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons, as well as other trained clinicians, are in a unique position to offer anesthesia in the office for surgical management. While questions regarding consumption of alcohol, tobacco, and illicit substances may be overlooked during the preoperative assessment, they certainly bring to light critical information that affects treatment setting and anesthesia. Deeper probing of the social history of our patients have become paramount now than ever. Substance abuse disorder affects patients of all socioeconomic backgrounds, ages, and gender. A thorough understanding of the pathophysiology of the abused substance, probing for underlying medical conditions, and its implication on treatment is of utmost importance. Further workup may be necessary to obtain all relevant information to provide safe treatment and an uneventful postoperative course.

When appropriate postpone elective surgery and consider using a venue other than the office for these patients to mitigate risks. Table 9.2 serves as a summary of physiological implications and considerations during surgical treatment.

| of Nurse Anesthetists [8] |  |  |
|---------------------------|--|--|
| Substance                 | Physiological implications   | Considerations   |
| Marijuana                 | Airway irritability  | Maintain airway due to potential for airway obstruction                      |
|                           | Acute airway edema and obstruction                                     | Consider administration of dexamethasone to minimize airway edema            |
|                           | Myocardial depression  | Increased propofol dose may be required for induction and maintenance        |
|                           | Exacerbation of existing tachycardia                                   | • Avoid drugs known to affect heart rate (e.g., ketamine, atropine,          |
|                           | Reversible ST segment and T wave abnormalities                         | epinephrine)   |
|                           | Supraventricular or ventricular ectopic activity                       |  |
|                           | <ul> <li>Potentiation of non-depolarizing muscle relaxants,</li> </ul> |  |
|                           | norepinephrine   |  |
|                           | <ul> <li>Augmentation of drugs that cause respiratory or</li> </ul>    |  |
|                           | cardiac depression   |  |
|                           | Profound response to inhaled anesthetics                               |  |
|                           | Sensitization of the myocardium due to increased                       |  |
|                           | level of epinephrine   |  |
| Cocaine                   | Infection or perforation of nasal septum                               | Administer medications to control blood pressure                             |
|                           | Pulmonary edema  | Take precautions with nasogastric and orogastric tubes                       |
|                           | Blood vessel constriction  | • If possible, avoid drugs such as ketamine, atropine, halothane, enflurane, |
|                           | Cardiomegaly, ischemia   | and older inhalational agents, which can sensitize myocardium to effects of  |
|                           | Tachycardia, arrhythmia  | catecholamines   |
|                           | Thrombocytopenia   | Cocaine-free interval of at least 1 week prior to elective surgery is        |
|                           | Bronchospasm   | recommended  |
|                           | Hyperthermia   | Increased incidence of renal failure may impact anesthetic elimination       |
|                           | Hypertension   | Avoid beta-blockers (specifically propranolol) due to possibility of         |
|                           | Pneumothorax   | unopposed alpha-receptor activity  |
|                           | Agitation  |  |
| Amphetamines              | Hemodynamic instability, refractory hypotension                        | Halothane should be avoided  |
|                           | Decreased catecholamine  | Take precautions to avoid refractory hypotension                             |
|                           | Cardiac arrest (during anesthesia)                                     | - Administer vasopressor (e.g., phenylephrine, epinephrine) in the           |
|                           | Poor dentition   | treatment of hypotension   |
|                           | Acute intoxication: decreased MAC                                      |  |
|                           | <ul> <li>Chronic use: increased MAC</li> </ul>                         |  |
|                           |  | (continued)  |

| Table 9.2 (continued) |  |  |
|-----------------------|--|--|
| Substance             | Physiological implications   | Considerations   |
| Alcohol               | <ul> <li>Electrolyte abnormalities</li> <li>Hypoalbuminemia</li> <li>Hypoglycemia</li> <li>Hypovolemia due to diuretic effect • Increased gastric acidity and volume</li> <li>Pulmonary aspiration</li> <li>Hemodynamic instability</li> <li>Increased risk of bleeding</li> <li>Wernicke-Korsakoff syndrome</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>Assess need for electrocardiogram, echocardiography, chest x-ray, complete blood count, liver enzyme, liver function, and electrolyte panels</li> <li>Consider regional analgesia and anesthesia and medications/agents with minimal or non-hepatic metabolism</li> <li>Administer medications to prevent aspiration</li> <li>Administer thiamine to prevent Wernicke-Korsakoff syndrome</li> <li>Appropriately treat symptoms of withdrawal such as agitation and hallucinations on an individual basis</li> <li>Hemodynamic instability may be exposed by intravenous or inhalational agents in patients with preexisting cardiomyopathy, heart failure, and dehydration</li> </ul> |
| Opioids               | <ul> <li>Inadequate analgesia</li> <li>Respiratory depression</li> <li>Respiratory depression</li> <li>Respiratory depression</li> <li>Withdrawal</li> <li>Cross-tolerance</li> <li>Hypotension</li> <li>Difficult central and peripheral venous access</li> <li>Coagulopathy and hemodynamic instability</li> <li>Liver disease and malnutrition</li> <li>Reduced intravascular fluid volume</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Difficult central and peripheral venous access</li> <li>Consider alternative pain management strategies that do not involve the administration of opioids</li> <li>Address opioid overdose</li> <li>Assess ventilation and provide 100% oxygen</li> <li>Assess ventilation and provide 100% oxygen</li> <li>Administer naloxone, as appropriate</li> <li>Observe patient to ensure they do experience delayed respiratory depression after administration of naloxone</li> <li>Consider endotracheal intubation and mechanical ventilation if naloxone does not successfully reverse respiratory depression</li> </ul>  |
|                       |  |  |

# References

- Florence CS, Zhou C, Luo F, Xu L. The economic burden of prescription opioid overdose, abuse, and dependence in the United States, 2013. Med Care. 2016;54:901–6.
- Hernandez M, Birnbach DJ, Van Zundert AA. Anesthetic management of the illicitsubstance-using patient. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2005;18(3):315–24. https://doi.org/10.1097/01. aco.0000169241.21680.0b.
- National Institute on Drug Abuse. Misuse of prescription drugs. https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/ research-reports/misuse-prescriptiondrugs/summary. Accessed 25 May 2020.
- National Institute on Drug Abuse. Overdose death rates. https://www.drugabuse.gov/related-topics/ trends-statistics/overdose-death-rates.
- Hasin DS, O'Brien CP, Auriacombe M, et al. DSM-5 criteria for substance use disorders: recommendations and rationale. Am J Psychiatry. 2013;170(8):834–51. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.12060782.
- Nack B, Haas SE, Portnof J. Opioid use disorder in dental patients: the latest on how to identify, treat, refer and apply laws and regulations in your practice. Anesth Prog. 2017;64(3):178–87. https://doi. org/10.2344/anpr-64-03-09.
- Bala N, Kaur G, Attri JP, Singh M, Thakur M, Jain P. Psychiatric and anesthetic implications of substance abuse: present scenario. Anesth Essays Res. 2015;9(3):304–9. https://doi. org/10.4103/0259-1162.161810.
- Analgesia and anesthesia for the substance user disorder patient: practice considerations. American Association of Nurse Anesthetists. https:// www.aana.com/docs/default-source/practiceaana-com-web-documents-(all)/analgesia-andanesthesia-for-the-substance-use-disorder-patient. pdf?sfvrsn=3e6b7548\_2.
- US Department of Health and Human Services. National Survey on Drug Use and Health. Washington: US Department of Health and Human Services; 2018.
- Kuczkowski KM. The cocaine abusing parturient: a review of anesthetic considerations. Can J Anesth. 2004;51(2):145–54. https://doi.org/10.1007/ bf03018774.

- Flisberg P, Paech M, Shah T, Ledowski T, Kurowski I, Parsons R. Induction dose of propofol in patients using cannabis. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2009;26:192–5.
- Huson HB, Granados TM, Rasko Y. Surgical considerations of marijuana use in elective procedures. Heliyon. 2018;4(9):e00779. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. heliyon.2018.e00779.
- Dickerson SJ. Cannabis and its effect on anesthesia. J Am Assoc Nurse Anesth. 1980:526–8.
- Granite EL, Farber NJ, Adler P. Parameters for treatment of cocaine-positive patients. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2006;65(10):1984–9.
- National Institute on Drug Abuse. Methamphetamine abuse and addiction: what is methamphetamine? NIDA research report series, NIH publication 98–4210. Bethesda: National Institute of Health; 1998.
- Yu Q, Montes S, Larson D, Watson RR. Effects of chronic methamphetamine exposure on heart function in uninfected and retrovirus-infected mice. Life Sci. 1995;75:29–43.
- Karch SB, Stephens BG, Ho CH. Methamphetamine related deaths in San Francisco; demographic, pathologic and toxicologic profiles. J Forensic Sci. 1999;44:359–68.
- Hasan A, Sharma V. Substance abuse and conscious sedation: theoretical and practical considerations. Br Dent J. 2019;227(10):923–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41415-019-0897-z.
- Meyer R, Patel A, Rattana S, Quock T, Mody S. Prescription opioid abuse: a literature review of the clinical and economic burden in the United States. Popul Health Manag. 2014;17:372–87.
- National Institute on Drug Abuse. Opioid overdose crisis. https://www.drugabuse.gov/drugs-abuse/ opioids/opioid-overdose-crisis.
- Hashemian AM, Omraninava A, Kakhki AD, et al. Effectiveness of local anesthesia with lidocaine in chronic opium abusers. J Emerg Trauma Shock. 2014;7(4):301–4. https://doi. org/10.4103/0974-2700.142765.
- 22. Scher CS, Scher CS. In: Anesthesia for trauma. New York: Springer-Verlag; 2016. pp. 431–445.
- Coluzzi F, Bifulco F, Cuomo A, et al. The challenge of perioperative pain management in opioid-tolerant patients. Ther Clin Risk Manag. 2017;13:1163–73. https://doi.org/10.2147/TCRM.S141332.

# Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery and Hematologic Diseases

10

Karen Zemplenyi and Jasjit K. Dillon

# 10.1 Introduction

Hematologic disorders comprise a wide spectrum of conditions from the inherited to the acquired. The hematological "system" is complex and multiorgan. This family of disorders and diseases can affect cell lineages of the blood, bone marrow, and lymphatic systems. Additionally, disease of non-hematopoietic sites such as the liver, kidneys, and lungs can result in hematological disorder and consequently have impacts on hemostasis and immunocompetency. Patients with hematologic disorders may be prone to bleeding, infection, or complications; all dental practitioners and surgeons should be cognizant of and wellversed in treating. Oral and maxillofacial surgeons must not only be aware of a patient's underlying hematologic condition but should be vigilant for oral manifestations of underlying hematologic disturbance which may otherwise be unknown to the patient. Any decisions of treatment and intervention timing should always be made in concert with a patient's hematologist and/or care team. This chapter will provide an overview of hematological diseases and their management in an outpatient oral maxillofacial

K. Zemplenyi · J. K. Dillon (🖂)

surgery setting. Issues with anticoagulation will be covered in more detail in a separate chapter.

# 10.2 Overview

The following chapter is divided into three subsections: malignancies, disorders of platelets/ clotting factors, and disorders of red blood cells. These are expansive topics so for practicality only a subset of more common conditions are discussed:

Hematologic malignancies

- Leukemia
- Lymphoma
- Multiple myeloma

Disorders of platelets and clotting factors

- Hemophilia
- von Willebrand disease

Disorders of red blood cells

- Sickle cell disease
- Thalassemia

Check for updates

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, University of Washington, Harborview Medical Center, Seattle, WA, USA e-mail: karenz2@uw.edu; dillonj5@uw.edu

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

D. J. Meara, R. Gutta (eds.), Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery for the Medically Compromised Patient, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-82598-0\_10

# 10.3 Hematologic Malignancies

Per the National Cancer Institute (NCI), dentists and dental specialists are vital members of an oncologic multidisciplinary team. Given the rapid rate of cell turnover in the oral cavity, the region is highly susceptible to chemotherapies and ionizing radiation. For oncologic patients, it is of upmost importance to evaluate baseline oral health and aim to treat possible complications prior to starting immunocompromising treatment. Caring for patients with hematologic malignancies requires that the provider triage those conditions requiring immediate attention and establish an oral hygiene plan for the patient moving forward. This plan will be made in conjunction with the rest of the oncologic team. On initial exam, one must be vigilant for oral manifestation of systemic diseases and preempt correction of possible sources of oral trauma, i.e., ill-fitting dentures, jagged teeth, and sharp appliances. Prior to maxillofacial surgery, it is important to obtain a complete blood cell count (CBC) looking for isolated abnormalities or pancytopenias in order to assess risk of intervention and in order to plan optimal timing of intervention. In general, oral surgery should be performed at least 10 days prior to start of myelosuppressive therapy. Though there is no strict consensus among organizations or authors, antibiotic prophylaxis is generally recommended in patients with an absolute neutrophil count less than 1000/mm<sup>3</sup>, and platelet transfusion should be considered if platelet count is less than 60,000/mm<sup>3</sup> ([1], Table 10.1).

# 10.3.1 Leukemia

Leukemia is a group of blood cancers broadly categorized as the malignant proliferation of immature blood cells. Leukemia is classified by chronicity (acute vs chronic) and the cell line affected (lymphoid or myeloid). Lymphocytic leukemias refer to abnormalities in cells lines including B lymphocytes, T lymphocytes, and natural killer cells, while myeloid leukemias develop in neutrophils and monocytes. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia is the most common childhood cancer, accounting for ~30% of pediatric cancer cases.

 Table 10.1
 Recommendations for management guidelines regarding invasive dental procedures (adapted from the NCI)

| Medical status                          | Guideline   | Comments   |
|---|---|--|
| Patients with chronic indwelling venous | AHA prophylactic antibiotic recommendations   | Empiric recommendation (no study detailing infectious risk for these   |
| access lines                            |   | lines following dental procedures)   |
| Neutrophils                             |   | Order complete blood count with differential   |
| >2000/mm <sup>3</sup>                   | No prophylactic antibiotics   |  |
| 1000-2000/mm <sup>3</sup>               | AHA prophylactic antibiotic recommendations   | Use clinical judgment to determine aggressiveness of antibiotic regimen  |
| <1000 mm <sup>3</sup>                   | Amikacin 150 mg/m <sup>2</sup> 1 h preop<br>Ticarcillin 75 mg/kg IV 30 min preop<br>Repeat both 6 h postop  | If organisms are known or suspected,<br>adjust antibiotics appropriately based<br>on sensitivities                             |
| Platelets                               |   | Order platelet count and coagulation tests   |
| >60,000 mm <sup>3</sup>                 | No additional support needed  |  |
| 30,000–60,000/mm <sup>3</sup>           | Optional transfusion for noninvasive treatment,<br>consider transfusion preop and 24 h after surgery<br>for invasive treatment (i.e., dental extractions)   |  |
| <30,000/mm <sup>3</sup>                 | Platelets should be transfused 1 h before<br>procedure; obtain immediate postinfusion platelet<br>count; transfuse regularly to maintain counts<br>>30,000–40,000/mm <sup>3</sup> until initial healing | Always consider hemostatic adjuncts<br>such as those in Table 10.2 (i.e.,<br>topical thrombin, collagen,<br>aminocaproic acid) |

AHA American Heart Association, IV intravenous

Systemic signs of leukemia often include pallor, fatigue, easy bruising, fever, petechia, and enlarged lymph nodes. It is not uncommon for a dental professional to diagnose a case of leukemia due to observable signs in the oral cavity: gingival hyperplasia, easy bleeding, and ecchymosis. Diagnosis of leukemias is confirmed with peripheral blood smear and bone marrow aspirate which show blasts and hypercellular marrow, respectively. Patients with leukemia often have white blood cell counts greater than 20,000 per  $\mu$ L. Leukemic infiltration in the bone marrow may lead to reduced number and dysfunction of the main hematologic cell lines making thrombocytopenia, neutropenia, and anemia commonplace laboratory findings.

Treating the different leukemic subtypes usually involves chemotherapy plus or minus radiation and possible bone marrow transplantation [2]. Chromosomal analysis also helps determine leukemia subtypes and may further guide treatments. Dental procedures should ideally be planned prior to treatment start, and emphasis should be placed on oral hygiene and prevention of gingival irritants. As patients undergo treatment, dental and oral maxillofacial providers should also be aware of treatment side effects including xerostomia, bleeding, trismus, osteonecrosis, and oral mucositis, which has been noted in up to 80% of people receiving hematopoietic cell transplantation [3]. Graft-versus-host disease may develop 2-3 weeks after bone marrow transplant and is stimulated by cytotoxic T lymphocytes from the donor. Oral manifestations of this include erythema, xerostomia, gingival erosions and ulcerations. In patients who have undergone allogenic bone marrow transplant, immune system reconstitution can take up to 12 months, leaving the patient at continued risk for opportunistic infection. In general, antibiotic prophylaxis according to the AHA guidelines is recommended prior to invasive dental procedures in the 6 months following chemotherapy [4].

Oral surveillance must continue well after cancer treatment as enamel hypoplasia, arrested tooth development, and subsequent malignancy (mucoepidermoid carcinoma, squamous cell carcinoma) may be sequelae [5]. In addition, dental defects can be associated with relatively low doses of radiation: mature ameloblasts can be damaged by 10 Gy, and tooth development can be halted by doses up to 30 Gy [6]. This is especially true in patients undergoing radiation prior to age 12. Xerostomia from salivary gland dysfunction, often due to radiation to the head and neck, may take 2–3 months to resolve after therapy [7].

#### 10.3.2 Lymphoma

Lymphoma is a broad group of neoplasms disrupting the lymphoreticular system with Hodgkin and non-Hodgkin subtypes. Presenting symptoms often include fevers, night sweats, and weight loss; these are collectively known as "B symptoms." The patient may have painless lymphadenopathy involving the cervical, supraclavicular, and/or axillary nodes. Lab values may show increased erythrocyte sedimentation rate, elevated lactate dehydrogenase, leukocytosis, and anemia. Diagnosis is obtained by lymph node biopsy; Hodgkin lymphoma is characterized by Reed-Sternberg cells on tissue pathology. Intraoral manifestations of Hodgkin lymphoma include ulcerative lesions and swellings to the palate, tonsil, floor of mouth, and mandible [8]. Non-Hodgkin lymphoma is more likely than Hodgkin to present at extra nodal sites. Primary lesions appearing in the oral cavity along Waldeyer's ring comprise 2-3% of cases ([9], Fig. 10.1). Lesions can present with painless swellings and diffuse bony destruction. Lymphomas are often treated with radiotherapy. As with leukemia, the dental provider must plan invasive dental treatment in conjunction with the oncologist. Complete blood count should be obtained prior to treatment given possible pancytopenia. Table 10.2 provides examples of adjunctive hemostatic measure should they be required. Prophylactic antibiotics are required only for absolute neutrophil count <2000.

| Local measures for      |                              |  |
|-------------------------|------------------------------|--|
| hemostasis              | Derived from                 | Action   |
| Gelatin sponge          | Porcine                      | Absorbent gelatin promotes fibrin framework and      |
|                         |                              | clot. Resorbs in 2 weeks                             |
| Oxidize regenerated     | Plant cellulose              | Provides meshwork for clot and mechanical            |
| cellulose               | (polyanhydroglucoronic acid) | pressure   |
|                         |                              | Resorbs in 7–14 days                                 |
|                         |                              | *Creates an acidic environment, use caution near     |
|                         |                              | nerves   |
| Collagen plugs          | Bovine                       | Causes platelet aggregation                          |
|                         |                              | Resorbs in 10–14 days                                |
| Microfibrillar collagen | Bovine                       | Promotes platelet adherence and activation of        |
|                         |                              | clotting factors                                     |
| Chitosan-based agents   | Chitin                       | Attracts platelets                                   |
| Polysaccharide          | Vegetable starch             | Provides scaffold for clot organization              |
| hemospheres             |                              |  |
| Topical thrombin        | Bovine or recombinant human  | Reconstituted powder                                 |
|                         |                              | Activates factor IIa (converts fibrinogen to fibrin) |
| Topical tranexamic acid |                              | Inhibits conversion of plasminogen to plasmin        |

Table 10.2 Hemostatic measures



Fig. 10.1 Waldeyer's Ring—lymphoid tissue in the pharynx

#### 10.3.3 Multiple Myeloma

Multiple myeloma is a cancer of plasma cells making abnormal levels of monoclonal paraproteins. Men are affected twice as often as females with age >45 predominance. Radiographic signs of the disease are characteristic osteolytic punched-out lesions. Bones involved are usually those with high marrow content, e.g., skull, vertebrae, sternum, and hip. Jaws are involved in up to 30% of multiple myeloma cases with jaw pain,



Fig. 10.2 Plasmacytoma

swelling, mobile teeth, and easy bleeding as presenting signs and symptoms [10]. The intraoral exam should evaluate for areas of gingival bleeding, ecchymosis, tooth mobility, paresthesia, and swellings—soft tissue and bony. When presenting as a single lesion, it is referred to as a plasmacytoma (Fig. 10.2). It is important to evaluate for evidence of osteolytic lesions and potential for development of osteonecrosis of the jaw (ONJ) as multiple myeloma patients are often treated with bisphosphonates and/or radiation treatment, placing them at increased risk for ONJ. Questions of steroid supplementation may be encountered for patients with multiple myeloma undergoing invasive dental treatments, as chemotherapy treatment regimens often employ corticosteroids. Adrenal crises secondary to insufficiency are rare in the dental setting; stress dose steroid supplementation before oral surgery is not usually recommended [11]. Patients should, however, continue with their regular daily dose. Stress dosing may be considered in patients who have been treated with a glucocorticoid. Specific details regarding stress dosing can be found in the Endocrine chapter.

# 10.4 Disorders of Platelets and Clotting Factors

Effective hemostasis requires thrombosis via two interconnected processes: formation of a platelet plug and the coagulation cascade (Fig. 10.3). Platelets are derived from megakaryocytes which differentiate in bone marrow and have a life span of 7–10 days. Thrombocytopenia may result from increased platelet destruction, decreased production, or autoimmune attack. Drugs may also produce thrombocytopenia either directly or by triggering antibody reaction.

Normal platelet levels range between 150,000 and 440,000 with spontaneous bleeding likely with levels <20,000. Henderson et al. [12] have recommended platelet level >50,000 for minor oral surgery and >100,000 for more invasive oral surgery. The platelet count should be evaluated within 24 h of surgery. Prophylactic platelet transfusion can be considered for extensive maxillofacial surgery but must be weighed against transfusion reactions risks (e.g., fever, allergic reactions, viral infections). One unit of platelets can be expected to increase counts by 5000–8000 [12]. Alternatively, desmopressin can be administered in those with acquired or congenital platelet dysfunction (see discussion below regarding desmopressin).



Fig. 10.3 Hemostasis

Other aspects of a patient's medical and social history may also have effects on platelet function. For instance, uremia of chronic kidney disease or those on dialysis often exhibit platelet dysfunction and coagulopathies. Patients with chronic liver disease (i.e., in alcoholism) often have thrombocytopenia and coagulation factor deficiency, increasing bleeding risk.

#### 10.4.1 Hemophilia

Hemophilia is a group of bleeding disorders due to deficiency in coagulation factor VIII (hemophilia A), factor IX (hemophilia B), or factor XI (hemophilia C). Hemophilia C is inherited in an autosomal recessive pattern primarily affecting the Ashkenazi Jewish community and is the rarest of the forms. Hemophilia A is the more common form comprising 80-85% of the total hemophilia population [13]. Hemophilia A and B are inherited via X-linked inheritance, with men most often affected. Hemophilia carriers are generally asymptomatic though factor levels may be below the normal threshold and should be tested prior to any invasive procedures. Expect to have a prolonged activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT) with low levels of these factors. Common history elicited from those with hemophilia include easy bruising throughout childhood, hemarthrosis, and seemingly spontaneous bleeding into soft tissue and from mucous membranes. Oral hygiene is essential in these patients as they are predisposed to gingival bleeding. Care of a patient with hemophilia starts with treatment planning alongside the patient's hematologist. Preoperative labs should be obtained within a

week of planned procedures and should include factor inhibitor screening and inhibitor assay looking for antibodies targeted against specific clotting factors. These antibodies can develop in patients who have required repetitive replacement therapy. Factor levels should be obtained prior to dental extractions with goal levels minimally at 50% of normal ([14], Table 10.3). Factors should be between 75 and 100% of normal levels before maxillofacial surgery and should be repleted 30–60 min prior to surgery [16]. Factor levels should be maintained at these levels for 7 days after surgery to minimize bleeding risk [17]. Treatment with factor-specific concentrates is preferred over cryoprecipitate or fresh frozen plasma (FFP). Cryoprecipitate is preferred over FFP for hemophilia A because it is often difficult to obtain high enough factor VIII with FFP alone, though it is usually sufficient for hemophilia B [18]. Prophylactic antibiotics are not required in the hemophiliac.

Other considerations in caring for the hemophiliac patient include obtaining venous access with small gauge (27 or 30) catheter. In addition, regional anesthetic blocks such as inferior alveolar and lingual blocks should be avoided if possible, opting instead for local infiltration. This is due to propensity for developing hematoma in soft tissue. Minimal recommended clotting factor levels prior to blocks are 20–30% of normal levels [19]. Any extractions or surgical procedures should be carried out with a plan for hemostasis (Table 10.2).

To this end, tranexamic acid (TXA) or aminocaproic acid are useful adjuncts. TXA is an antifibrinolytic acting via competitive inhibition of plasmin (Fig. 10.3). It can be administered

|                    | Plasma level of factor |  |
|--------------------|------------------------|--|
| Severity           | VIII (%)               | Dental management  |
| Mild               | 6–50%                  | Dental treatment can be delivered in the primary care setting. However, shared care with hematologist is recommended   |
| Moderate<br>Severe | 2–5%<br><1%            | <ul> <li>Patients at these levels may require preoperative prophylactic factor<br/>replacement therapy</li> <li>Consult with hematologist</li> <li>Seriously consider treating these patients in a secondary care setting</li> <li>Preventative dentistry should be emphasized: oral hygiene, pit/fissure<br/>sealing, fluoride, etc.</li> </ul> |

Table 10.3 Severity levels of hemophilia A and general recommendations for dental management (adapted from [15])

either intravenously (IV), by oral tablet, or by mouthwash. TXA should not be given to patients with factor IX deficiency who are also receiving PCC (prothrombin complex concentrates) as there is an increased risk of thromboembolism [20]. Aminocaproic acid is an antifibrinolytic, similar to tranexamic acid, but has a shorter plasma half-life and is less potent and potentially more toxic [13]. Both TXA and aminocaproic acid can be administered by pouring on gauze or gelatin sponge and using direct pressure on bleeding areas.

Another pharmacologic alternative is desmopressin. This synthetic vasopressin increases levels of factor VIII and vWF by stimulating their release from endothelial cells. It can be the treatment of choice for mild or moderate hemophilia A and may preclude the need for clotting factors. It can be administered IV, subcutaneously, or as a nasal spray. Possible desmopressin side effects to monitor for are tachycardia, hypotension, and headache [16].

#### 10.4.2 von Willebrand Disease

Von Willebrand disease is a bleeding disorder which presents in various subtypes all due to reduced levels of von Willebrand factor (vWF). It can be an inherited or acquired condition and it affects ~1% of the population. vWF's role in the coagulation cascade is as a carrier for factor VIII, increasing its half-life and attaching to collagen, thus supporting clot formation ([15], Fig. 10.3). Laboratory findings with von Willebrand disease include decreased vWF levels, decreased factor VIII, and prolonged aPTT. It is recommended that for planned dental extractions, a level of at least 60% vWF is achieved preoperatively [18]. Desmopressin is the treatment of choice for most forms of mild to moderate vWD as it increases release of vWF and factor VIII from endothelial cells. Desmopressin can be administered within 60 min of surgery. Severe forms of the disorder may require replacement therapy with vWF concentrate. Consultation with the patient's hematologist is required prior to any procedure, and the proper surgical setting must be thoughtfully determined to allow for proper monitoring and treatment, postoperatively.

#### 10.5 Disorders of Red Blood Cells

Anemia is defined as a reduced number of circulating red blood cells (RBCs). This is reflected by low hemoglobin and hematocrit levels-with minimal thresholds defined differently for men and women. Levels vary slightly depending on the institution, but generally anemia is classified as Hb < 13 (Hct < 41) for men and Hb <12 (Hct < 36) for woman. Causes of anemia are numerous but can be broadly organized into three etiologies: decreased RBC production, increased destruction of circulating RBCs, or blood loss. Additional lab values such as mean corpuscular volume (MCV), red cell distribution width (RDW), and mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration (MCHC) can help distinguish between these causes. Though routine outpatient oral surgery often does not require intervention in patients with anemia, providers should be aware of patients with underlying anemia when invasive procedures are planned and greater blood loss expected. Generally, a minimal hemoglobin of 7 is recommended prior to oral and maxillofacial surgery [21]. The following conditions which given may underlie anemia are special consideration.

# 10.5.1 Sickle Cell Disease

Sickle cell disease is an autosomal recessive condition which produces red blood cells whose altered shape and function ("sickled") predisposes patients to anemia and occlusive episodes. This is due to a mutated beta hemoglobin chain which results in a deformed hemoglobin, called HbS. The disease and trait are most commonly found in the African, Caribbean, Greek, and Southern Italian populations [18]. Patients with sickle cell disease may suffer from vaso-occlusive complications including bone pain, nephropathy, priapism, acute chest syndrome, and stroke. Pain crisis during these events can be severe, often accompanied by fever and leukocytosis, and often require hospitalization. For the oral and maxillofacial surgeon specifically, there are intraoral manifestations of sickle disease of which to be aware: aseptic pulp necrosis, pale and/or ulcerative mucosa, and osteomyelitis [22]. Neuropathy due to infarctions of surrounding vascular supply may also be observed in patients with sickle cell. Loss of sensation in the mental nerve distribution has been noted 2.2 times as often in those with sickle cell compared to those without [23].

Treatment in patients with sickle cell disease should be focused around preventing acute sickle crisis. Poorly oxygenated or acidic tissues can trigger "sickling" of hemoglobin S and cause vaso-occlusive crisis. Causes may include infection, altitude, dehydration, or stress generally. For these reasons, patients should be kept warm and hydrated, and oxygen therapy should be administered during and after any procedure. Providers may opt for local anesthetic without vasoconstrictor. Nitrous and anxiolytics should be considered as adjuncts in the outpatient setting.

Patients with sickle cell disease often become functionally asplenic due to repeat splenic infarctions and are consequently left prone to infections—specifically those by encapsulated bacteria: *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, *Haemophilus influenzae*, and meningococcus. Given functional asplenia, it is important for providers to preempt infectious complications prior to oral surgery. In those who are functionally asplenic or who are post splenectomy, antibiotic prophylaxis should be administered within 1 h prior to dental procedures: penicillin, amoxicillin, or clindamycin are acceptable [24].

Prior to treating a patient with sickle cell disease, it is important to ascertain when the last crisis took place, what factors trigger crises for the individual, and if regular blood transfusions have been required. A complete blood count should be obtained within 24 h of surgery. It is recommended to correct any hemoglobin <10 prior to maxillofacial surgeries requiring general anesthesia [22].

### 10.5.2 Thalassemia

Thalassemias are a group of hemoglobinopathies that result in reduced quality and quantity of hemoglobin. Thalassemias are most prevalent in Italian, Asian, African, Middle Eastern, and Greek ancestry [25]. They are a genetic condition divided into alpha and beta subtypes each resulting in various severities of presenting phenotypes. Presentations can range from mild anemias to dependence on regular blood transfusion or even to death. Patients dependent on transfusions may develop iron overload potentially leading to cardiac dysfunction. They may also suffer from splenomegaly leading eventually to splenectomy and increased susceptibility to infection. In regard to oral maxillofacial surgery, manifestations of thalassemia can be seen secondary to bone marrow proliferation. "Chipmunk face" may develop with frontal bossing, enlarged maxilla, depressed nasal bridge, class II malocclusion, and protrusive maxillary dentition (Fig. 10.4). In addition, marrow proliferation may lead to thinning of the mandibular cortex and propensity towards pathologic fracture [27]. Patients often have pale gingiva secondary to anemia and salivary gland inflammation due to iron deposition. In managing patients with thalassemias, the provider should know baseline hemoglobin and splenectomy status. If post splenectomy, antibiotic prophylaxis is recommended. A complete blood count should be obtained within 24 h of planned procedures with a goal hemoglobin over 7. Any transfusions and preoperative antibiotic administration should be coordinated with the patient's hematologist.

# 10.6 Summary

Hematologic conditions can come in many varieties and affect multiple cell lineages making preoperative complete blood cell count important. Knowledge of neutrophil and platelet thresholds, requiring prophylaxis and transfusion respectively, is a likewise key point of understanding. Hematologic malignancies may


Fig. 10.4 (a) 13-year old boy with thalassemia (b) lateral cephalometric radiograph of same patient (from [26])

present with oral manifestations as the first signs, requiring vigilance on the part of oral health provider. Finally, care plans for a patient with any hematologic disorder should always be made in conjunction with a hematologist or the oncologic care team.

#### References

- Zimmermann C, Meurer MI, Grando LJ, Del Moral JÂG, da Silva Rath IB, Schaefer Tavares S. Dental treatment in patients with leukemia. J Oncol. 2015;2015:571739.
- Seibel NL. Treatment of acute lymphoblastic leukemia in children and adolescents: peaks and pitfalls. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program. 2008:374–80.
- Schubert MM, Peterson DE. Oral Complications of Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation. In Appelbaum FR, Forman SJ, Negrin RS, Blume KG. (eds.) Thomas' Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation, 2009. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781444303537.ch103.
- Koulocheris P, Metzger MC, Kesting MR, Hohlweg-Majert B. Life-threatening complications associated with acute monocytic leukaemia after dental treatment. Aust Dent J. 2009;54(1):45–8.
- Lowal KA, Alaizari NA, Tarakji B, Petro W, Hussain KA, Altamimi MA. Dental considerations for leukemic pediatric patients: an updated review for the general dental practitioner. Mater Sociomed. 2015;27(5):359–62.
- Seremidi K, Kloukos D, Polychronopoulou A, Kattamis A, Kavvadia K. Late effects of chemo and radiation treatment on dental structures of childhood

cancer survivors. A systematic review and metaanalysis. Head Neck. 2019;41(9):3422–33.

- US National Cancer Institute. Oral complications of chemotherapy and head/neck radiation. US National Cancer Institute; 2011. https://www.cancer.gov/ about-cancer/treatment/side-effects/mouth-throat/ oral-complications-hp-pdq.
- Franch AM, Esteve CG, Perez MGS. Oral manifestations and dental management of patient with leukocyte alterations. J Clin Exp Dent. 2011;3(1):e53–9.
- 9. Kini R, Saha A, Naik V. Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma of mandible: a case report. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal. 2009;14:421–4.
- Miller CD, Goltry RR, Shenasky JH. Multiple myeloma involving the mandible. Report of a case. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1969;28(4):603–9.
- Liu MM, Reidy AB, Saatee S, Collard CD. Perioperative steroid management: approaches based on current evidence. Anesthesiology. 2017;127(1): 166–72.
- Henderson JM, Bergman S, Salama A, et al. Management of the oral and maxillofacial surgery patient with thrombocytopenia. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2001;59:421.
- Srivastava A, Brewer AK, Mauser-Bunschoten EP, Key NS, Kitchen S, Llinas A, Ludlam CA, Mahlangu JN, Mulder K, Poon MC, Street A. Guidelines for the management of hemophilia. Haemophilia. 2013;191:1–47.
- 14. Hermans C, Altisent C, Batorova A, et al.; European Haemophilia Therapy Standardisation Board. Replacement therapy for invasive procedures in patients with haemophilia; literature review, European survey and recommendations. Haemophilia. 2009;15:639–58.
- Abed H, Ainousa A. Dental management of patients with inherited bleeding disorders: a multidisciplinary approach. Gen Dent. 2017;65(6):56–60.

- Anderson J, Brewer A, Creagh D, et al. Guidance on the dental management of patients with haemophilia and congenital bleeding disorders. Br Dent J. 2013;215(10):497–504.
- Hewson I, Makhmalbaf P, Street A, et al. Dental surgery with minimal factor support in the inherited bleeding disorder population at the Alfred Hospital. Haemophilia. 2011;17:e185–8.
- Kim J, Huh R, Jaffer AK. Perioperative approach to anticoagulants and hematologic disorders. Anesthesiol Clin. 2016;34(1):101–25.
- Gupta A, Epstein JB, Cabay RJ. Bleeding disorders of importance in dental care and related patient management. J Can Dent Assoc. 2007;73(1):77–83.
- Kim HC, McMillan CW, White GC, et al. Purified factor IX using monoclonal immunoaffinity technique: clinical trials in hemophilia B and comparison to prothrombin complex concentrates. Blood. 1992;79:568–75.
- 21. Prevost R, Feugueur G, Moizan H, Keribin P, Kimakhe J, Veyssiere A. Management of patients

with sickle cell disease in oral surgery. Literature review and update. J Stomatol Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2018;119(6):493–7.

- Chekroun M, Chérifi H, Fournier B, et al. Oral manifestations of sickle cell disease. Br Dent J. 2019;226(1):27–31.
- Mendes PH, Fonseca NG, Martelli DR, et al. Orofacial manifestations in patients with sickle cell anaemia. Quintessence Int. 2011;42:701–9.
- Stanley AC, Christian JM. Sickle cell disease and perioperative considerations: review and retrospective report. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013;71(6):1027–33.
- 25. Beck WS. Hematology. The Massachusetts Institute of Technology: USA; 1998.
- Prakash A, Arora A, Marure P, Singh G, Agarwal A. Diagnosis and treatment consideration in thalassemia. J Ind Orthod Soc. 2014;48(3):184–8.
- Helmi N, Bashir M, Shireen A, Ahmed IM. Thalassemia review: features, dental considerations and management. Electron Physician. 2017;9(3):4003–8.



11

## Preoperative Evaluation of Patients with Neurological Disorders

### Chad W. Dammling and Kathlyn K. Powell

Neurological diseases represent a fairly common problem in the general population with a lifetime prevalence of 6% [1]. These conditions can present at any age but are generally more common in older patients, and symptoms tend to worsen over time [2]. As the population ages, these conditions are expected to increase in prevalence necessitating awareness of the disease and proper perioperative management [2, 3]. Additionally, these neurologic impairments are often complicated by additional systemic illnesses, polypharmacy, and the chronicity of the disease itself [4]. A thorough evaluation and assessment of these patients is imperative to prevent adverse perioperative events and decrease susceptibility to intraoperative risks.

Cerebrovascular disease and seizures are the most common neurological conditions that the oral and maxillofacial surgeon will encounter preoperatively. Despite this, familiarity with even uncommon disorders is essential as various neurologic diseases can significantly affect perioperative management, including choice of anesthetic agent, surgical techniques, and postoperative analgesia [2, 5].

In addition to a proper history and physical examination, a thorough neurologic examination should be completed with appropriate documentation of baseline status and any functional or sensory deficits [2]. Particular attention should be paid to cranial nerve examinations and gross motor and sensory functions [5]. In several of the neurologic conditions discussed below, additional cardiac and pulmonary testing is indicated for preoperative evaluation. This is particularly important in diseases such as muscular dystrophy and myasthenia gravis where preoperative cardiac and pulmonary evaluation is imperative [5]. If sedation or general anesthesia is indicated, strict evaluation of perioperative medications is advised as many of these drugs can interfere with the patients prescriptions and neurologic condition [6].

The goal of this chapter is to discuss specific neurological diseases and provide preoperative guidelines for each condition. Patients are generally followed by a neurologist that can provide further insight into the progression of the patient's disease and any recent changes in health status [5]. Consultation with these physicians is highly recommended, especially for elective outpatient procedures which can be delayed until medical optimization is complete.

#### 11.1 Cerebrovascular Disease

Cerebrovascular disease affects a large percent of the patient population and includes a history of stroke and transient ischemic attacks (TIA) [5].

C. W. Dammling · K. K. Powell (🖂)

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, University of Alabama, Birmingham, AL, USA e-mail: Dammling@uab.edu; Krugelk@uab.edu

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

D. J. Meara, R. Gutta (eds.), Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery for the Medically Compromised Patient, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-82598-0\_11

Stroke is the fifth leading cause of death in the United States and remains a leader in lingering disability and mortality [7]. The majority of strokes (90%) are ischemic and the remaining 10% are hemorrhagic. When evaluating a patient with a history of cerebrovascular disease, it is critical to determine the severity, cause, and recency of the stroke or TIA.

These patients will often have several other risk factors that lead to the initial development of their disease, including hypertension, diabetes mellitus, carotid artery stenosis, cardiac arrhythmias, and hyperlipidemia [5]. In a patient with uncontrolled hypertension, further referral and evaluation by their primary care physician is recommended prior to any elective surgery [8]. If a carotid bruit is heard on physical exam, it is important to discuss visual impairments, numbness, or weakness, which could be suggestive of carotid vascular disease. It is important to remember that a carotid bruit alone does not indicate or correlate with the degree of carotid artery stenosis [8]. If the patient reports symptoms of carotid artery stenosis, then angiography would be indicated for further evaluation and possible endarterectomy prior to elective surgery. Carotid endarterectomy is performed if a patient is symptomatic or if their occlusion is found to be greater than 70%.

The severity of stroke can be elicited through a focused physical exam to evaluate for baseline neurologic deficits. These should also be verified postoperatively to assess for any changes [8]. It is critical to confirm that the patient has not had progressive neurologic changes or worsening of symptoms as these should be evaluated prior to elective surgical intervention. Any recent history of acute loss of visual fields or severe headaches must also be assessed by a primary care physician or neurologist prior to elective surgery [1].

The cause of the stroke should also be known to further stratify the patient's perioperative risk. If the stroke was ischemic or due to atrial fibrillation, the patient will often be on antiplatelet or anticoagulation therapy. Perioperative discontinuation of antithrombotic medications increases the risk of stroke, but this must be weighed with risk of bleeding during surgery [3]. Management of these medications will be discussed in later chapters.

There are no clear guidelines on when an elective surgery can be completed following cerebrovascular accident, but the risk of major adverse cardiac events remains increased for approximately 9 months. Generally, for elective procedures, at least 6 months is recommended following a stroke or TIA to confirm hemodynamic and neurologic stability [1, 3]. Following this time period, it is critical to confirm that there has been medical optimization of the patient's risk factors, including management of diabetes and hypertension. For those undergoing sedation, preoperative evaluation of these patients should also include electrocardiogram, echocardiogram, and possible stress testing to minimize perioperative risk.

#### 11.2 Epilepsy/Seizures

Epilepsy is a disorder that affects approximately 1% of the population and is defined as recurrent paroxysmal seizure activity [9, 10]. When evaluating patients with a history of seizures, a thorough history should be elicited, including type, duration, frequency, inciting events, and current medical management [11]. Seizures can be either partial or generalized. Partial seizures initiate at a localized area of the brain, while generalized seizures involve the entire brain [9]. The risk that a patient will have a seizure perioperatively is directly correlated with the frequency of seizures that he or she has at baseline [12]. Additionally, it is essential to recognize non-epileptic causes of seizures that may have led to previous episodes, including fever, ethanol withdrawal, hypoxia, and hypoglycemia to reduce perioperative recurrences [8].

Aside from a febrile seizure as an infant, patients with a history of seizures should be managed closely by a neurologist with documentation of medications and any recent episodes [8]. Perioperatively it is critical to minimize changes in their current treatment regimen through strict maintenance of antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) and minimization of stress during the procedure. All antiepileptic medications should be taken on their normal schedule including the morning of surgery and postoperatively [13]. If oral access is unavailable during surgery, then antiseizure medications should be given parentally [2]. Additional seizure precipitating factors should be minimized prior to the procedure including sleep deprivation and alcohol intake.

It is critical to recognize that intraoperative and postoperative medication changes may need to be made due to interactions with AEDs. Common AEDs that the patient may be prescribed include phenytoin, phenobarbital, carbaethosuximide, mazepine, lamotrigine, and valproic acid. Many of these medications can have sedative side effects or inhibit liver enzymes leading to oversedation. Additionally, proconvulsant medications should be limited intraoperatively and postoperatively including ketamine, methohexital, meperidine, and tramadol [9, 14-17] (Table 11.1). However, some controversy exists as to whether the use of ketamine is a relative or absolute contraindication, as the literature is not conclusive of this particular issue.

Perioperatively, the risk of seizures in epileptic patients is estimated at 2-6% [3, 13]. In a patient that had a seizure within the preceding month, this risk is as high as 20% [3]. For this reason, it is critical to be knowledgeable about management if an episode does occur. Most often

 Table 11.1
 Proconvulsant medications

| AntibioticsIsoniazid, metronidazole,<br>penicillins, cephalosporins,<br>imipenemAntidepressantsTCAs (amitriptyline), SSRIs<br>(sertraline), SNRIs<br>(venlafaxine, duloxetine),<br>bupropion, trazodoneGeneral anestheticsEnflurane, isoflurane,<br>ketamine, etomidate,<br>methohexitalImmunosuppressantsCyclosporine, azathioprineLocal anestheticsLidocaine, bupivacaine,<br>procaineNeurolepticsClozapine, lithium, haloperidolStimulantsDexamphetamine,<br>methylphenidateAnalgesicsTramadol, meperidine,<br>fentanyl                        |                     |                                 |
|---|---------------------|---------------------------------|
| penicillins, cephalosporins,<br>imipenemAntidepressantsTCAs (amitriptyline), SSRIs<br>(sertraline), SNRIs<br>(venlafaxine, duloxetine),<br>bupropion, trazodoneGeneral anestheticsEnflurane, isoflurane,<br>ketamine, etomidate,<br>methohexitalImmunosuppressantsCyclosporine, azathioprineLocal anestheticsLidocaine, bupivacaine,<br>procaineNeurolepticsClozapine, lithium, haloperidolStimulantsDexamphetamine,<br>methylphenidateAnalgesicsTramadol, meperidine,<br>fentanyl  | Antibiotics         | Isoniazid, metronidazole,       |
| imipenemAntidepressantsTCAs (amitriptyline), SSRIs<br>(sertraline), SNRIs<br>(venlafaxine, duloxetine),<br>bupropion, trazodoneGeneral anestheticsEnflurane, isoflurane,<br>ketamine, etomidate,<br>methohexitalImmunosuppressantsCyclosporine, azathioprineLocal anestheticsLidocaine, bupivacaine,<br>procaineNeurolepticsClozapine, lithium, haloperidolStimulantsDexamphetamine,<br>methylphenidateAnalgesicsTramadol, meperidine,<br>fentanyl  |                     | penicillins, cephalosporins,    |
| Antidepressants       TCAs (amitriptyline), SSRIs<br>(sertraline), SNRIs<br>(venlafaxine, duloxetine),<br>bupropion, trazodone         General anesthetics       Enflurane, isoflurane,<br>ketamine, etomidate,<br>methohexital         Immunosuppressants       Cyclosporine, azathioprine         Local anesthetics       Lidocaine, bupivacaine,<br>procaine         Neuroleptics       Clozapine, lithium, haloperidol         Stimulants       Dexamphetamine,<br>methylphenidate         Analgesics       Tramadol, meperidine,<br>fentanyl |                     | imipenem                        |
| (sertraline), SNRIs<br>(venlafaxine, duloxetine),<br>bupropion, trazodoneGeneral anestheticsEnflurane, isoflurane,<br>ketamine, etomidate,<br>methohexitalImmunosuppressantsCyclosporine, azathioprineLocal anestheticsLidocaine, bupivacaine,<br>procaineNeurolepticsClozapine, lithium, haloperidolStimulantsDexamphetamine,<br>methylphenidateAnalgesicsTramadol, meperidine,<br>fentanyl  | Antidepressants     | TCAs (amitriptyline), SSRIs     |
| (venlafaxine, duloxetine),<br>bupropion, trazodoneGeneral anestheticsEnflurane, isoflurane,<br>ketamine, etomidate,<br>methohexitalImmunosuppressantsCyclosporine, azathioprineLocal anestheticsLidocaine, bupivacaine,<br>procaineNeurolepticsClozapine, lithium, haloperidolStimulantsDexamphetamine,<br>   |                     | (sertraline), SNRIs             |
| bupropion, trazodoneGeneral anestheticsEnflurane, isoflurane,<br>ketamine, etomidate,<br>methohexitalImmunosuppressantsCyclosporine, azathioprineLocal anestheticsLidocaine, bupivacaine,<br>procaineNeurolepticsClozapine, lithium, haloperidolStimulantsDexamphetamine,<br>methylphenidateAnalgesicsTramadol, meperidine,<br>fentanyl   |                     | (venlafaxine, duloxetine),      |
| General anestheticsEnflurane, isoflurane,<br>ketamine, etomidate,<br>methohexitalImmunosuppressantsCyclosporine, azathioprineLocal anestheticsLidocaine, bupivacaine,<br>procaineNeurolepticsClozapine, lithium, haloperidolStimulantsDexamphetamine,<br>methylphenidateAnalgesicsTramadol, meperidine,<br>fentanyl   |                     | bupropion, trazodone            |
| ketamine, etomidate,<br>methohexital<br>Immunosuppressants Cyclosporine, azathioprine<br>Local anesthetics Lidocaine, bupivacaine,<br>procaine<br>Neuroleptics Clozapine, lithium, haloperidol<br>Stimulants Dexamphetamine,<br>methylphenidate<br>Analgesics Tramadol, meperidine,<br>fentanyl   | General anesthetics | Enflurane, isoflurane,          |
| methohexitalImmunosuppressantsCyclosporine, azathioprineLocal anestheticsLidocaine, bupivacaine,<br>procaineNeurolepticsClozapine, lithium, haloperidolStimulantsDexamphetamine,<br>methylphenidateAnalgesicsTramadol, meperidine,<br>fentanyl  |                     | ketamine, etomidate,            |
| ImmunosuppressantsCyclosporine, azathioprineLocal anestheticsLidocaine, bupivacaine,<br>procaineNeurolepticsClozapine, lithium, haloperidolStimulantsDexamphetamine,<br>methylphenidateAnalgesicsTramadol, meperidine,<br>fentanyl  |                     | methohexital                    |
| Local anestheticsLidocaine, bupivacaine,<br>procaineNeurolepticsClozapine, lithium, haloperidolStimulantsDexamphetamine,<br>methylphenidateAnalgesicsTramadol, meperidine,<br>fentanyl  | Immunosuppressants  | Cyclosporine, azathioprine      |
| procaineNeurolepticsClozapine, lithium, haloperidolStimulantsDexamphetamine,<br>methylphenidateAnalgesicsTramadol, meperidine,<br>fentanyl  | Local anesthetics   | Lidocaine, bupivacaine,         |
| Neuroleptics     Clozapine, lithium, haloperidol       Stimulants     Dexamphetamine,<br>methylphenidate       Analgesics     Tramadol, meperidine,<br>fentanyl   |                     | procaine                        |
| StimulantsDexamphetamine,<br>methylphenidateAnalgesicsTramadol, meperidine,<br>fentanyl   | Neuroleptics        | Clozapine, lithium, haloperidol |
| methylphenidate       Analgesics     Tramadol, meperidine,<br>fentanyl  | Stimulants          | Dexamphetamine,                 |
| Analgesics Tramadol, meperidine,<br>fentanyl  |                     | methylphenidate                 |
| fentanyl  | Analgesics          | Tramadol, meperidine,           |
|   |                     | fentanyl                        |

the seizures that occur perioperatively are due to the underlying condition rather than medications given during the procedure [13].

Finally, and most specific to the oral and maxillofacial surgeon, is a detailed evaluation of treatment options that patients with seizure disorders can receive. Procedures requiring postoperative maxillomandibular fixation are contraindicated, and other alternatives must be evaluated [18].

#### 11.3 Dementia

Dementia is a slow and progressive decrease in cognitive abilities over time [19]. This can be directly contrasted with delirium which is an acute change in mental status. There are several irreversible causes of dementia including Alzheimer's disease, vascular dementia, frontotemporal dementia, and Lewy body dementia. Alzheimer's is the most common cause of dementia (more than half of all cases) and is characterized by impaired memory, judgment, and emotional liability [9]. Similar to other neurologic impairments, patients with dementia will often be followed closely by a neurologist for progression of disease and pharmacologic intervention (Table 11.2) [20, 21]. A cognitive assessment tool such as the mini-mental status examination can be valuable to provide a baseline status prior to a surgical procedure [1, 21].

Symptoms of Alzheimer's disease and other causes of dementia are highly variable and dependent on the progression of the disease. Patients that have severe cognitive dysfunction must be accompanied by a caregiver to help with a proper

**Table 11.2** Common medications prescribed forAlzheimer's treatment

| Donepezil, rivastigmine, galantamine | Cholinesterase inhibitors                 |
|--------------------------------------|---|
| Memantine                            | N-methyl-D-aspartate<br>(NMDA) antagonist |
| Alpha-tocopherol<br>(Vitamin E)      | Antioxidant                               |
| Selegiline                           | Monoamine oxidase<br>inhibitor            |

preoperative assessment, history, and consent [10]. Additionally, in advanced dementia, some patients may require sedation for the procedure due to uncooperativeness. Although delirium is much more common in an inpatient setting, it still must be considered during outpatient surgery, especially if sedation is to be utilized.

Many medications used perioperatively can have a significant association with delirium including opiates, antihistamines, benzodiazepines, high-dose steroids, and anticholinergics [22]. Patients with dementia are much more likely to have postoperative cognitive dysfunction and episodes of delirium [3, 5, 23].

#### 11.4 Movement Disorders

#### 11.4.1 Parkinson's Disease

Parkinson's disease (PD) is an extremely common disorder in the United States and is the second most common neurodegenerative disorder [24, 25]. Both PD and "Parkinson's plus" syndromes appear clinically similar but have different responses to dopaminergic treatment. Similar to many neurologic disorders, PD represents a heterogeneous group of symptoms that include decreased dexterity, bradykinesia, tremor, decreased facial expressions, anosmia, dysphagia, postural instability, dementia, and depression. These patients frequently have motor and problems necessitating postural careful monitoring.

Preoperatively, a detailed history and physical should include medications and progression of the disease. A common rating system for PD is the Unified Parkinson Disease Rating Scale (UPDRS) [6]. This value correlates with the severity of disease and compiles mentation, mood, activities of daily living, and motor difficulties. Due to motor difficulties within the pharynx specifically, patients with PD also often have dysphagia and excessive secretions. This is especially critical to anticipate perioperatively with thorough suctioning of the oropharynx to lower risk of aspiration pneumonia [6, 18]. In addition to dysphagia, patients with Parkinson's will also exhibit sialorrhea secondary to autonomic dysfunction [6]. For this same reason, orthostatic hypotension is extremely common and requires careful postoperative monitoring [26].

All antiparkinsons medications should be continued preoperatively. Most commonly, patients are treated with dopaminergic agents (carbidopalevodopa), dopamine agonists (pramipexole or ropinirole), MAO-B inhibitors (selegiline and rasagiline), and benztropine [6, 14]. Flares of Parkinson's symptoms often occur with abrupt removal of medications, especially given the short half-life of levodopa [10]. These medications should be continued as close to their regular schedule due to the risk of development of a rare, but potentially fatal, condition called Parkinsonhyperpyrexia syndrome. This syndrome is extremely similar to neuroleptic malignant syndrome and can be triggered by the abrupt cessation of dopaminergic drugs for as short as 6-12 h [3]. If nothing by mouth status is required for surgery, the use of transdermal patches is a viable alternative [12].

Many patients in late state PD may also have deep brain stimulators (DBS) in place which may cause apprehension for preoperative imaging. For those with DBS, ultrasounds, computerized tomography (CT) scans, and plain film radiographs are generally safe modalities for evaluation (Fig. 11.1 [27],). Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) can be completed in patients with



**Fig. 11.1** Lateral plain film radiograph exhibiting DBS in place [27]

a DBS in place, but there are specific guidelines and evaluations that must be followed in order to prevent brain injury and edema [12].

#### 11.4.2 Huntington's

Huntington's disease is a rare inherited movement disorder characterized by progressive motor, neurologic, and cognitive problems. The disease usually presents between 30 and 40 years of age and includes motor symptoms such as choreiform movements of the face, dysarthria, and tongue thrusting [10]. Later stages of the disease are complicated by aspiration pneumonia, cachexia, and cardiac failure. The basal ganglia is most often affected, and early atrophy of these regions predicts advanced motor and cognitive decline [4]. The preoperative evaluation of these patients is heavily dependent on their current functional status especially given the speed of deterioration. Positioning difficulties, uncontrolled movements, and concern for aspiration may necessitate the use of an operating room for the majority of procedures.

#### 11.5 Neuromuscular Disorders

Patients with neuromuscular conditions can experience various complications related directly to surgical interventions and medications used perioperatively. Consultation with the patient's neurologist is often indicated in order to treat the patient at the most medically optimized point in his or her disease [18]. If general anesthesia is indicated in these patients, there are increased risks of life-threatening reactions to neuromuscular blockade and profound responses to volatile anesthetics. Strict consultation with an anesthesiologist is recommended for further preoperative evaluation and stratification of risks [2].

The most common feature that must be evaluated in patients with neuromuscular disorders, especially if they are undergoing sedation, is respiratory weakness. In addition to a formal history and physical, details on dyspnea, fatigue, and orthopnea must be ascertained. Spirometry to document functional vital capacity and an arterial blood gas analysis can be considered to preoperative sedation evaluation. aid in Generally, patients with neuromuscular disorders will also have increased sensitivity to medications that can cause respiratory depression including opiates, benzodiazepines, and barbiturates [3, 12]. Cardiac complications are also of concern in neuromuscular disorders and are discussed in more detail below. Individualized tests for conditions should be considered preoperatively including electrocardiogram and echocardiography [12].

Patients with neuromuscular disorders will often be placed on steroids or immunosuppressant therapy for treatment of their disease. It is important to recognize and discuss possible surgical complications of these medications including poor wound healing and the requirement of a stress dose of steroids prior to the procedure.

#### 11.5.1 Myasthenia Gravis

Myasthenia gravis (MG) is an autoimmune disease that affects the postsynaptic nicotinic acetylcholine receptors [28, 29]. The disease is characterized by fluctuating weakness and fatigue with continued muscle use especially with eye muscles, respiratory muscles, and postural muscles of neck and back [5, 18]. The incidence is highest in African American women followed by Caucasian women. Under 40 years old, women are three times more likely to be affected. Over the age of 50, men are more likely to be diagnosed [4]. Additional autoimmune disorders are also highly correlated with MG including rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus [4].

Generally, symptoms worsen throughout the first year of the disease but will later plateau by year two. Diplopia, ptosis, dysphagia, dysarthria, and facial weakness are common initial manifestations of the disease. The diagnosis of MG is made by a "tensilon test" (edrophonium) or the "ice pack test" which will notably improve the patient's symptoms following administration. First-line treatment of patients with mild disease is with acetylcholinesterase inhibitors (pyridostigmine). Preoperative evaluation is critical to determine the severity of disease and current medical therapy. Additionally, a thorough cranial nerve examination should be completed given the common ocular and facial findings of the disease. Only well-controlled patients should be scheduled for elective sur-

If the patient is having worsening symptoms, it is generally recommended to delay elective surgery so that the patient can undergo more aggressive therapy including plasmapheresis, immunotherapy, or thymectomy [4, 5]. Once stabilized, the elective surgery can be completed with clearance from their neurologist.

Preoperative pulmonary function tests for assessment of functional vital capacity are recommended especially if the patient is to undergo sedation [3]. If findings are indicative of significant respiratory weakness, then sedation should be avoided as MG is highly associated with postoperative respiratory insufficiency and prolonged ventilator use [4]. The risk factors that increase this postoperative respiratory insufficiency include duration of disease over 6 years, pyridostigmine requirement of over 750 mg per day, preoperative vital capacity under three liters, and chronic respiratory disease [3, 12].

There are several common medications that worsen MG symptoms including aminoglycosides, fluoroquinolones, macrolides, antiarrhythmics, local anesthetics, and beta-blockers. Medications used perioperatively must be carefully evaluated to prevent exacerbation of the disease (Table 11.3) [30-33]. For local anesthetic use, amides are preferred over esters if a patient is taking pyridostigmine. This is because esters are metabolized by plasma cholinesterase and patients taking acetylcholinesterase inhibitors can have slower breakdown of ester anesthetics increasing risk of toxicity. Additionally, given the poor respiratory reserve in MG patients, opiates should be used cautiously due to potential respiratory suppression [12].

 Table 11.3
 Medications that can worsen MG symptoms

 [30–33]
 [30–33]

| Antibiotics     | Macrolides, fluoroquinolones,<br>aminoglycosides, tetracycline,<br>chloroquine   |
|-----------------|--|
| Antidysrhythmic | Beta-blockers, calcium channel<br>blockers, quinidine, lidocaine,<br>procainamide                                      |
| Antipsychotics  | Phenothiazines, atypical antipsychotics  |
| Cardiovascular  | Propranolol, quinidine, verapamil, statins   |
| Miscellaneous   | Lithium, chlorpromazine, muscle<br>relaxants, levothyroxine,<br>adrenocorticotropic hormone<br>(ACTH), corticosteroids |

#### 11.5.2 Muscular Dystrophy

Patients with muscular dystrophy suffer from a genetic defect that leads to the deletion (Duchenne muscular dystrophy) or reduced function (Becker muscular dystrophy) of the structural protein dystrophin [34, 35]. This protein normally supports the sarcolemma in both skeletal muscle and cardiac muscle cells. When absent or reduced, this leads to vulnerable cell walls and tissue necrosis. The onset of Duchenne muscular dystrophy is approximately 3-4 years of age, while the onset of Becker muscular dystrophy is much later with a variable and milder clinical presentation. Patients initially present with lower extremity weakness and muscle degeneration in calf muscles which leads to worsening systemic signs. Significant cardiomyopathy and respiratory dysfunction are commonly seen by 15 years of age in Duchenne muscular dystrophy [4].

Given the pathology of the disease, preoperative evaluation must involve significant cardiac and pulmonary assessment. If deep sedation is to be utilized, preoperative electrocardiogram, echocardiogram, long-term telemetry, and pulmonary function tests are necessary because of the high likelihood of cardiac and pulmonary involvement [13]. Specific guidelines set in place by the American College of Chest Physicians recommend a complete pulmonary evaluation (including spirometry, maximum inspiratory pressure, maximum expiratory pressure, peak cough flow, and oxygen saturation on room air)

gery [18].

for patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. A functional vital capacity of under 40% is predictive of postoperative respiratory complications [3].

If acute cardiac or pulmonary symptoms are present, elective surgery should be delayed until the patient is medically optimized [5]. It is important to note that the degree of cardiac dysfunction is not correlated with the degree of skeletal muscle involvement [4]. Additionally, several other cardiac problems are common in muscular dystrophy including mitral regurgitation and mitral valve prolapse. Congestive heart failure is the leading cause of death in these patients.

If general anesthesia is to be considered, succinylcholine is contraindicated in patients with muscular dystrophy as there is a high risk of lifethreatening hyperkalemia, rhabdomyolysis, and cardiac arrest. In these cases, a total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA) is recommended in order to avoid use of neuromuscular blockage and inhalational anesthetics.

Due to minimal prospective trials on Becker muscular dystrophy, the disease has the same recommendations for preoperative evaluation as Duchenne muscular dystrophy [36].

#### 11.5.3 Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is an adultonset neurodegenerative disorder that affects both the upper and lower motor neurons [4, 9]. The disease is rapidly progressive and often presents in the fifth or sixth decade of life with asymmetric weakness, spasticity, and fasciculations. There are no cognitive changes with the disease, and sensory and autonomic functions remain intact. Management of ALS is mainly palliative, and the duration of survival is estimated to be 3–5 years. The etiology of the disease is unknown and 90% of the cases are sporadic [4].

Similar to the above neuromuscular conditions, patients with ALS have increased rates of aspiration and should be closely evaluated if sedation is to be utilized [12]. Progressive respiratory weakness is the leading cause of death, and there are no notable cardiac muscle problems directly attributed to the disease [4, 9]. Patients with late-stage disease will generally have a tracheostomy and be on ventilatory support.

Ideally, outpatient surgery would be completed with the use of local anesthetic alone. Succinylcholine is contraindicated if general anesthesia is to be utilized because of lifethreatening complications of hyperkalemia. Additionally, muscle relaxants should generally be avoided in these patients.

#### 11.6 Demyelinating Conditions

#### 11.6.1 Guillain-Barre Syndrome

Guillain-Barre syndrome (GBS) is a disorder that presents with acute onset of ascending motor paralysis and paresthesia [37, 38]. The disease is characterized by an immunologic reaction to the myelin sheath of peripheral nerves often following a gastrointestinal infection or upper respirainfection-most commonly tory from *Campylobacter jejuni* (33%) or *Cytomegalovirus* (10%) [4, 9, 39]. GBS frequently presents within 3 days to 6 weeks of initial upper respiratory or gastrointestinal symptoms as a bilateral and symmetric lower limb weakness [4]. Additionally, GBS can present as a complication of human immunodeficiency virus infection or Hodgkin's lymphoma. The treatment of GBS is with plasmapheresis or intravenous immunoglobulin therapy. The most important complication is bulbar involvement that can lead to respiratory muscle paralysis and intubation in approximately 25% of patients [40]. Symptoms of the disease usually peak between 12 h and 28 days of initial diagnosis.

For elective outpatient procedures, GBS should be completely cleared prior to surgery. Most patients do completely recover although sometimes it can take up to a year [4]. If general anesthesia is indicated for treatment, succinyl-choline is contraindicated due to risk of cardiac arrest and hyperkalemia. There are no current guidelines on when succinylcholine is safe to use on a patient with GBS, even after complete recovery [4].

#### 11.6.2 Multiple Sclerosis

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic demyelinating condition that is characterized by central nervous system (CNS) destruction by demyelination and gliosis. The disease can be one of four subtypes: relapsing (80%), primary progressive, secondary progressive, or progressive relapsing [5]. The disease primarily affects women between 20 and 40 years of age, and an increased association exists in Caucasians and higher socioeconomic populations [9]. Patients will have unassociated demyelinating lesions of the brain and spinal cord that intermittently occur leading to both sensory and motor deficits. These demyelinating plaques will be of varying sizes and severity. It is critical to document deficits with a thorough cranial nerve examination prior to surgical intervention as MS can also present with trigeminal neuralgia or hemifacial spasms. Additionally, a thorough eye examination should be performed due to high rates of optic neuritis [4].

Initially, mild neurologic defects present until more permanent chronic problems accumulate [5]. Over time, disease-free remissions are less likely to occur with almost half of patients requiring assistance with walking 15 years after their initial diagnosis. MS can progress to severe disabilities including respiratory dysfunction, spasticity, chronic pain, and loss of bladder function. The goal of treatment is often to delay extensive symptoms of the disease and to treat acute exacerbations.

Preoperatively, it is important to understand that the patient's deficits often worsen with the stress of surgery. In addition to surgical stress, increases in temperature and infection can also precipitate exacerbation of the disease [6]. The patient should be aware that elective surgery can worsen their symptoms.

If a patient is having an acute exacerbation of multiple sclerosis, surgery should be delayed until the symptoms have completely resolved. Symptoms normally develop over the course of a few days and can last several months. Acute attacks are often treated with glucocorticoids to decrease severity. Late-stage disease can also present with various chronic deficits that may increase risks of surgery including cranial nerve deficits and significant respiratory disease.

If general anesthesia is to be utilized, the use of succinylcholine should be avoided if the patient has advanced disease (severe neurologic deficits or atrophy) due to risk of hyperkalemia. The decreased muscle mass in many of these patients can lead to unpredictable nondepolarizing neuromuscular blockade medication levels and should be carefully titrated [10].

#### References

- Probasco J, Sahin B, Tran T, et al. The preoperative neurological evaluation. Neurohospitalist. 2013;3(4):209– 20. https://doi.org/10.1177/1941874413476042.
- 2. Lieb Κ, Selim Μ. Preoperative evaluawith neurological tion of patients disease. Semin Neurol. 2008;28(5):603-10. https://doi. org/10.1055/s-0028-1105972.
- Hudson K, Greene J. Perioperative consultation for patients with preexisting neurologic disorders. Semin Neurol. 2015;35(6):690–8. https://doi. org/10.1055/s-0035-1564302.
- Easdown LJ, Lee LA. The patient with neuromuscular, skeletal disease, or movement disorders. In: Anesthesiology. 3rd ed. McGraw Hill; 2018.
- Schiavi A, Alexander P, Mirski M. Preoperative preparation of the surgical patient with neurologic disease. Med Clin North Am. 2009;93(5):1123–30.
- 6. Merli G, Bell R. Perioperative care of the surgical patient with neurologic disease. UpToDate.
- 7. Heron M. Natl Vital Stat Rep. 2018;67(6):1-15.
- Hupp J, Duddleston D. Medical management of the surgical patient. In: Miloro M, Ghali G, Larsen P, Waite P, editors. Peterson's principles of oral & maxillofacial surgery. 3rd ed; 2011. p. 17–45.
- Butterworth J, Mackey D, Wasnick J. Anesthesia for patients with neurological & psychiatric diseases. In: Morgan and Mikhail's clinical anesthesiology. 6th ed. McGraw HIII; 2018.
- Jangra K, Grover VK, Bhagat H. Neurological patients for nonneurosurgeries. Elsevier Inc.; 2017. https://doi. org/10.1016/B978-0-12-805299-0.00047-6.
- Schlichter RA. Chapter 17—Patients with seizure disorder. 3rd ed. Elsevier Inc.; 2019. https://doi. org/10.1016/B978-1-4557-0411-8.00017-5.
- Baudry F, Wiener A, Probasco J, et al. Perioperative consultation for patients with preexisting neurologic disorders. Semin Neurol. 2015;28(3):305–6. https:// doi.org/10.1097/00132586-196906000-00053.
- 13. Probasco J, Sahin B, Tran T, et al. The neurological evaluation. Neurohospitalist. 2013;3(4):209–20.
- Dhallu MS, Baiomi A, Biyyam M, Chilimuri S. Perioperative management of neuro-

logical conditions. Heal Serv Insights. 2017;10:117863291771194. https://doi. org/10.1177/1178632917711942.

- Bromfield E, Schacter S, Schomer D. Epilepsy and the elderly. In: The comprehensive evaluation and treatment of epilepsy. 1st ed. San Diego: Academic; 1997. p. 233–54.
- Buchanan N. Medications which may lower seizure threshold. Aust Prescr. 2001;24(1):8–9.
- Krupa M, Salts H, Mihlon F. It is not necessary to discontinue seizure threshold-lowering medications prior to myelography. Am J Neuroradiol. 2019;40(5):916–9.
- Kinard B, Abramowicz S. Preoperative evaluation. In: Fonseca R, editor. Oral and maxillofacial surgery. 3rd ed. Elsevier; 2018. p. 148–63.
- Elahi FM, Miller BL. A clinicopathological approach to the diagnosis of dementia. Nat Rev Neurol. 2017;13(8):457–76. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrneurol.2017.96.
- Press D, Alexander M. Treatment of dementia. Uptodate. 2019. https://www.uptodate.com/contents/ treatment-of-dementia?search=alzheimertreatment& source=search\_result&selectedTitle=1~150&usage\_ type=default&display\_rank=1#H2. Accessed 9 Mar 2019.
- Funder KS, Steinmetz J, Rasmussen LS. Anaesthesia for the patient with dementia undergoing outpatient surgery. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2009;22(6):712–7. https://doi.org/10.1097/ACO.0b013e328331a4eb.
- 22. Burton D, Nicholson G, Hall G. Anaesthesia in elderly patients with neurodegenerative disorders: special considerations. Drugs Aging. 2004;21(4):229–42. http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=re ference&D=emed6&NEWS=N&AN=2004140284.
- Gaulton TG, Eckenhoff RG, Neuman MD. Prevalence and multivariable factors associated with preoperative cognitive impairment in outpatient surgery in the United States. Anesth Analg. 2019;129(1):5–7. https://doi.org/10.1213/ANE.000000000004035.
- 24. Medical A, Ontario S. 00002792-201611010-00011 (1). 2016;188(16):1157–1165.
- Rizek P, Kumar N, Jog M. An update on the diagnosis and treatment of Parkinson disease. CMAJ. 2016;188(16):1158–65.
- McGrane S, Atria NP, Barwise JA. Perioperative implications of the patient with autonomic dysfunction. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2014;27(3):365–70. https://doi.org/10.1097/ACO.000000000000072.
- 27. Machado A, Rezai AR, Kopell BH, Gross RE, Sharan AD, Benabid AL. Deep brain stimulation for

Parkinson's disease: surgical technique and perioperative management. Mov Disord. 2006;21(Suppl 14):S247–58. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.20959.

- Naguib M. Chapter 14—Myasthenic disorders. 3rd ed. Elsevier Inc.; 2019. https://doi.org/10.1016/ B978-1-4557-0411-8.00014-X.
- Koneczny I, Martinez PM, De Baets M. Myasthenia gravis. Encycl Immunobiol. 2016;5:168–79. https:// doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-374279-7.15006-4.
- Goldenberg W, Chang A. Emergent management of myasthenia gravis questions & answers. Medscape. 2018. https://emedicine.medscape.com/ article/793136-questions-and-answers. Accessed 9 Mar 2019.
- Godoy DA, Mello LJ, Masotti L, Napoli MD. The myasthenic patient in crisis: an update of the management in neurointensive care unit. Arq Neuropsiquiatr. 2013;71(9A):627–39.
- Keesey JC. Clinical evaluation and management of myasthenia gravis. Muscle Nerve. 2004;29(4):484–505.
- Schneider-Gold C, Gajdos P, Toyka KV, Hohlfeld RR. Corticosteroids for myasthenia gravis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2005:CD002828.
- Luba K. Perioperative management of patients with muscular dystrophy. 3rd ed. Elsevier Inc.; 2007. https:// doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-4160-2215-2.50120-4.
- Wicklund MP. Limb-girdle muscular dystrophies. Encycl Neurol Sci. 2014;32(3):890–6. https://doi. org/10.1016/B978-0-12-385157-4.00623-0.
- Katz JA, Murphy GS. Anesthetic consideration for neuromuscular diseases. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2017;30(3):435–40. https://doi.org/10.1097/ ACO.000000000000466.
- Willison HJ, Jacobs BC, van Doorn PA. Guillain-Barré syndrome. Lancet. 2016;388(10045):717–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00339-1.
- Esposito S, Longo MR. Guillain–Barré syndrome. Autoimmun Rev. 2017;16(1):96–101. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.autrev.2016.09.022.
- Donofrio PD. Guillain-Barré syndrome. Contin Lifelong Learn Neurol. 2017;23(5, Peripheral Nerve and Motor Neuron Disorders):1295–1309. https://doi. org/10.1212/CON.00000000000513.
- Hersalis Eldar A, Chapman J. Guillain Barré syndrome and other immune mediated neuropathies: diagnosis and classification. Autoimmun Rev. 2014;13(4–5):525–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. autrev.2014.01.033.

D. J. Meara, R. Gutta (eds.), Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery for the Medically Compromised Patient, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-82598-0\_12

## Management Dilemmas

Rajesh Gutta and Daniel J. Meara

#### **Treatment Dilemmas** 12.1

Unique treatment dilemmas often occur in the care of the dental and/or surgical patient. The challenge with these treatment dilemmas is the complexity of management, often the result of:

- 1. Incomplete understanding of the pathophysiology of a particular disease entity
- 2. The need to balance between two opposing outcomes, in which one outcome is worsened at the expense of the other
- 3. Lack of robust scientific evidence to fully guide treatment
- 4. Lack of standardization and/or care pathways
- 5. Social determinants of health and patient behaviors
- 6. Clinical measures resulting in unexpected consequences
- 7. Controversy or historical dogma around certain treatments

R. Gutta (🖂)

Consultant Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeon, Private Practice, Midland, TX, USA

D. J. Meara

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Christiana Care Health System, Wilmington, DE, USA

Department of Physical Therapy, University of Delaware, Newark, DE, USA

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

Thus, this chapter provides an update on a variety of conditions and attempt to create clarity, based on current scientific evidence and paradigm shifts in expected standards of care.

#### 12.2 Antiresorptive Drugs and Medication-Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaw (MRONJ)

Antiresorptive drugs have been documented to be effective in the treatment of osteopenia, certain metastatic diseases, osteoporosis, and certain bone conditions [1]. These drugs significantly increase bone marrow density and reduce the risk of fractures and other skeletal-related events [2]. Drugs like bisphosphonates are known to impair bone turnover by suppression of the osteoclastic function. Denosumab, a monoclonal antibody, acts by binding to RANKL thus inhibiting its binding to the RANK receptor which in turn is responsible for maturation of osteoclasts [3]. In general bisphosphonates are recommended for a period of 3-5 years, and denosumab is used for maintenance for 10 years. Other drugs include antiangiogenic agents like bevacizumab, immunomodulators like thalidomide, mTOR inhibitors like sirolimus, etc [4]. These drugs can cause complications such as arthralgias, myalgias, GERD, and osteonecrosis of the jaw. Complications such as hypocalcemia, hypophosphatemia, and fatigue have also been

# 12

reported [5, 6]. However, these risks clearly outweigh the benefits as they can decrease the morbidity and improve quality of life for patients, at risk for vertebral and hip fractures secondary to osteoporosis.

MRONJ has been described as a rare complication with an incidence of 1–18% for the intravenous drugs and 0.001–0.01% for the oral antiresorptive drugs [7]. However certain conditions like multiple myeloma are known to possess the highest risk. In addition, patients who received the intravenous form of these drugs are also known to have a higher risk than the oral forms [8]. Newer evidence however reveals that the condition is also noted in patients who are not exposed to these drugs. Surgical bone procedures are also known to increase the risk of developing MRONJ.

By definition, MRONJ is described as a condition of bone exposure that has not healed in more than 8 weeks within the maxillofacial region in patients with past or current treatment with antiresorptive agents and antiangiogenic agents and who were not previously radiated in the site. The condition has been staged to help develop optimal treatment (Table 12.1).

Table 12.1 Staging of MRONJ and treatment (adapted) [9]

| Clinical signs             | Treatment                  |
|----------------------------|----------------------------|
| Stage 0—Radiographic       | Systemic management,       |
| alterations, no exposed    | including analgesics,      |
| jawbone, and nonspecific   | and antibiotics            |
| signs/symptoms             |                            |
| Stage I-Exposed bone or    | Antibacterial oral rinse,  |
| fistulous tract to the     | close follow-up, patient   |
| underlying skeletal        | education                  |
| structure without signs/   |                            |
| symptoms                   |                            |
| Stage II-Exposed bone or   | Antibiotics,               |
| fistulous tract to the     | antibacterial oral rinses, |
| underlying skeletal        | analgesics, and            |
| structure with signs/      | localized debridement      |
| symptoms                   | to relive soft tissue      |
|                            | irritation and infection   |
|                            | control                    |
| Stage III-Exposed bone or  | Antibiotics,               |
| fistulous tract to the     | antibacterial oral rinses, |
| underlying skeletal        | analgesics, and surgical   |
| structure with signs/      | debridement/resection      |
| symptoms and with          | for long-term palliative   |
| involvement of other       | care of infection and      |
| anatomical structures and/ | pain                       |
| or leading to fractures    |                            |

#### 12.2.1 Risk Factors

The pathophysiology is not fully understood. Despite many postulated theories, lack of strong scientific evidence has identified several factors may contribute towards the development of MRONJ. Factors like age greater than 65 years, tobacco smoking, local infection, the drug itself (type, form, and duration), immune suppression, females, corticosteroids, and localized trauma were all implicated in the development of MRONJ [10, 11].

#### 12.2.2 Signs and Symptoms

Pain, localized inflammation or swelling, fistula, purulent discharge, exposed bone, loose teeth, halitosis, and neurosensory alterations.

#### 12.2.3 Radiographic Findings

The initial finding of MRONJ on x-rays range from altered trabecular architecture, sclerotic or radiolytic changes of bone, cortical erosion, and bone destruction. Nonhealing or delayed healing of extraction sites should be monitored for disease progression. Often times, the sclerotic and radiolucent changes are subtle and could indicate an early stage of MRONJ in the absence of bone exposure. The osteosclerosis may appear as a diffuse pattern with reactive periosteal bone formation [12].

#### 12.2.4 Risk Reduction in the Development of MRONJ

Several specialty guidelines and task forces have discussed various risk mitigation strategies. While prevention of MRONJ is a subject to debate, various risk reduction measures could help through a team approach involving the patient, oncologist, primary care physician, maxillofacial surgeon, and the dentist. These strategies include a thorough systematic examination (with radiographs) of the oral cavity with emphasis on the health of the alveolar bone and maintenance of good oral hygiene, and completion of invasive procedures should ideally be completed prior to initiation of antiresorptive therapy. If the clinical condition permits, it is advised that the extraction sites heal via complete mucosal coverage prior to initiation of antiresorptive or antiangiogenic agents. Patient education is paramount in identifying the signs of MRONJ and to seek timely diagnosis and intervention. Some have recommended and put forth the concept of drug holiday. However, there is lack of good scientific data to support such effort. In fact, drugs like zoledronic acid has longer half-life which precludes the idea of drug holiday, and till date there is no compelling scientific evidence supporting such theory [13]. Optimistically, it appears that the molecular structure, mechanism of action, and resultant half-life for denosumab result in the meaningful benefit of a drug holiday in terms of limiting MRONJ, compared to bisphosphonates, especially when an invasive procedure is necessary.

If the patient is deemed high risk for the development of MRONJ, the primary dentist should refer the patient to an oral and maxillofacial surgeon for further risk assessment and optimal management. In general, minor noninvasive dental procedures (restorations, root canal treatments, and scaling) can be performed without any risk of developing MRONJ. Focus should be on prevention of advanced oral disease and infection. Dentures should be checked for optimal fit to reduce the risk of soft tissue ulceration and underlying bone exposure. Since localized infection or inflammatory mediators are also implicated in the development of MRONJ, patients with periodontal disease should be treated aggressively, again, to reduce the risk of surgical procedures after the initiation of antiresorptive therapy. Teeth with poor and guarded prognosis should be promptly extracted prior to initiation of treatment.

#### 12.2.5 Treatment of MRONJ

The goal of treatment should be to eliminate any infection via debridement and/or systemic antibi-

otics therapy. Treatment of the condition varies from nonsurgical management in stage 0 and 1 to aggressive surgical therapy for stages 2 and 3. Nonsurgical treatment includes but not limited to pain oral antibacterial rinses and antibiotics (only in proven cases of infection).

Exposed necrotic bone should be removed completely, and the resultant bone margins should be smoothened to allow for healthy mucosal coverage of the wound. Due to lack of standardized description of surgical technique, a healthy bone margin must be achieved which generally is identified by bleeding points. Excessive bone removal might weaken the underlying basal bone and could result in fracture, which may necessitate preventative application of rigid fixation. Any loose teeth in the area should be removed, and underlying alveolar bone should be debrided to obtain healthy margins.

#### 12.3 Osteoradionecrosis (ORN)

Adjuvant radiation to treat head and neck cancers is a common modality. However, the introduction of 3D radiation therapy and intensity-modulated radiation therapy has decreased the incidence of radiation-induced complications including but not limited to mucositis, trismus, dentition damage, and salivary gland dysfunction.

#### 12.3.1 Definition

Osteoradionecrosis (ORN) is a potentially debilitating chronic complication of the head and neck radiation therapy [14]. The condition is defined as nonhealing necrotic bone in a previously irradiated site that has been present for more than 3 months. There is increasing evidence that necrosis of bone could occur even before any mucosal changes appear.

#### 12.3.2 Pathophysiology

It is postulated that radiation induced fibrosis of the bone due to inadequate osteoblastic activity 122

and excessive myofibroblasts. The chronic inflammatory phase is followed by fibrosis of the area. Subsequently, there is atrophy of the bone due to loss of bone marrow structure in the region [15]. In general, the mandible is the common site due to limited blood supply compared to the maxilla due to the limitation of collateral blood supply.

#### 12.3.3 Incidence and Risk Factors

Osteoradionecrosis can occur at any point of the disease survivor's life span. ORN has been reported to occur with a relative frequency of 0-22%. However, with current radiation delivery techniques, the reported incidence is between 5 and 7% [16]. Oral cavity tumors are known to have the highest frequency compared to hypopharyngeal tumors. ORN occurs frequently in the mandible than the maxilla [17]. The posterior maxilla and mandible are also more commonly involved.

Radiation dose is a known risk factor in the development of ORN. Patients treated with more than 60 Gy of radiation are more likely to develop ORN. Females are less likely to develop ORN compared to males. Smokers have three times greater risk of developing the condition. In addition, oncological therapy that involves osteotomy of the mandible is another known risk factor in the development of ORN. Adjuvant chemotherapy is also a potential risk factor for the development of ORN due to the excess oxygen free radicals which inhibit DNA repair [18, 19].

#### 12.3.4 Signs and Symptoms

ORN can lead to debilitating pain, dysfunction, and decreased quality of life. It manifests as an area of mucosal ulceration/inflammation with underlying necrotic bone. In addition, patients may present with pain, purulent discharge, halitosis, and even pathologic fracture of the jaws. The condition may be precipitated from local trauma from dental appliances, spontaneous event, and extraction of teeth.

#### 12.3.5 Radiographic Diagnosis

The initial sign of ORN on radiographic images is manifested by altered trabecular pattern. The more common finding is widened periodontal ligament space. In the advanced disease condition, a more radiolucent lesions with mixed radiopaque areas can be seen and sometimes with sequestrum. In severe cases, pathologic fracture of the mandible is also noted with necrotic bone [20].

#### 12.3.6 Staging

Various systems were proposed, but only the clinically relevant and recent staging systems are discussed (Table 12.2) [21, 22].

#### 12.3.7 Risk Reduction

Several factors have been identified to reduce the risk of development of ORN. These include preradiation dental treatment, extraction of nonsalvagable teeth, postradiation extraction of teeth, hyperbaric oxygen therapy (pre- and postextractions), pentoxifylline and tocopherol prophylaxis, and postradiation dental treatment have

Table 12.2 Staging of ORN

|              | Based on anatomic location of ORN   | Based on clinical and<br>radiographic appearance<br>of ORN   |
|--------------|---|--|
| Stage<br>I   | Confined to the alveolar bone   | Minimal soft tissue<br>ulceration and limited<br>exposed cortical bone.<br>Patients are treated<br>with conservative<br>management |
| Stage<br>II  | Extent above the mandibular alveolar canal  | Localized involvement<br>of the mandibular<br>cortex and underlying<br>medullary bone  |
| Stage<br>III | Extent below the<br>level of the<br>mandibular alveolar<br>canal with a skin<br>fistula and/or<br>pathologic fracture | Full-thickness<br>involvement of the<br>bone, including the<br>inferior border.<br>Pathological fractures<br>may also be present   |

been identified. Of note, based on the pathophysiology of ORN, there appears to be an approximately 4-month grace period before the onset of the presumed triad: hypoxia-hypocellularityhypovascularity. However, to date none have been proven to be effective, and there has been no consensus on the standard of care practice guidelines.

Treatment of carious teeth with restorations, removal of sources contributing to infection, and extraction of teeth with poor or questionable prognosis are considered the mainstays in risk reduction strategies.

HBO therapy has been proposed as a preventative strategy for ORN. However, to date, there has been no scientific data supporting the use of HBO [23]. In fact, one landmark randomized multicenter trial by Annane et al. in 2004 compared the outcomes of HBO vs placebo in the treatment of ORN. The trial was terminated early due to worse outcomes in the HBO arm (19% resolution with HBO versus 32% resolution with placebo) [24]. A recent publication from the Dana-Farber Cancer Institute does not include HBO therapy as a potential treatment strategy. However, they have put forth the below prevention strategy [25].

### 12.3.8 Patients Who Received Radiation to the Head and Neck Area and Require Dental Extractions

- (a) Perform extraction of teeth with minimal trauma to the alveolus and the soft tissue.
- (b) Initiation and continuation of topical oral rinses (0.12% chlorhexidine gluconate) and systemic antibiotic therapy as indicated until healing of the extraction sites is noted.

#### 12.3.9 Treatment of ORN

The focus should be on prevention of the condition. However, the treatment of ORN ranges from conservative nonsurgical management to aggressive surgical resection and reconstruction with microvascular tissue transfer.

#### 12.3.10 Patients Who Received Radiation to the Head and Neck Area and Developed ORN

- (a) Microbial culture and antibiotic sensitivity in areas of active infection
- (b) Conservative therapy—sequestrectomy, topical oral rinses (0.12% chlorhexidine gluconate), and systemic antibiotic therapy as indicated
- (c) Novel medication therapy with pentoxifylline, tocopherol, and clodronate. The original trial consisted of patients treated for refractory ORN with 800 mg pentoxifylline, 1000 IU vitamin E, and 1600 mg clodronate 5 days per week alternating with 20 mg prednisone and 1000 mg ciprofloxacin 2 days per week [26].
- (d) Surgical Treatment involves debridement of bone and soft tissue; aggressive resection of the involved bone and reconstruction with free or pedicled tissue transfer to manage the defect, soft and hard tissues.

#### 12.4 Antibiotic Prophylaxis

Dentists prescribe more than 10% of all outpatient antibiotics which is a substantial number [27]. In the United States, there is a steady antibiotics prescription pattern among dentists despite a decrease in such prescriptions among other providers [28]. Inappropriate and overuse of antibiotics have led to increasing microbial resistance which in turn leads to increased morbidity and mortality. Studies have shown that bacterial species within the oral cavity can quickly develop genetic expression of antibiotic resistance even if they were used for a shorter period [29, 30]. This section covers antibiotic prophylaxis recommendations based on current scientific evidence for the prevention of bacterial endocarditis and reducing the risk of prosthetic joint infections.

#### 12.4.1 Infective Endocarditis

Infective endocarditis is a rare but one of deadliest infections which occurs in 10/100,000 people [31]. The disease carries significant morbidity including prolonged hospital stay, antibiotic therapy, and the potential need for valvular heart surgery. Infective oral diseases and resulting treatment have long been implicated in the predisposition of infective endocarditis [32]. Hence, the concept of antibiotic prophylaxis prior to invasive oral procedures has been the normal practice across the world. However, there have been significant inconsistencies in administering prophylactic antibiotics [33].

The practice of antibiotic prophylaxis dates back to the early report of bacteremia after a dental procedure in 1923 [34]. This was confirmed in 1935, and the first guidelines for prophylactic antibiotics were developed by the American Heart Association in 1955 [35, 36]. These early guidelines are predominantly consensus based than good scientific evidence. The viridians group of oral streptococci has long been associated in the development of bacterial endocarditis. However due to emerging pattern of antimicrobial resistance patterns, beginning in 2004 various organizations have limited or eliminated the need for antibiotic prophylaxis for the prevention of bacterial endocarditis in all but a small subset of patients [37, 38]. According to the recent ACC/ AHA guidelines, endocarditis prophylaxis before invasive oral procedures is recommended in patients with valvular heart disease (Table 12.3).

The current guidelines primarily recommend amoxicillin and clindamycin for prophylaxis.

 
 Table 12.3
 Recommendations for endocarditis prophylaxis (adapted) [39]

| Prosthetic cardiac valves, including transcatheter-<br>implanted prostheses and homografts |
|--|
| r r G  |
| Prosthetic material used for cardiac valve repair, such                                    |
| as annuloplasty rings and chords   |
| Previous infectious endocarditis   |
| TT   |
| Unrepaired cyanotic congenital neart disease or  |
| repaired congenital heart disease, with residual shunts                                    |
| or valvular regurgitation at the site of, or adjacent to                                   |
| the site of, a prosthetic patch or prosthetic device                                       |
| Cardiac transplant with valve regurgitation attributed                                     |
| to a structurally abnormal valve   |

However, recent studies have questioned the effectiveness of such antibiotics, particularly clindamycin, due to developing resistance [40]. In addition, oral hygiene activities are also known to induce bacteremia although less than surgical procedures in the oral cavity. Patients with poor oral hygiene are likely to have much higher rates of bacteremia [41]. Since the latest guidelines have emerged, various studies have shown the decreased trend of infectious endocarditis, while others have observed an increased rate of the disease, although these data do not establish a causeeffect relationship between antibiotic prophylaxis reduction and infectious endocarditis increase [42]. To date there have not been any randomized controlled studies to effectively study the risk of development of infective endocarditis. Majority of the studies have been observational, and the data could not explain the change in disease trends. In addition, the introduction of better diagnostics techniques could perhaps explain the increased detection of infective endocarditis but not necessarily the result of limited antibiotic prophylaxis.

Widespread and indiscriminate use of prophylactic antibiotics still persist within the dental community despite several studies that have questioned the role of dental interventions as a risk factor for infective endocarditis. One study revealed over 80% of patient received antibiotics despite only 20% of them having a cardiac condition at risk of developing infective endocarditis [43].

#### 12.4.1.1 Recommendations

Until further data is available, it is safe to continue with the current antibiotic prophylaxis regimen for patients deemed as high risk towards the development of infectious endocarditis. The protocol is an inexpensive and low-risk approach based on the European Society for Cardiology and the American Heart Association guidelines.

#### 12.4.2 Prosthetic Joint Infections and Antibiotic Prophylaxis

In an attempt to decrease the risk of hematogenous spread of infections to prosthetic joints, various guidelines have been proposed towards antibiotic prophylaxis. Similar to bacterial endocarditis, oral bacteria have been implicated as a potential source of prosthetic joint infections which have been gradually on the rise. These infections occur in approximately 2% of the patients [44]. In general, Staphylococcus aureus is the predominant species implicated in prosthetic joint infections. Oral bacteria have been isolated in less than 10% of the failed joints due to infections [45]. Bacteremia following invasive oral procedures has been described. However, the risk of developing prosthetic joint infections from such bacteremia has not been proven. In addition, the perceived beneficial effect of antibiotic prophylaxis prior to oral procedures on the bacteremia is unclear [46].

The current guidelines recommend the use of antibiotic prophylaxis during the first 2 years of prosthetic joint implantation. However, recent studies have shown the risks of late joint infections are higher, and best available evidence does not support such recommendation [47].

Similarly, the guidelines call for prophylaxis in immunocompromised patients. However, the risk of daily bacteremia from oral hygiene-related activities does not change in these patients, and the evidence does not support the notion of increased risk of joint infection in this patient cohort [48]. In fact, case reports have also indicated the risk of prosthetic joint infection still persists despite prophylaxis in high-risk patients [49]. Similar to the infective endocarditis prophylaxis, the evidence and implementation of these guidelines are based on consensus statements rather than best scientific evidence (Table 12.4) [50].

#### 12.4.3 Temporomandibular Joint Total Joint Replacement

Interestingly, protocols or evidence-based guidelines for postoperative management of temporomandibular joint total joint replacements are even less robust, but there appears to be less controversy as the dental community has adopted the

| Country/      |   |
|---------------|---|
| Region        | Recommendations                         |
| USA           | Antibiotic prophylaxis should be        |
|               | considered in high-risk patients (risk  |
|               | factors not defined clearly)            |
|               | Good oral health maintenance            |
|               | Inconclusive on the routine             |
|               | perioperative use of chlorhexidine      |
|               | oral rinse                              |
|               | Inconclusive in oral evaluation before  |
|               | and after prosthetic joint implantation |
| United        | Antibiotic prophylaxis should be        |
| Kingdom       | considered in high-risk patients (risk  |
|               | factors not defined clearly)            |
| Canada        | Antibiotic prophylaxis is not indicated |
| Australia and | Antibiotic prophylaxis should be        |
| New Zealand   | considered in high-risk patients        |
|               | Antibiotic prophylaxis should be        |
|               | considered in specific oral procedures  |
| Europe        | Antibiotic prophylaxis should be        |
|               | considered in high-risk patients        |
|               | Antibiotic prophylaxis should be        |
|               | considered in specific oral procedures  |

 Table 12.4
 Recent international guidelines (modified)

 [50]

recommendations found in the 2015 ADA systematic review of antibiotic prophylaxis prior to dental procedures in patients with prosthetic joints. However, some reports suggest few TMJ surgeons do advocate for postoperative antibiotic prophylaxis, even lifetime antibiotic prophylaxis [51].

#### 12.4.3.1 Antibiotic Stewardship

Ultimately, the goal is to assure antibiotic stewardship, by utilizing antimicrobials only when indicated, and to narrow the antibiotic spectrum and duration of treatment as warranted, so as to limit the development of untoward events such as *Clostridium difficile* infection, allergic reactions, and resistance.

#### 12.5 Anticoagulation

Perioperative management of a patient's anticoagulation is critical to a successful surgical outcome. The goal is to find the balance between preventing significant hemorrhage during a procedure an unnecessary risk of developing a deep vein thrombosis (DVT) or pulmonary embolism (PE). In most all dental procedures and many oral surgical procedures, there is no need to stop or disrupt anticoagulation, as local hemostatic techniques are adequate to create and maintain hemostasis [52]. In contrast, disruption to anticoagulation in a patient with atrial fibrillation can result in an approximately 5% chance of stroke during the period of disruption [53]. As a result, in extraction cases, for instance, the treatment plan may include multiple appointments, for more robust treatment plans, each addressing only one quadrant at a time, in an attempt to limit wounding and the potential for perioperative bleeding when anticoagulation has been uninterrupted. For inpatient cases in which surgery will occur in the operating room, bridging may occur using heparin or lovenox and for expansive treatment can be rendered, and the patient can be monitored, in the hospital, until hemostasis is confirmed, and anticoagulation is normalized.

The aging population has resulted in a significant number of individuals, worldwide, taking some form of "blood thinner." Cardiovascular disease, non-valvular atrial fibrillation, deep vein thrombosis, and valvular heart disease treatments rely on some combination of antiplatelet and/or anticoagulation therapy. Even a short-term interruption of anticoagulants and antiplatelets can be dangerous. The risk of perioperative stent thrombosis in cardiac patients is increased by noncardiac surgical procedure, when surgery is performed early after stent implantation and if dual antiplatelet therapy is discontinued [54]. These patients can suffer a "rebound effect," which increases the danger of a catastrophic event if long-term therapy is interrupted. If interruption is necessary, keep it to the shortest duration possible. A thorough understanding of the disease process, the medication pharmacokinetics, and the surgical procedure allows for an optimal treatment plan in the management of anticoagulation in the perioperative period. Medications of consequence include the following:

#### The class of anticoagulant drugs

- Vitamin K antagonists (coumadin)
- Low-molecular-weight heparins (lovenox)
- Direct thrombin inhibitors (dabigatran)
- Factor Xa inhibitors (apixaban)

#### The class of antiplatelet drugs

- Irreversible cyclooxygenase inhibitors (aspirin)
- Adenosine diphosphate (ADP) receptor inhibitors (plavix)
- Protease-activated receptor-1 (PAR-1) antagonists (vorapaxar)
- Thromboxane inhibitors

Discussions with other consultants and the patient's primary care provider are important to in the preoperative setting. For outpatient surgery, the patient can resume normal anticoagulation therapy, if disrupted, almost immediately after surgery. Again, the key with anticoagulation management is balancing the risk of thrombosis against the risk of significant bleeding.

#### 12.6 Obesity

Approximately 13% of the world's population is obese, and about 43% of the United States population is affected by obesity [55]. Body mass index (BMI) is calculated as mass (kg)/height (m<sup>2</sup>). BMI of greater than 30 is considered as obese (Table 12.5). Obesity negatively impacts almost every organ system in the body, resulting

 Table 12.5
 Classification of obesity

| BWI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> ) | Weight category | Obesity class |
|--------------------------|-----------------|---------------|
| 18.5-24.9                | Normal weight   |               |
| 25-29.9                  | Overweight      |               |
| 30-34.9                  | Obese           | Class I       |
| 35-39.9                  | Obese           | Class II      |
| 40-49.9                  | Morbidly obese  | Class III     |
| 50-59.9                  | Super obese     | Class IV      |
| 60–69.9                  | Massively obese |               |
| >70                      | Mega obese      |               |

in significant multiple medical comorbidities, many of which can negatively impact surgical outcomes. Multiple studies, in various surgical disciplines, have intimated that obesity increases the perioperative risks for operative time, blood loss, surgical site infections, and development of deep vein thrombosis [56]. Further, in the outpatient setting, obesity-associated conditions such as obstructive sleep apnea, acid reflux, metabolic syndrome, depression, hypertension, and chronic pain can complicate the surgical plan, especially if office-based anesthesia is planned [57].

Specifically for the obese patient, perioperative considerations should include the following:

- 1. Is the patient optimized, despite possibly having multiple medical comorbidities?
- 2. Is the patient appropriate for office-based surgery?
- 3. Is anesthesia, sedation or general, necessary to achieve the surgical goals?

If office-based surgery, with anesthesia, is deemed appropriate, based on the questions above, additional considerations are as follows [57–59]:

- Type of anesthesia, intravenous sedation versus general
- 2. Patient positioning, reverse Trendelenburg or ramping
- 3. Airway management, open airway versus supraglottic device versus endotracheal tube
- 4. NPO status, especially in patients with acid reflux or delayed gastric emptying
- 5. Difficult airway/emergency equipment available and function verified
- 6. Medications and dosing
  - (a) Use short-acting medications, such as propofol
  - (b) Avoid/minimize medications that blunt respiratory drive—consider ketamine in medically appropriate patients
  - (c) Optimize local anesthesia and multimodal pain strategies to minimize need for narcotics
  - (d) Dosing based on ideal body weight

- 7. Postoperative recovery location should include direct patient line of sight
- Postoperative monitoring duration likely needs to be extended, especially in obstructive sleep apnea patients
- 9. Postoperative pain control should minimize narcotics

The obese surgical patient requires a focused approach to perioperative management to create a treatment plan that results in the safe and effective delivery of care. Weight categories and BMI calculations are useful tools in the management of obese patients, and with obesity levels projected to increase in the years to come, the proceduralist or surgeon must have a detailed plan and approach to this population of patients.

#### 12.7 Postoperative Pain Management

Pain as the fifth vital sign is likely a driver of the opioid within the crisis United States. Nonetheless, pain management is still a critical part of surgical patient management. Thus, in an era of tightened prescription monitoring programs, state prescribing guidelines, and narcotic schedule changes, such as hydrocodone from schedule III to schedule II, pain management requires a multimodal approach. Various nonopioid drugs may be considered for optimal pain control (Table 12.6). Assuming that an individual patient has no contraindication to a medication, such as allergy, adverse reaction, drug interactions, or a medical comorbidity precluding use, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory medication (NSAIDS) and acetaminophen are the mainstays for opioid-sparing pain control during the acute perioperative period. However, prolonged use of NSAIDS should be avoided due to the FDA warning regarding prolonged use and cardiac disease. Similarly, acetaminophen should not exceed 4000 MG per day and should not be taken in conjunction with alcohol, to avoid liver toxicity.

Regarding opioids and their role in perioperative pain management, it is seemingly clear that historically, there has been an excess of pills pre-

| Class of drug                                       | Drug name       | Dose  | Special considerations  |
|---|-----------------|---|---|
| Anticonvulsants                                     | Gabapentin      | 300–1200 mg tid                               | Preemptive analgesic<br>caution—drowsiness, fluid retention                 |
|   | Pregabalin      | 75–300 mg bid                                 | Start at 75 mg bid  |
| Alpha-2-agonists                                    | Clonidine       | 0.2 mg bid                                    | Caution—severe hypotension and withdrawal from abrupt stopping              |
|   | Dexmedetomidine | 0.2–1 mcg/kg/h<br>Start at 0.6 mcg/kg         | Caution—bradycardia and hypotension   |
| Nonsteroidal<br>anti-inflammatory<br>drugs (NSAIDs) | Ibuprofen       | 400–600 mg PO q 4–6 h prn                     | Caution—GI, renal dysfunction.<br>Gastric ulceration                        |
|   | Ketorolac       | IM or IV 15–30 mg q 4–6 h<br>PO 10 mg q 4–6 h | PO dose—not to exceed 40 mg/day and 5 days                                  |
|   | Diclofenac      | 18–35 mg PO tid                               | Not interchangeable with other<br>diclofenac formulations. Reassess<br>dose |
|   | Meloxicam       | 7.5–15 mg PO qd                               | All products not bioequivalent  |
|   | Nabumetone      | 1000–2000 mg/day divided<br>qd-bid            | Do not exceed 2000 mg/day   |
|   | Celecoxib       | 100–200 mg PO bid                             | Increases GI ulceration with bisphosphonates                                |
| Acetaminophen                                       |                 | 325–650 mg PO q 4–6 h<br>IV—1000 mg q 6 h     | Do not exceed 4 g/day<br>Potentiates warfarin                               |
| NMDA antagonist                                     | Ketamine        | IV—0.3–0.5 mg/kg                              | Euphoric effects and excessive salivation                                   |

Table 12.6 Non-opioid drugs with analgesic effects

scribed, as per the third molar study by Resnick et al., compared to the actual patient need [60]. Overprescribing is of particular concern in the opioid naïve patient, as this excess medicating could result in addiction and misuse. In fact, a recent study showed that patients who were prescribed opioids reported higher levels of pain compared to those who were treated with nonopioid drugs [61]. Within the United States, the University of Michigan has created the Michigan Opioid Prescribing Engagement Network (OPEN), and other states, such as Delaware, have followed suit, as a means to study actual opioid needs and create evidence-based guidelines after many different types of surgery, to prevent overprescribing and addiction (https://michiganopen.org/). Further, a 2017 JAMA article demonstrated no significant difference in pain relief for opioids versus non-opioid analgesics for acute extremity pain in the emergency room [62]. In other cases, preoperative opioid exposure was associated with a higher rate of opioidrelated readmissions, compared with naive patients [63]. Hence, it is important to screen

patients appropriately for preoperative opioid exposure and create risk mitigation strategies.

Pain management is complex and must be tailored to each individual patient, as patientspecific issues will require a thoughtful approach to perioperative pain control. However, it is clear that most oral surgeries and dental procedures can be managed with non-opioid medications and that when an opioid is necessary, the strength and amount prescribed should be limited, and evidence now exists to guide the clinical team.

#### References

- von Moos R, Costa L, Gonzalez-Suarez E, Terpos E, Niepel D, Body JJ. Management of bone health in solid tumours: from bisphosphonates to a monoclonal antibody cancer treatment reviews. Cancer Treat Rev. 2019;76:57–67.
- Otto S, Pautke C, Van den Wyngaert T, Niepel D, Schiødt M. Medication-related osteonecrosis of the jaw: prevention, diagnosis and management in patients with cancer and bone metastases. Cancer Treat Rev. 2018;69:177–87.

- Gutta R, Louis PJ. Bisphosphonates and osteonecrosis of the jaws: science and rationale. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2007;104(2):186–93. Epub 2007 Apr 20.
- Fantasia JE. The role of antiangiogenic therapy in the development of osteonecrosis of the jaw. Oral Maxillofac Surg Clin North Am. 2015;27(4):547–53.
- Tralongo P, Repetto L, Di Mari A, et al. Safety of long-term administration of bisphosphonates in elderly cancer patients. Oncology. 2004;67:112.
- Mehrotra B, Ruggiero S. Bisphosphonate complications including osteonecrosis of the jaw. Hematol Am Soc Hematol Educ Program. 2006;356.
- Yamashita J, McCauley LK. Antiresorptives and osteonecrosis of the jaw. J Evid Based Dent Pract. 2012;12(3 Suppl):233–47.
- Aghaloo T, Hazboun R, Tetradis S. Pathophysiology of osteonecrosis of the jaws. Oral Maxillofac Surg Clin North Am. 2015;27(4):489–96.
- Ruggiero SL, Dodson TB, Fantasia J, Goodday R, Aghaloo T, Mehrotra B, et al. American Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons position paper on medication-related osteonecrosis of the jaw—2014 update. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2014;72:1938–56.
- Ruggiero SL, Mehrotra B, Rosenberg TJ, Engroff SL. Osteonecrosis of the jaws associated with the use of bisphosphonates: a review of 63 cases. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2004;62(5):527–34.
- Yarom N, Yahalom R, Shoshani Y, et al. Osteonecrosis of the jaw induced by orally administered bisphosphonates: incidence, clinical features, predisposing factors and treatment outcome. Osteoporos Int. 2007;18(10):1363–70.
- Devlin H, Greenwall-Cohen J, Benton J, et al. Detecting the earliest radiological signs of bisphosphonate-related osteonecrosis. Br Dent J. 2018;224:26–31.
- Silverman SL. Defining zoledronate's duration of action and optimal dosing interval for an effective therapy. Curr Osteoporos Rep. 2011;9(1):4–5.
- Reuther T, Schuster T, Mende U, Kübler A. Osteoradionecrosis of the jaws as a side effect of radiotherapy of head and neck tumour patients—a report of a thirty year retrospective review. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2003;32:289–95.
- Delanian S, Lefaix JL. The radiation-induced fibroatrophic process; therapeutic perspective via the antioxidant pathway. Radiother Oncol. 2004;73:119–31.
- 16. Owosho AA, Tsai CJ, Lee RS, Freymiller H, Kadempour A, Varthis S, et al. The prevalence and risk factors associated with osteoradionecrosis of the jaw in oral and oropharyngeal cancer patients treated with intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT): the memorial Sloan Kettering cancer center experience. Oral Oncol. 2017;64:44–51.
- Monnier Y, Broome M, Betz M, Bouferrache K, Ozsahin M, Jaques B. Mandibular osteoradionecrosis in squamous cell carcinoma of the oral cavity and oropharynx: incidence and risk factors. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2011;144:726–32.

- Nabil S, Samman N. Risk factors for osteoradionecrosis after head and neck radiation: a systematic review. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol. 2012;113:54–69.
- Kuhnt T, Stang A, Wienke A, Vordermark D, Schweyen R, Hey J. Potential risk factors for jaw osteoradionecrosis after radiotherapy for head and neck cancer. Radiat Oncol. 2016;11:101.
- Mallya SM, Tetradis S. Imaging of radiation- and medication-related osteonecrosis. Radiol Clin North Am. 2018;56(1):77–89.
- Notani K, Yamazaki Y, Kitada H, et al. Management of mandibular osteoradionecrosis corresponding to the severity of osteoradionecrosis and the method of radiotherapy. Head Neck. 2003;25:181–6.
- Schwartz HC, Kagan AR. Osteoradionecrosis of the mandible: scientific basis for clinical staging. Am J Clin Oncol. 2002;25:168–71.
- Shaw RJ, Dhanda J. Hyperbaric oxygen in the management of late radiation injury to the head and neck. Part I: treatment. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2011;49(1):2–8.
- Annane D, Depondt J, Aubert P, et al. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for radionecrosis of the jaw: a randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind trial from the orn96 study group. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22:4893–900.
- 25. Sultan A, Hanna GJ, Margalit DN, et al. The use of hyperbaric oxygen for the prevention and management of osteoradionecrosis of the jaw: a Dana-Farber/ Brigham and Women's Cancer Center multidisciplinary guideline. Oncologist. 2017;22(11):1413.
- 26. Delanian S, Chatel C, Porcher R, Depondt J, Lefaix JL. Complete restoration of refractory mandibular osteoradionecrosis by prolonged treatment with a pentoxifylline-tocopherol-clodronate combination (pentoclo): a Phae II trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011;80:832–9.
- Hicks LA, Bartoces MG, Roberts RM, et al. US outpatient antibiotic prescribing variation according to geography, patient population, and provider specialty in 2011. Clin Infect Dis. 2015;60(9):1308–16.
- Durkin MJ, Feng Q, Warren K, et al; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Epicenters. Assessment of inappropriate antibiotic prescribing among a large cohort of general dentists in the United States. J Am Dent Assoc. 2018;149(5):372–381.e1.
- Thornhill MH, Dayer MJ, Prendergast B, Baddour LM, Jones S, Lockhart PB. Incidence and nature of adverse reactions to antibiotics used as endocarditis prophylaxis. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2015;70:2382–8.
- Patini R, Mangino G, Martellacci L, Quaranta G, Masucci L, Gallenzi P. The effect of different antibiotic regimens on bacterial resistance: a systematic review. Antibiotics. 2020;9:22.
- Hoen B, Duval X. Clinical practice. Infective endocarditis. N Engl J Med. 2013;368:1425–33.
- 32. Murdoch DR, Corey GR, Hoen B, et al. Clinical presentation, etiology, and outcome of infective endocarditis in the 21st century: the international col-

laboration on endocarditis-prospective cohort study. Arch Intern Med. 2009;169:463–73.

- 33. Tubiana S, Blotiere P, Hoen B, Lesclous P, Millot S, Rudant J, Weill A, Coste J, Alla F, Duval X, Bichat C. Dental procedures, antibiotic prophylaxis and endocarditis among individuals with cardiac prosthetic valves: a nationwide population-based cohort and case-crossover study. BMJ. 2017;358:j3776.
- Lewis T, Grant R. Observations relating to subacute infective endocarditis. Heart. 1923;10:21–77.
- 35. Okell CC, Elliott SD. Bacteraemia and oral sepsis: with special reference to the aetiology of subacute endocarditis. Lancet. 1935;226:869–72.
- 36. Jones TD, Baumgartner L, Bellows MT, Breese BB, Kuttner AG, McCarty M, Rammelkamp CH. Prevention of rheumatic fever and bacterial endocarditis through control of streptococcal infections. Circulation. 1955;11:317–20.
- 37. Horstkotte D, Follath F, Gutschik E, Lengyel M, Oto A, Pavie A, Soler-Soler J, Thiene G, von Graevenitz A, Priori SG, Garcia MA, Blanc JJ, Budaj A, Cowie M, Dean V, Deckers J, Fernandez Burgos E, Lekakis J, Lindahl B, Mazzotta G, Morais J, Oto A, Smiseth OA, Lekakis J, Vahanian A, Delahaye F, Parkhomenko A, Filipatos G, Aldershvile J, Vardas P, Task Force Members on Infective Endocarditis of the European Society of Cardiology, ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines (CPG); Document Reviewers. Guidelines on prevention, diagnosis and treatment of infective endocarditis executive summary; the task force on infective endocarditis of the European Society of Cardiology. Eur Heart J. 2004;25:267–76.
- 38. Wilson W, Taubert KA, Gewitz M, Lockhart PB, Baddour LM, Levison M, Bolger A, Cabell CH, Takahashi M, Baltimore RS, Newburger JW, Strom BL, Tani LY, Gerber M, Bonow RO, Pallasch T, Shulman ST, Rowley AH, Burns JC, Ferrieri P, Gardner T, Goff D, Durack DT, American Heart Association Rheumatic Fever, Endocarditis, and Kawasaki Disease Committee; American Heart Association Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young; American Heart Association Council on Clinical Cardiology; American Heart Association Council on Cardiovascular Surgery and Anesthesia; Quality of Care and Outcomes Research Interdisciplinary Working Group. Prevention of infective endocarditis: guidelines from the american heart association: a guideline from the American Heart Association Rheumatic Fever, Endocarditis and Kawasaki Disease Committee, Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young, and the Council on Clinical Cardiology, Council on Cardiovascular Surgery and Anesthesia, and the Quality of Care and Outcomes Research Interdisciplinary Working Group. J Am Dent Assoc. 2007;138:739-45, 47-60.
- 39. Nishimura RA, Otto CM, Bonow RO, Carabello BA, Erwin JP III, Fleisher LA, Jneid H, Mack MJ, McLeod CJ, O'Gara PT, Rigolin VH, Sundt TM III, Thompson A. 2017 AHA/ACC focused update of the

2014 AHA/ACC guideline for the management of patients with valvular heart disease: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association task force on clinical practice guidelines. Circulation. 2017;135:e1159–95.

- 40. Diz Dios P, Tomas Carmona I, Limeres Posse J, Medina Henriquez J, Fernandez Feijoo J, Alvarez Fernandez M. Comparative efficacies of amoxicillin, clindamycin, and moxifloxacin in prevention of bacteremia following dental extractions. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2006;50:2996–3002.
- Lockhart PB, Brennan MT, Thornhill M, Michalowicz BS, Noll J, Bahrani-Mougeot FK, Sasser HC. Poor oral hygiene as a risk factor for infective endocarditis-related bacteremia. J Am Dent Assoc. 2009;140:1238–44.
- Thornhill MH, Gibson TB, Cutler E, et al. Antibiotic prophylaxis and incidence of endocarditis before and after the 2007 AHA recommendations. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2018;72(20):2443–54.
- 43. Suda KJ, Calip GS, Zhou J, et al. Assessment of the appropriateness of antibiotic prescriptions for infection prophylaxis before dental procedures, 2011 to 2015. JAMA Netw Open. 2019;2(5):e193909.
- 44. Dale H, Fenstad AM, Hallan G, Havelin LI, Furnes O, Overgaard S, Pedersen AB, Kärrholm J, Garellick G, Pulkkinen P, Eskelinen A, Mäkelä K, Engesæter LB. Increasing risk of prosthetic joint infection after total hip arthroplasty. Acta Orthop. 2012;83(5):449–58.
- Zimmerli W, Sendi P. Antibiotics for prevention of periprosthetic joint infection following dentistry: time to focus on data. Clin Infect Dis. 2010;50(1):17–9.
- Young H, Hirsh J, Hammerberg EM, Price CS. Dental disease and periprosthetic joint infection. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2014;96(2):162–8.
- 47. Huotari K, Peltola M, Jämsen E. The incidence of late prosthetic joint infections: a registry based study of 112,708 primary hip and knee replacements. Acta Orthop. 2015;86(3):321–5.
- 48. Kao FC, Hsu YC, Chen WH, Lin JN, Lo YY, Tu YK. Prosthetic joint infection following invasive dental procedures and antibiotic prophylaxis in patients with hip or knee arthroplasty. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2017;38(2):154–61.
- Olson LB, Turner DJ, Cox GM, Hostler CJ. Streptococcus salivarius prosthetic joint infection following dental cleaning despite antibiotic prophylaxis. Case Rep Infect Dis. 2019;2019:8109280.
- Rademacher WMH, Walenkamp GHIM, Moojen DJF, Hendriks JGE, Goedendorp TA, Rozema FR. Antibiotic prophylaxis is not indicated prior to dental procedures for prevention of periprosthetic joint infections. Acta Orthop. 2017;88(5):568–74.
- Mercuri LG, Psutka D. Perioperative, postoperative, and prophylactic use of antibiotics in alloplastic total temporomandibular joint replacement surgery: a survey and preliminary guidelines. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2011;69(8):2106–11.

- 52. Bajkin BV, Urosevic IM, Stankov KM, Petrovic BB, Bajkin IA. Dental extractions and risk of bleeding in patients taking single and dual antiplatelet treatment. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2015;53:39–43.
- Broderick JP, Bonomo JB, Kissela BM, et al. Withdrawal of antithrombotic agents and its impact on ischemic stroke occurrence. Stroke. 2011;42:2509–14.
- Brilakis ES, Banerjee S, Berger PB. Perioperative management of patients with coronary stents. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2007;49:2145–50.
- 55. Hales CM, Fryar CD, Carroll MD, Ogden CL. Prevalence of obesity among adults and youth: United States, 2017–2018. NCHS Data Brief no 360. Hyattsville: National Center for Health Statistics; 2020.
- Bryson GL, Chung F, Finegan BA, et al. Patient selection in ambulatory anesthesia—an evidence-based review: part I. Canadian Ambulatory Anesthesia Research Education Group. Can J Anaesth. 2004;51(8):768–81.
- 57. Practice guidelines for the perioperative management of patients with obstructive sleep apnea: an updated report by the American Society of Anesthesiologists task force on perioperative management of patients with obstructive sleep apnea. Anesthesiology. 2014;120(2):268–286.

- Joshi GP, Ankichetty SP, Gan TJ, Chung F. Society for Ambulatory Anesthesia consensus statement on preoperative selection of adult patients with obstructive sleep apnea scheduled for ambulatory surgery. Anesth Analg. 2012;115(5):1060–8.
- Hinkelbein J, Hohn A, Genzwürker H. Airway management for anaesthesia in the ambulatory setting. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2015;28(6):642–7.
- Resnick CM, Calabrese CE, Afshar S, Padwa BL. Do oral and maxillofacial surgeons over-prescribe opioids after extraction of asymptomatic third molars? J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2019;77(7):1332–6.
- Nalliah RP, Sloss KR, Kenney BC, et al. Association of opioid use with pain and satisfaction after dental extraction. JAMA Netw Open. 2020;3(3):e200901.
- 62. Chang AK, Bijur PE, Esses D, Barnaby DP, Baer J. Effect of a single dose of oral opioid and nonopioid analgesics on acute extremity pain in the emergency department: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2017;318(17):1661–7.
- Tang R, Santosa KB, Vu JV, et al. Preoperative opioid use and readmissions following surgery. Ann Surg. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1097/ SLA.000000000003827.